Understanding how barn sanitation practices impact the chicken gut microbiome and the significance of variations in early life gut microbial community structure on microbial functionality

by

Yi Fan

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Animal Science

Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science University of Alberta

ABSTRACT

Chemical disinfectants are widely used by Canadian broiler producers for barn sanitation, although little is known regarding their effects on chicken performance and the gut microbiome, which had been well recognized to have great importance to the host health. In this thesis, studies were conducted in commercial barns to evaluate the impacts of barn sanitation practices on chicken performance, the gut microbiome, and immune responses. The significance of variations in early-life gut microbial structure were also assessed with regards to their effects on the microbial population, microbial functional capacity, as well as indices of host immune response.

To determine the impact of barn sanitation practices on the chicken performance and the gut microbiome, barn cleaning with chemical disinfectants versus water-wash was conducted as a cross-over experiment. At the end of the production cycle, the flock mean body weight and mortality rate were comparable between the barn sanitation treatment groups. The barn water-wash resulted in a modest but significant effect on the structure of broiler cecal microbiota, with notable reductions in cecal *Campylobacter jejuni* occurrence and abundance. In addition, chickens from the barn water-wash group had increased level of cecal acetate, butyrate and total short-chain fatty acids that were negatively correlated with *C. jejuni* abundance.

To further assess the effects of the barn sanitation practices on chicken gut microbial functional capacity, particularly on microbial metabolism and antibiotic resistance, cecal content samples were subjected to shotgun metagenomic sequencing. At day 7, the gut microbiome of chickens from the chemically disinfected barns had decreased capacity of amino acid production with increased stringent response compared to the water-wash group. Similarly at day 30, the gut microbiome of chickens reared in chemically disinfected barns exhibited decreased abundance of the genetic pathways encoding amino acid and short-chain fatty acid biosynthesis due to

ii

decreased cecal *Helicobacter pullorum* population. Our data suggested that the use of chemical disinfectants in barn cleaning were more effective in controlling persistent antibiotic resistance genes.

Finally, a study was conducted to investigate distinct cecal early-life microbial structures identified among commercial broiler chickens in gut microbial interaction, functionality, as well as host immune status. Week-old commercial broiler chickens were screened and chickens with distinct cecal *Bacteroides* composition were identified. Compared to the *Bacteroides*-under-representative group, the chickens with *Bacteroides*-over-representative cecal microbiota had increased microbial genetic potential of complex polysaccharide degradation and short-chain fatty acid production in the gut, which was supported by increased cecal short-chain fatty acid concentrations. In addition, chickens with high cecal *Bacteroides* had lower expression of interleukin-1β gene and higher expression interleukin-10 gene and tight-junction protein claudin-1 gene. The results indicated that elevated cecal *Bacteroides* may be beneficial to commercial broiler chickens in suppressing gut inflammation coincided with the increment of short-chain fatty acid production.

Collectively, this thesis provides insights into the role of barn sanitation practices during poultry production in the microbiome of commercial broiler chickens, and exhibits the significance of variations in early-life gut microbial community structure in microbial functionality and host immune status.

iii

PREFACE

This thesis is an original work by Yi Fan, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Project Name "Broiler barn sanitation", No. AUP00002377, 6/4/2018.

The study in Chapter 2 has been published as Yi Fan, Andrew J Forgie, Tingting Ju, Camila Marcolla, Tom Inglis, Lynn M McMullen, Benjamin P Willing, Douglas R Korver. The Use of Disinfectant in Barn Cleaning Alters Microbial Composition and Increases Carriage of *Campylobacter jejuni* in Broiler Chickens. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2022 May 24;88(10):e0029522. doi: 10.1128/aem.00295-22. Initial studies were designed by Douglas R Korver, Tom Inglis, and Lynn M McMullen. Douglas R Korver, Benjamin P Willing and Yi Fan designed the follow up experiments, Yi Fan conducted the experiments, collected, and analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript. Andrew J Forgie, Tingting Ju, and Camila Marcolla helped with experiments and data analyses. All authors edited and approved for publication. Benjamin P Willing and Douglas R Korver supervised the study.

The study in Chapter 3 is expected to be submitted for publishing as Yi Fan, Tingting Ju, Tulika Bhardwaj, Douglas R. Korver, Benjamin P. Willing. The impact of barn disinfection and age on the cecal microbial functional capacity and resistome of broiler chickens. 2022. Yi Fan, Douglas R Korver, and Benjamin P Willing designed the study and experiments, Yi Fan conducted the experiments, collected and analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript. Tingting Ju and Tulika Bhardwaj helped with data analyses. Benjamin P Willing and Douglas R Korver supervised the study.

iv

The study in Chapter 4 was designed by Yi Fan and Benjamin P Willing. The manuscript was accepted by Microbiology Spectrum as Yi Fan, Tingting Ju, Tulika Bhardwaj, Douglas R. Korver, Benjamin P. Willing. Microbiology Spectrum. 2022. Week-old chicks with high *Bacteroides* abundance have increased short-chain fatty acids and reduced markers of gut inflammation. doi:10.1128/spectrum.03616-22. Yi Fan conducted experiments, collected and analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript. Tingting Ju and Tulika Bhardwa helped with the data analyses. All authors edited and approved for publication. Benjamin P Willing and Douglas R Korver supervised the study.

Dedicated

To my wife and my best friend,

Dr. Justina Su Zhang

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to my supervisors Dr. Benjamin P. Willing and Dr. Douglas R. Korver, for their guidance and support during my PhD study. It was their warm encouragement that helped me get through tough times in this journey. Thank you for providing numerous opportunities to develop and expand my skills and knowledge as a scientist.

I would also like to thank Dr. Leluo Guan for serving on my supervisory committee and giving me invaluable advice and support throughout my research program. I would like to extend my gratitude to our collaboration partner Dr. Lynn M. McMullen and Dr. Tom Inglis for their advice and supports of the project. I am grateful for my examining committee members Dr. Xin Zhao and Dr. Simon Otto for their precious time to read my thesis.

I am appreciative to the Department of Agricultural, Food, and Nutritional Science, the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research at the University of Alberta, the Alberta Chicken Producers, the Alberta Livestock and Meat Agency, the Canadian Poultry Research Council, the Results Driven Agriculture Research for the financial and academic support.

I want to thank all the members from the Willing lab, the Korver lab, the McMullen lab, and the Poultry Health Services. Special thanks to Dr. Tingting Ju, Dr. Andrew Forgie, Dr. Tulika Bhardwa, Taresa Chieng, and Patrick Ward for their contribution.

I also want to thank all my friends and family for their unconditional support. To my parents and my in-laws, thank you for your warmest encouragement when I was lost. To my wife, the mother of our two lovely children, thank you for your unconditional support and love. Thank you for being such a great mother for Mason and Tyler. Words cannot express my gratitude. I would never be able to get to this point without you.

ABSTRACTii
PREFACEiv
DEDICATION ivi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS viii
LIST OF TABLES xi
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
Chapter 1: INTRODUCTION 1
1.1 The Chicken Gut Microbiota2
1.1.1 Chicken Intestinal Habitats and the Inhabitants
1.1.2 Successional Change of the Chicken Microbiota
1.1.3 Early-life Bacterial Exposure
1.1.4 Host and Environmental Factors affecting the Chicken Gut Microbiota
1.1.5 Effects of Chicken Gut Microbiota on Nutrient Metabolism
1.1.6 Effects of Chicken Gut Microbiota on Host Intestinal Health and Immunological Modulation
1.2 The Potential Effects of the Broiler Production Environments on the Commercial Broiler Chicken Microbiota
1.2.1 Current Chicken Barn Sanitation Practices in the Canadian Poultry Industry
1.2.2 The Interactions between Recycled Litter, the Chicken Gut Microbiota, and the Host Responses 20
1.2.3 Current Knowledge of Barn Disinfections and its Effects on the Barn Environmental Microbiology, the
Chicken Gut Microbiota, and Host Health
1.3 The Effects of Distinct Microbial Communities on the Chicken Host
1.4 Gut Microbiota and Antibiotic Resistance
1.4.1 Usage of Antibiotics and Antimicrobial Resistance in Poultry Farming
1.4.2 Mutation and Transmission of ARGs and Antibiotic Resistant Mechanisms
1.4.3 Resistance to Antibiotics Related to Poultry Production
1.4.4 The Use of Chemical Disinfectants and its Effects on ARGs
1.6 Research Objectives and Hypotheses
1.7 References:
Chapter 2: THE USE OF DISINFECTANT IN BARN CLEANING ALTERS MICROBIAL
COMPOSITION AND INCREASES CARRIAGE OF CAMPYLOBACTER JEJUNI IN BROILER
CHICKENS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.2 Materials and methods	
	70
2.2.1 Broiler production house and barn cleaning	70
2.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	71
2.2.3 Campylobacter and Salmonella enrichment	
2.2.4 DNA extraction and microbiome analyses	
2.2.5 Quantitative PCR (qPCR)	
2.2.6 Short chain fatty acid (SCFA) analysis	
2.2.7 Statistical analyses	
2.3. Results	
2.3.1 Chicken 32-day body weight and mortality were not affected by the cleaning methods	
2.3.2 Chicken barn FD resulted in increased <i>Campylobacter</i> occurrence in the 30-day-old chicken ceca	
2.3.3 Chicken barn FD increased <i>C. jejuni</i> abundance2.3.4 Barn cleaning methods had subtle impacts on the 30-day-old chicken microbiome	
2.3.4 Barn cleaning methods had subtle impacts on the 50-day-old emcken incrobiome	
2.4 Discussion	
2.5 Conclusion	85
2.6 References:	86
MICROBIAL FUNCTIONAL CAPACITY AND RESISTOME OF BROILER CHICKENS 3.1 Introduction	
	105
3.2 Materials and methods	
3.2 Materials and methods 3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	107
	107 108
3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	107 108 109
3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	107 108 109 110
3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	107 108 109 110 111
 3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	107 108 109 110 111 d
 3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	107 108 109 110 111 d
 3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	107 108 109 110 111 d 111 111 e118
 3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	107 108 109 110 111 111 111 118 126
 3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	107 108 109 110 111 111 111 118 126
 3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	107 108 109 110 111 d 111 126 127
 3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	107 108 109 110 111 111 111 126 127 152
 3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	107 108 109 110 111 111 121 126 127 152 152
 3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	107 108 109 110 111 111 111 111 126 127 152 152 153
 3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection	107 108 109 110 111 111 121 126 127 152 152 153

4.2.4 Reverse-transcription (RT) - qPCR assay	157
4.2.5 Short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) analysis	158
4.2.6 Statistical analyses	159
4.3 Results	159
4.3.1 Bacterial composition of early life chicken cecal microbiome	159
4.3.2 Bacteroides over-/under- representing sample identification	160
4.3.3 HB individuals have higher SCFA concentrations in cecal contents	
4.3.4 Shotgun metagenomic sequencing suggested differentiated functional capacities between the HB group	
4.3.5 Shotgun metagenomic sequencing suggested enriched pathways related to complex carbohydrate	
degradation and SCFA production in the HB group	163
4.3.6 HB and LB cecal tonsil exhibited different expression levels of genes involved in immune toleran	
gut integrity	164
4.4 Discussion	164
4.4 Discussion4.5 Conclusion	
	170
4.5 Conclusion	170 171
4.5 Conclusion 4.6 References	170 171 192
 4.5 Conclusion 4.6 References <i>Chapter 5: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND FUTURE WORK</i> 	170 171 <i> 192</i> 192
 4.5 Conclusion	170 171 <i>192</i> 192 199
 4.5 Conclusion	170 171 192 192 199 203

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Production cycles, barns and cleaning treatment schedule. 9
Table 2.2 Primers used for qPCR assay of broiler chicken cecal samples collected at 30 days of
age9
Table 4.1 Primers used to quantify cecal Bacteroides and the expression of selected gene
markers
Table 4.2 Distribution of chickens assigned to high Bacteroides (HB) group, low Bacteroides
(LB) group, or unassigned (n/a) †
Table 4.3 Properties of networks constructed for the HB group and LB group. 183

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Broiler chicken flock performance at 32 d of age
Figure 2.2 Broiler chicken cecal Campylobacter occurrence score at 30 d of age
Figure 2.3 Cecal bacteria qPCR quantification
Figure 2.4 Alpha diversity of broiler chicken cecal microbiome at 30 d of age 100
Figure 2.5 Principal coordinate analysis plots based on weighted- and unweighted- Unifrac
distance matrices
Figure 2.6 Relative abundance of genus Helicobacter and family Bacillaceae
Figure 2.7 Cecal short chain fatty acid production in broiler chickens at 30 d of age 103
Figure 2.8 Spearman correlation heatmap
Figure 3.1 Broiler chicken cecal microbial structure affected by the barn cleaning practices and
sampling timepoints
Figure 3.2 Differential abundant bacterial species between barn cleaning practices at day 30
suggested by LEfSe analysis
Figure 3.3 The microbial functional pathways that were significantly impacted by the barn
cleaning treatments at day 7 (a) and day 30 (b) revealed by DESeq2143
Figure 3.4 LEfSe results of metabolic pathways harbored by specific bacteria species and the
association with treatments at day 30 144
Figure 3.5 The chicken cecal resistome was affected by the barn sanitation practices and
sampling timepoints
Figure 3.6 Differentially abundant antibiotic resistant gene families between FD and WW at D7
suggested by DESeq2 146

Figure 3.7 Differentially abundant antibiotic resistant gene between FD and WW at D30
suggested by DESeq2 147
Figure 3.8 Antibiotic resistance mechanism conferred by detected ARGs in the cecal microbial
resistomes of D7 and D30 chickens
Figure 3.9 Differential abundant cecal microbial antibiotic resistant gene families between day 7
and day 30 suggested by LEfSe 149
Figure 3.10 LEfSe results of differentially abundant bacterial taxa (on the family level) between
the cecal microbiota of day 7 and day 30 chickens
Figure 3.11 Spearman correlation between the relative abundance of bacterial taxa (species
level) and ARG families
Figure 4.1 Diversity of the gut microbiota of the 7-day-old commercial broiler chickens 185
Figure 4.2 Cecal microbiome co-occurrence network based on SparCC correlation on the genus
level
Figure 4.3 Cecal short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) concentrations in LB and HB groups
Figure 4.4 Spearman correlation heatmap 188
Figure 4.5 The comparison of the functional network harbored by cecal microbial communities.
Figure 4.6 Differentially abundant pathways of the cecal microbiota
Figure 4.7 Gene expression in chicken cecal tonsil

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AGP: Antimicrobial growth promoter

AMR: Antimicrobial resistance

ANCOM: Analysis of composition of microbiome

ASV: Amplicon sequence variant

ARG: Antibiotic resistance gene

BAC: Benzalkonium chloride

BCFA: Branched-chain fatty acid

CARD: The comprehensive antibiotic resistance database

CE: Competitive exclusion

CFU: Colony-forming unit

CLDN1: Claudin-1 gene

CR: Conventionally raised

DAMP: Damage-associated molecular patterns

EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

erm, 23S ribosomal RNA methyltransferase gene

FD: Full Disinfection with chemical disinfectants

FDR: False discovery rate

FFA: Free fatty acid receptor

GALT: Gut associated lymphoid tissue

GF: Germ free

GPR: G-protein coupled receptor

HB: high-Bacteroides group

hipO: hippurate hydrolase gene

IL: Interleukin

LB: low-Bacteroides group

LEfSe: Linear discriminant analysis effect size

LNU: Lincosamide nucleotidyltransferase

MGE: Mobile genetic element

MLS: Macrolide-lincosamide-streptogramin

NetB: necrotic enteritis B-like toxin gene

PAMP: Pathogen-associated molecular patterns

PCoA: Principal coordinate analysis

PCR: Polymerase chain reaction

PERMANOVA: Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance

QIIME2: Quantitative Insight into Microbial Ecology2

qPCR: Quantitative polymerase chain reaction

rpoB, gene encoding β -subunit of bacterial RNA polymerase

RPP: Ribosomal protection protein

RT-qPCR: Reverse-transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction

SAT, Streptogramin A acetyltransferase genes

SCFA: Short-chain fatty acid

SEM: Standard error of the mean

vanR, vancomycin resistant gene R component

WW: Water-wash

Chapter 1: INTRODUCTION

As a major agriculture product, chicken is one of the most important high-quality protein sources for humans (1). Currently, the world's population is estimated to be 7.2 billion, and is expected to reach nearly 10 billion by 2050 (2). Modern agriculture has done well in providing food to nurture such a huge population. In fact the price of all meat products, relative to average income is currently the lowest in human history due to the success in mass production (3). The growth in global livestock production was largely credited to poultry industry, especially broiler chicken production (4). The United States Food and Drug Administration (USDA) forecasted that the broiler per capita consumption is expected to increase steadily, growing from 44.7 kg in 2023 to 46.1 kg by 2031 (5). With the continued expansion of the poultry industry, factors affecting chicken performance, zoonotic diseases, and food safety will continue to be an important concern to the general public, industry, and academia, especially in the context of eliminating preventive usage of antibiotics in livestock farming.

The gut microbiota, which can be beneficial to the host by maintaining gut homeostasis, has been identified as a potential tool to address these challenges. The gut microbiota refers to the totality of microorganisms associating with the host gastrointestinal tract (GIT) (6). The importance of the chicken gut microbiota to host health and performance had been well recognized. Emerging evidence has shown the importance of broiler commensal microbial community to nutrient metabolism, feed efficiency (7-9), competitively defending against pathogen infection and colonization (10, 11), and educating the host immune system (12, 13). Subsequently, various probiotic and prebiotic products have been developed and used in chicken production to help broiler chickens to establish symbiotic gut microbiota, and showed success in increasing chicken nutrient utilization (14), and prevent disease development (13, 15, 16).

Therefore, establishing healthy host-microbe interactions early in production may provide a possible alternative of antimicrobial growth promoters (AGPs) in production to help maintain, or even enhance broiler performance.

In production, broiler chickens are delivered to the production house shortly after hatch (normally within 24 h) and receive feed and water on farm. Notably, in the modern poultry industry, commercial broiler chickens are hatched and reared without the presence of hens. The absence of contact with the parent flock largely affects the early-life chick microbiota by limiting the transmission of chicken-derived commensals (17, 18). Thus, for broiler chickens, the barn is one of the early microbial exposures. Early life bacterial exposure is important to the microbiota assembly in the animal GIT and immune system development (19). It has been reported in human studies and various animal models that early microbial exposure persistently affects future host intestinal health and disease development (20-22). Previous studies have revealed that oral gavage of chicken-derived microbiota at hatch reduced pathogen colonization as well as increasing short chain fatty acid (SCFA) production in the chicken gut (23, 24). Therefore, establishing healthy host-microbe interactions early in production may provide a possible solution to help maintain broiler health in an environment free from antimicrobial growth promoters. Thus, improving the barn microbial environment, which might introduce beneficial early commensal-host interactions to the broiler chickens, may advance the development of a commensal microbiota in broiler chickens, and thus help improve chicken health in production.

1.1 The Chicken Gut Microbiota

The gut microbiota is considered a crucial organ that plays an integral role in maintaining the host health by modulating physiological functions including nutrition, metabolism, and immunity

(25). Complex interactions between various microbial molecules (e.g. DNA and lipopolysaccharide), metabolites (e.g. short chain fatty acids), and the host immune system strongly affect the host health (26). Although information on the avian microbiome is still limited compared to mammalian species, in this section, we will focus on some current knowledge of the chicken gut microbiome and its relationships to the host.

1.1.1 Chicken Intestinal Habitats and the Inhabitants

Previous studies on chicken microbiome revealed that more than 1000 species inhabit the chicken intestine (27, 28). Like other animal species, the chicken GIT is partitioned according to digestive function. The chicken GIT consists of the crop, proventriculus, gizzard, duodenum, jejunum, ileum, cecum, and cloaca (29). The corresponding products of different physiological functions (e.g. host digestive enzymes and acid) segregate host digestive processes from most of the environmental microbes to ensure host priority of dietary substrate utilization (30). In addition, diverse environmental factors in the intestine, such as pH, digesta flow rate, dietary substrates, bile salts, and oxygen levels influence the assembly and development of specific bacterial communities. Generally, the complexity of the chicken gut microbiome increases along the chicken GIT from the proximal part (crop) to the distal part (cecum). The composition and complexity of the gut microbial communities largely increases in distal parts of the GIT, especially in the ceca.

In the proximal part of the chicken GIT, the beak collects food that is swallowed whole. Feed goes through the esophagus to the crop where it is moistened. Physiologically, the crop of chickens stores and softens the feed that can aid grinding and enzymatic digestion further down

the digestive tract (31). The chicken crop harbors $10^8 - 10^9$ CFU/g of bacteria (32). Compared to the distal part of the GIT, the crop microbiota has a simple composition, dominated by facultative anaerobes, predominantly lactobacilli (33, 34), which are believed to be responsible for decomposition of starch and the production of lactate and thus provides an acid barrier with pH of ~4.5. Diets may have an impact of the crop microbiota. Feed additives such as high amounts of phytic acid in plant-based diets promote the abundance of family *Aeromonadaceae* and *Flavobacteriaceae* while reducing the dominance of *Lactobacillus* in the crop (35). However, variations in microbiota among individual broiler chickens fed on similar diets have also been observed, indicating that there may also be other factors (e.g. initial microbial exposure, host genetics, etc.) impacting the crop microbiota (36).

The gizzard mechanically grinds feed particles. Similar to the crop, the most predominant bacteria in the gizzard are reported to be lactobacilli (37). However, due to the hydrochloric acid in the gastric juices provided by the proventriculus, the pH of the gizzard is kept relatively low (pH~2.6), resulting in lower bacterial abundance and less fermentation activity in the gizzard.

Degradable feed components are broken down to simple carbohydrates, amino acids, and fatty acids in the small intestine (duodenum, jejunum, and ileum) as well as at the brush border membrane along the small intestinal lining (38). In the small intestine, remainder of the digestion occurs at the duodenum, whereas the released nutrients are absorbed mainly in the jejunum and ileum. In the small intestine, the duodenum harbors the lowest bacterial density due to the short passage time and the presence of pancreatic juices and bile (37, 39). The duodenal microbiota is dominated by *Lactobacillus* species (40). Highly similar to the duodenal microbiota (41, 42), the jejunal microbial community is reported to nearly exclusively made up by *Lactobacillus* (7) but with increased abundance of members from the phylum Proteobacteria (e.g. *Brucella*,

Shigella/Escherichia coli) (41, 43). Compared to the duodenum and jejunum, the chicken ileum has increased pH and decreased oxygen level, making the microbial community of the ileum more diverse and higher in cell density (44), and it is also the most studied segment among the small intestine. Specifically, gram-positive bacteria from the phylum Firmicutes, mainly *Lactobacillus* which makes up more than 70% of the ileal microbiota, populated the ileum of chickens (45-47). A substantial part of the ileal digesta enters the ceca through reverse peristalsis for further microbial fermentation. The similar oxygen and nutrient availability between the two organs makes the ileal microbial communities sometimes overlap with the cecal microbiota (48). Thus, some bacteria often found in the chicken ceca such as members from the family *Enterococcaceae, Peptostreptococcaceae, Erysipelotrichaceae* and *Clostridiaceae* are also frequently detected in the chicken ileum (49, 50).

The abundance and complexity of the gut microbiota considerably increases in the chicken ceca due to the longest feed retention time (12 to 20 h) compared to other GIT segments (51). The chicken ceca can harbor as high as 10^{11} bacteria per gram of content (52). As mentioned above, although differing in bacterial load, the crop, gizzard, duodenum, jejunum, and ileum shared similar facultative anaerobic communities (predominantly *Lactobacillus*). Conversely, in the chicken ceca the low oxygen levels favor strict anaerobes. For example, the relative abundance of members from the order *Clostridiales* progressively increase from the crop (almost undetectable) to the ileum (10%) and are dominant in the ceca (over 60%) (52-54). The chicken cecal microbiota are dominated by the phyla Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes, followed by Proteobacteria and Actinobacteria (55, 56). One major biological function of the chicken ceca is to offer a niche for the gut microbes to anaerobically recycle nitrogen and digest non-starch polysaccharides to produce SCFAs (57). The frequently reported genera from Firmicutes and

Bacteroidetes in the ceca are important amino acid utilizers and SCFA producers (e.g. *Bacteroides, Faecalibacterium, Blautia, Butyricimonas, Megamonas, Oscillibacter,* members from the *Ruminococcaceae* and *Lachnospiraceae* family, and members from the *Clostridiales* order) (28, 45, 54, 58, 59). Large variations have been reported in specific taxa. For example, *Lactobacillus* has been reported to range from relatively dominant (~8%) (45) to undetected in the chicken ceca (54). This variation may be due to the fact that since *Lactobacillus* are facultative anaerobes, the prevalence may be affected by the oxidative stress in the ceca. When the cecal environment is under oxidative stress (e.g. the presence of reactive oxygen species produced by the host during inflammation), the growth of obligate anaerobes may be suppressed, and thus lead to the expansion of facultative anaerobes (60). The variation in colonization pattern between studies might also be explained by the differences in chicken breed (host genetics), management, or diets, but age are most likely to play an important role as well and this will be discussed in the next section. Following Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes, in Proteobacteria, genus *Desulfohalobium* and *Shigella/Escherichia* were also frequently detected in the ceca (59, 61, 62).

1.1.2 Successional Change of the Chicken Microbiota

The assembly of the chicken microbiome goes through successional stages. The age of the chickens is one of the most important drivers that influences GIT microbial community structure, cell density, and metabolic function. Previous studies revealed a series of temporal and successional microbial composition changes through broiler maturation (13, 45).

The chicken gut microbiota assembles as soon as 1 day of life (63). The colonization of the chick is believed to be initiated as it breaks the egg shell (64). As mentioned, in poultry

production, newly hatched chicks from hatcheries have no contact with adult birds, and thus the environment they are placed in will have a strong impact on their mostly naïve intestinal microbiome. At day 1, the cecal microbiota of the newly hatched chicks were dominated by *Enterobacteriaceae* and to a lesser extent *Enterococcus* (63). While the initial ceca colonization begins with facultative anaerobic bacteria, obligate anaerobic bacteria soon replaces the facultative anaerobes and dominate the ceca (45, 65). Some pathogens, such as *Clostridium perfringens* and *Campylobacter coli*, were detected in the GIT as early as 3 days of age (45). Over the first 3 days, the cecal microbial taxa diversity and richness progressively increases, and by day 7 the family *Ruminococcaceae* outnumbers *Enterobacteriaceae* leading the expansion of Firmicutes population, which dominates the ceca by day 14 (63, 65).

The broiler gut microbiome matures between 21 and 45 days post-hatch (13, 66-68). The alpha diversity of the chicken gut microbiome continues to change after 2 weeks post-hatch (13). Approximately 100 low abundance genera that were not detected at 3 weeks in broiler chicken became detectable after 6 weeks of age (13). More recently, Jurburg et al. reported three stages of successional microbiota changes by monitoring broiler chicken feces from day 1 to 35 after hatch (69). Briefly, they found that the first stage colonization was caused by vertical or environmental transmission leading to the colonization of *Streptococcus* (from order *Lactobacillales*) and *Escherichia/Shigella* (from order *Enterobacteriales*) in the gut. The second stage started at day 4, *Lactobacillales* and *Enterobacteriales* were displaced by a series of taxa including *Lachnospiraceae* and *Ruminococcus*-like species variants from order *Clostridiales*. In the third stage starting on day 10, the relative abundance of a diverse cluster of obligate anaerobic bacteria slowly increased, while the *Latobacillales*, *Enterobacteriales* and *Clostridiales* remain predominant (69). The maturation of the chicken microbiota coincides with

the maturation of the chicken intestine and plays an important part in maintaining intestinal homeostasis and the provision of nutrients (which will be further discussed in 1.2.5 and 1.2.6).

1.1.3 Early-life Bacterial Exposure

Early-life bacterial exposure is important to microbial assembly in the animal GIT and immune system development. It has been widely reported in a variety of animals that early microbial exposure significantly and persistently affects future host intestinal function and disease development by promoting epithelial cell turnover, increasing mucus production and epithelium integrity, and educating host immune response (20-22, 63, 70-74). It has been well reviewed that the development of human microbiome is significantly influenced by early age diet and environmental conditions of the individual host (75, 76). One major difference between birds and mammals is that mammals are delivered through a microbe-diverse and abundant vaginal tract (77), whereas birds are hatched from eggs that are considered to be internally sterile (35). In addition, mammals are fed by maternal milk, which provides bioactive molecules like immunoglobulin (78) and oligosaccharides (79, 80) to help their young develop their immune system and shape gut microbiota (81). In avian species, gut microbiota development relies on direct contact with other birds and the environment. For example, it has been shown that there is a high microbial similarity between the nest of the Pied Flycatchers (Ficedula hypoleuca) and their builders (82). Although this study is limited to cultured-based methods, which could only recover a subset of the overall microbial community, it indicates an opportunity for avian microbiota transmission in the wild. In addition, microbial transmission is also caused by maternal excreta consumption. Cooper et al. reported that ostrich chicks consume adult feces to help prime their digestion and performance by adding useful microbes (83). Kubasova et al.

revealed that hen contact at hatch helped young chickens establish more obligate anaerobes in the ceca, which is important for intestinal homeostasis (84). These studies indicated that microbial transmission from the parent flock is an important source of commensal microbiota for chickens.

Modern broilers are believed to be domesticated from the wild red jungle fowl (*Gallus gallus*) (85). Chickens are precocial birds and are relatively mature and mobile at hatch, which makes them economically suitable and labor-friendly for domestication. In modern broiler production, chicks are hatched in a clean hatchery, where eggs are hatched separately from the hens and fumigated to avoid bacteria contamination. This reduces the opportunity of the newly hatched chicks to be exposed to the parent-flock-derived microbes. Soon after, chicks are transferred to a clean barn covered by new bedding material on the floor with sufficient feed and clean water supply along with closely managed temperature, humidity, and ventilation. The production barns are often water-washed or chemically disinfected with the intent to reduce disease transmission and improve food safety. However, when trying to avoid pathogen transmission (i.e. *Salmonella* spp., *Campylobacter* spp., infectious bronchitis virus, avian influenza viruses, etc.), transmission of necessary chicken-derived commensals is also limited.

Recycled chicken litter is allowed in broiler production in many parts of the world, for example in the United States. Some previous studies found that exposure to used litter mimics the transmission from hen to chick and can impact early life broiler gut microbiota (20, 21), and thereby confer competitive exclusion against poultry pathogens (10, 86, 87). One study has shown that compared to fresh litter, used litter significantly decrease of the abundance of Proteobacteria in the gut microbiota of chicks over the first two weeks of life (88). More recently, it was reported that recycled litter increased the predominance of some potential

beneficial bacteria, such as *Faecalibacterium*, in the ceca of young chicks, and the effect remained as the chicken gut matured (89, 90). Research has also shown that the intestinal immune response of broilers reared on recycled litter is indicative of immune activation, which could negatively impact broiler production (91). Collectively, these studies highlight the importance of the initial environmental exposure to the chicken gut microbiome, which can offer useful information to the industry to improve management.

1.1.4 Host and Environmental Factors affecting the Chicken Gut Microbiota

As discussed above, chicken age and initial bacterial exposure are influential to the chicken gut microbiota. In the last decade, many studies have also recognized that host genetics (chicken type and breed) (92, 93), diet composition (94-97), antibiotic usage (53, 97, 98), production system (cage, intensive floor farming or extensive farming system) (99-101), flock densities (102), and litter management (will be further discussed in 1.2.2) could affect the gut microbial population of chickens.

Breeding programs have led to distinctive genetic variance between chicken types and breeds, in which the most pronounced difference are between laying hens (egg type chicken) and broiler chickens (meat type chicken). Such great differences in genetics contribute to the variations observed in intestinal immune functions (103). Simon et al. reported that intestinal immunoglobulin secretion was higher in broilers compared to laying hens (103), which may lead to variations of the gut microbiota between the two chicken types. Currently, studies comparing the gut microbiota between laying hens and broiler chickens are limited. The cecal microbiota of laying hens and broiler chickens differed significantly particularly when inoculated with

Campylobacter (92). The authors speculated that the differing microbial compositions of laying hens and broiler chickens was likely due to the intestinal immune responses caused by *Campylobacter* challenge (92). In addition, within broiler chickens, differences in the gut microbiota between breeds were also observed (104-106). For example, Cobb 500 and Ross 308 broilers harbored distinct ileal microbiota in which Bacteroidetes were absent in the Ross breed and Actinobacteria were absent in the Cobb breed (106, 107). However, Han et al. detected Bacteroidetes in the ileum of the Ross breed during a study examining *Campylobacter* colonization in different chicken breeds (92). Due to variations in experimental designs, animal management, initial microbial exposure, sequencing techniques in different studies, it is difficult to determine to which degree that the broiler chicken genetic backgrounds affect the gut microbiome.

Alterations in the chicken gut microbiome can be induced by changing the diets in as quickly as 1 day (45). The effects of diet on the chicken gut microbiome are well recognized and the focus of many studies. It has been shown that the type of diet (e.g. wheat and corn) (97), the nutritional composition of the diet (e.g. protein level) (94, 108), as well as the presence of feed additives can influence the chicken gut microbiome (109-112). For instance, reduced crude protein in broiler chicken diets resulted in elevated cecal *Lactobacillaceae* over time (94). The cecal microbiome of chickens fed the control diet and fishmeal-supplemented diet differed significantly, which in the latter, strongly reduced the abundance of some butyrate producers (e.g. *Butyrivibrio*) in the ceca (108). In addition, the supplementation of feed additives such as phytase (109), protease (110), β -glucan (111), and xylanase (112) had been shown to influence the chicken gut microbiome and intestinal homeostasis.

Antibiotic supplementation to the feed was also reported to have an impact on the chicken gut microbial population. Danzeisen et al. reported that subtherapeutic use of monensin depleted *Roseburia*, *Lactobacillus* and *Enterococcus* in the ceca, and enriched *Escherichia coli* when coupled with virginiamycin or tylosin (53). Very recently, Zou et al. studied the effects of AGP and diets on the chicken gut microbiome and suggested that although AGP had a relatively small effect on altering microbial taxonomic abundances, it disturbed interactions between microbes by affecting some key taxa of the microbial network, and thereby promoted the exclusion of other taxa (97).

Other environmental factors such as production system and management can also impact the broiler gut microbiome. For example, compared to indoor ground litter-raised broiler chickens, broilers raised in a cage system had decreased bacterial species richness and evenness in the ileum at day 13 (99). Access to an outdoor area in the extensive farming systems (freerange chickens) was demonstrated to increase the cecal microbial alpha diversity (101), and resulted in a higher cecal Bacteroidetes composition (100). In addition, increased flock density was associated with reduced crop microbiome richness (102).

1.1.5 Effects of Chicken Gut Microbiota on Nutrient Metabolism

Sharing a mutualistic relationship to the host, the gut microbiota contributes to host nutrient metabolism, particularly through the fermentation of undigestible nutrients. Commensals produce SCFAs (e.g. acetic acid, butyric acid, and propionic acid), organic acids (e.g. lactic acid), vitamins (e.g. vitamin K and vitamin B groups), and induce host basal immune responses with necessary metabolic costs (113-115). SCFAs are products of the gut microbiota fermentation from partially- or non-digestible polysaccharides or proteins derived from the undigested portion of the host diet. Acetate, propionate, and butyrate were reported to be the most abundant SCFAs in the chicken gut (116). Some beneficial commensals can directly utilize the indigestible nutrients in the diet for SCFA production, or utilize metabolic intermediates from other bacteria to make SCFA through cross-feeding (117). SCFAs are rapidly absorbed by the intestinal epithelial cells and enhance intestinal integrity as direct energy sources to enterocytes (118). They also reduce the pH at the site of production. In addition, SCFAs are also able to bind to G protein-coupled receptors such as free fatty acid receptors (FFA2,3) expressed on various immune cells (e.g. monocytes and macrophages) and non-immune cells (e.g. intestinal epithelial cells, adipocytes and enteroendocrine cells) (119). By binding to these receptors, SCFAs regulate a series of host cell functions including gene expression, immune cell recruitment, differentiation and apoptosis (will be reviewed in section 1.1.6) (120). Feed intake was also found to be regulated through the interactions between SCFAs and FFA2/FFA3 expressed by the host enterocytes (121).

In addition, the intestinal microbiota is an important source of vitamin production. Some commensals can synthesize vitamin K and B vitamins, including biotin, cobalamin, folacin, niacin, pyridoxine, riboflavin, and thiamine (114, 122, 123).

In turn, the available nutrients in the GIT niches also select microbial taxa that can colonize the host gut. The variation in the chemical structures of undigested fibers influences utilization by the GIT inhabitants, as specific enzymes are required for specific fiber types. The gut microbiota has a wide-ranging ability to digest and utilize these complex molecules. It was shown that the total genome of the gut microbiota harbors different functional gene families including 130 glycoside hydrolases, 22 polysaccharide lyases, and 16 carbohydrate esterases

(124). It makes the microbiome highly adapted to different energy sources of undigested fibers. Successful colonization is often based on the ability to produce a specific set of enzymes that have a high binding efficiency and rate of reaction towards available nutrient sources, coupled with the ability to obtain and produce products. This is supported by the potential to colonize around fiber particles with greater attachment and utilization functional capacities than potential competitors (125).

1.1.6 Effects of Chicken Gut Microbiota on Host Intestinal Health and Immunological Modulation

The importance of the gut microbiota to chicken intestine development as well as in maintaining gut homeostasis has been well recognized for decades. Some early research revealed that the intestinal–bacterial interactions were established shortly after hatch or feeding (39). The establishment of the intestinal microbiota was essential for early intestinal development (126). For example, at the villus area of the small intestine significantly increased in conventional raised (CR) chickens compared to germ-free (GF) at 5 d post hatch (127). The absence of microbiota in GF chickens resulted in poorly developed lymphoid follicles and decreased T and B lymphocytes compared to the CR birds (128). Compared to chicks at hatch, increased pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, such as interleukin (IL)-1, IL-8, and K203, were observed in the gut of 2-day-old chickens after initial contact to feed and bacteria (129). The gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) of chickens consists of the cecal tonsils, the Meckel's diverticulum, and the bursa of Fabricius. Bar-Shira et al. reported that the T and B cell maturation in the GALT is closely related to the development of the chicken gut microbiota (129). The initial innate immune response consists of a heterophil response in combination with

maternal antibodies followed by a secondary mucosal response after feeding and the presence of microbiota in the gut (130). Furthermore, the changes of intestinal T-cell receptors over time have been shown to be dependent upon the gut microbiota by comparing GF and CR chickens (131). Goblet cell mucin production was also impacted by the microbiota. Forder et al. compared the small intestinal mucin profile between CR chicken and chickens with limited microbiota, and found that the intestinal mucin profile of the CR birds was indicative of mature goblet cells, suggesting that increased microbial exposure leads to mature goblet cell formation (132).

Correlations have been made between the relative abundance of different bacteria and a series of cytokine expression levels in the chicken gut. For example, *Escherichia/Shigella*, *Parasutterella*, and *Vampirovibrio* have been associated with the expression of the proinflammatory cytokine gene *IL-6* in the cecal tonsils (13), whereas *Ruminococcus*, *Clostridium*, and *Lactobacillus* were reported to be negatively correlated to the expression of the proinflammatory cytokine gene interferon gamma (IFN- γ) and *IL-6* in the cecal tonsils and small intestine (133, 134). These studies indicated that the gut microbiome composition is connected to the host intestinal immune status.

One mechanism by which the microbiota promotes host health is through the production of SCFAs, particularly in modulating the host immune status. Complex interactions between SCFAs, gut microbes, and the host immune system have been reviewed by van der Hee & Wells (135). Briefly, SCFAs are imported into enterocytes and tissues via transporters and paracellular transport. SCFA receptors expressed on enterocytes and immune cells in the lamina propria and mucosal lymphoid tissue can activate signaling pathways to regulate host immune response according to the SCFA concentration to maintain intestinal homeostasis (135). For example, butyrate exhibited anti-inflammatory properties and also could be used as a source of energy for

enterocytes (136). Butyrate signaling through G-protein coupled receptors (e.g. FFA2, FFA3, and GPR109a) can confer anti-inflammatory properties in the GIT by down-regulating the expression of cytokines and chemokines (137). Intestinal macrophages and dendritic cells respond to the presence of butyrate through the niacin receptor, and thereby lead to increased production of the anti-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. *IL-10*), enhancing Treg cell differentiation to maintain gut homeostasis (118). Thus, SCFA producers in the gut are of great importance to the host health from an immunologic viewpoint. In fact, it has been shown that butyrate producers in the chicken gut, such as members in *Lachnospiraceae* family, were shown to exhibit anti-inflammatory effects by significantly increase peripheral Treg cells and *IL-10* monocytes (138).

On the other hand, disruption of the intestinal microbial homeostasis, for example, pathogen or opportunistic pathogen over-growth, can result in dysbiosis and lead to altered gut immunological profile and even expression of diseases. With an increase in pathogens in the microbiota, the pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMP) and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMP) stimulates the pattern recognition receptors such as membranebound Toll-like receptors in the gut epithelium, and therefore activate myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88). MyD88 activation will cause the nuclear translocation of nuclear factor kappa-B, and initiate the onset of inflammation, which decreases gut integrity for the infiltration of immune cells coming from the lamina propria or mucosal lymphoid tissue (139). Decreased gut integrity also allows pathogens, PAMP, and DAMP into the circulation, reaching other organs such as liver and spleen, and triggering systemic inflammation. When pathogens, PAMP, or DAMP reach the liver, similar to the intestine, they will trigger the onset of inflammation recruiting immune cells. In addition, the gut microbiota exhibits the ability to modulate bile acids and thereby modifies the signaling properties and subsequent actions of host bile acid receptors (140, 141). It was shown that the gut microbiota influenced bile acid profile and farnesoid-X receptors signaling (140), which has been associated with inhibition of inflammation and improved gut integrity (142). In turn, bile acids can also influence the intestinal microbial composition (143, 144). Moreover, the host can also influence the intestinal microbes via IgA antibody production and secretion into the intestine through the bile duct (145), making it more effective in regulating the gut microbial populations.

1.1.7 Effects of Chicken Gut Microbiota on Pathogen Defense

Both poultry and zoonotic pathogens have long been a major concern to the poultry industry. The pathogens harbored by chickens are capable of causing severe illness in both humans and poultry. One prevalent pathogen is *Salmonella*, which makes up a small portion of the chicken intestinal microbial community (18). *Salmonella* can cause diarrhea, fever, abdominal pain, and can be fatal in the immunocompromised populations (e.g. infants, pregnant women, senior citizens, or immunosuppressed patients) (146).

Salmonella pathogenicity in chickens were found to be age-dependent. Young chickens are the most susceptible to Salmonella infection, especially in first few days post-hatch, and pathogen susceptibility is decreased in mature chickens when their gut microbiota are more diverse and stable (10). In fact, the concept of commensal competitive exclusion (CE) was first proposed in poultry studies regarding excluding Salmonella colonization in the chicken gut (10). Nurmi and Rantala found that commensal members of the chicken gut microbiota inhibited Salmonella enterica colonization by competitive exclusion (10, 147). Subsequent studies reported that introducing adult chicken cecal content or the bacteria derived from the mature chicken gut to young chicks could significantly reduce *Salmonella* infection (23, 148). These studies solidified that the early development of the gut microbiota in chicken plays an important role in pathogen defense.

Research on the application of CE advanced from studying *Salmonella* exclusion, to other poultry-related pathogens, for example *Campylobacter*. *Campylobacter* is one of the most important zoonotic pathogens that is highly associated with poultry (149). Colonizing the lower intestinal tract of the chickens, some species of *Campylobacter*, namely *C. jejuni* and *C. coli*, are a contributor to human illness resulting in campylobacteriosis. For a long time, *C. jejuni* has been considered as a commensal of the chicken microbiota as the colonization of *C. jejuni* in the chicken gut did not seem to cause obvious clinical signs (150). However, recent studies reported that *C. jejuni* colonization could increase pro-inflammatory cytokine gene expression in the chicken gut (151), and impact the gut epithelium, which led to pathogen translocation (152, 153). Attempts to exclude *Campylobacter via* CE have been made. Colonizing young broiler chicks with a diverse set of adult chicken commensal bacterial isolates succeeded in reducing *Campylobacter jejuni* colonization (154, 155).

In addition to the potential impact on human health by zoonotic diseases, the economic impact of poultry diseases is a major concern of chicken producers. Bacterial pathogens such as *Clostridium perfringens* can cause necrotic enteritis, resulting in reduced growth and feed efficiency, and in severe cases, increased mortality (156). The annual economic losses caused by necrotic enteritis was estimated to be over US\$6 billion globally (157). To date, in-feed antimicrobial additives are used in broiler farming to control necrotic enteritis. Concerns over the spread of antimicrobial resistance from agriculture has led to legislation and consumer pressure to reduce antibiotic use in animal production globally (158). Efforts have been made to find

effective alternatives of antimicrobial additives to control necrotic enteritis. Previous research has demonstrated that using a cocktail of probiotics reduced the level of cecal *C. perfringens* and associated intestinal lesions, which showed the potential to be an alternative to antibiotics (159). Overall, these studies have demonstrated the importance of the microbiota in pathogen defense in the chicken gut, which have proven to have potential in preventing and controlling pathogens in chickens.

1.2 The Potential Effects of the Broiler Production Environments on the Commercial Broiler Chicken Microbiota

1.2.1 Current Chicken Barn Sanitation Practices in the Canadian Poultry Industry

As discussed above, the relatively high hygiene levels of hatcheries and the absence of the hens at hatch have adverse effects on the development of broiler healthy microbiota (160). In practice, newly hatched chicks are delivered to the broiler production house shortly after hatch and receive feed and water on arrival. Therefore, broiler production houses are important in the initial assembly and development of the broiler gut microbiota. According to the current onfarm-food safety assurance program by the Chicken Farmers of Canada for broiler production, all production barns must be sanitized with chemical disinfectants at least once annually, and the reuse of chicken litter from a previous flock is not allowed (161). Within the year, producers have the option to clean the barns by blower/sweep clean, water wash or using chemical disinfectants. Limited by the lack of scientific information comparing the effects of these cleaning practices on productivity, chicken health, and chicken gut microbiology, many producers continue to use chemical disinfectants after each flock assuming "the cleaner, the

better". Currently, not much information is available to review how frequently chicken producers apply chemical disinfectants to sanitize the broiler barns in Canada. Course et al. surveyed 36 broiler chicken producers in Ontario on barn cleaning procedures for a period of 10 months and reported that for the 696 barn cleaning observation, chemical disinfection was the most frequently used practices (48.3%) (162).

Using chemical disinfectants may be efficient in removing microorganisms (163), but may also reduce the transmission of beneficial microbes derived from one flock to the next. As environmental chicken-derived bacteria were proven to be important in the early life gut microbiota assembly and development (84), the absence of these commensals may lead to decreased ability of the chicken gut microbiota to competitively exclude pathogens . Moreover, this may also result in selection of disinfectant-resistant pathogens that further increases the risk of pathogen contamination of chicken meat (164). To date, very limited information is available regarding how chemical disinfected barns affect chicken gut microbiota and intestinal health. Alternatively, to study the impact of the rearing environments on the assembly and development of the chicken microbiota, studies have been performed using recycled chicken litters.

1.2.2 The Interactions between Recycled Litter, the Chicken Gut Microbiota, and the Host Responses

Recycled chicken litter mainly consists of bedding material, chicken fecal waste, feed, water, and feathers (165). In most commercial poultry operations outside of Canada, the microbial communities in the recycled litter are carried over from one flock to the next (166). It was reported that recycled chicken litter contained bacteria ranging from $10^7 - 10^{10}$ CFU/g of dry
material (167, 168). In a production barn, recycled litter sampled from different locations also varied in microbial composition due to different temperatures, moistures, and litter depth (169). In addition, previous studies also reported different microbial compositions in recycled litters. Generally, members from phyla Firmicutes and Actinobacteria were reported to dominate the microbial communities of recycled litter. In addition, *Bacillales, Lactobacillales,* and *Enterococcus* were also often reported to be detected in the recycled chicken litter (89, 168, 169). Compared to the recycled litter, fresh litter was high in *Acinetobacter, Pseudomonas*, and *Enterobacteria*, whereas the used chicken litter contained more intestinal-type bacteria (89). Wang et al. compared the microbiota of fresh and recycled litter, and reported an increase of halotolerant/alkaliphilic bacteria in recycled litter indicating increased urea utilization (90).

As discussed, exposure to recycled chicken litter had an impact on the chicken gut microbiota and increased pathogen defense (10, 86, 87). Particularly, the recycled litter increased the microbial densities in the broiler gut microbiota of chicks over the first two weeks of life, resulting in an increased predominance of *Clostridiales* and *Lactobacillus* spp. in the chicken gut in later life (89). More recently, recycled litter was reported to increase the predominance of some potentially beneficial bacteria, such as *Faecalibacterium*, a SCFA producer whose increased abundance in young broiler ceca continued as the chicken matured (90). As mentioned previously, recycled chicken litter could effectively suppress pathogen colonization in the chicken gut. Early studies reported significant reduction of zoonotic pathogen *Salmonella* Typhimurium and *Salmonella* Enteritidis in the intestine of the chickens raised on recycled litter comparing to sterilized recycled litter group, which suggested that the pathogen exclusion effects were exerted by the viable bacteria presented in the recycled litter (23, 170). Very recently, Valeris-Chacin et al. used 16S rRNA sequencing to study the microbiome of the chicken litter. They reported that isolation frequencies of *Campylobacter* from the chicken litter was negatively associated with *Bifidobacterium*, *Anaerosporobacter*, and *Stenotrophomonas* relative abundance in the recycled litter (171).

The chicken immune system was also found to be affected by recycled litter. Lee et al. compared the immune responses from chickens reared on clean litter, recycled litter from a previously healthy flock and recycled litter from a farm with history of a gangrenous dermatitis (GD) outbreak. Their results indicated that the GD litter stimulated the chicken humoral immune responses. Particularly, higher serum antibodies against *Eimeria* or *C. perfringens* were observed in chickens raised on GD litter compared with those on the fresh or used litter. In addition, recycled litter also decreased the expression of cecal tonsil pro-inflammatory cytokines (165). However, the study done by Shanmugasundaram et al. reported that compared with broiler chickens raised on fresh litter, those raised on used litter had increased expression of proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 β and IL-4 with a decrease expression of anti-inflammatory cytokine *IL-10* in cecal tonsils (91). Reasons behind these distinct results were not further explored. It may be caused by the differences of the chicken age, litter microbiome, and the gut microbiota between these studies, or variations of environmental factors such as diets and litter contaminants. However, to date, there is still no consensus on whether using recycled litter confers beneficial or harmful effects on the chicken immune response.

1.2.3 Current Knowledge of Barn Disinfections and its Effects on the Barn Environmental Microbiology, the Chicken Gut Microbiota, and Host Health

Currently, limited information is known regarding the effects of barn disinfections on the barn environmental microbiology, chicken gut microbial communities and the chicken performance. Recently, one study by Course et al. examined chicken barn sanitation procedures (i.e. dry cleaning, water cleaning, and chemical disinfection), and evaluated the effects on the pathogen detection odds in the barn environments (162). By comparing these cleaning methods on wood-floor and cement-floor broiler production barns, they found that the odds of detecting *S. enterica* were higher on water cleaning wooden floors compared to dry cleaned concrete floors; whereas *E. coli* concentration was lower in chemically disinfected barns compared to dry cleaned barns (162). Interestingly, they also found that the odds of having quaternary ammonium compound-resistant *E. coli* isolates were lower in full disinfected barns compared to the dry cleaned barns.

To investigate the effects of rearing environment cleaning in pathogen incidences on the chicken gut, de Castro Burbarelli et al. examined the effects of chicken pen cleaning using neutral detergent versus a protocol using acidic and alkaline detergents with chemical disinfectants and found that the protocol resulted in increased chicken body weight at 42 days of age with little impact on the *Campylobacter* incidence at the same age (163). However, this study only focused on the absence/presence of *Campylobacter* on research-pen level without examining the gut microbiota or the gut nutrient metabolites, making it difficult to explain the increased chicken performance observed in the protocol.

1.3 The Effects of Distinct Microbial Communities on the Chicken Host

In microbiome research, studying variations in microbial structure and composition can offer insight into complex host-microbe-metabolite interactions. Arumugam et al. first described three clusters in the human gut microbiota, and suggested that population-level analysis of the gut microbiome variation could help understand host-microbial symbiotic states, which might respond differently to diet and drug intake (172). Human studies revealed that the distinct microbial communities were correlated with long-term dietary patterns but independent of host phenotypes such as gender, age or body mass index (173). Compared to other animal models, such as mice, limited information is known regarding distinct chicken gut microbial communities and their effects on the host. Previously, some distinct microbial communities in the chicken gut microbiome had been identified (174, 175). However, in chicken studies the causes of these distinct microbial populations have yet to be determined.

Kaakoush et al. reported that the chicken fecal microbiomes could be separated into 4 robust enterotypes, namely the 1) Firmicutes-dominant, 2) the Firmicutes- and Proteobacteriadominant group, 3) the Firmicutes- and Actinobacteria-dominant group, and 4) the Firmicutesand Bacteroidetes-dominant group (174). Particularlly, the dominant Firmicutes were *Lactobacillus* and *Peptostreptococcaceae* were the first 3 groups; whereas the Firmicutes from group 4 were dominated by *Ruminococcaceae*. Sharing dominance with Firmicutes, the dominant Proteobacteria were *Escherichia-Shigella* and *Enterobacter*; the dominant Actinobacteria were *Corynebacterium* and *Brevibacterium*; and the dominant *Bacteroidetes* were *Alistipes* and *Bacteroides* (174). Kaakoush and colleagues speculated one possible factor that led these distinct microbial communities was the rearing environment (the conventional indoor farm vs. free range farm). Chickens reared on the conventional indoor farm had more gram-negative bacteria (e.g. Proteobacteria) in their gut, as compared to free-range chickens, highlighting that the rearing environments greatly influence the chicken gut microbial composition (174). However, the authors did not explore changes in metabolite profile or host responses, leaving the question of how different microbial composisions affect host health unexplained (174).

A subsequent study of duodenum digesta using 16S rRNA sequencing and metabolomic techniques reported 3 distinct duodenal microbial communities, namely 1) the *Bacteroides* and *Escherichia/Shigella*-dominant group, 2) the *Ochrobactrum*- and *Rhodococcus*- dominant group, and 3) the *Bacillus* and *Akkermansia* group (175). In this study, associations between duodenal metabolites and the distinct microbial communities were drawn. Cellobiose, α -D-glucose, D-mannose, and D-allose were positively correlated to the group 2 microbial communities with β -hydroxybutyric acid being negatively correlated (175). Furthermore, the authors examined how these distinct microbial communities affect the host. Their results revealed that chickens harboring the group 2 duodenal microbiota had higher serum triglyceride level and fat deposition compared to the chickens with group 1 microbiota at 77 days of age (175).

Recently, studies trying to link distinct microbial communities to specific host diseases or phenotypes were criticized by some researchers. They have suggested that grouping the microbiota of individual subjects based on the dominance of certain genera may have oversimplified a complex situation. However, studies on distinct microbial communities are very informative if they include assays measuring biomarker signatures (e.g. antibiotic resistance genes, functional genes, and metabolites) and robust bioinformatics to establish possible relationships.

1.4 Gut Microbiota and Antibiotic Resistance

In 1951, the United States Food and Drug Administration approved the use of antimicrobial agents without veterinary prescription. However, emerging diseases caused by antibiotic-resistant bacteria had caused continuously expending concern of antibiotic usage in livestock production. Annual global deaths linked to antimicrobial resistance (AMR) was projected to reach 10 million by 2025 with cumulative medical expenses and economic loss reaching \$100 trillion dollars (176). Livestock farming accounts for over 50% of all antibiotic usage globally (177). Concerns over the spread of antimicrobial resistance from agriculture has led to legislation and consumer pressure to reduce antibiotic use in animal production globally. In 2003, the European Union gradually banned all in-feed administration of non-therapeutic concentration of antibiotic agents in the livestock industry, whilst the World Health Organization called for the eliminating the use of livestock growth-promoting antibiotics in the near future (178). In Canada, the Chicken Farmers of Canada has put great effort to progressively phase out prophylactic antimicrobial use in chicken farming. According to the Chicken Farmers of Canada, by the end of 2018 preventive usage of antibiotics that are of very high (category I) and high (category II) medical importance (e.g. Aminoglycosides, Carbapenems, Cephalosporins, Fluoroquinolones, Fusidic acid, Glycopeptides, Polymyxins, Lincosamides, Macrolides, Penicillins, Quinolones, Streptogramins, sulfamethoxazole) were banned in chicken production (179). However, subsequent data following the antibiotics ban in the EU showed significantly increased broiler mortality rate correlating with decreased disease resistance (180). Therefore, effective alternatives of prophylactic antibiotics are highly warranted to reduce antibiotic usage whilst maintaining livestock productivity.

1.4.1 Usage of Antibiotics and Antimicrobial Resistance in Poultry Farming

As mentioned, livestock farming was reported to account for more than 50% of the global usage of antibiotics, which was projected to exceed 200,000 tones by 2030 (177). AGPs were defined as antibiotics added as feed additives at low subtherapeutic levels for the purpose of improving growth and feed efficiency (181). As a consequence, AGPs apply selective pressure to the microbial communities in the livestock GIT, which stimulates the mutation and transmission of antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) among the microbes and thus foster the increase in the relative abundance of resistant populations (182). Microbes carrying ARGs can be excreted together with animal feces to the environments causing contaminations (183). Once ARGs disseminate into environments such as soil and water, it increases the likelihood of human exposure (183). This limits the number of antibiotics that are effective for therapeutic treatments conducting higher incidence of disease. In this sense, livestock waste can put pressure to the public health system (184).

Generally, the most frequently detected ARG classes in livestock waste include resistance to β -lactams (e.g. *bla*), macrolide-lincosamide-streptogramin (MLS) B (e.g. *erm*), FCA (fluoroquinolone, quinolone, florfenicol, chloramphenicol, and amphenicol) (e.g. *fca*), sulfonamides (e.g. *sul*), and tetracyclines (e.g. *tet*); whereas aminoglycosides (e.g. *aac*), vancomycin (e.g. *van*) and multidrug (e.g. *mdr*) have also been detected (185-187).

In intensive broiler chicken production, antibiotics such as bacitracin, bambermycin, salinomycin, tetracycline, tylosin, and virginiamycin are often used (188, 189). Likely due to the high stocking density during production and short production cycle, the chicken gut microbiome were reported to have higher densities of ARGs compared to other livestock species (186). One important ARG reservoir in chicken production is the chicken litter. It accumulates ARG inputs

from the excreta and other residues like spilled feed containing ARGs during production. Previously, it was reported that poultry litter harbored high densities of AMR bacteria, mobile genetic elements (MGEs) and antibiotic residuals (190-192), and AMR bacteria were even still detectable in broiler production houses after removal of the used litter and after disinfection treatment (162).

The commercial chicken gut microbial communities were also known to be a reservoir of ARGs and MGEs (the complete collection of ARGs and MGEs in a given microbial community were also termed as "resistome") (193, 194). Studies profiling human, swine and poultry resistomes showed that the human gut shared the highest similarities in mobile ARGs with the chicken gut, indicating high-possibilities of horizontal ARG transfer between humans and poultry (195, 196). In particular, the poultry gut microbiota was reported to carry more than 500 ARGs that can be classified into over 200 types, being the highest in ARG numbers and abundance compared to humans and swine (195).

Currently, compared to the swine and ruminant resistome, information on the chicken gut resistome is still limited (197). Previously, a study across 9 European countries focusing on the chicken, swine and human fecal resistome revealed that the majority of ARGs found in chicken feces were tetracycline-, aminoglycoside-, and MLS- resistant genes (198). One recent study studied the fecal resistome of chickens at farms and the ones at live poultry markets in China (195). Generally, AMR against aminoglycoside, tetracycline, MLS, and β -lactam were more abundant than those associated with other classes (195). However, due to variations in chicken feed composition and antibiotic management between countries, it was hard to determine the factors affecting the chicken fecal resistome. Some previous studies have explored the effects of different classes of antibiotic administration on the chicken fecal resistome (199, 200). It was

reported that ampicillin was positively associated with the abundance of most β -lactam and bacitracin ARGs, and negatively correlated to the abundance of tetracycline ARGs in chicken feces (199). Xiong et al. reported that increased abundance of tetracycline ARGs were detected in chicken fecal resistome when therapeutic dosages of chlortetracyclines were added in the feed. Interestingly, the increased abundance of tetracycline ARGs coincided with decreased abundance of multi-drug resistant genes, indicating, not surprisingly, the classes and dosage of antibiotics involved in poultry production influence the chicken microbial resistome (200).

1.4.2 Mutation and Transmission of ARGs and Antibiotic Resistant Mechanisms

As an ancient survival strategy, microorganisms had developed antibiotic resistance to overcome environmental threats. The emerge of resistance to antimicrobial agents reflects an aspect of microbial evolution, which can be acquired by genetic mutations or horizontal gene transfer (e.g. transformation, conjugation and transduction) (201). Under the stress of antimicrobial agents (e.g. adverse growth conditions), genetic errors can occur to bacterial genes that lead to reduced or loss of antibiotic affinity to their targets, and therefore confer survival advantage to the microorganisms (202). Surviving bacteria then pass these ARGs to their progeny cells causing the spread of antibiotic resistance. In addition, horizontal gene transfer (interspecies and/or intraspecies) is also another important route for bacteria to acquire ARGs. Bacteria are known to transmit genes including ARGs via the acquisition of mobile genetic elements (e.g. plasmid, transposons, integrons, bacteriophage, and retroviruses, etc.) naturally or under environmental pressure (203, 204). In this sense, misuse of antibiotics may accelerate the emerge of antibiotic resistance through mutation and transmission through vertical and horizontal gene transfer, which consequently leads to the spread of ARGs.

The molecular basis of how different types of antibiotics inhibit the growth of bacteria were well studied and reviewed (205). Antibiotics can inhibit 1) bacterial cell wall synthesis (e.g. β -lactams and vancomycin), 2) protein synthesis by targeting bacterial ribosome (e.g. aminoglycosides, tetracyclines, and MLS), 3) DNA replication by targeting DNA gyrase (e.g. quinolones), 4) RNA translation by targeting RNA polymerase (rifamycin), or 4) inhibit folic acid metabolism (e.g. sulfonamides) (205). To survive, bacteria have developed a series of resistance mechanisms. The resistance mechanism details are as follows.

To prevent accumulation of antibiotic in the bacterial cell, some bacteria alter membrane permeability (i.e. increasing efflux and decreasing uptake). Bacterial efflux pumps actively transport antibiotics out of the bacterial cells. Efflux pumps widely contribute to antibiotic resistance among both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. A variety of genes encode wide-range efflux pumps (e.g. the resistant nodulation division family and the major facilitator superfamily) and substrate-specific efflux pumps (e.g. tetracycline efflux pumps) (206-209). One other mechanism to alter the bacterial cell membrane permeability is through decreasing uptake. For example, *Pseudomonas* can decrease the membrane permeability by down-regulating the expression of outer membrane porin protein or by replacing porin protein with more selective channels to limit the diffusion of hydrophilic antibiotics (210).

ARGs can also confer resistance through modification (protect, alter, or replace) of the antibiotic target sites. For example, antibiotic target protection proteins can bind to the functional protein, such as the bacterial ribosomal proteins, thereby help bacteria to gain resistance against antibiotics (211, 212). Ribosomal protection proteins (RPPs) are good examples for this resistance mechanism. RPPs are a group of proteins that can competitively bind to the bacterial ribosome subunits resulting in the protection of the targets of specific antibiotics (e.g.

tetracyclines, macrolides, lincosamides and streptogramin) (211). Notably, genes encoding RPPs were often located on mobile genetic elements (213, 214) indicating a high capability of being horizontally transferred. In recent years, RPP gene families encoding tetracycline-resistance RPPs and the erythromycin ribosome methylases (*erm*, MLS-resistant) were frequently identified in a great variety of bacteria in livestock farming-related niches (215-222), urging a re-evaluation of the current guideline of antibiotic usage in agriculture.

Inactivation of antibiotics is another major mechanism of antibiotic resistance. A large group of ARGs can encode enzymes that can inactivate antibiotics by chemically them (223) or by destroying them (224). For instance, tetracycline destructases can destroy the chemical structure of tetracycline by oxidizing the covalent bonds of the antibiotic molecule (224). Unlike the alteration of permeability or change of the antibiotic targets, the ability to eliminates the intracellular and/or extracellular antibiotic challenge permanently by inactivation enzymes and destructases were considered to have a huge clinical impact (224). In fact, some recently developed antibiotics (e.g. tigecycline and omadacycline) had overcome resistant conferred by efflux pumps (225) and RPPs (226), yet currently limited measures were available in controlling drug resistance by antibiotic inactivation enzymes.

1.4.3 Resistance to Antibiotics Related to Poultry Production

Aminoglycosides were used for treating enteric infection in poultry (227), and are of high importance in treating serious human infections (category II antibiotics) (179). Bacterial resistance against aminoglycosides is mainly driven by modification of target of aminoglycosides (the bacterial ribosome). Genes encoding either acetyltransferases (AAC(2),

AAC(3), and *AAC(6)*), nucleotidyl transferases (*ANT(2)*, *ANT(3)*, *ANT(4)*, *ANT(6)*, and *ANT(9)*), and phosphotransferases (*APH(2)*, *APH(3)*, *APH(3)*, *APH(4)*, *APH(6)*, *APH(7)*, and *APH(9)*) were often detected in poultry farming.

β-lactams are one of the most important antibiotic classes in human bacterial infection treatments (category I). As an important member of β-lactams, penicillin was once approved as feed additives in Canada (189). Currently, it is highly restricted in Canadian poultry farming (179). Multiple resistant mechanisms against β-lactams have been documented. The major bacterial resistance against β-lactam, which has been well reviewed by Paterson & Bonomo, is exerted via the production of β-lactamases (e.g. *blaTEM* gene encoding extended-spectrum βlactamases) (228). In addition, some gram-positive bacteria showed resistance by the acquisition of mutated penicillin binding proteins (229). The mechanism through decreasing outer membrane permeability and increasing expression of efflux pumps were widely reported (230, 231).

The macrolide, lincosamide and streptogramin antibiotics are category II antibiotics (179), which are often used to treat infections caused by Gram-positive bacteria. Interestingly, although macrolide, lincosamide and streptogramin are completely different in molecular structures, they are often studied as a group (termed as "MLS") due to the similarity in the inhibition of bacterial protein synthesis targeting the bacterial ribosome (232). Historically, some antibiotics in this group (e.g. lincomycin and virginamycin) were used as growth promoters in broiler chicken production (189, 233), and thus MLS-resistant genes were frequently detected in samples related to poultry production. The most frequently found ARGs conferring MLS-resistance in poultry farming belongs to the *erm* gene family (e.g. *ermB*, *ermC*, *ermG*, *ermF*,

ermX), which encode rRNA methylases that modifies the bacterial ribosome environments (220-222).

Tetracycline antibiotics were categorized as medium importance to human use in Canada (category III) (179), and they were also once used as feed additives by Canadian poultry producers (189). Likely due to the extensive use of tetracycline for decades, high frequency and diversity of tetracycline resistant genes were detected in poultry (192, 198, 234, 235). Tetracycline antibiotics target the bacterial ribosome and inhibit protein synthesis (236). The mechanisms of resistance against tetracycline include antibiotic target alteration by RPPs (e.g. tet(W), tet(M), tet(O), tet(32), etc.), tetracycline efflux pumps (e.g. tet(40), tet(42), tet(K), etc.), and tetracycline inactivation enzymes (e.g. tet(X)).

1.4.4 The Use of Chemical Disinfectants and its Effects on ARGs

Biocidal agents such as benzalkonium chloride (BAC), hydrogen peroxide, glutaraldehyde, ethanol, sodium hypochlorite, were widely used in agriculture for disinfecting purposes (237). On one hand, chemical disinfectants demobilize antibiotic-resistant bacteria and/or destruct ARGs by applying oxidation stresses (e.g. chorine, ozone). Conversely, they stress bacteria to adapt; a behavior that can promote antibiotic resistance through co-selection (238). Currently there is no consensus on whether chemical disinfectants induce ARG proliferation, or if they are beneficial in controlling antibiotic resistance. Some studies indicated that chemical disinfectants could stimulate microbial ARG proliferation and transfer in the environment as a stressor (239-241). Benzalkonium chloride, a widely used quaternary ammonium compound for controlling bacteria, fungi and viruses, was found to increase the resistance to ampicillin, cetotaxime, and sulfamethoxazole among a series of food-related bacterial isolates (239, 242), and co-selected ARGs (243). Sodium hypochlorite (also referred as liquid bleach) is widely used in hospital, agriculture, and other industries as a chemical disinfectant. It was shown that adapted to sodium hypochlorite, some *Salmonella* species also developed associated resistance to some antibiotics (e.g. gentamicin, chloramphenicol, and tetracycline, etc.) (244). Notably, some bacteria such as *E. coli* can enter the viable but nonculturable state to persist from sodium hypochlorite and potentially various antibiotics (245).

Some studies have also indicated that the use of chemical disinfectants could control antibiotic resistance by decreasing ARG abundance. It has been showed that quaternary ammonium compounds and sodium hypochlorite treatment of swine manure significantly decreased the abundance of selected ARGs (i.e. erm(B), erm(C), erm(F), intI1, tet(Q), and tet(X)) (246). It was also reported that oxidants such as chlorine and hydroxyl radical exhibited the potential to destroy ARG located both in *E. coli* cells and on plasmids (247). However currently, limited information is available regarding chemical disinfectant-treated rearing environments and their effects on the animal gut resistomes.

1.6 Research Objectives and Hypotheses

The production barn acts as an important microbial source for the chickens. Cleaning/ disinfection practices impact the microbial abundance and diversity of the rearing environment, which may influence the assembly and development of the chicken gut microbiome. Objectives: This thesis was designed to evaluate the effects of barn cleaning practices at the production level to provide scientific evidence for the Canadian poultry industry to make rational decisions regarding the most appropriate barn cleaning method.

Specifically our aims were to:

1) assess how barn cleaning practices influence the chicken productivity, the chicken gut microbiota and pathogen load, as well as cecal SCFA concentrations

2) evaluate the gut microbial functional consequences that result from the different barn cleaning practices, particularly with respect to the genetic potential of microbial metabolism and the ARG incidence of the gut microbiota; and

3) explore how early-life distinct cecal microbial populations affect microbe-microbe interactions, the gut microbial functionality and the subsequent effects on host immune activation.

Hypotheses:

1) Compared to barn water-wash, the application of chemical disinfectants during barn cleaning will alter the composition of the chicken gut microbiota resulting in increased pathogen carriage.

2) The use of disinfectants in barn cleaning will impact the cecal microbial functional capacities of nutrient metabolism and increased incidence of ARGs in the chicken gut.

3) Distinct cecal *Bacteroides* composition in week-old broiler chickens results in different microbial functionalities that altered the cecal SCFA production and host immune status.

1.7 References:

- Farrell D. 2013. The role of poultry in human nutrition. Poultry Development Review Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization:2-9.
- Searchinger T, Waite R, Hanson C, Ranganathan J, Dumas P, Matthews E, Klirs C. 2019. Creating a sustainable food future: A menu of solutions to feed nearly 10 billion people by 2050. Final report. WRI.
- Godfray HCJ, Aveyard P, Garnett T, Hall JW, Key TJ, Lorimer J, Pierrehumbert RT, Scarborough P, Springmann M, Jebb SA. 2018. Meat consumption, health, and the environment. Science 361:eaam5324.
- Jones PJ, Niemi J, Christensen JP, Tranter RB, Bennett RM. 2019. A review of the financial impact of production diseases in poultry production systems. Animal Production Science 59:1585.
- USDA. 2022. Poultry: World Markets and Trade. United States Department of Agriculture.
- Bahrndorff S, Alemu T, Alemneh T, Lund Nielsen J. 2016. The Microbiome of Animals: Implications for Conservation Biology. Int J Genomics 2016:5304028.
- Stanley D, Denman SE, Hughes RJ, Geier MS, Crowley TM, Chen H, Haring VR, Moore RJ. 2012. Intestinal microbiota associated with differential feed conversion efficiency in chickens. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 96:1361-9.
- Torok VA, Hughes RJ, Ophel-Keller K, Ali M, Macalpine R. 2009. Influence of different litter materials on cecal microbiota colonization in broiler chickens. Poult Sci 88:2474-81.

- Stanley D, Geier MS, Denman SE, Haring VR, Crowley TM, Hughes RJ, Moore RJ.
 2013. Identification of chicken intestinal microbiota correlated with the efficiency of energy extraction from feed. Vet Microbiol 164:85-92.
- Nurmi E, Rantala M. 1973. New aspects of Salmonella infection in broiler production. Nature 241:210-1.
- 11. Rantala M, Nurmi E. 1973. Prevention of the growth of *Salmonella infantisin* chicks by the flora of the alimentary tract of chickens. British Poultry Science 14:627-630.
- Crhanova M, Hradecka H, Faldynova M, Matulova M, Havlickova H, Sisak F, Rychlik I.
 2011. Immune response of chicken gut to natural colonization by gut microflora and to *Salmonella enterica* serovar enteritidis infection. Infect Immun 79:2755-63.
- Oakley BB, Kogut MH. 2016. Spatial and temporal changes in the broiler chicken cecal and fecal microbiomes and correlations of bacterial taxa with cytokine gene expression. Front Vet Sci 3:11.
- Jacquier V, Nelson A, Jlali M, Rhayat L, Brinch KS, Devillard E. 2019. *Bacillus subtilis* 29784 induces a shift in broiler gut microbiome toward butyrate-producing bacteria and improves intestinal histomorphology and animal performance. Poult Sci 98:2548-2554.
- Lin Y, Xu S, Zeng D, Ni X, Zhou M, Zeng Y, Wang H, Zhou Y, Zhu H, Pan K, Li G.
 2017. Disruption in the cecal microbiota of chickens challenged with *Clostridium perfringens* and other factors was alleviated by *Bacillus licheniformis* supplementation. PLos One 12:e0182426.
- Patterson J, Burkholder K. 2003. Application of prebiotics and probiotics in poultry production. Poult Sci 82:627-631.

- 17. Maki JJ, Bobeck EA, Sylte MJ, Looft T. 2020. Eggshell and environmental bacteria contribute to the intestinal microbiota of growing chickens. Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology 11.
- Oakley BB, Lillehoj HS, Kogut MH, Kim WK, Maurer JJ, Pedroso A, Lee MD, Collett SR, Johnson TJ, Cox NA. 2014. The chicken gastrointestinal microbiome. FEMS Microbiol Lett 360:100-12.
- Wagner C, Torow N, Hornef MW, Lelouard H. 2021. Spatial and temporal key steps in early-life intestinal immune system development and education. The FEBS Journal doi:10.1111/febs.16047.
- Olszak T, An D, Zeissig S, Vera MP, Richter J, Franke A, Glickman JN, Siebert R, Baron RM, Kasper DL, Blumberg RS. 2012. Microbial exposure during early life has persistent effects on natural killer t cell function. Science.
- Ganesh BP, Klopfleisch R, Loh G, Blaut M. 2013. Commensal *Akkermansia muciniphila* exacerbates gut inflammation in *Salmonella* Typhimurium-infected gnotobiotic mice.
 PLoS One 8:e74963.
- 22. Bokulich NA, Chung J, Battaglia T, Henderson N, Jay M, Li H, Lieber AD, Wu F, Perez-Perez GI, Chen Y, Schweizer W, Zheng X, Contreras M, Dominguez-Bello MG, Blaser MJ. 2016. Antibiotics, birth mode, and diet shape microbiome maturation during early life. Science Translational Medicine.
- 23. Corrier DE, Arthur Hinton J, Hargis B, DeLoach JR. 1992. Effect of used litter from floor pens of adult broilers on salmonella colonization of broiler chicks. Avian Diseases.

- 24. Svihus B, Lund VB, Borjgen B, Bedford MR, Bakken M. 2013. Effect of intermittent feeding, structural components and phytase on performance and behaviour of broiler chickens. Br Poult Sci 54:222-30.
- 25. Anwar H, Irfan S, Hussain G, Faisal MN, Muzaffar H, Mustafa I, Mukhtar I, Malik S, Ullah MI. 2019. Gut microbiome: A new organ system in body. Parasitology and Microbiology Research:1-20.
- 26. McClure R, Massari P. 2014. TLR-dependent human mucosal epithelial cell responses to microbial pathogens. Front Immunol 5:386.
- Chambers JR, Gong J. 2011. The intestinal microbiota and its modulation for *Salmonella* control in chickens. Food Res Int 44:3149-3159.
- Clavijo V, Florez MJV. 2018. The gastrointestinal microbiome and its association with the control of pathogens in broiler chicken production: A review. Poult Sci 97:1006-1021.
- Pan D, Yu Z. 2014. Intestinal microbiome of poultry and its interaction with host and diet. Gut Microbes 5:108-19.
- 30. Rychlik I. 2020. Composition and function of chicken gut microbiota. Animals 10:103.
- 31. Svihus B. 2014. Function of the digestive system. J Appl Poul Res 23:306-314.
- 32. Gong J, Si W, Forster RJ, Huang R, Yu H, Yin Y, Yang C, Han Y. 2007. 16S rRNA gene-based analysis of mucosa-associated bacterial community and phylogeny in the chicken gastrointestinal tracts: from crops to ceca. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 59:147-157.

- 33. Videnska P, Faldynova M, Juricova H, Babak V, Sisak F, Havlickova H, Rychlik I. 2013. Chicken faecal microbiota and disturbances induced by single or repeated therapy with tetracycline and streptomycin. BMC Vet Res 9:30.
- 34. Wang J, Fan H, Han Y, Wei J, Zhao J, Zhou Z. 2016. Pyrosequencing of the broiler chicken gastrointestinal tract reveals the regional similarity and dissimilarity of microbial community. Canadian Journal of Animal Science 97:302-313.
- 35. Witzig M, Carminha-Silva A, Green-Engert R, Hoelzle K, Zeller E, Seifert J, Hoelzle LE, Rodehutscord M. 2015. Spatial variation of the gut microbiota in broiler chickens as affected by dietary available phosphorus and assessed by T-RFLP analysis and 454 pyrosequencing. PLoS One 10:e0143442.
- 36. Choi J, Kim G, Cha C. 2014. Spatial heterogeneity and stability of bacterial community in the gastrointestinal tracts of broiler chickens. Poul Sci 93:1942-1950.
- Rehman HU, Vahjen W, Awad WA, Zentek J. 2007. Indigenous bacteria and bacterial metabolic products in the gastrointestinal tract of broiler chickens. Arch Anim Nutr 61:319-35.
- Gray GM. 1992. Starch digestion and absorption in nonruminants. The Journal of nutrition 122:172-177.
- Shapiro SK, Sarles W. 1949. Microorganisms in the intestinal tract of normal chickens. Journal of Bacteriology 58:531-544.
- Konsak BM, Stanley D, Haring VR, Geier MS, Hughes RJ, Howarth GS, Crowley TM, Moore RJ. 2013. Identification of differential duodenal gene expression levels and microbiota abundance correlated with differences in energy utilisation in chickens. Animal Production Science 53:1269-1275.

- 41. Glendinning L, Watson KA, Watson M. 2019. Development of the duodenal, ileal, jejunal and caecal microbiota in chickens. Animal Microbiome 1.
- Stamilla A, Ruiz-Ruiz S, Artacho A, Pons J, Messina A, Lucia Randazzo C, Caggia C, Lanza M, Moya A. 2021. Analysis of the microbial intestinal tract in broiler chickens during the rearing period. Biology 10:942.
- 43. Zhang X, Akhtar M, Chen Y, Ma Z, Liang Y, Shi D, Cheng R, Cui L, Hu Y, Nafady AA, Ansari AR, Abdel-Kafy EM, Liu H. 2022. Chicken jejunal microbiota improves growth performance by mitigating intestinal inflammation. Microbiome 10:107.
- Pourabedin M, Zhao X. 2015. Prebiotics and gut microbiota in chickens. FEMS microbiology letters 362:fnv122.
- 45. Lu J, Idris U, Harmon B, Hofacre C, Maurer JJ, Lee MD. 2003. Diversity and succession of the intestinal bacterial community of the maturing broiler chicken. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:6816-24.
- 46. Kumar S, Chen C, Indugu N, Werlang GO, Singh M, Kim WK, Thippareddi H. 2018. Effect of antibiotic withdrawal in feed on chicken gut microbial dynamics, immunity, growth performance and prevalence of foodborne pathogens. PloS one 13:e0192450.
- 47. Bjerrum L, Engberg R, Leser T, Jensen B, Finster K, Pedersen K. 2006. Microbial community composition of the ileum and cecum of broiler chickens as revealed by molecular and culture-based techniques. Poult Sci 85:1151-1164.
- 48. Yan W, Sun C, Zheng J, Wen C, Ji C, Zhang D, Chen Y, Hou Z, Yang N. 2019. Efficacy of fecal sampling as a gut proxy in the study of chicken gut microbiota. Front Microbiol 10:2126.

- 49. Kollarcikova M, Kubasova T, Karasova D, Crhanova M, Cejkova D, Sisak F, Rychlik I.
 2019. Use of 16S rRNA gene sequencing for prediction of new opportunistic pathogens in chicken ileal and cecal microbiota. Poult Sci 98:2347-2353.
- 50. Mohd Shaufi MA, Sieo CC, Chong CW, Gan HM, Ho YW. 2015. Deciphering chicken gut microbial dynamics based on high-throughput 16S rRNA metagenomics analyses. Gut Pathog 7:4.
- Almirall M, Esteve-Garcia E. 1994. Rate of passage of barley diets with chromium oxide: Influence of age and poultry strain and effect of β-glucanase supplementation. Poult Sci 73:1433-1440.
- 52. Qu A, Brulc JM, Wilson MK, Law BF, Theoret JR, Joens LA, Konkel ME, Angly F, Dinsdale EA, Edwards RA, Nelson KE, White BA. 2008. Comparative metagenomics reveals host specific metavirulomes and horizontal gene transfer elements in the chicken cecum microbiome. PLoS One 3:e2945.
- 53. Danzeisen JL, Kim HB, Isaacson RE, Tu ZJ, Johnson TJ. 2011. Modulations of the chicken cecal microbiome and metagenome in response to anticoccidial and growth promoter treatment. PloS One 6:e27949.
- 54. Xiao Y, Xiang Y, Zhou W, Chen J, Li K, Yang H. 2017. Microbial community mapping in intestinal tract of broiler chicken. Poult Sci 96:1387-1393.
- Wei S, Morrison M, Yu Z. 2013. Bacterial census of poultry intestinal microbiome. Poult Sci 92:671-83.
- 56. Fan Y, Forgie AJ, Ju T, Marcolla C, Inglis T, McMullen LM, Willing BP, Korver DR.2022. The use of disinfectant in barn cleaning alters microbial composition and increases

carriage of *Campylobacter jejuni* in broiler chickens. Appl Environ Microbiol 88:e0029522.

- Józefiak D, Rutkowski A, Martin S. 2004. Carbohydrate fermentation in the avian ceca: a review. Animal Feed Science and Technology 113:1-15.
- 58. Nordentoft S, Mølbak L, Bjerrum L, De Vylder J, Van Immerseel F, Pedersen K. 2011. The influence of the cage system and colonisation of *Salmonella* Enteritidis on the microbial gut flora of laying hens studied by T-RFLP and 454 pyrosequencing. BMC microbiology 11:1-11.
- Wei S, Gutek A, Lilburn M, Yu Z. 2013. Abundance of pathogens in the gut and litter of broiler chickens as affected by bacitracin and litter management. Vet Microbiol 166:595-601.
- 60. Yardeni T, Tanes CE, Bittinger K, Mattei LM, Schaefer PM, Singh LN, Wu GD,
 Murdock DG, Wallace DC. 2019. Host mitochondria influence gut microbiome diversity:
 A role for ROS. Sci Signal 12.
- 61. Saxena S, Saxena VK, Tomar S, Sapcota D, Gonmei G. 2016. Characterisation of caecum and crop microbiota of Indian indigenous chicken targeting multiple hypervariable regions within 16S rRNA gene. Br Poult Sci 57:381-389.
- Baldwin S, Hughes RJ, Hao Van TT, Moore RJ, Stanley D. 2018. At-hatch administration of probiotic to chickens can introduce beneficial changes in gut microbiota. PLoS One 13:e0194825.
- Ballou AL, Ali RA, Mendoza MA, Ellis JC, Hassan HM, Croom WJ, Koci MD. 2016.
 Development of the chick microbiome: how early exposure influences future microbial diversity. Front Vet Sci 3:2.

- 64. Newell D, Fearnley C. 2003. Sources of *Campylobacter* colonization in broiler chickens.Appl Environ Microbiol 69:4343-4351.
- 65. Awad WA, Mann E, Dzieciol M, Hess C, Schmitz-Esser S, Wagner M, Hess M. 2016. Age-Related Differences in the Luminal and Mucosa-Associated Gut Microbiome of Broiler Chickens and Shifts Associated with Campylobacter jejuni Infection. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 6:154.
- Ballou AL, Ali RA, Mendoza MA, Ellis JC, Hassan HM, Croom WJ, Koci MD. 2016.
 Development of the Chick Microbiome: How Early Exposure Influences Future
 Microbial Diversity. Front Vet Sci 3:2.
- 67. Oakley BB, Buhr RJ, Ritz CW, Kiepper BH, Berrang ME, Seal BS, Cox NA. 2014. Successional changes in the chicken cecal microbiome during 42 days of growth are independent of organic acid feed additives. BMC Veterinary Research 10.
- 68. Ranjitkar S, Lawley B, Tannock G, Engberg RM. 2016. Bacterial succession in the broiler gastrointestinal tract Appl Environ Microbiol 82:2399-2410.
- 69. Jurburg SD, Brouwer MSM, Ceccarelli D, van der Goot J, Jansman AJM, Bossers A.
 2019. Patterns of community assembly in the developing chicken microbiome reveal rapid primary succession. Microbiologyopen 8:e00821.
- 70. Savage DC, Siegel JE, Snellen JE, Whitt DD. 1981. Transit time of epithelial cells in the small intestines of germfree mice and ex-germfree mice associated with indigenous microorganisms. Appl Environ Microbiol.
- Fujimura KE, Demoor T, Rauch M, Faruqi AA, Jang S, Johnson CC, Boushey HA,
 Zoratti E, Ownby D, Lukacs NW, Lynch SV. 2014. House dust exposure mediates gut

microbiome *Lactobacillus* enrichment and airway immune defense against allergens and virus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:805-10.

- 72. Vatanen T, Kostic AD, d'Hennezel E, Siljander H, Franzosa EA, Yassour M, Kolde R, Vlamakis H, Arthur TD, Hamalainen AM, Peet A, Tillmann V, Uibo R, Mokurov S, Dorshakova N, Ilonen J, Virtanen SM, Szabo SJ, Porter JA, Lahdesmaki H, Huttenhower C, Gevers D, Cullen TW, Knip M, Group DS, Xavier RJ. 2016. Variation in microbiome lps immunogenicity contributes to autoimmunity in humans. Cell 165:842-53.
- 73. Derrien M, Van Baarlen P, Hooiveld G, Norin E, Muller M, de Vos WM. 2011.
 Modulation of mucosal immune response, tolerance, and proliferation in mice colonized by the mucin-degrader *Akkermansia muciniphila*. Front Microbiol 2:166.
- Ruan JW, Statt S, Huang CT, Tsai YT, Kuo CC, Chan HL, Liao YC, Tan TH, Kao CY.
 2016. Dual-specificity phosphatase 6 deficiency regulates gut microbiome and transcriptome response against diet-induced obesity in mice. Nat Microbiol 2:16220.
- Koenig JE, Spor A, Scalfone N, Fricker AD, Stombaugh J, Knight R, Angenent LT, Ley RE. 2011. Succession of microbial consortia in the developing infant gut microbiome.
 PNAS 108:4578-4585.
- 76. Lozupone CA, Stombaugh JI, Gordon JI, Jansson JK, Knight R. 2012. Diversity, stability and resilience of the human gut microbiota. Nature 489:220-30.
- 77. Dominguez-Bello MG, Costello EK, Contreras M, Magris M, Hidalgo G, Fierer N, Knight R. 2010. Delivery mode shapes the acquisition and structure of the initial microbiota across multiple body habitats in newborns. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:11971-5.
- 78. Van de Perre P. 2003. Transfer of antibody via mother's milk. Vaccine 21:3374-3376.

- Boehm G, Stahl B. 2007. Oligosaccharides from milk. The Journal of nutrition 137:847S-849S.
- Gopal PK, Gill H. 2000. Oligosaccharides and glycoconjugates in bovine milk and colostrum. Br J Nutr 84:69-74.
- Mueller NT, Bakacs E, Combellick J, Grigoryan Z, Dominguez-Bello MG. 2015. The infant microbiome development: mom matters. Trends in molecular medicine 21:109-117.
- 82. Goodenough AE, Stallwood B, Dandy S, Nicholson TE, Stubbs H, Coker DG. 2016. Like mother like nest: similarity in microbial communities of adult female Pied Flycatchers and their nests. Journal of Ornithology 158:233-244.
- Cooper RG. 2004. Ostrich (Struthio camelus) chick and grower nutrition. Anim Sci J 75:487-490.
- 84. Kubasova T, Kollarcikova M, Crhanova M, Karasova D, Cejkova D, Sebkova A, Matiasovicova J, Faldynova M, Pokorna A, Cizek A, Rychlik I. 2019. Contact with adult hen affects development of caecal microbiota in newly hatched chicks. PLoS One 14:e0212446.
- Al-Nasser A, Al-Khalaifa H, Al-Saffar A, Khalil F, Albahouh M, Ragheb G, Al-Haddad A, Mashaly M. 2007. Overview of chicken taxonomy and domestication. World's Poultry Science Journal 63:285-300.
- Olesiuk OM, Snoeyenbos GH, Smyser CF. 1971. Inhibitory effect of used litter on Salmonella typhimurium transmission in the chicken. Avian Diseases 15:118.
- Roll VF, Dai Pra MA, Roll AP. 2011. Research on *Salmonella* in broiler litter reused for up to 14 consecutive flocks. Poult Sci 90:2257-62.

- 88. Cressman MD. 2014. Effects of litter reuse on performance, welfare, and the microbiome of the litter and gastrointestinal tract of commercial broiler chickens.
- Cressman MD, Yu Z, Nelson MC, Moeller SJ, Lilburn MS, Zerby HN. 2010.
 Interrelations between the microbiotas in the litter and in the intestines of commercial broiler chickens. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:6572-82.
- Wang L, Lilburn M, Yu Z. 2016. Intestinal microbiota of broiler chickens as affected by litter management regimens. Front Microbiol 7:593.
- Shanmugasundaram R, Lilburn MS, Selvaraj RK. 2012. Effect of recycled litter on immune cells in the cecal tonsils of chickens. Poult Sci 91:95-100.
- 92. Han Z, Willer T, Pielsticker C, Gerzova L, Rychlik I, Rautenschlein S. 2016. Differences in host breed and diet influence colonization by *Campylobacter jejuni* and induction of local immune responses in chicken. Gut pathog 8:1-14.
- 93. Videnska P, Rahman MM, Faldynova M, Babak V, Matulova ME, Prukner-Radovcic E, Krizek I, Smole-Mozina S, Kovac J, Szmolka A. 2014. Characterization of egg laying hen and broiler fecal microbiota in poultry farms in Croatia, Czech Republic, Hungary and Slovenia. PLoS One 9:e110076.
- 94. De Cesare A, do Valle IF, Sala C, Sirri F, Astolfi A, Castellani G, Manfreda G. 2019.
 Effect of a low protein diet on chicken ceca microbiome and productive performances.
 Poult Sci 98:3963-3976.
- 95. Luo Q, Cui H, Peng X, Fang J, Zuo Z, Deng J, Liu J, Deng Y. 2016. Dietary high fluorine alters intestinal microbiota in broiler chickens. Biological trace element research 173:483-491.

- 96. Hubert SM, Al-Ajeeli M, Bailey CA, Athrey G. 2019. The role of housing environment and dietary protein source on the gut microbiota of chicken. Animals 9:1085.
- 97. Zou A, Nadeau K, Xiong X, Wang PW, Copeland JK, Lee JY, Pierre JS, Ty M, Taj B, Brumell JH, Guttman DS, Sharif S, Korver DR, Parkinson J. 2022. Systematic profiling of the chicken gut microbiome reveals dietary supplementation with antibiotics alters expression of multiple microbial pathways with minimal impact on community structure. Microbiome 10:1-29.
- 98. Mancabelli L, Ferrario C, Milani C, Mangifesta M, Turroni F, Duranti S, Lugli GA, Viappiani A, Ossiprandi MC, van Sinderen D. 2016. Insights into the biodiversity of the gut microbiota of broiler chickens. Environmental microbiology 18:4727-4738.
- 99. Song B, Yan S, Li P, Li G, Gao M, Yan L, Lv Z, Guo Y. 2022. Comparison and correlation analysis of immune function and gut microbiota of broiler chickens raised in double-layer cages and litter floor pens. Microbiology Spectrum 10:e00045-22.
- 100. Xu Y, Yang H, Zhang L, Su Y, Shi D, Xiao H, Tian Y. 2016. High-throughput sequencing technology to reveal the composition and function of cecal microbiota in Dagu chicken. BMC microbiology 16:1-9.
- 101. Ocejo M, Oporto B, Hurtado A. 2019. 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing characterization of caecal microbiome composition of broilers and free-range slow-growing chickens throughout their productive lifespan. Sci Rep 9:1-14.
- 102. Guardia S, Konsak B, Combes S, Levenez F, Cauquil L, Guillot J-F, Moreau-Vauzelle C, Lessire M, Juin H, Gabriel I. 2011. Effects of stocking density on the growth performance and digestive microbiota of broiler chickens. Poult Sci 90:1878-1889.

- 103. Simon K, de Vries Reilingh G, Kemp B, Lammers A. 2014. Development of ileal cytokine and immunoglobulin expression levels in response to early feeding in broilers and layers. Poult Sci 93:3017-3027.
- 104. Zhao L, Wang G, Siegel P, He C, Wang H, Zhao W, Zhai Z, Tian F, Zhao J, Zhang H.
 2013. Quantitative genetic background of the host influences gut microbiomes in chickens. Sci Rep 3:1-6.
- Meng H, Zhang Y, Zhao L, Zhao W, He C, Honaker CF, Zhai Z, Sun Z, Siegel PB. 2014.
 Body weight selection affects quantitative genetic correlated responses in gut microbiota.
 PloS One 9:e89862.
- 106. Kim JE, Lillehoj HS, Hong YH, Kim GB, Lee SH, Lillehoj EP, Bravo DM. 2015. Dietary Capsicum and Curcuma longa oleoresins increase intestinal microbiome and necrotic enteritis in three commercial broiler breeds. Research in veterinary science 102:150-158.
- 107. Nakphaichit M, Thanomwongwattana S, Phraephaisarn C, Sakamoto N, Keawsompong S, Nakayama J, Nitisinprasert S. 2011. The effect of including *Lactobacillus reuteri* KUB-AC5 during post-hatch feeding on the growth and ileum microbiota of broiler chickens. Poult Sci 90:2753-2765.
- 108. Wu S-B, Stanley D, Rodgers N, Swick RA, Moore RJ. 2014. Two necrotic enteritis predisposing factors, dietary fishmeal and Eimeria infection, induce large changes in the caecal microbiota of broiler chickens. Vet Microbiol 169:188-197.
- 109. Borda-Molina D, Vital M, Sommerfeld V, Rodehutscord M, Camarinha-Silva A. 2016. Insights into broilers' gut microbiota fed with phosphorus, calcium, and phytase supplemented diets. Front Microbiol 7:2033.

- Borda-Molina D, Zuber T, Siegert W, Camarinha-Silva A, Feuerstein D, Rodehutscord M. 2019. Effects of protease and phytase supplements on small intestinal microbiota and amino acid digestibility in broiler chickens. Poultry science 98:2906-2918.
- 111. Tian X, Shao Y, Wang Z, Guo Y. 2016. Effects of dietary yeast β-glucans supplementation on growth performance, gut morphology, intestinal *Clostridium perfringens* population and immune response of broiler chickens challenged with necrotic enteritis. Animal Feed Science and Technology 215:144-155.
- 112. Van Hoeck V, Wu D, Somers I, Wealleans A, Vasanthakumari B, Sanchez AG, Morisset D. 2021. Xylanase impact beyond performance: A prebiotic approach in broiler chickens. J Appl Poult Res 30:100193.
- 113. Yegani M, Korver DR. 2008. Factors affecting intestinal health in poultry. Poult Sci 87:2052-63.
- Dibner JJ, Richards JD. 2005. Antibiotic growth promoters in agriculture: history and mode of action. Poult Sci 84:634-43.
- 115. Seal BS, Drider D, Oakley BB, Brüssow H, Bikard D, Rich JO, Miller S, Devillard E, Kwan J, Bertin G, Reeves S, Swift SM, Raicek M, Gay CG. 2018. Microbial-derived products as potential new antimicrobials. Vet Res 49.
- 116. Tazoe H, Otomo Y, Kaji I, Tanaka R, Karaki SI, Kuwahara A. 2008. Roles of short-chain fatty acids receptors, GPR41 and GPR43 on colonic functions. J Physiol Pharmacol 59 Suppl 2:251-62.
- 117. Falony G, De Vuyst L. 2009. Ecological interactions of bacteria in the human gut.Prebiotics and probiotics science and technology:639.

- 118. Singh N, Gurav A, Sivaprakasam S, Brady E, Padia R, Shi H, Thangaraju M, Prasad PD, Manicassamy S, Munn DH, Lee JR, Offermanns S, Ganapathy V. 2014. Activation of Gpr109a, receptor for niacin and the commensal metabolite butyrate, suppresses colonic inflammation and carcinogenesis. Immunity 40:128-39.
- 119. Sun G, Wang Y, Ti Y, Wang J, Zhao J, Qian H. 2017. Regulatory B cell is critical in bone union process through suppressing proinflammatory cytokines and stimulating Foxp3 in Treg cells. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 44:455-462.
- 120. Correa-Oliveira R, Fachi JL, Vieira A, Sato FT, Vinolo MA. 2016. Regulation of immune cell function by short-chain fatty acids. Clin Transl Immunology 5:e73.
- 121. Sleeth ML, Thompson EL, Ford HE, Zac-Varghese SE, Frost G. 2010. Free fatty acid receptor 2 and nutrient sensing: a proposed role for fibre, fermentable carbohydrates and short-chain fatty acids in appetite regulation. Nutr Res Rev 23:135-45.
- 122. Zou A, Sharif S, Parkinson J. 2018. *Lactobacillus* elicits a 'Marmite effect' on the chicken cecal microbiome. npj Biofilms and Microbiomes 4.
- Ichihashi T, Takagishi Y, Uchida K, Yamada H. 1992. Colonic absorption of menaquinone-4 and menaquinone-9 in rats. The Journal of nutrition 122:506-512.
- 124. Flint HJ, Scott KP, Duncan SH, Louis P, Forano E. 2012. Microbial degradation of complex carbohydrates in the gut. Gut Microbes 3:289-306.
- Hamaker BR, Tuncil YE. 2014. A perspective on the complexity of dietary fiber structures and their potential effect on the gut microbiota. Journal of molecular biology 426:3838-3850.
- 126. Lan Y, Verstegen M, Tamminga S, Williams B. 2005. The role of the commensal gut microbial community in broiler chickens. World's poultry science journal 61:95-104.

- Cook RH, Bird FH. 1973. Duodenal villus area and epithelial cellular migration in conventional and germ-free chicks. Poult Sci 52:2276-2280.
- 128. Honjo K, Hagiwara T, Itoh K, Takahashi E, Hirota Y. 1993. Immunohistochemical analysis of tissue distribution of B and T cells in germfree and conventional chickens. Journal of Veterinary Medical Science 55:1031-1034.
- 129. Bar-Shira E, Friedman A. 2006. Development and adaptations of innate immunity in the gastrointestinal tract of the newly hatched chick. Developmental & Comparative Immunology 30:930-941.
- Rubio LA. 2019. Possibilities of early life programming in broiler chickens via intestinal microbiota modulation. Poult Sci 98:695-706.
- Mwangi S, Timmons J, Fitz-Coy S, Parveen S. 2019. Characterization of Clostridium perfringens recovered from broiler chicken affected by necrotic enteritis. Poult Sci 98:128-135.
- 132. Forder R, Howarth G, Tivey D, Hughes R. 2007. Bacterial modulation of small intestinal goblet cells and mucin composition during early posthatch development of poultry. Poult Sci 86:2396-2403.
- 133. Saeed M, Yatao X, Tiantian Z, Qian R, Chao S. 2019. 16S ribosomal RNA sequencing reveals a modulation of intestinal microbiome and immune response by dietary Ltheanine supplementation in broiler chickens. Poult Sci 98:842-854.
- 134. Pourabedin M, Chen Q, Yang M, Zhao X. 2017. Mannan-and xylooligosaccharides modulate caecal microbiota and expression of inflammatory-related cytokines and reduce caecal Salmonella Enteritidis colonisation in young chickens. FEMS microbiology ecology 93:fiw226.

- 135. van der Hee B, Wells JM. 2021. Microbial Regulation of Host Physiology by Short-chain Fatty Acids. Trends Microbiol doi:10.1016/j.tim.2021.02.001.
- 136. Andoh A, Bamba T, Sasaki M. 1999. Physiological and anti-inflammatory roles of dietary fiber and butyrate in intestinal functions. Journal of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition 23:S70-S73.
- 137. Nastasi C, Candela M, Bonefeld CM, Geisler C, Hansen M, Krejsgaard T, Biagi E, Andersen MH, Brigidi P, Ødum N, Litman T, Woetmann A. 2015. The effect of shortchain fatty acids on human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Scientific Reports 5:16148.
- 138. Saresella M, Mendozzi L, Rossi V, Mazzali F, Piancone F, LaRosa F, Marventano I, Caputo D, Felis GE, Clerici M. 2017. Immunological and clinical effect of diet modulation of the gut microbiome in multiple sclerosis patients: a pilot study. Frontiers in Immunology 8:1391.
- Levy M, Blacher E, Elinav E. 2017. Microbiome, metabolites and host immunity. Curr Opin Microbiol 35:8-15.
- Arab JP, Karpen SJ, Dawson PA, Arrese M, Trauner M. 2017. Bile acids and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Molecular insights and therapeutic perspectives. Hepatology 65:350-362.
- 141. Ridlon JM, Kang DJ, Hylemon PB, Bajaj JS. 2014. Bile acids and the gut microbiome. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 30:332-8.
- 142. Gadaleta RM, van Erpecum KJ, Oldenburg B, Willemsen EC, Renooij W, Murzilli S, Klomp LW, Siersema PD, Schipper ME, Danese S, Penna G, Laverny G, Adorini L, Moschetta A, van Mil SW. 2011. Farnesoid X receptor activation inhibits inflammation and preserves the intestinal barrier in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 60:463-72.

- 143. Yokota A, Fukiya S, Islam KS, Ooka T, Ogura Y, Hayashi T, Hagio M, Ishizuka S. 2012.Is bile acid a determinant of the gut microbiota on a high-fat diet? Gut microbes 3:455-459.
- Parseus A, Sommer N, Sommer F, Caesar R, Molinaro A, Stahlman M, Greiner TU,
 Perkins R, Backhed F. 2017. Microbiota-induced obesity requires farnesoid X receptor.
 Gut 66:429-437.
- 145. Brandl K, Kumar V, Eckmann L. 2017. Gut-liver axis at the frontier of host-microbial interactions. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 312:G413-G419.
- Antunes P, Mourão J, Campos J, Peixe L. 2016. Salmonellosis: the role of poultry meat. Clinical Microbiology and Infection 22:110-121.
- 147. Mountzouris KC, Balaskas C, Xanthakos I, Tzivinikou A, Fegeros K. 2009. Effects of a multi-species probiotic on biomarkers of competitive exclusion efficacy in broilers challenged with Salmonella enteritidis. Br Poult Sci 50:467-78.
- Barnes EM, Impey CS, Stevens BJ. 1979. Factors affecting the incidence and antisalmonella activity of the anaerobic caecal flora of the young chick. J Hyg (Lond) 82:263-83.
- 149. Stern N, Clavero M, Bailey J, Cox N, Robach M. 1995. Campylobacter spp. in broilers on the farm and after transport. Poult Sci 74:937-941.
- 150. Dhillon AS, Shivaprasad H, Schaberg D, Wier F, Weber S, Bandli D. 2006.Campylobacter jejuni infection in broiler chickens. Avian diseases 50:55-58.

- 151. Li X, Swaggerty CL, Kogut MH, Chiang H-I, Wang Y, Genovese KJ, He H, Zhou H.
 2010. Gene expression profiling of the local cecal response of genetic chicken lines that differ in their susceptibility to *Campylobacter jejuni* colonization. PloS one 5:e11827.
- 152. Awad WA, Dublecz F, Hess C, Dublecz K, Khayal B, Aschenbach JR, Hess M. 2016. Campylobacter jejuni colonization promotes the translocation of Escherichia coli to extra-intestinal organs and disturbs the short-chain fatty acids profiles in the chicken gut. Poult Sci 95:2259-65.
- 153. Awad WA, Molnár A, Aschenbach JR, Ghareeb K, Khayal B, Hess C, Liebhart D, Dublecz K, Hess M. 2015. *Campylobacter* infection in chickens modulates the intestinal epithelial barrier function. Innate immunity 21:151-160.
- 154. Stern NJ. 1994. Mucosal competitive exclusion to diminish colonization of chickens by *Campylobacter jejuni*. Poult Sci 73:402-7.
- 155. Hakkinen M, Schneitz C. 1999. Efficacy of a commercial competitive exclusion product against Campylobacter jejuni. Br Poult Sci 40:619-621.
- 156. Branton SL, Reece FN, Hagler WM, Jr. 1987. Influence of a wheat diet on mortality of broiler chickens associated with necrotic enteritis. Poult Sci 66:1326-30.
- 157. Moore RJ. 2016. Necrotic enteritis predisposing factors in broiler chickens. Avian Pathog 45:275-281.
- 158. Bloomer E, McKee M. 2018. Policy options for reducing antibiotics and antibioticresistant genes in the environment. Journal of Public Health Policy 39:389-406.
- 159. Hofacre CL, Beacorn T, Collett S, Mathis G. 2003. Using competitive exclusion, mannan-oligosaccharide and other intestinal products to control necrotic enteritis. J Appl Poult Res 12:60-64.

- 160. Kers JG, Velkers FC, Fischer EA, Hermes GD, Stegeman JA, Smidt H. 2018. Host and environmental factors affecting the intestinal microbiota in chickens. Front Microbiol 9:235.
- 161. Chicken Farmers of Canada. 2019. On-farm food safety assurance program. https://www.chickenfarmers.ca/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/OFFSAP-Manual-2014with-2018-update.pdf.
- 162. Course CE, Boerlin P, Slavic D, Vaillancourt J-P, Guerin MT. 2021. Factors associated with *Salmonella enterica* and *Escherichia coli* during downtime in commercial broiler chicken barns in Ontario. Poult Sci 100:101065.
- 163. de Castro Burbarelli MF, do Valle Polycarpo G, Deliberali Lelis K, Granghelli CA, Carao de Pinho AC, Ribeiro Almeida Queiroz S, Fernandes AM, Moro de Souza RL, Gaglianone Moro ME, de Andrade Bordin R, de Albuquerque R. 2017. Cleaning and disinfection programs against *Campylobacter jejuni* for broiler chickens: productive performance, microbiological assessment and characterization. Poult Sci 96:3188-3198.
- Caselli E. 2017. Hygiene: microbial strategies to reduce pathogens and drug resistance in clinical settings. Microb Biotechnol 10:1079-1083.
- 165. Lee K, Lillehoj H, Jang S, Lee S, Bautista D, Siragusa G. 2013. Effect of *Bacillus subtilis*-based direct-fed microbials on immune status in broiler chickens raised on fresh or used litter. Asian-Australasian journal of animal sciences 26:1592.
- 166. Lilijebjelke K, Hofacre C, Tongrui L, Maurer J. Molecular epidemiology of Salmonella on poultry farms in NE Georgia, in Program and Abstracts, ongress of the World Veterinary Poultry Association. Denver, CO: World Veterinary Poultry Association.
- 167. Lu J, Sanchez S, Hofacre C, Maurer JJ, Harmon BG, Lee MD. 2003. Evaluation of broiler litter with reference to the microbial composition as assessed by using 16S rRNA and functional gene markers. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:901-908.
- Fries R, Akcan M, Bandick N, Kobe A. 2005. Microflora of two different types of poultry litter. British Poult Sci 46:668-672.
- 169. Lovanh N, Cook K, Rothrock M, Miles D, Sistani K. 2007. Spatial shifts in microbial population structure within poultry litter associated with physicochemical properties. Poult Sci 86:1840-1849.
- 170. Corrier DE, Hargis BM, A. Hinton J, DeLoach JR. 1993. Protective Effect of Used Poultry Litter and Lactose in the Feed Ration on Salmonella enteritidis Colonization of Leghorn Chicks and Hens. Avian Diseases.
- 171. Valeris-Chacin R, Pieters M, Hwang H, Johnson TJ, Singer RS. 2021. Association of Broiler Litter Microbiome Composition and Campylobacter Isolation. Frontiers in Veterinary Science:495.
- 172. Arumugam M, Raes J, Pelletier E, Le Paslier D, Yamada T, Mende DR, Fernandes GR, Tap J, Bruls T, Batto J-M, Bertalan M, Borruel N, Casellas F, Fernandez L, Gautier L, Hansen T, Hattori M, Hayashi T, Kleerebezem M, Kurokawa K, Leclerc M, Levenez F, Manichanh C, Nielsen HB, Nielsen T, Pons N, Poulain J, Qin J, Sicheritz-Ponten T, Tims S, Torrents D, Ugarte E, Zoetendal EG, Wang J, Guarner F, Pedersen O, De Vos WM, Brunak S, Doré J, Weissenbach J, Ehrlich SD, Bork P. 2011. Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome. Nature 473:174-180.

- 173. Wu GD, Chen J, Hoffmann C, Bittinger K, Chen Y-Y, Keilbaugh SA, Bewtra M, Knights D, Walters WA, Knight R. 2011. Linking long-term dietary patterns with gut microbial enterotypes. Science 334:105-108.
- 174. Kaakoush NO, Sodhi N, Chenu JW, Cox JM, Riordan SM, Mitchell HM. 2014. The interplay between Campylobacter and Helicobacter species and other gastrointestinal microbiota of commercial broiler chickens. Gut Pathogens 6.
- 175. Yuan Z, Yan W, Wen C, Zheng J, Yang N, Sun C. 2020. Enterotype identification and its influence on regulating the duodenum metabolism in chickens. Poult Sci 99:1515-1527.
- 176. O'Neill J. 2018. Review on antimicrobial resistance: Tackling a crisis for the health and wealth of nations. London: Review on antimicrobial resistance. 2014.
- 177. Van Boeckel TP, Glennon EE, Chen D, Gilbert M, Robinson TP, Grenfell BT, Levin SA, Bonhoeffer S, Laxminarayan R. 2017. Reducing antimicrobial use in food animals. Science 357:1350-1352.
- Castanon J. 2007. History of the use of antibiotic as growth promoters in European poultry feeds. Poult Sci 86:2466-2471.
- 179. Chicken Farmers of Canada. 2018. AMU Strategy A prescription for change.
- 180. Casewell M, Friis C, Marco E, McMullin P, Phillips I. 2003. The European ban on growth-promoting antibiotics and emerging consequences for human and animal health. J Antimicrob Chemother 52:159-61.
- 181. Niewold T. 2007. The nonantibiotic anti-inflammatory effect of antimicrobial growth promoters, the real mode of action? A hypothesis. Poult Sci 86:605-609.

- 182. Gullberg E, Cao S, Berg OG, Ilbäck C, Sandegren L, Hughes D, Andersson DI. 2011. Selection of resistant bacteria at very low antibiotic concentrations. PLoS pathogens 7:e1002158.
- 183. Kim D-W, Cha C-J. 2021. Antibiotic resistome from the One-Health perspective: understanding and controlling antimicrobial resistance transmission. Experimental & amp; Molecular Medicine 53:301-309.
- 184. He Y, Yuan Q, Mathieu J, Stadler L, Senehi N, Sun R, Alvarez PJJ. 2020. Antibiotic resistance genes from livestock waste: occurrence, dissemination, and treatment. npj Clean Water 3.
- 185. Huang L, Xu Y, Xu J, Ling J, Zheng L, Zhou X, Xie G. 2019. Dissemination of antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) by rainfall on a cyclic economic breeding livestock farm. International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation 138:114-121.
- 186. Qian X, Gu J, Sun W, Wang X-J, Su J-Q, Stedfeld R. 2018. Diversity, abundance, and persistence of antibiotic resistance genes in various types of animal manure following industrial composting. Journal of Hazardous materials 344:716-722.
- 187. Hurst JJ, Oliver JP, Schueler J, Gooch C, Lansing S, Crossette E, Wigginton K, Raskin L, Aga DS, Sassoubre LM. 2019. Trends in antimicrobial resistance genes in manure blend pits and long-term storage across dairy farms with comparisons to antimicrobial usage and residual concentrations. Environmental science & technology 53:2405-2415.
- 188. Cuong NV, Padungtod P, Thwaites G, Carrique-Mas JJ. 2018. Antimicrobial usage in animal production: a review of the literature with a focus on low-and middle-income countries. Antibiotics 7:75.

- Diarra MS, Malouin F. 2014. Antibiotics in Canadian poultry productions and anticipated alternatives. Front Microbiol 5:282.
- 190. Nandi S, Maurer JJ, Hofacre C, Summers AO. 2004. Gram-positive bacteria are a major reservoir of Class 1 antibiotic resistance integrons in poultry litter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:7118-22.
- 191. Furtula V, Farrell EG, Diarrassouba F, Rempel H, Pritchard J, Diarra MS. 2010. Veterinary pharmaceuticals and antibiotic resistance of Escherichia coli isolates in poultry litter from commercial farms and controlled feeding trials. Poult Sci 89:180-8.
- 192. Cheng W, Chen H, Su C, Yan S. 2013. Abundance and persistence of antibiotic resistance genes in livestock farms: a comprehensive investigation in eastern China. Environ Int 61:1-7.
- 193. Feng Y, Wang Y, Zhu B, Gao GF, Guo Y, Hu Y. 2021. Metagenome-assembled genomes and gene catalog from the chicken gut microbiome aid in deciphering antibiotic resistomes. Communications biology 4:1-9.
- 194. Segura-Wang M, Grabner N, Koestelbauer A, Klose V, Ghanbari M. 2021. Genomeresolved metagenomics of the chicken gut microbiome. Front Microbiol 12.
- 195. Wang Y, Hu Y, Cao J, Bi Y, Lv N, Liu F, Liang S, Shi Y, Jiao X, Gao GF. 2019.
 Antibiotic resistance gene reservoir in live poultry markets. Journal of infection 78:445-453.
- 196. Aarestrup FM. 2015. The livestock reservoir for antimicrobial resistance: a personal view on changing patterns of risks, effects of interventions and the way forward. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 370:20140085.

- 197. Ma T, McAllister TA, Guan LL. 2021. A review of the resistome within the digestive tract of livestock. Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology 12.
- 198. Munk P, Knudsen BE, Lukjancenko O, Duarte ASR, Van Gompel L, Luiken REC, Smit LAM, Schmitt H, Garcia AD, Hansen RB, Petersen TN, Bossers A, Ruppé E, Lund O, Hald T, Pamp SJ, Vigre H, Heederik D, Wagenaar JA, Mevius D, Aarestrup FM. 2018. Abundance and diversity of the faecal resistome in slaughter pigs and broilers in nine European countries. Nature Microbiology 3:898-908.
- 199. Zhou Y, Li Y, Zhang L, Wu Z, Huang Y, Yan H, Zhong J, Wang L-J, Abdullah HM, Wang HH. 2020. Antibiotic administration routes and oral exposure to antibiotic resistant bacteria as key drivers for gut microbiota disruption and resistome in poultry. Front Microbiol 11:1319.
- 200. Xiong W, Wang Y, Sun Y, Ma L, Zeng Q, Jiang X, Li A, Zeng Z, Zhang T. 2018. Antibiotic-mediated changes in the fecal microbiome of broiler chickens define the incidence of antibiotic resistance genes. Microbiome 6:1-11.
- 201. Holmes AH, Moore LS, Sundsfjord A, Steinbakk M, Regmi S, Karkey A, Guerin PJ, Piddock LJ. 2016. Understanding the mechanisms and drivers of antimicrobial resistance. The Lancet 387:176-187.
- Bryson V, Demerec M. 1955. Bacterial resistance. The American journal of medicine 18:723-737.
- 203. Shapiro J (Ed.). 2012. Mobile genetic elements. Elsevier.
- 204. Whittle G, Shoemaker N, Salyers A. 2002. The role of Bacteroides conjugative transposons in the dissemination of antibiotic resistance genes. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS 59:2044-2054.

- Franklin TJ, Snow GA. 1998. Antiseptics, antibiotics and the cell membrane, p 43-59 doi:10.1007/978-94-010-9127-5
 Springer Netherlands.
- 206. Saier Jr MH, Paulsen IT. 2001. Phylogeny of multidrug transporters, p 205-213. Semin
 Cell Dev Biol. doi: 10.1006/scdb.2000.0246
- 207. Yoshida H, Bogaki M, Nakamura S, Ubukata K, Konno M. 1990. Nucleotide sequence and characterization of the Staphylococcus aureus norA gene, which confers resistance to quinolones. Journal of bacteriology 172:6942-6949.
- 208. Hinchliffe P, Greene NP, Paterson NG, Crow A, Hughes C, Koronakis V. 2014. Structure of the periplasmic adaptor protein from a major facilitator superfamily (MFS) multidrug efflux pump. FEBS letters 588:3147-3153.
- 209. Chopra I. 2002. New developments in tetracycline antibiotics: glycylcyclines and tetracycline efflux pump inhibitors. Drug resistance updates 5:119-125.
- Tamber S, Hancock RE. 2003. On the mechanism of solute uptake in Pseudomonas.
 Frontiers in Bioscience-Landmark 8:472-483.
- Connell SR, Tracz DM, Nierhaus KH, Taylor DE. 2003. Ribosomal protection proteins and their mechanism of tetracycline resistance. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 47:3675-3681.
- 212. Taylor DE, Chau A. 1996. Tetracycline resistance mediated by ribosomal protection.Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 40:1-5.
- 213. Li B, Chen D, Lin F, Wu C, Cao L, Chen H, Hu Y, Yin Y. 2022. Genomic Island-Mediated Horizontal Transfer of the Erythromycin Resistance Gene erm (X) among Bifidobacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 88:e00410-22.

- 214. Shoemaker N, Vlamakis H, Hayes K, Salyers A. 2001. Evidence for extensive resistance gene transfer among Bacteroides spp. and among Bacteroides and other genera in the human colon. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:561-568.
- 215. Yang H, Byelashov OA, Geornaras I, Goodridge LD, Nightingale KK, Belk KE, Smith GC, Sofos JN. 2010. Presence of antibiotic-resistant commensal bacteria in samples from agricultural, city, and national park environments evaluated by standard culture and realtime PCR methods. Can J Microbiol 56:761-70.
- 216. Kim SY, Kuppusamy S, Kim JH, Yoon YE, Kim KR, Lee YB. 2016. Occurrence and diversity of tetracycline resistance genes in the agricultural soils of South Korea. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 23:22190-22196.
- 217. Li C, Jiang C, Wu Z, Cheng B, An X, Wang H, Sun Y, Huang M, Chen X, Wang J. 2018. Diversity of antibiotic resistance genes and encoding ribosomal protection proteins gene in livestock waste polluted environment. J Environ Sci Health B 53:423-433.
- 218. Nogrado K, Unno T, Hur H-G, Lee J-H. 2021. Tetracycline-resistant bacteria and ribosomal protection protein genes in soils from selected agricultural fields and livestock farms. Appl Biol Chem 64:1-9.
- 219. Luiken RE, Heederik DJ, Scherpenisse P, Van Gompel L, van Heijnsbergen E, Greve GD, Jongerius-Gortemaker BG, Tersteeg-Zijderveld MH, Fischer J, Juraschek K. 2022. Determinants for antimicrobial resistance genes in farm dust on 333 poultry and pig farms in nine European countries. Environ Res 208:112715.
- 220. Toh SM, Xiong L, Arias CA, Villegas MV, Lolans K, Quinn J, Mankin AS. 2007.Acquisition of a natural resistance gene renders a clinical strain of methicillin-resistant

Staphylococcus aureus resistant to the synthetic antibiotic linezolid. Mol Microbiol 64:1506-1514.

- 221. Wang M, Liu P, Xiong W, Zhou Q, Wangxiao J, Zeng Z, Sun Y. 2018. Fate of potential indicator antimicrobial resistance genes (ARGs) and bacterial community diversity in simulated manure-soil microcosms. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 147:817-823.
- 222. You Y, Hilpert M, Ward MJ. 2012. Detection of a common and persistent tet(L)-carrying plasmid in chicken-waste-impacted farm soil. Appl Environ Microbiol 78:3203-13.
- Smith CA, Baker EN. 2002. Aminoglycoside antibiotic resistance by enzymatic deactivation. Current Drug Targets-Infectious Disorders 2:143-160.
- 224. Forsberg KJ, Patel S, Wencewicz TA, Dantas G. 2015. The tetracycline destructases: a novel family of tetracycline-inactivating enzymes. Chem Biol 22:888-897.
- 225. Jenner L, Starosta AL, Terry DS, Mikolajka A, Filonava L, Yusupov M, Blanchard SC, Wilson DN, Yusupova G. 2013. Structural basis for potent inhibitory activity of the antibiotic tigecycline during protein synthesis. PNAS 110:3812-3816.
- 226. Tanaka SK, Steenbergen J, Villano S. 2016. Discovery, pharmacology, and clinical profile of omadacycline, a novel aminomethylcycline antibiotic. Bioorg Med Chem 24:6409-6419.
- 227. Van Duijkeren E, Schwarz C, Bouchard D, Catry B, Pomba C, Baptiste KE, Moreno MA, Rantala M, Ružauskas M, Sanders P. 2019. The use of aminoglycosides in animals within the EU: development of resistance in animals and possible impact on human and animal health: a review. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 74:2480-2496.

- 228. Paterson DL, Bonomo RA. 2005. Extended-spectrum β-lactamases: a clinical update.
 Clinical microbiology reviews 18:657-686.
- 229. Hartman BJ, Tomasz A. 1984. Low-affinity penicillin-binding protein associated with beta-lactam resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of bacteriology 158:513-516.
- 230. Bonomo RA, Szabo D. 2006. Mechanisms of multidrug resistance in Acinetobacter species and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Clinical infectious diseases 43:S49-S56.
- 231. Li X-Z, Ma D, Livermore DM, Nikaido H. 1994. Role of efflux pump (s) in intrinsic resistance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa: active efflux as a contributing factor to betalactam resistance. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 38:1742-1752.
- 232. Roberts MC. 2008. Update on macrolide–lincosamide–streptogramin, ketolide, and oxazolidinone resistance genes. FEMS microbiology letters 282:147-159.
- 233. Hurd HS, Doores S, Hayes D, Mathew A, Maurer J, Silley P, Singer RS, Jones RN. 2004.
 Public health consequences of macrolide use in food animals: a deterministic risk assessment. Journal of food protection 67:980-992.
- 234. Xu J, Sangthong R, McNeil E, Tang R, Chongsuvivatwong V. 2020. Antibiotic use in chicken farms in northwestern China. Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control 9:1-9.
- 235. Juricova H, Matiasovicova J, Kubasova T, Cejkova D, Rychlik I. 2021. The distribution of antibiotic resistance genes in chicken gut microbiota commensals. Sci Rep 11:3290.
- Benbough JE, Morrison GA. 1967. The Molecular Basis of an Inhibition by Tetracyclines. Journal of General Microbiology 49:469-485.
- 237. Kampf G. 2018. Biocidal Agents Used for Disinfection Can Enhance Antibiotic Resistance in Gram-Negative Species. Antibiotics 7:110.

- 238. McNamara PJ, Levy SB. 2016. Triclosan: an instructive tale. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 60:7015-7016.
- Zeng J, Li Y, Jin G, Su J-Q, Yao H. 2022. Short-Term Benzalkonium Chloride (C₁₂)
 Exposure Induced the Occurrence of Wide-Spectrum Antibiotic Resistance in
 Agricultural Soils. Environmental Science & Technology doi:10.1021/acs.est.2c04730.
- 240. Zhang Y, Gu AZ, He M, Li D, Chen J. 2017. Subinhibitory Concentrations of Disinfectants Promote the Horizontal Transfer of Multidrug Resistance Genes within and across Genera. Environmental Science & Technology 51:570-580.
- 241. Kim M, Weigand MR, Oh S, Hatt JK, Krishnan R, Tezel U, Pavlostathis SG, Konstantinidis KT. 2018. Widely used benzalkonium chloride disinfectants can promote antibiotic resistance. Appl Environ Microbiol 84:e01201-18.
- 242. Gadea R, Fuentes MÁF, Pulido RP, Gálvez A, Ortega E. 2017. Effects of exposure to quaternary-ammonium-based biocides on antimicrobial susceptibility and tolerance to physical stresses in bacteria from organic foods. Food microbiology 63:58-71.
- 243. Slifierz MJ, Friendship RM, Weese JS. 2015. Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in commercial swine herds is associated with disinfectant and zinc usage. Appl Environ Microbiol 81:2690-2695.
- 244. Molina-González D, Alonso-Calleja C, Alonso-Hernando A, Capita R. 2014. Effect of sub-lethal concentrations of biocides on the susceptibility to antibiotics of multi-drug resistant Salmonella enterica strains. Food Control 40:329-334.
- 245. Lin H, Ye C, Chen S, Zhang S, Yu X. 2017. Viable but non-culturable E. coli induced by low level chlorination have higher persistence to antibiotics than their culturable counterparts. Environmental Pollution 230:242-249.

- 246. Hall MC, Duerschner J, Gilley JE, Schmidt AM, Bartelt-Hunt SL, Snow DD, Eskridge KM, Li X. 2021. Antibiotic resistance genes in swine manure slurry as affected by pit additives and facility disinfectants. Science of The Total Environment 761:143287.
- 247. Yoon Y, Chung HJ, Di DYW, Dodd MC, Hur H-G, Lee Y. 2017. Inactivation efficiency of plasmid-encoded antibiotic resistance genes during water treatment with chlorine, UV, and UV/H2O2. Water Research 123:783-793.

Chapter 2: THE USE OF DISINFECTANT IN BARN CLEANING ALTERS MICROBIAL COMPOSITION AND INCREASES CARRIAGE OF *CAMPYLOBACTER JEJUNI* IN BROILER CHICKENS^{*}

2.1 Introduction

In broiler chicken production, biosecurity measures are important to maintain flock health and food safety. Regulations of the current on-farm-food safety assurance program require Canadian broiler chicken producers to clean barns with disinfectants at least annually (1). Barn cleanouts within the year using water wash (WW) can be done without disinfectants; however, in practice many producers continue to perform full disinfection (FD) using chemical disinfectants after each flock. Using chemical disinfectants removes a high proportion of microbes (2), but may also reduce the transmission of beneficial microbes between flocks. This could lead to a potential loss in the microbes that can out-compete pathogens in the environment. It may also result in selection of disinfectant-resistant pathogens that further increases the risk of pathogen contamination of animal products (3). To date, little information is available regarding how these cleaning measures affect chicken health and zoonotic pathogen colonization. Furthermore, emerging evidence has shown the importance of broiler commensal microbial community to nutrient metabolism, feed efficiency (4-6), host resistance to pathogens (7), and immune system development (8, 9). In chicken production, the establishment of a symbiotic microbiota has been shown to increase nutrient utilization (10), and prevent disease development (11). Therefore, establishing healthy host-microbe interactions early in production may provide a possible solution

^{*} This chapter has been published as Yi Fan, Andrew J Forgie, Tingting Ju, Camila Marcolla, Tom Inglis, Lynn M McMullen, Benjamin P Willing, Douglas R Korver. The use of disinfectant in barn cleaning alters microbial composition and increases carriage of *Campylobacter jejuni* in broiler chickens. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 2022 May 24;88(10):e0029522. doi: 10.1128/aem.00295-22.

to help maintain, or even enhance broiler performance in an environment free from antimicrobial growth promoters. Broiler gut microbiota assembly and development is significantly influenced by the initial environment to which they are exposed (12). Thus, placing newly hatched broilers in an environment with microbiota from a previous healthy flock may advance the development of a commensal microbiota in broiler chickens.

Previous work has shown that exposure to reused broiler litter altered early-life gut microbiota and increased infection resistance to pathogens in broiler chickens (13-15). Reused litter induced changes in the broiler gut microbiota of chicks over the first two weeks of life, resulting in an increased predominance of *Clostridiales* in the gut (16). More recently, the application of reused litter was reported to increase the predominance of some potentially beneficial bacteria, such as *Faecalibacterium*, a short-chain fatty acid (**SCFA**) producer whose increased abundance in young broiler ceca continued as the chicken matured (17). Commensal microbes and SCFAs are important in maintaining gut homeostasis. For example, butyrate increases intestinal epithelial oxygen consumption, which helps to maintain an anaerobic environment (18). SCFAs also modulate host immune responses by suppressing pro-inflammatory cytokine expression to achieve homeostasis (19).

Both poultry and zoonotic pathogens have long been a major concern to the poultry industry. The poultry gut microbiota plays an important role in pathogen exclusion. For example, commensal members of the chicken gut microbiota inhibited *Salmonella enterica* colonization by competitive exclusion (15, 20). Colonizing broiler chicks with a diverse set of adult chicken commensal bacterial isolates reduced *Campylobacter jejuni* colonization (21). In addition to the potential impact on human health by zoonotic diseases, the economic impact of poultry diseases is a major concern of chicken producers. Bacterial pathogens such as *Clostridium perfringens* can

cause necrotic enteritis, resulting in reduced growth and feed efficiency, and in severe cases, increased mortality (22). To date, in-feed antimicrobial additives are used in broiler farming to control necrotic enteritis. Efforts have been made to find effective alternatives to control necrotic enteritis. Concerns over the spread of antimicrobial resistance from agriculture has led to legislation and consumer pressure to reduce antibiotic use in animal production globally. Previous research has demonstrated that using a cocktail of probiotics reduced the level of cecal *C. perfringens* and associated intestinal lesions, which showed the potential to be an alternative to antibiotics (23). However, antibiotics remain the most effective and widely used approach to keep the prevalence of *C. perfringens* infections low in the poultry industry (24).

To date, limited information is available on how WW and FD affect pathogen prevalence, gut microbial communities, nutrient metabolism, and host responses in chickens. In this study, a cross-over experiment was designed using seven similar commercial chicken barns to compare WW and FD over the course of four production cycles at two locations. We evaluated the effects of barn cleaning method on the commercial broiler intestinal microbiota, occurrence of *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella*, abundance of *C. jejuni* and *C. perfringens*, as well as SCFA profile in 30-day-old broiler ceca.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 Broiler production house and barn cleaning

A commercial broiler company in Alberta, Canada provided all the chickens and facilities including a total of seven similarly engineered single-storey, cement-floored production houses at two locations for this study. The broiler facilities were environmentally-controlled metal houses with solid sidewall ventilation. Four alternating water and feed lines ran the entire length of each house.

For FD, chicken manure, used litter, and organic matter were completely removed from the chicken house after depopulation followed by a two-step disinfection: 1) All surfaces were thoroughly covered with foam containing 7% sodium hydroxide, 7% 2-(2-2-butoxyethoxy) ethanol, 6% sodium laureth sulfate, 5% sodium N-lauroyl sarcosinate, and 5% tetrasodium ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid for 60 mins, and subsequently rinsed with highpressure followed by low-pressure water-wash with the water temperature set at 35°C; 2) after the broiler house was air-dried, all surfaces were covered with foam containing 10% glutaraldehyde, 10% benzalkonium chloride, and 5% formic acid for 60 mins followed by high-pressure water rinse. After the two-step disinfection, broiler houses were left to air-dry overnight followed by placement of fresh wood shavings (~10 to 15 cm deep). For WW, manure and used litter were removed, followed by low-pressure water rinse with the water temperature set at 35°C of the facility surfaces, air dried, and placement of fresh wood shavings (~10 to 15 cm deep). The current study was performed on 28 production flocks, and the FD and WW treatments were each applied on 14 production flocks. For each chicken barn, two flocks of each treatment were assigned according to the schedule shown in Table 2.1.

2.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection

Animal use for this experiment was approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee: Livestock of the University of Alberta following the Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines (25). For each flock, 14,000 Ross 308 broiler chicks were placed at 1 day of age and confined to half of the house, then allowed access to the entire house at 7 days of age. All chickens were fed *ad libitum* and reared from 1 day of age through processing at about 32-35 days of age when the average target live weight of 1.8 kg is reached. Each flock had a placement based on a maximum stocking density of 30 kg/m². Overall mortality rate and body weight of broilers at day 32 were recorded for each barn.

To investigate if *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella* were present after barn cleaning, environmental samples including litter samples, feeding pan and drinkers, as well as shoe-cover samples were collected 3-6 hours before chicken placement of each flock. For litter samples, approximately 50 g subsamples of bedding material were collected from distinct areas in the barn: along water and feeder lines; between water and feed lines; near the wall corners; near the barn entrance and near the ventilation fans. From each of these areas, litter samples were collected from the surface to the cement floor with sterile gloves and Whirl-Pak sample bags (Whirl-pak, Madison, WI, USA). Subsamples were sealed and transported to the laboratory on ice. Immediately after arriving the laboratory, samples from the same barn were pooled (resulting in ~ 200 g of litter/barn) in a sterile sampling bag containing 250 ml of 0.1% buffered peptone water and homogenized by a Seward Stomacher 400 (Seward, Worthing, West Sussex, UK) for 1 min.

To collect feeding pan and drinker swabs, Whirl-Pak Speci-Sponge[®] Sampling Bag (Whirlpak) were used. For feeding pan swabs, 10 ml of 0.1% buffered peptone water (Oxoid, Basingstoke, Hampshire, UK) was added to the sampling bag to re-hydrate the sampling sponge. About 50 cm² of the feeding pan surfaces were carefully swabbed using the re-hydrated sampling sponge. For drinker swabs, ~ 5 ml of the water coming from the drinking nipple was collected using the de-hydrated sponge followed by swabbing approximately 15 cm of the waterline on both sides of the drinking nipple. In each barn, 10 feeding pans and 10 drinkers in multiple locations were randomly selected to subsample. Each sampling bag was used to swab 1 drinking nipple or 1 feeding pan. Sterile gloves were changed before each swab. Subsamples were sealed and transported to the laboratory on ice. Immediately after arriving at the laboratory, the 10 subsamples of drinker/feeding pan from the same barn were pooled together in a sterile stomacher bag aseptically. Buffered peptone water (0.1%) was added to a 1 in 10 dilution. Pooled samples were homogenized for 1 min at 260 using a Seward Stomacher 400 before processing for *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella* detection.

To collect shoe-cover samples, sterile DuPont Tyvek[®] shoe covers (Wilmington, DE, USA) were used. Briefly, three layers of sterile shoe-covers were put on at the entrance of the barns before environmental sampling. Shoe-covers were used to walk through the barn following the feeder and water lines. After walking through the whole barn, the outer layers of the shoe-covers were collected using a Whirl-Pak sample bag (Whirl-pak). Sample bags were sealed and put on ice before arriving at the laboratory. In the laboratory, the shoe-cover sample was transferred to a sterile stomacher bag with 100 ml of 0.1% buffered peptone water, followed by homogenization for 1 min using a Seward Stomacher 400 before processing for *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella* detection.

At broiler placement day and day 30, five broilers per flock were euthanized using cervical dislocation for sampling. To ensure representative sampling, the five broilers were each randomly selected from different areas within each barn.

Broiler cecal content collections were conducted aseptically. Briefly, the sampling table was cleaned with 70% ethanol before and between every broiler dissection. Tools and collection tubes were autoclaved and tubes were sealed until samples were added. Approximately 100 mg (at

placement) and 300 mg (day 30) of cecal contents were collected and placed in sterile 2 ml Eppendorf tubes containing 1 ml of 0.1% buffered peptone water (Oxoid) for detection of cecal *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella* by enrichment. In addition, approximately 500 mg of cecal contents were frozen on dry ice immediately until transported to the lab, and stored at -80 °C for subsequent DNA extraction.

2.2.3 Campylobacter and Salmonella enrichment

For genus Campylobacter enrichment and detection, ~50 mg of cecal contents were homogenized with 950 µl sterile peptone water. Homogenized cecal contents, litter samples, feeding pan and drinker swabs, as well as shoe-cover samples were incubated at 37°C overnight followed by inoculation in Bolton *Campylobacter* selective broth in 1:10 ratio (Oxoid) at 42°C for 24 h under microaerobic conditions (5% O₂, 10% CO₂, 85% N₂). Aliquots (100 µl) were serially diluted and spread onto Preston Campylobacter selective agar (Oxoid,). For Salmonella enrichment, universal pre-enrichment broth (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada) was used to homogenized cecal contents and the environmental samples in 1:10 ratio. All homogenized samples were incubated aerobically at 35°C for 24 h. The cultured broth was transferred to 10 ml of tetrathionate broth (Difco, Becton, Dickinson and Company Sparks, MD, USA) and to 10 ml of selenite cystine broth (Difco). The tetrathionate broth and selenite cystine broth were incubated for 24 h at 42°C and 35°C, respectively. After incubation, tetrathionate and selenite cystine broths were streaked onto xylose-lysine-tergitol 4 agar (XLT-4; Difco) and brilliant green sulfa agar (BGS; Difco) plates, respectively. Plates of XLT-4 and BGS agar were incubated at 35°C for 24 h.

Occurrence score for detected pathogens was calculated to evaluate the effect of cleaning method on pathogen occurrence in the chicken ceca. Occurrence score was defined as the number of positive broilers divided by the total number of broilers sampled from the same flock within each barn.

2.2.4 DNA extraction and microbiome analyses

Total DNA was extracted from homogenized litter samples and cecal contents using the QIAamp Fast DNA Stool Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) with an additional bead-beating step with ~200 mg of garnet beads at 6.0 m/s for 60 s (FastPrep-24 5G instrument; MP Biomedicals Inc., Santa Ana, CA, USA). Amplicon libraries were constructed according to the manufacture protocol from Illumina (16S Metagenomic Sequencing Library Preparation) targeting V3-V4 of the 16S rRNA region (primers: Forward: 5'-TCGTCGG gene CAGCGTCAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGCCTACGGGNGGCWGCAG-3'; Reverse: 5'-GTCTCGTGGGGCTCGGAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGGACT ACHVGGGTATCTAATCC-3'). An Illumina MiSeq Platform (2×300 cycles; Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) was used for a paired-end sequencing run. All sequences were submitted to NCBI Sequence Read Archive under BioProject ID: PRJNA767330. The quality of sequencing reads was assessed using FastQC. Sequenced reads were processed using Quantitative Insight into Microbial Ecology2 (QIIME2) -2020.6 (26). Divisive Amplicon Denoising Algorithm 2 was used to denoise and generate pairedend representative read with truncation lengths of 280 bp forward and 260 bp reverse reads (27). Amplicon sequence variant (ASV) feature table was created based on the denoised results. Qiime2's q2-feature-classifier was used to assign taxonomy (28) with a pretrained classifier "Greengenes 13 8" (99% identity) (29). Analyses of diversity were done by the 'diversity coremetrics-phylogenetic' command normalizing to a sampling depth set by the sample with the lowest number of reads (17,309). Chao1 and Shannon diversity indices were calculated with 'diversity alpha-phylogenetic'. Significance of alpha diversity was determined by 'diversity alpha-group-significance'. Beta diversity was determined in QIIME2 using the unweighted- and weighted-Unifrac distance metric and a principal coordinate analysis (**PcoA**) was plotted using phyloseq package in R (version 3.6.1). Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (**PERMANOVA**) based on the unweighted- and weighted-UniFrac distance matric was used to determine whether there were significant differences in community structures between treatments (adonis function). Differentiate taxa relative abundance between treatments was determined by the analysis of composition of microbiome (**ANCOM**) in QIIME2 (26).

2.2.5 Quantitative PCR (qPCR)

A qPCR assay was used to quantify *C. jejuni, C. perfringens* as well as total cecal bacteria using hippurate hydrolase (*HipO*), necrotic enteritis B-like toxin (*NetB*) and the targeted 16s rRNA gene, respectively (Table 2.2). Total genomic DNA was extracted from cecal contents as described above. The concentration of DNA was determined by a NanoDrop 2000c spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). PerfeCTa SYBR Green Supermix (Quantabio, Beverly, MA, USA) was used for qPCR assays which were conducted on an ABI StepOne realtime System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) following the setup of 95°C for 3 min and 40 cycles of 95°C for 10 s, 60°C for 30 s. To generate targeted gene standards, the 16s rRNA gene, *HipO* and *NetB* were amplified by PCR with primers as listed. Concentrations of the amplified gene fragments were determined by a Quant-iTTM PicoGreenTM dsDNA Assay Kit (Invitrogen, Waltham, MA, USA) and used for standard curve. Gene copy numbers were determined using the Relative Standard Curve Method, and normalized to the weight of cecal content used for bacterial DNA extraction.

2.2.6 Short chain fatty acid (SCFA) analysis

Approximately 30 mg per sample of snap frozen cecal content was weighed, followed by homogenization with 25% phosphoric acid. Samples were centrifuged at 21,130 x g for 10 min and the supernatant was collected and filtered using a 0.45 µm filter. Isocaproic acid (23 µmol/ml) was added at a 1:4 ratio to samples as an internal standard. Samples were analyzed on a Bruker Scion 456-Gas Chromatography instrument (Bruker, Billerica, MA, USA).

2.2.7 Statistical analyses

Unless otherwise stated, statistical analyses were conducted using GraphPad Prism 8 (Graphpad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). Because no location effects were observed for any measurements (i.e. chicken performance and gut microbial structure), all data were analyzed based on treatment across location. Statistically significant differences were determined (p < 0.05) by an unpaired student's t-test for parametric data (i.e., analyses of performance, qPCR and SCFAs). The Kruskal–Wallis test was used to determine the significance of non-parametric data (i.e., microbiome alpha diversity indices). The Spearman correlation was used to correlate SCFA concentration and bacterial relative abundance. Correlation significance was determined by psych package and visualized using corrplot package in R (version 3.6.1).

2.3. Results

2.3.1 Chicken 32-day body weight and mortality were not affected by the cleaning methods

The 32-day average body weight in the WW group was comparable to the FD group (Figure 2.1a, p = 0.22). In addition, no difference in 30-day mortality was observed between the two barn cleaning treatments (Figure 2.1b, p = 0.91), suggesting that the cleaning method had a minimal impact on the flock performance.

2.3.2 Chicken barn FD resulted in increased *Campylobacter* occurrence in the 30-day-old chicken ceca

Salmonella was not detected through enrichment in any of the samples collected through the study, therefore, the impact of treatment on Salmonella shedding could not be assessed. To evaluate the effect of cleaning method on the pathogen occurrence, an occurrence scoring method was used. In the Campylobacter enrichment assay, no Campylobacter were detected from the litter samples, feeding pan and drinker swabs, or the shoe-cover samples before broiler placement. At the broiler placement day, the Campylobacter occurrence scores were not different between the two treatments (Figure S1). However, at day 30, the WW group exhibited a significantly lower Campylobacter occurrence score compared to the FD group (p < 0.05) (Figure 2.2). Campylobacter was detected in at least one sample from each FD flock. Therefore, the WW rearing environment reduced the occurrence of Campylobacter colonization in the 30-day-old broiler ceca.

2.3.3 Chicken barn FD increased C. jejuni abundance

The quantification of cecal microbial load using qPCR showed that the WW group did not differ from the FD group in cecal *C. perfringens* load (5.81 and 6.06 log₁₀ copies/g of *netB* for WW and FD group, respectively, p = 0.20) (Figure 2.3a). Consistent with the *Campylobacter* enrichment assay results, the WW group exhibited approximately 0.9-log₁₀ lower *hipO* copy numbers compared to the FD group (Figure 2.3b, 8.13 and 9.03 log₁₀ copies/g of *hipO* for the WW and FD group, respectively, p < 0.05), indicating that the decreased sanitation stringency reduced *C. jejuni* colonization in the mature chicken ceca. Furthermore, the barn cleaning method did not affect the total bacterial load in the chicken ceca (Figure 2.3c, p = 0.15).

2.3.4 Barn cleaning methods had subtle impacts on the 30-day-old chicken microbiome

On average, 42,943.3 \pm 2,757.8 (mean \pm SEM) reads per cecal sample were generated and processed by QIIME2 pipeline, resulting in a total of 3,845 ASVs. For litter samples, an average of 7,847.8 \pm 1,209.2 (mean \pm SEM) reads per sample were generated and processed, resulting in 1,780 ASVs. When focusing on the effect of different cleaning methods, the cecal microbiomes of broilers from the WW group and FD group had comparable richness and evenness indicated by alpha diversity indices (chao1, p = 0.71; and Shannon, p = 0.25) (Figure 2.4). Beta diversity analyses based on both weighted- and unweighted-Unifrac matrices suggested that cecal microbial communities in WW group differed from the FD group (adonis p = 0.05, R² = 0.012 and adonis p< 0.01, R² = 0.013 for weighted-Unifrac and unweighted-Unifrac matrix, respectively) (Figure 2.5). Differences in abundances of two bacterial taxa were also suggested by ANCOM (Figure 2.6). The genus *Helicobacter* was more predominant in the WW group (W = 85), whereas the family *Bacillaceae* was more predominant in the FD group (W = 66). These results suggested that the barn cleaning treatments influenced the relative abundance of two bacterial taxa, and in turn led to a modest but significant impact on overall structure of the chicken gut microbiota. However, the cleaning method did not lead to changes in microbial structures of the litter samples (Figure S2, Figure S3).

2.3.5 Cecal SCFA profile differed by cleaning methods

Cecal contents were subjected to gas chromatography to measure cecal SCFA concentration. The WW group showed significantly greater total SCFAs than the FD group (p < 0.01) (Figure 2.7a). Specifically, acetate (Figure 2.7b), propionate (Figure 2.7c) and butyrate (Figure 2.7d) concentration in the WW group were higher than that in the FD group. A trend for higher valerate concentration (Figure 2.7e, p=0.06) was also observed in WW broilers. Spearman correlation between SCFA concentration and bacterial relative abundance suggested a series of microbes that are correlated to the altered SCFA profile between treatments (Figure 2.8). Total SCFAs and acetate concentration were negatively correlated with the genus *Campylobacter*, and members from orders RF32 and YS2 (p < 0.05). On the other hand, an unclassified genus belonging to the order of *Clostridiales* was positively associated to total SCFAs, acetate and butyrate concentrations (p < 0.05). Propionate concentration was negatively associated to the genus *Lachnospira* (p < 0.01) and an unclassified genus of the family *Enterobacteriaceae* (p < 0.05), whereas positively associated to the genus *Odoribacter* (p < 0.05), and an undetermined genus of the family *Clostridiaceae* (p < 0.05).

2.4 Discussion

This study was the first to characterize the impact of FD and WW on chicken gut microbiota in a commercial setting. Previously, de Castro Burbarelli et al. examined the effects of poultry barn cleaning using neutral detergent versus a protocol using acidic and alkaline detergent with chemical disinfectants (2). In accordance with their results, we found that compared to FD, the WW did not have compromised flock mean body weight or increased mortality rate at day 32 in production. Unfortunately, we were not able to collect feed consumption data and are therefore not able to comment on any potential impacts on feed conversion.

Although limited research has explored how barn cleaning practices affect the development of chicken intestinal microbial communities, especially in the context of commercial production, efforts have been made to study the effect of reused litter on chicken gut microbiota. Some laboratory-scale research suggested that reused litter mainly influences broiler gut microbiota at early ages. Cressman et al. reported that compared to the reused litter group, broilers provided fresh litter had greater bacterial alpha diversity in ceca at 7 days of age (16). However, no treatment effects on the gut microbiota were observed in the later timepoints. In addition, broilers reared on fresh litter were colonized by microbes identified in fresh litter including Lactobacillus, unclassified Lachnospiraceae and Enterococcus, whereas broilers reared on reused litter were colonized by typical poultry intestinal bacteria, such as members from the order *Clostridiales* (16). Similarly, Wang et al. reported that at both day 10 and day 35 of age, broiler gut microbiota was altered by the reused litter treatment with increased predominance of *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* in ceca (17). In the current study, no treatment effect on alpha diversity of the 30-day-old broiler gut microbiota was observed, and only a modest effect was shown on the beta diversity between FD and WW treatments. This may be explained by the fact that fresh litter, which acts as a physical barrier, was placed in both WW and FD barns. In the current study, we did not observe differences of the litter microbiota between treatments. In addition, reused litter may provide a more functional ecological niche compared clean litter. Generally, reused chicken litter is a mixture of bedding material and excreta, which offers more surfaces and available nutrients for microbes to attach and survive on. In addition, as chickens are coprophagic, the consumption of litter material likely increases the opportunity for successful microbial transmission from one flock to the next (30). In the current study, only 5 broilers per flock were selected for 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing and *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella* enrichment. While a larger sample size would strengthen the conclusions, previous microbiome studies report that individuals housed together, particularly coprophagic animals, show less variation in the intestinal microbiota with strong co-housing effects (31, 32). A clear flock effect was also observed in the current study (data not shown). Rather than sampling more broilers from each barn, we chose to sample more barns. In addition, the cross-over design of the animal trial can also help eliminate bias brought by management and/or housing facilities.

Helicobacter was found to be less abundant in the FD group at day 30 compared to the WW group. Interestingly, *Helicobacter* is a genus identified as a disappearing member of the human gut microbiome, and may also be associated with increased use of disinfectants (33). In avian species, members in genus *Helicobacter* have been detected in wild birds (34). Studies on the relationship between *Helicobacter* spp. and chicken host are highly variable. Some members of genus *Helicobacter* are considered opportunistic pathogens in chickens. For example, *Helicobacter pullorum* infection was found to cause mild lesion in the chicken ceca (35). However, the effects of *Helicobacter* on host health can vary between different bacterial strains within species (36). Yin et al. reported that *Helicobacter* abundance increased in response to α -amylase,

amylopectase and glucoamylase supplementation in a corn-based diet, and was associated with increased starch digestibility and higher mature bodyweight (37). In the current study, *Helicobacter* positively correlated to branched-chain fatty acids (**BCFAs**) isobutyrate and isovalerate (Figure 2.7). BCFAs are often used as indicators of protein catabolism (38). Currently, the direct relationship between BCFAs and their impact on host health is still unclear (39). It is reported that BCFAs modulate adipocyte lipid and glucose metabolism, and contribute to increased insulin sensitivity (40). With 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing, it is difficult to discriminate bacteria to the species or strain level. Therefore, our identification of *Helicobacter* as the genus of increased predominance in the WW group needs to be further studied. In addition, information on metabolic functionality is also warranted to understand the role of *Helicobacter* in the chicken gut.

Interestingly the FD broilers showed increases in the relative abundance of the family *Bacillaceae*. Members of the *Bacillaceae* family, such as *Bacillus* are Gram-positive, rod-shaped bacteria that can form endospores to survive in harsh physical and chemical environments (41). It is possible that the chemical conditions given by FD treatment provided a selective pressure that led to the increased level of *Bacillaceae*. Some members in this order have the ability to produce antimicrobial peptides, and are recognized as potential beneficial bacteria (42). Some *Bacillus* species, such as *Bacillus licheniformis* and *Bacillus subtilis*, have been commercially added into poultry feed as probiotics (43). However, not all *Bacillus* species are beneficial. *Bacillus cereus* is a food-borne pathogen that causes diarrhea (44). Recently, the prevalence of the *B. cereus* group made up 50% of *Bacillus* spp. isolates from retail chicken products (45). In addition, some non-*B. cereus* species were found to carry virulence genes and exhibited the same phenotypic virulence characteristics as *B. cereus* (46). Furthermore, tests of antimicrobial resistance have identified multi-drug resistant isolates regardless of virulence factors, indicating that further evaluation of

the impact of *Bacillus* on food safety and public health is needed (45). In this sense, the effect of barn disinfection on increasing *Bacillaceae* may need to be carefully assessed.

The reduced *Campylobacter* load in the current study with WW treatment is consistent with previous studies showing that reused litter has the potential to reduce gut pathogen abundance in broiler chickens. It has been reported that reused litter reduced the colonization of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium and Salmonella enterica serovar Enteritidis in infected chickens (13, 47). In the current study, although Salmonella was not detected in any of samples by the enrichment assay, our results supported that the WW treatment did not increase Salmonella occurrence in the chicken intestine. Changing from FD to WW for within-year washing would be associated with lower labor and material costs for cleaning. To date, limited data is available regarding the effects of cleaning treatments and disinfectants on Campylobacter occurrence and abundance in the chicken intestine. De Castro Burbarelli et al. reported a trend that Campylobacter was more frequently detected in the intestine of the stronger disinfection group (2), although the study was conducted in a controlled research setting. Furthermore, it has been shown that colonization of young chicks with bacterial cocktails of mature chicken commensal isolates reduced colonization by C. jejuni (48). Therefore, the FD treatment in the current study may have eliminated some microbes from the previous flock which can potentially compete with *Campylobacter*.

While the effects of cleaning method on the gut microbial composition were relatively modest, changes in concentrations of microbial metabolites, SCFAs, were observed. SCFAs enhance intestinal integrity as direct energy sources to enterocytes (49). Moreover, complex interactions between SCFAs, gut microbes, and the host immune system have been well documented (50). Briefly, SCFAs from intestinal microbe fermentation are imported into enterocytes and tissues via transporters and paracellular transport. SCFA receptors expressed on enterocytes and immune cells in the lamina propria and mucosal lymphoid tissue can activate signaling pathways to regulate host immune response according to the SCFA concentration to maintain intestinal homeostasis (50). Butyrate signaling through G-protein coupled receptors can confer anti-inflammatory properties in colonic dendritic cells by down-regulating the expression of cytokines and chemokines (19). In the present study, there were negative correlations between the relative abundance of *Campylobacter* and total SCFAs, acetate, and butyrate concentrations in the ceca. It has been suggested that SCFAs, especially butyrate, had shown bactericidal effect on *Campylobacter in vitro* (51). More recently, Awad et al. reported that *C. jejuni* infection led to reduced acetate and butyrate concentration in the chicken ceca (52). Adding microencapsulated butyrate to feed was also found to reduce *Campylobacter* colonization in the chicken intestine (53). Together with our results, it is reasonable to suggest that the FD treatment discriminated against beneficial commensals in the gut environment, which could compete with or inhibit *Campylobacter* by producing SCFAs.

2.5 Conclusion

Compared to FD, we found that WW can be beneficial to broiler chicken production by inhibiting *Campylobacter jejuni* colonization in the chicken gut with reduced cleaning costs. Further studies examining other barn disinfection practices and testing for other pathogens are warranted to identify the best practices to minimize pathogen load and maintain animal performance.

2.6 References:

- Chicken Farmers of Canada. 2019. On-farm food safety assurance Program. Chicken Farmers of Canada, Ottawa, ON, Canada. Availeble from https://www.chickenfarmers.ca/resources/on-farm-food-safety-assurance-program/.
- 2. de Castro Burbarelli MF, do Valle Polycarpo G, Deliberali Lelis K, Granghelli CA, Carao de Pinho AC, Ribeiro Almeida Queiroz S, Fernandes AM, Moro de Souza RL, Gaglianone Moro ME, de Andrade Bordin R, de Albuquerque R. 2017. Cleaning and disinfection programs against Campylobacter jejuni for broiler chickens: productive performance, microbiological assessment and characterization. Poult Sci 96:3188-3198.
- Caselli E. 2017. Hygiene: microbial strategies to reduce pathogens and drug resistance in clinical settings. Microb Biotechnol 10:1079-1083.
- Stanley D, Denman SE, Hughes RJ, Geier MS, Crowley TM, Chen H, Haring VR, Moore RJ. 2012. Intestinal microbiota associated with differential feed conversion efficiency in chickens. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 96:1361-9.
- Torok VA, Hughes RJ, Ophel-Keller K, Ali M, Macalpine R. 2009. Influence of different litter materials on cecal microbiota colonization in broiler chickens. Poult Sci 88:2474-81.
- Stanley D, Geier MS, Denman SE, Haring VR, Crowley TM, Hughes RJ, Moore RJ.
 2013. Identification of chicken intestinal microbiota correlated with the efficiency of energy extraction from feed. Vet Microbiol 164:85-92.
- Oakley BB, Lillehoj HS, Kogut MH, Kim WK, Maurer JJ, Pedroso A, Lee MD, Collett SR, Johnson TJ, Cox NA. 2014. The chicken gastrointestinal microbiome. FEMS Microbiol Lett 360:100-12.

86

- Crhanova M, Hradecka H, Faldynova M, Matulova M, Havlickova H, Sisak F, Rychlik I.
 2011. Immune response of chicken gut to natural colonization by gut microflora and to *Salmonella enterica* serovar enteritidis infection. Infect Immun 79:2755-63.
- Oakley BB, Kogut MH. 2016. Spatial and temporal changes in the broiler chicken cecal and fecal microbiomes and correlations of bacterial taxa with cytokine gene expression. Front Vet Sci 3:11.
- Jacquier V, Nelson A, Jlali M, Rhayat L, Brinch KS, Devillard E. 2019. Bacillus subtilis
 29784 induces a shift in broiler gut microbiome toward butyrate-producing bacteria and
 improves intestinal histomorphology and animal performance. Poult Sci 98:2548-2554.
- Lin Y, Xu S, Zeng D, Ni X, Zhou M, Zeng Y, Wang H, Zhou Y, Zhu H, Pan K, Li G.
 2017. Disruption in the cecal microbiota of chickens challenged with *Clostridium perfringens* and other factors was alleviated by *Bacillus licheniformis* supplementation.
 PLOS ONE 12:e0182426.
- Ballou AL, Ali RA, Mendoza MA, Ellis JC, Hassan HM, Croom WJ, Koci MD. 2016.
 Development of the chick microbiome: how early exposure influences future microbial diversity. Front Vet Sci 3:2.
- Olesiuk OM, Snoeyenbos GH, Smyser CF. 1971. Inhibitory effect of used litter on Salmonella typhimurium transmission in the chicken. Avian Dis 15:118.
- Roll VF, Dai Pra MA, Roll AP. 2011. Research on *Salmonella* in broiler litter reused for up to 14 consecutive flocks. Poult Sci 90:2257-62.
- Nurmi E, Rantala M. 1973. New aspects of *Salmonella* infection in broiler production. Nature 241:210-1.

- Cressman MD, Yu Z, Nelson MC, Moeller SJ, Lilburn MS, Zerby HN. 2010.
 Interrelations between the microbiotas in the litter and in the intestines of commercial broiler chickens. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:6572-82.
- Wang L, Lilburn M, Yu Z. 2016. Intestinal microbiota of broiler chickens as affected by litter management regimens. Front Microbiol 7:593.
- Litvak Y, Byndloss MX, Bäumler AJ. 2018. Colonocyte metabolism shapes the gut microbiota. Science 362:eaat9076.
- Nastasi C, Candela M, Bonefeld CM, Geisler C, Hansen M, Krejsgaard T, Biagi E, Andersen MH, Brigidi P, Ødum N, Litman T, Woetmann A. 2015. The effect of shortchain fatty acids on human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Sci Rep 5:16148.
- Mountzouris KC, Balaskas C, Xanthakos I, Tzivinikou A, Fegeros K. 2009. Effects of a multi-species probiotic on biomarkers of competitive exclusion efficacy in broilers challenged with *Salmonella enteritidis*. Br Poult Sci 50:467-78.
- Stern NJ. 1994. Mucosal competitive exclusion to diminish colonization of chickens by Campylobacter jejuni. Poult Sci 73:402-7.
- 22. Branton SL, Reece FN, Hagler WM, Jr. 1987. Influence of a wheat diet on mortality of broiler chickens associated with necrotic enteritis. Poult Sci 66:1326-30.
- Hofacre CL, Beacorn T, Collett S, Mathis G. 2003. Using competitive exclusion, mannan-oligosaccharide and other intestinal products to control necrotic enteritis. J Appl Poult Res 12:60-64.
- 24. Adhikari P, Kiess A, Adhikari R, Jha R. 2020. An approach to alternative strategies to control avian coccidiosis and necrotic enteritis. J Appl Poult Res 29:515-534.

- 25. Canadian Council on Animal Care. 2009. Guide to the care and use of farm animals in research, teaching and testing. Canadian Council on Animal Care, Ottawa, ON, Canada. Available from: https://ccac.ca/Documents/Standards/Guidelines/Farm_Animals.pdf.
- 26. Bolyen E, Rideout JR, Dillon MR, Bokulich NA, Abnet CC, Al-Ghalith GA, Alexander H, Alm EJ, Arumugam M, Asnicar F, Bai Y, Bisanz JE, Bittinger K, Brejnrod A, Brislawn CJ, Brown CT, Callahan BJ, Caraballo-Rodríguez AM, Chase J, Cope EK, Da Silva R, Diener C, Dorrestein PC, Douglas GM, Durall DM, Duvallet C, Edwardson CF, Ernst M, Estaki M, Fouquier J, Gauglitz JM, Gibbons SM, Gibson DL, Gonzalez A, Gorlick K, Guo J, Hillmann B, Holmes S, Holste H, Huttenhower C, Huttley GA, Janssen S, Jarmusch AK, Jiang L, Kaehler BD, Kang KB, Keefe CR, Keim P, Kelley ST, Knights D, Koester I, Kosciolek T, Kreps J, Langille MGI, Lee J, Ley R, Liu YX, Loftfield E, Lozupone C, Maher M, Marotz C, Martin BD, McDonald D, McIver LJ, Melnik AV, Metcalf JL, Morgan SC, Morton JT, Naimey AT, Navas-Molina JA, Nothias LF, Orchanian SB, Pearson T, Peoples SL, Petras D, Preuss ML, Pruesse E, Rasmussen LB, Rivers A, Robeson MS, Rosenthal P, Segata N, Shaffer M, Shiffer A, Sinha R, Song SJ, Spear JR, Swafford AD, Thompson LR, Torres PJ, Trinh P, Tripathi A, Turnbaugh PJ, Ul-Hasan S, Van Der Hooft JJJ, Vargas F, Vázquez-Baeza Y, Vogtmann E, Von Hippel M, Walters W, Wan Y, Wang M, Warren J, Weber KC, Williamson CHD, Willis AD, Xu ZZ, Zaneveld JR, Zhang Y, Zhu Q, Knight R, Caporaso JG. 2019. Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. Nat Biotechnol 37:852-857.

- Callahan BJ, McMurdie PJ, Rosen MJ, Han AW, Johnson AJA, Holmes SP. 2016.
 DADA2: High-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. Nat Methods 13:581-583.
- Bokulich NA, Kaehler BD, Rideout JR, Dillon M, Bolyen E, Knight R, Huttley GA, Gregory Caporaso J. 2018. Optimizing taxonomic classification of marker-gene amplicon sequences with QIIME 2's q2-feature-classifier plugin. Microbiome 6(1):1-17.
- 29. McDonald D, Price MN, Goodrich J, Nawrocki EP, DeSantis TZ, Probst A, Andersen GL, Knight R, Hugenholtz P. 2012. An improved Greengenes taxonomy with explicit ranks for ecological and evolutionary analyses of bacteria and archaea. ISME J 6:610-8.
- Hetland H, Svihus B, Krogdahl Å. 2003. Effects of oat hulls and wood shavings on digestion in broilers and layers fed diets based on whole or ground wheat. Br Poult Sci 44:275-282.
- McCafferty J, Mühlbauer M, Gharaibeh RZ, Arthur JC, Perez-Chanona E, Sha W, Jobin C, Fodor AA. 2013. Stochastic changes over time and not founder effects drive cage effects in microbial community assembly in a mouse model. The ISME Journal 7:2116-2125.
- 32. Laukens D, Brinkman BM, Raes J, De Vos M, Vandenabeele P. 2016. Heterogeneity of the gut microbiome in mice: guidelines for optimizing experimental design. FEMS Microbiology Reviews 40:117-132.
- Blaser MJ. 2012. Equilibria of humans and our indigenous microbiota affecting asthma.
 Proc Am Thorac Soc 9:69-71.

- García-Amado MA, Sanz V, Martinez LM, Contreras M, Lentino M, Michelangeli F.
 2013. Low occurrence of *Helicobacter* DNA in tropical wild birds, Venezuela. J Wildl Dis 49:991-995.
- Ceelen LM, Decostere A, Chiers K, Ducatelle R, Maes D, Haesebrouck F. 2007.
 Pathogenesis of *Helicobacter pullorum* infections in broilers. Int J Food Microbiol 116:207-13.
- 36. Flahou B, Deun KV, Pasmans F, Smet A, Volf J, Rychlik I, Ducatelle R, Haesebrouck F.
 2012. The local immune response of mice after *Helicobacter suis* infection strain
 differences and distinction with *Helicobacter pylori*. Vet Res 43(1)1:10.
- 37. Yin D, Yin X, Wang X, Lei Z, Wang M, Guo Y, Aggrey SE, Nie W, Yuan J. 2018. Supplementation of amylase combined with glucoamylase or protease changes intestinal microbiota diversity and benefits for broilers fed a diet of newly harvested corn. J Anim Sci Biotechnol 9:24.
- Yao CK, Muir JG, Gibson PR. 2016. Review article: insights into colonic protein fermentation, its modulation and potential health implications. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 43:181-196.
- 39. Pinna C, Vecchiato CG, Bolduan C, Grandi M, Stefanelli C, Windisch W, Zaghini G, Biagi G. 2018. Influence of dietary protein and fructooligosaccharides on fecal fermentative end-products, fecal bacterial populations and apparent total tract digestibility in dogs. BMC Vet Res 14(1):1-0.
- Heimann E, Nyman M, Pålbrink A-K, Lindkvist-Petersson K, Degerman E. 2016.
 Branched short-chain fatty acids modulate glucose and lipid metabolism in primary adipocytes. Adipocyte 5:359-368.

- 41. Soltani M, Ghosh K, Hoseinifar SH, Kumar V, Lymbery AJ, Roy S, Ringø E. 2019.
 Genus *Bacillus*, promising probiotics in aquaculture: Aquatic animal origin, bio-active components, bioremediation and efficacy in fish and shellfish. Rev Fish Sci Aquac 27:331-379.
- 42. Sumi CD, Yang BW, Yeo IC, Hahm YT. 2015. Antimicrobial peptides of the genus *Bacillus*: a new era for antibiotics. Can J Microbiol 61:93-103.
- Grant AQ, Gay CG, Lillehoj HS. 2018. *Bacillus* spp. as direct-fed microbial antibiotic alternatives to enhance growth, immunity, and gut health in poultry. Avian Pathol 47:339-351.
- 44. Logan NA. 2012. *Bacillus* and relatives in foodborne illness. J Appl Microbiol 112:417-29.
- 45. Osman KM, Kappell AD, Orabi A, Al-Maary KS, Mubarak AS, Dawoud TM, Hemeg HA, Moussa IMI, Hessain AM, Yousef HMY, Hristova KR. 2018. Poultry and beef meat as potential seedbeds for antimicrobial resistant enterotoxigenic *Bacillus* species: a materializing epidemiological and potential severe health hazard. Sci Rep 8 (1):1-15.
- 46. Haque MA, Wang F, Chen Y, Hossen F, Islam MA, Hossain MA, Siddique N, He C, Ahmed F. 2022. *Bacillus* spp. Contamination: A Novel Risk Originated From Animal Feed to Human Food Chains in South-Eastern Bangladesh. Front Microbiol 12:3852.
- 47. Corrier DE, Hargis BM, A. Hinton J, DeLoach JR. 1993. Protective effect of used poultry litter and lactose in the feed ration on *Salmonella enteritidis* colonization of Leghorn chicks and hens. Avian Dis 93:47-52.
- 48. Hakkinen M, Schneitz C. 1999. Efficacy of a commercial competitive exclusion product against *Campylobacter jejuni*. Br Poult Sci 40:619-21.
- 49. Singh N, Gurav A, Sivaprakasam S, Brady E, Padia R, Shi H, Thangaraju M, Prasad PD, Manicassamy S, Munn DH, Lee JR, Offermanns S, Ganapathy V. 2014. Activation of Gpr109a, receptor for niacin and the commensal metabolite butyrate, suppresses colonic inflammation and carcinogenesis. Immunity 40:128-39.
- 50. van der Hee B, Wells JM. 2021. Microbial regulation of host physiology by short-chain fatty acids. Trends Microbiol doi:10.1016/j.tim.2021.02.001.
- 51. Van Deun K, Haesebrouck F, Van Immerseel F, Ducatelle R, Pasmans F. 2008. Shortchain fatty acids and l-lactate as feed additives to control *Campylobacter jejuni* infections in broilers. Avian Pathol 37:379-383.
- 52. Awad WA, Dublecz F, Hess C, Dublecz K, Khayal B, Aschenbach JR, Hess M. 2016. *Campylobacter jejuni* colonization promotes the translocation of *Escherichia coli* to extra-intestinal organs and disturbs the short-chain fatty acids profiles in the chicken gut. Poult Sci 95:2259-65.d
- Guyard-Nicodeme M, Keita A, Quesne S, Amelot M, Poezevara T, Le Berre B, Sanchez J, Vesseur P, Martin A, Medel P, Chemaly M. 2016. Efficacy of feed additives against *Campylobacter* in live broilers during the entire rearing period. Poult Sci 95:298-305.
- 54. Forgie AJ, Gao Y, Ju T, Pepin DM, Yang K, Ganzle MG, Ozga JA, Chan CB, Willing BP. 2019. Pea polyphenolics and hydrolysis processing alter microbial community structure and early pathogen colonization in mice. J Nutr Biochem 67:101-110.
- 55. Rothrock Jr MJ, Feye KM, Kim S, Park SH, Locatelli A, Hiett KL, Gamble J, Sellers H, Ricke SC. 2018. Semi-quantification of total *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella* during egg incubations using a combination of 16S rDNA and specific pathogen primers for qPCR. Front Microbiol 9:2454.

56. Yang W-Y, Chou C-H, Wang C. 2018. Characterization of toxin genes and quantitative analysis of netB in necrotic enteritis (NE)-producing and non-NE-producing *Clostridium perfringens* isolated from chickens. Anaerobe 54:115-120.

	Barn A	Barn B	Barn C	Barn D	Barn E	Barn F	Barn G
Cycle 1	FD	FD	FD	FD	FD	WW	WW
Cycle 2	FD	FD	WW	WW	FD	WW	WW
Cycle 3	WW	WW	WW	WW	WW	FD	FD
Cycle 4	WW	WW	FD	FD	WW	FD	FD

 Table 0.1 Production cycles, barns and cleaning treatment schedule.

WW, water-wash; FD, full disinfection

 Table 0.2 Primers used for qPCR assay of broiler chicken cecal samples collected at 30 days of age.

Target gene	Primer	Primer Sequence	Reference
	orientation		
Total bacteria 16S	Forward	5'-CGGYCCAGACTCCTACGGG-3'	(54)
rRNA gene	Reverse	5'-TTACCGCGGCTGCTGGCAC-3'	
HipO	Forward	5'-TCCAAAATCCTCACTTGCCATT-3'	(55)
(124bp)	Reverse	5'-TGCACCAGTGACTATGAATAACGA -3'	
NetB	Forward	5'-TGATACCGCTTCACATAAAGGTTGG-3'	(56)
(196bp)	Reverse	5'-ATAAGTTTCAGGCCATTTCATTTTTCCG-3'	



Figure 0.1 Broiler chicken flock performance at 32 d of age.

(a) Flock mean body weight at day 30, 1782 ± 30.09 and 1780 ± 20.59 g for FD and WW, respectively (n=12 flocks/treatment, mean \pm SEM; FD, full disinfection; WW, water-wash); (b) Flock mean mortality rate at day 30, 0.061 ± 0.0074 and 0.059 ± 0.0071 for FD and WW, respectively (n=14 flocks/treatment, mean \pm SEM; FD, full disinfection; WW, water-wash).



Figure 0.2 Broiler chicken cecal Campylobacter occurrence score at 30 d of age.

Results showed the mean flock score \pm SEM (n = 14/treatment, *, p < 0.05). Campylobacter occurrence score = number of pathogen positive broilers/total number of broilers sampled per barn. WW, water-wash; FD, full disinfection.



Figure 0.3 Cecal bacteria qPCR quantification.

Broiler chicken (30 d of age) cecal qPCR targeting C. perfringens netB gene (a), C. jejuni hipO gene (b), and bacterial 16S rRNA gene (c). Results are the average copy number of each target gene (mean \pm SEM, n=70/treatment, **, p < 0.01, n.s., p > 0.05). WW, water-wash; FD, full disinfection.



Figure 0.4 Alpha diversity of broiler chicken cecal microbiome at 30 d of age.

Box-plots showing alpha diversity in samples using Chao1 index and Shannon index (n=70/treatment, n.s., p > 0.05). WW, water-wash; FD, full disinfection.



Figure 0.5 Principal coordinate analysis plots based on weighted- and unweighted- Unifrac distance matrices.

Barn cleaning treatments had modest but significant effects on microbial community structure in the chicken ceca at 30 d of age (n=70/treatment). WW, water-wash; FD, full disinfection.



Figure 0.6 Relative abundance of genus Helicobacter and family Bacillaceae.

The bar plot shows the relative abundance of taxa of interests of each treatment with individual values (n=70/treatment, mean \pm SEM). G_, genus; f_, family



Figure 0.7 Cecal short chain fatty acid production in broiler chickens at 30 d of age.

Results were shown as the average of (a) total SCFA concentration, (b) acetate, (c) propionate, (d) butyrate, and (e) valerate (mean \pm SEM, n = 20/treatment, *, *p* <0.05, **, *p* < 0.01, n.s., *p* > 0.05). FD, full disinfection; WW, water-wash; Conc., Concentration.



Figure 0.8 Spearman correlation heatmap

Heatmap showing Spearman correlations between cecal bacterial abundance and short chain fatty acid concentrations in broiler chickens at 30 d of age. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; Conc., Concentration.

CHAPTER 3. THE IMPACT OF BARN DISINFECTION AND AGE ON THE CECAL MICROBIAL FUNCTIONAL CAPACITY AND RESISTOME OF BROILER CHICKENS

3.1 Introduction

Barn disinfection between flocks has been used as a strategy to prevent the transmission of disease from one flock to the next in broiler chicken production. In practice, both barn full sanitation with chemical disinfectants (FD) and water-wash (WW) are widely employed in poultry production in many parts of the world. We have recently shown that the use of disinfectants in cleaning barns between broiler chicken flocks can result in increased carriage of *Campylobacter jejunii*, impacts the composition of the cecal microbiota, and results in reduced cecal SCFA levels (1). Changes in community composition were determined by 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing, therefore, provided limited ability to understand functional changes the microbiome induced by barn disinfection. It has been reported that chemical disinfectants can trigger the proliferation of antibiotic resistant genes (ARGs) (2), which may pose a threat to public health. Therefore, examining the effects of barn cleaning practices on the chicken gut microbial metabolic functionality and the ARG profile (also termed as resistome) can offer insightful information to both the poultry industry and the general public.

Livestock farming accounts for over 50% of all antibiotic usage globally (3). Due to the high stocking density during production as well as the short production cycle, chickens were reported to have the highest densities of ARGs compared to other livestock species (4). Presently, there is no data available evaluating how barn cleaning practices affect the intestinal ARG profiles of the broiler chickens. As well, no consensus had been reached regarding the

105

effect of chemical disinfectants on ARG abundance. Previous studies looked at the chemical disinfectant-treated facility/device surfaces, soil, or livestock manure, and reported very different results. In some studies, chemical disinfectants were reported to stimulate microbial ARG proliferation in the environment, because some disinfectants share similar modes of actions with antibiotics (5-7). For example, benzalkonium chloride (BAC), a widely used quaternary ammonium compound, was shown to select bacterial taxa in the waste-water bioreactors that were multi-drug resistant by stimulating the expression of ARGs encoding multi-drug efflux pumps (7). Zeng et al. studied agricultural soils amended with BAC and reported that exposure to BAC led to increased incidence of ARGs in the agricultural soil (8). However, after assessing the effect of a series of chemical disinfectants on inhibiting ARG abundances in swine manure storage, Hall et al. reported that disinfectants such as BAC and sodium hypochlorite significantly reduced the abundance of some ARGs (e.g. *ermB*, *ermC*, and *tetX*) in the swine manure (8). Consequently, from the perspective of food safety and environmental sustainability, it is important to explore the influence of chemical disinfectants usage in barn cleaning, particularly the gut microbial resistome of the broiler chickens raised in these barns.

This study was designed to explore the functional capacities of the chicken cecal microbiota derived from FD and WW. Shotgun metagenomic sequencing was used to characterize the response of the cecal microbiome, microbial metabolic functionalities and ARG profiles to different barn cleaning practices. We aimed to gain further insight into changes in microbial functionality that led to higher SCFA levels. Furthermore, we predicted that the use of chemical disinfectant in barn cleaning would increase ARG carriage in the cecal microbiome.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Broiler production facilities and barn cleaning practices

As a follow-up study of the previous chapter, a subset of broiler chicken cecal samples collected previously were used. Broiler chicken management and barn cleaning practices were previously described (1). Briefly, broiler chicken samples were collected from a commercial broiler company in Alberta, Canada. To focus on the effects of cleaning methods without introducing other confounding factors and bias, production cycles 2 and 4 were chosen (Table. 2.1 from chapter 2), in which most barns had been through 2 consecutive repeated cleaning practices with both barn cleaning treatment applied on each barn. The cross-over design resulted in a total of 14 production flocks (sampled at day 7 and day 30), which 7 flocks were assigned to each treatment. In detail, the sample set of this study included a total of 140 chickens (70 chickens from each age), and 35 chickens were sampled from each treatment (FD or WW) at each age (day 7 or day 30).

For FD, manure and litter were completely removed from the barn after chickens were sent for slaughter. Subsequently, chemical disinfection were performed using foam containing 7% sodium hydroxide, 7% 2-(2-2-butoxyethoxy) ethanol, 6% sodium laureth sulfate, 5% sodium Nlauroyl sarcosinate, and 5% tetrasodium ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) on all surfaces of the facilities, followed by high-pressure and low-pressure water rinse with the water temperature set at 35°C; after the facilities were air-dried, foam containing 10% glutaraldehyde, 10% benzalkonium chloride (BAC), and 5% formic acid were applied to the surfaces of the facilities for 60 mins followed by high-pressure water rinse, overnight air-dry and fresh litter placement. For WW, manure and used litter were removed, followed by low-pressure water rinse with the water temperature set at 35°C for all facility surfaces, air-dry overnight, and fresh litter placement.

3.2.2 Chicken management and sample collection

The current study was performed according to the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care (9) with approval of the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee (AUP00002377). In each production flock, Ross 308 broiler chicks were placed within 12 h posthatch and confined to half of the house, then allowed access to the entire house starting at D7. Flock size was 14,000, with a final stocking density of 30 kg/m². All chickens were fed *ad libitum* without antibiotics and from placement through processing at about 32-35 days of age when the average target live weight of 1.8 kg was reached.

To collect cecal digesta, at D7 and D30, five broilers per flock were each randomly selected from different areas within each barn and euthanized using cervical dislocation. Tools and collection tubes were pre-autoclaved and kept sealed before sampling. To collect cecal contents aseptically, sampling table was cleaned with 70% ethanol before and between every broiler dissection. Approximately 300 mg of cecal contents were collected into sterile 2 ml Eppendorf tubes, and were frozen on dry ice immediately after collection until transported to the lab, and stored at -80 °C for subsequent DNA extraction.

3.2.3 Shotgun metagenomic sequencing and microbiome analyses

Total DNA extraction was as previously described (1). Library preparation and shotgun sequencing were performed at the Genome Quebec Innovation Centre (Montreal, Canada) using the NovaSeq 6000 S4 PE150 system (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). FastP v0.23.2. was used for quality control. Low quality reads, sliding windows, adaptors, polyG and duplicated sequences were removed (10). Kneaddata v0.10.0 was used to remove host DNA contaminants (https://github.com/biobakery/kneaddata). Briefly, a chicken host reference database was built using bowtie2 v2.4.1 with genome Gallus gallus 105 release from Ensembl (11), followed by subsequent removal of reads aligned to the host. Cecal microbiota taxonomic classification was performed profiled using kraken2 (v2.1.2) (12), followed by subsequent relative abundance estimation using Bracken2 (v2.6) (13) Bacterial taxa appeared less than 5% of the samples were filtered out for subsequent analyses. Assembly was performed via megahit (v1.2.9) with default parameters (14). The abundance of functional genes and enriched pathways were estimated using HuMAnN3 (v3.0.1) based on the UniProt 90 database followed by subsequent annotation using the Metacyc database (15, 16). The relative abundance of aligned genes and pathways were normalized to copy numbers per million reads using the HuMAnN3 utility scripts (16). Antibiotic resistance-encoding genes were annotated by the Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database (CARD, version 3.1.4) via Resistance Gene Identifier (RGI, version 5.1.0) with cut-off set at 95% identity (17). To reveal the distributions of microbial taxa, functional genes, and ARGs across samples, principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) based on Bray-curtis distance metric was calculated via vegan package in R (version 3.6.1). To evaluate dispersion, the R package "betadisper" was used to calculate distance to centroid. Two-way ANOVA was used to assess total ARG reads between different barn sanitations practices and different

sampling timepoints. Because no differences were suggested between different barn sanitation practices or sampling timepoints (details shown in 3.3.2), to avoid bias introduced by variations of the relative abundance of bacterial taxa, variations of 16S rRNA copy numbers harbored by different bacterial species as well as fluctuation caused by ARGs located on mobile genetic elements, identified ARGs were normalized to reads per million total ARG reads for subsequent comparisons. Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA) tests were used to determine clustering significance using the adonis function in the vegan package in R (version 3.6.1). Significance of PERMANOVA and betadisperse were set to FDR P < 0.05. Differentially abundant microbial taxa, gene pathways and ARGs associating with treatments or sampling timepoint were identified using LDA effect size (LEfSe) implemented in the lefser R package (Bioconductor version 3.15) with significant cut off set at LDA score > 2 and FDR P < 0.05. Differentiate abundant analysis of profiled gene pathways and ARGs for pairwise comparisons was performed using R package DESeq2 (Bioconductor version 3.15) (18). Significance of differential abundance was determined with FDR P < 0.05 and log2 fold change > 1.

3.2.4 Statistical Analyses

Except for the statistical analyses mentioned above, GraphPad Prism 8 (Graphpad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) was used to conduct statistical analyses. To determine significance of the microbiome alpha diversity indices, the Kruskal–Wallis test was used with significance set at P < 0.05. The Spearman correlation was used to correlate ARG abundance and the abundance of bacterial species. Correlation significance was determined by the corr.test function (false-discover-rate adjusted P > 0.05), and a moderate association was determined by $|\mathbf{R}| > 0.4$. Correlation was visualized using the corrplot package in R (version 3.6.1).

3.3 Results and discussion

3.3.1 The cecal microbial structures and functional capacities were impacted by barn cleaning methods and sampling timepoints

Shotgun metagenomic sequencing was used to provide a more comprehensive profile the cecal microbial structures to further assess the effects of barn cleaning methods on the cecal microbiota. Overall, an average of $52,133,725.06 \pm 1,265,988.36$ quality-controlled reads per sample (mean \pm SEM) were processed by kraken2 for cecal microbial structure profiling, resulting in $34,252,401.09 \pm 6,541,062.17$ reads per sample aligned to the RefSeq bacteria database by Kraken2. The overall day 7 and 30 cecal microbiota in this study is consisted of 43.36% Firmicutes, 39.42% Bacteroidetes, 11.90% Proteobacteria, 3.34% Actinobacteria, and 1.98% of other phyla with relative abundance lower than 0.1% (D7: 62.14% Firmicutes, 25.57% Bacteroidetes, 8.21% Proteobacteria, 0.76% Actinobacteria, 0.48% Tenericutes, and 2.84% of other phyla; D30: 24.59% Firmicutes, 53.27% Bacteroidetes, 15.59% Proteobacteria, 5.92% Actinobacteria and 0.63% other phyla). Generally, Bray-Curtis distance metric revealed that sampling timepoints had a major impact on the beta diversity of the chicken cecal microbiota (Figure 3.1a, $R^2 = 0.15$, adonis P < 0.001); whereas the cleaning methods had limited impact (R^2 = 0.02, adonis P = 0.23) on the D7 microbiota and a modest impact ($R^2 = 0.03$, adonis P = 0.005) on D30 beta diversity (Figure 3.1b and 3.1c for D7 and D30, respectively). Betadisper analysis showed that the cecal microbiotas of D7 chickens had greater distance to centroid compared to D30 (distance to centroid = 0.56 and 0.48 for D7 and D30, respectively, FDR P < 0.01), indicating that the 30-day cecal microbiota had greater homogeneity. In addition, microbial alpha diversity was impacted by the sampling timepoints, but not cleaning methods. Species richness and evenness, indicated by Shannon diversity index, increased with age (P < 0.05) (Figure 3.1 df). Shotgun metagenomics offered better resolution of changes at the species level than previously reported by 16S rRNA gene sequencing (1). At D7, LEfSe analysis did not indicate any taxa associating with treatment (FDR P > 0.05, Figure 3.2). However, at D30, the relative abundance of *Ruminococcus torques, Faecalibacterium prausnizii, Barnesiella viscericola,* and *Helicobacter pullorum* were enriched in the WW group, whereas the relative abundance of *Megamonas funiformis* was higher in the FD group (FDR P < 0.05, LDA >2, Figure 3.2).

To date, very limited information is available regarding how cleaning methods affected chicken cecal microbiota. Using 16S rRNA sequencing technique, we previously reported that at D30, genus Helicobacter was enriched in the WW group (1). Shotgun metagenomic sequencing was able to provide taxonomic information to the species level with confidence. In accordance with the last chapter, shotgun metagenomics results revealed that the cecal composition of H. *pullorum* was increased by the WW treatment at D30. Although some researchers suggested that H. pullorum may be an opportunistic pathogen (19), the role of H. pullorum in poultry and its pathogenicity to human and chickens remains unclear. In fact, to date, no concrete evidence has shown that it is related to either human or poultry diseases (20, 21). Previously, it was reported that the prevalence of *Faecalibacterium* increased in the chicken ceca of the recycled litter group compared to the fresh litter group, which was concluded as a beneficial effect using recycled litter (22). As a commensal member also found enriched in the conventionally grown chickens (23), F. prausnizii was previously identified as a promoter of epithelial health for its strong metabolite production, such as butyrate (24). Moreover, it was found to have anti-inflammatory activity in broilers (25). In line with previous study (22), we found that the predominance of F. prausnizii was found increased by WW, indicating that WW may confer potential beneficial effects to the chickens. B. viscericola has been characterized as an important representative

commensal of barn-raised chickens (26), that could be considered as a potential propiogenic probiotics (27-29). Whereas *Ruminococcus* are important butyrate producers in the gut that degrades mucins (24, 30). Mucolytic bacteria were widely found in the gut microbiota (31). Some studies had reported that mucolytic bacteria, such as *Clostridium perfringens* could be pathogenic as degradation of the mucous layer might be detrimental by impairing gut barrier function (32, 33). However, mucolytic bacteria (e.g. *Akkermansia* spp.) may provide beneficial metabolites (e.g. SCFAs) to stimulate goblet cells to secrete more mucus, and thus contribute to the development of a healthy mucus-associated microbiota (33, 34). In this case, the effect of increased *R. torques* in the chicken gut needs to be further studied.

Amongst the D30 FD chickens, *M. funiformis* was recognized as a strong biomarker of the cecal microbiota. Previously, genus *Megamonas* was identified as an important producer of acetate and propionate in avian species (35), and *M. funiformis* was characterized as one of the most efficient colonizers in early life of chickens (36). Clavijo et al. and Roth et al. assessed the chicken microbiota and reported that *Megamonas* accounted to the core microbiota (Clavijo et al. defined taxa presenting in more than 50% of samples and Roth et al. set the coverage to 97% of samples) (37, 38). Interestingly, Clavijo et al. found that *Megamonas* mainly appeared in the broiler ceca (37), whereas Roth et al. studied the microbiome of laying hens and reported that *Megamonas* colonizes the upper intestinal tract, but could not be detected in the ceca, where other SCFA producers normally inhabit (38). Although reasons behind the differences reported needs to be further explored (e.g. host determinant and diet compositions), it indicated that *Megamonas* can adapt to multiple sections of the chicken gut and may colonize niches with less competition.

To investigate the impact of barn sanitation practices on the cecal microbial functional consequences, gene families were profiled using HUMAnN3 and annotated according to the Enzyme Commission (EC) number annotations. An average of $64.63\% \pm 1.18\%$ of the total reads per sample (mean \pm SEM) were mapped to the UniProt 90 database by HUMAnN3, and were further annotated based on the MetaCyc database. The cecal microbial communities of broiler chickens harbored 449 metabolic pathways. Chicken age significantly impacted the cecal microbial functional capacities. DESeq2 revealed that the abundance of a total of 89 pathways that were different between D7 and D30 (Table S1, log2 fold-change > 1, FDR *P* < 0.05). However, surprisingly, LefSe did not identify associations between functional pathways and age (FDR *P* > 0.05 or LDA < 2).

The effects of the barn cleaning methods on the cecal microbial functional capacities were relatively modest compared to the age-effect. At D7, DESeq2 suggested that the abundance of 6 pathways were altered by the barn cleaning treatments (Figure 3.3a, log2 fold-change > 1, FDR P < 0.05), namely the sucrose degradation pathway IV (PWY-5384), the L-cysteine biosynthesis pathway VI (PWY-I9), the super-pathway of UDP-glucose-derived O-antigen building blocks biosynthesis (PWY-7328), the UDP-N-acetyl-D-glucosamine biosynthesis pathway (UDPNAGSYN-PWY), the phospholipase pathway (LIPASYN-PWY), and the stringent response guanosine 3'-diphosphate 5'-diphosphate metabolism pathway (PPGPPMET-PWY).

PWY-5384 is linked to polysaccharide utilization (sucrose degradation), and it was enriched in the D7 WW microbiome (FDR P < 0.05, log2 fold change >1). When assigned to the different bacteria, PWY-5384 was harbored by *Escherichia coli, Lactobacillus* spp., *Bifidobacterium* spp., and unclassified bacteria. In the cecal microbiome of the D7 FD group, it was mainly harbored by *E. coli* and unclassified bacteria, whereas in the D7 WW group, it was contributed by *E. coli, Lactobacillus* spp., *Bifidobacterium pullorum* and the unclassified bacteria together (data not shown). This resulted in the overall increased abundance of PWY-5384 observed in the WW group. A similar effect was observed in the amino acid synthesis pathway (PWY-I9), which in the FD group microbiota was mainly harbored by *E. coli,* but possessed together by *E. coli, Bifidobacterium* spp., and *Lactobacillus* spp. in the WW counterparts.

The stringent response pathway was enriched in the cecal microbiome of the D7 FD group (FDR P < 0.05), and it was primarily harbored by *E. coli*. Interestingly, the stringent response regulates gene expression in response to nutrient starvation or environmental stresses (39), the enriched stringent response pathway in the FD group may be a sign of that the FD treatment had put stress to the barn environment and therefore impacted the assembly and development of the cecal microbiota of young chickens. Previously, it was reported that stringent response was important for bacterial virulence and persistence in the environment (e.g. resistance to antimicrobials) for a variety of taxa (39). Intestinal microbes such as *Bacteroides* shift from growth to stasis via the regulation of the stringent response (40). In addition, it was also reported that the stringent response can induce microbes to the viable but nonculturable state, which have strong tolerance to environmental stresses with minimum nutrient requirement (41). Thus, the enriched of the PPGPPMET-PWY may indicate that the chemical disinfection may select for tolerance to harsh environmental conditions.

At day 30, DESeq2 suggested the abundance of a series of pathways that were altered by cleaning method (Figure 3.3b). Specifically, the WW group had increased the relative abundance of 12 pathways, namely the pyruvate fermentation to acetate and lactate pathway II (PWY-

115

5100), the L-lysine biosynthesis pathway I (DAPLYSINESYN-PWY), the L-lysine biosynthesis pathway II (PWY-2941), the L-isoleucine biosynthesis pathway I (ILEUSYN-PWY), the L-methionine biosynthesis pathway III (HSERMETANA-PWY), the L-isoleucine biosynthesis pathway III (PWY-5103), the phosphatidylglycerol biosynthesis pathway I (PWY4FS-7), the phosphatidylglycerol biosynthesis pathway II (PWY4FS-8), the ADP-L-glycero- and β-D-manno-heptose biosynthesis pathway (PWY0-1241), the CMP-3-deoxy-D-manno-octulosonate biosynthesis pathway (PWY-1269), the super-pathway of phospholipid biosynthesis I (PHOSLIPSYN-PWY), and the super-pathway of branched chain amino acid biosynthesis (BRANCHED-CHAIN-AA-SYN-PWY). Whereas the FD group had enriched abundance of the hexitol fermentation to lactate, formate, ethanol and acetate pathway (P461-PWY).

At day 30, pathways linked to SCFA production (acetate and lactate) and amino acid biosynthesis (i.e. L-methionine, L-lysine, L-isoleucine, branched-chain amino acids) were enriched in the WW group indicating that the WW treatment had impacted the D30 microbiota that led to the increased nutrient utilization functionality of the gut microbial communities.

The pathway encoding production of acetate and lactate (PWY-5100) were increased by the WW treatments at D30. Previously, Gong et al. reported that chickens infected by *Clostridium perfringens* had significant drop of PWY-5100 in the cecal microbial functional capacities, and that was restored by the supplementation of probiotic *L. plantarum* (42). In the current study, PWY-5100 was mainly harbored by *H. pullorum* in both the FD and WW group, and to a lesser extent, *Lachnoclostridium* sp. *An76* and *Lactobacillus salivarius*. To further assess effect size of each microbial species and their contribution to the altered microbial functionality at D30, pathways were stratified to the strain level, and LEfSe was used to discover species contribution. As a result, the 13 altered pathways were attributed by 62 different bacteria species. LEfSe results indicated that the enriched PWY-5100 in the D30 WW cecal microbial community could be considered as a direct consequence of the increased *H. pullorum* (Figure 3.4, FDR P < 0.05, LDA >2) by the WW treatment, whereas the contribution of *Lachnoclostridium* sp. *An76* was relatively smaller (FDR P < 0.05, LDA = 1.36). Similarly, the observed increased abundance of pathways linked to amino acid syntheses at the D30 WW group were all mainly attributed to *H. pullorum*. In addition, PWY-1269 encodes genes that produce acid sugar 3-deoxy- α -D-manno-2-octulosonate, which is a component of bacterial lipopolysaccharides (LPS). A wide variety of bacteria including *Campylobacter* and *Helicobacter* are able to synthesize 3-deoxy- D-manno-2-octulosonate and produce LPS as final products (43-45). At D30, PWY-1269 was shown to be mainly harbored by *H. pullorum* and *C. jejuni* in the chicken gut microbiome of the WW and FD, respectively (Figure 3.4). In the previous chapter, we reported that *Campylobacter jejuni* was decreased in the D30 WW group using qPCR techniques. In line with that, functional analyses showing that the WW-derived chicken cecal microbiome had decreased functionality of *C. jejuni*-derived LPS production.

Overall, functional genetics analyses suggested that the barn cleaning methods had altered the functional capacities of the chicken gut microbiota. Exposure to the FD barn at 1 day of life may impact the assembly of the early cecal microbiota of the chicks, and thereby led to altered microbial functionalities observed in later life, which possess decreased genetic potential for amino acid and SCFA synthesis. In addition, we reported that the relative abundance of *Helicobacter* was increased in the WW group at D30 compared to the D30 FD group, and it was positively correlated to cecal branched-chain fatty acid (BCFA) concentration (1). In accordance with that, in the current study, we confirmed that chicken cecal *H. pullorum* was significantly increased by the WW treatment. In particular, results suggested that the genetic potential to synthesize amino acids were mainly harbored by *H. pullorum*, which may partially explained the increased the association of BCFA and the abundance of *Helicobacter* observed previously (1). In chapter 2, we also found that the cecal SCFA production was increased by WW, which may also be a consequent of the increased cecal *H. pullorum* in the D30 WW group.

3.3.2 The effect of barn cleaning practices and sampling timepoint on the chicken gut microbial resistome

An average of $0.133\% \pm 0.012\%$ of the total reads per sample (mean ± SEM) were mapped to the CARD database. Overall, both the barn cleaning methods and the sampling timepoint had impacted the chicken cecal microbial resistome. Two-way ANOVA analyses revealed that, in relative to total reads, ARG read count percentage were higher at D7 compared to D30 (Figure 3.5a). The Bray-Curtis distance metric revealed that the cecal microbial resistome clustered significantly by treatment and age (Figure 3.5b, FDR *P* <0.05). Beta-dispersion analyses revealed that the cecal resistomes of the 7-day old broiler chickens had greater distance to centroid compared to the D30 broiler chickens (*P* < 0.01), indicating more diverse resistomes between individuals at D7 (Figure 3.5c). A total of 496 ARGs from 60 gene families and 386 ARGs from 52 gene families were identified from the D7 chickens and D30 chickens, respectively. A similar result was reported in chicken litter and cattle studies where fecal resistome diversity decreased with increasing age (46, 47).

At the single gene level, the tetracycline-resistant gene (*tet*) tetW was the most abundant ARG, followed by lincosamide nucleotidyltransferase (*lnu*) *lnuC*, tet(44), tet(W/N/W), tetQ, the erythromycin ribosomal methylation 23S ribosomal RNA methyltransferase (*erm*) *ermB*,

aminoglycoside resistance gene (*APH*) *APH*(3)-*IIIa*, *tetO*, and *tet32*. Gene families encoding tetracycline-resistant ribosomal protection proteins (RPPs) were the most abundant in the broiler chicken resistomes followed by the lincosamide nucleotidyltransferase (LNU, lincosamide-resistant) family, and the major facilitator superfamily (MFS) antibiotic efflux pump (multi-drug resistant) family. These ARG families collectively accounted over 90% of the broiler chicken cecal resistome (92.08% \pm 11.03% mean \pm SEM).

Previously, Munk et al. studied chicken fecal samples collected from multiple European countries and reported that the majority of ARGs were tetracycline-, aminoglycoside-, and macrolide-, lincosamide- and streptogramin- (MLS-) resistant genes (48). Similarly, chicken fecal samples collected from China were high in aminoglycoside, tetracycline, MLS, and β -lactam resistance (49). In the current study, the most abundant ARGs detected conferred resistance to tetracycline (*tetW*, *tet(44)*, *tet(W/N/W)*, *tetQ*, *tetO* and *tet(32)*), MLS (*lnuC*, *ermB*), and aminoglocoside (*APH(3)-IIIa*); whereas β -lactam resistance was found in relatively low prevalence in the chicken cecal resistome. The low abundance of β -lactam in poultry farming since 2018 (50), whereas β -lactam was reported to be one of the most commonly used antibiotic in poultry production in China (51).

Many of the most abundant ARGs detected in the current study confer resistance to tetracycline through ribosomal protection proteins (i.e. tetW, tet(44), tet(W/N/W), tetQ, tetO and tet(32)). Tetracycline inhibits bacterial protein synthesis by binding to the 16S rRNA preventing the attachment of aminoacyl-tRNA to the ribosomal acceptor (52). Ribosomal protection mediated by RPPs is an ubiquitous mechanism conferring resistance against tetracycline in both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria (53). Genes encoding tetracycline-resistant RPPs

119

were often found on transmissible elements (e.g. plasmids and conjugative transposons) (52). In addition, tetracycline-resistant genes, particularly *tetW*, were frequently detected in environments related to livestock farming (54-58) as well as bacteria isolated from the chicken gut (59) making it difficult to chase the sources of these genes. Thus, future studies are warranted to investigate the origins of the tetracycline-resistant RPP genes detected in the current study.

3.3.2.1 Barn cleaning methods had a modest impact on the chicken gut resistome

PERMANOVA analyses indicated modest differences of the microbial resistomes between treatments at the same-age group (D7 FD vs. D7 WW, D30 FD vs. D30WW, Figure 3.5b). However, LEfSe did not show significant association between AMR gene families and treatments between treatment groups at the same age (FDR P > 0.05 or LDA < 2).

To evaluate the barn cleaning treatment effects, DESeq2 was used to compare the abundance of AMR genes between FD and WW within timepoint. Interestingly, contrary to our hypothesis, WW increased the abundance of some ARGs in the chicken cecal resistomes. Specifically, five AMR gene families (i.e. the *erm* gene family, rifamycin resistant beta-subunit of RNA polymerase (*rpoB*), streptogramin vat acetyltransferase, ATP-binding cassette (ABC) - F subfamily RPPs (macrolide- and lincosamide- resistant), and *vanR* glycopeptide resistance gene cluster were found more abundant in the D7 WW treatment (Figure 3.6, FDR P < 0.05).

We expected that disinfection may increase selection of ARG, however, these data suggests that disinfection is associated with reduced ARG abundance, suggesting that it should be evaluated further for its ability to help control transmission of ARG between flocks. Previously, it was reported that poultry litter harbored high densities of AMR bacteria and antibiotic residuals (60-62). Although poultry litter was removed in the current study, without chemical disinfectants, WW might preserve bacteria carrying ARGs in the barn. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that compared to WW, the chemical disinfectants used in the current study, which destroys both bacteria cells and DNA structures, may be more effective in controlling ARGs like *erm* genes and the glycopeptide resistance gene clusters.

At the gene level, *cprR* (peptide antibiotic- resistant), *ermB* (MLS-resistant), *lnuA* and *lnuB* (lincosamide-resistant), *lsaE* (pleuromutilin-, streptogramin-, and lincosamide- resistant), *oleB* (macrolide-resistant), *tet(L)* and *tetM* (tetracycline-resistant), *vatE* (streptogramin-resistant), *Vibrio anguillarum* chloramphenicol acetyltransferase gene (phenicol-resistant), the *Bifidobacterium bifidum ileS* (mupirocin-resistant), the *Bifidobacterium adolescentis rpoB* (rifampicin-resistant), and *vanR* variants in the *vanA*, *vanG*, and *vanL* clusters (vancomycin-resistant) were more abundant in the WW group.

By D30, the impacts of cleaning methods on the chicken gut microbiome were subtle. No differentially abundant ARG gene families were identified by DESeq2. However, single genes including *ermG* (MLS-resistant) and *vanR* variant in *vanI* cluster (vancomycin-resistant) were enriched in the D30 WW group (Figure 3.7). Compared to the ARGs affected by the barn cleaning practices at D7 (e.g. *ermB*, 82,227.45 \pm 8,067.27 reads per million total ARG reads, mean \pm SEM), the ARGs affected by the treatments at D30 were the ones with low abundance indicating that the barn cleaning practices had greater impacts in younger chickens.

Notably, in both D7 and D30, ARGs from the *erm* gene family with high relative abundance (over 100,000 reads/million total ARG reads) and the glycopeptide resistant gene cluster (*vanR*) with lower relative abundance (less than 5,000 reads/million total ARG reads) were depleted with disinfection. More than 30 *erm* genes have been characterized, and a number

of them (e.g. *ermB*, *ermC*, *ermG*, *ermF*, *ermX*) frequently detected in livestock farming related environments (63-65). Frequent horizontal transfer of *erm* genes through mobile genetic elements has been reported within the gut microbiota (66, 67) and between intestinal bacteria and environmental bacteria (68, 69), accounting for their distribution among diverse taxa. Additionally, *erm* genes were found to persist stably both in the gut and in the environment 2-3 years after the removal of antibiotic selection pressure (65, 70). Furthermore, *erm* genes were also known to spread through poultry dust (58, 71). Transmission of persistent *erm* residues from the previous production cycles is therefore likely.

Vancomycin and other glycopeptide antibiotics inhibit bacterial cell wall biosynthesis by interfering with the formation of peptidoglycan (72). The *vanS/vanR* - two-component regulatory system is important in activating and regulating transcription of the glycopeptide gene cluster. As part of the two-component system, *vanR* can be activated by *vanS* and subsequently promote the cotranscription of other genes in the glycopeptide gene cluster (e.g. *vanI*) (73). Previously, vancomycin resistant genes were detected in poultry farms (74) and products (75). Similar to *erm* genes, a recent study revealed a glycopeptide resistant gene cluster persisting in the environment for 20 years (76). In addition, glycopeptide resistance gene clusters are also highly transferable via plasmids (75, 77) making it difficult to identify the main carriers.

3.3.2.2 The cecal microbial composition and resistome of broiler chickens were significantly affected by the sampling timepoint

At D7, the most abundant ARG families in the cecal resistomes were the tetracyclineresistant RPP family, the MFS antibiotic efflux pump family, the resistance-nodulation-cell division (RND) antibiotic efflux pump (multi-drug resistant), the erm gene family and the LNU family. Whereas at D30, the 5 most abundant gene families were the tetracycline-resistant RPP followed by the LNU family, the MFS antibiotic efflux pump family, the aminoglycoside nucleotidyltransferase (ant) family ant(6) (aminoglycoside-resistant), and the erm gene family. When characterizing the resistant mechanism and distribution of the ARGs, we discovered that antibiotic target protection, which mainly consisted of tetracycline resistance via tetracyclineresistant RPPs, was the most common mechanism of antibiotic resistance. In addition, antibiotic efflux and antibiotic inactivation were the second most common resistance mechanism found at D7 and D30, respectively (Figure 3.8). LEfSe results supported the successional change of the chicken cecal resistome (Figure 3.9, FDR P < 0.05, LDA > 2). In accordance with the different antibiotic mechanisms between D7 and D30, LefSe analysis identified that 11 ARG gene families were associated with the age of the broiler chickens (Figure 3.7). Particularly, the MFS antibiotic efflux pumps and the RND antibiotic efflux pump showed highest LDA score at D7, indicating that antibiotic efflux plays a key role in the early life cecal resistomes. Whereas on D30, AMR gene families conferring antibiotic inactivation, such as the LNU family and the tetracycline inactivation enzyme, had increased predominance.

In the current study, the D7 and D30 cecal microbial compositions differed significantly as indicated by Bray-Curtis distance metric (adonis P < 0.001). Previously, successional changes of the chicken gut microbiota were recognized (78-80). Although it was speculated that the change of microbial composition would lead to alteration of the ARG profile (59), limited information was available on how the chicken gut resistome change as chickens grow. The relative abundance of total ARGs was higher in the ceca of D7 chickens compared to D30. Previously, Lebeaux et al reported similar results in human infants showing that the overall relative abundance of ARGs was significantly higher at 6 weeks than 1 year (81). In addition, the change of antibiotic resistant mechanism associated with age was surprisingly similar to the current study. Antibiotic efflux pump (particularly RND antibiotic efflux pump) and tetracycline-resistant RPP, were reported in 6-week and 1-year infant fecal samples respectively (81). Antibiotic efflux pumps were also a strong biomarker of the D7 chicken cecal resistome (Figure 3.7).

Efflux pumps are ubiquitous transmembrane proteins conferring antibiotic resistance by transporting a wide spectrum of antibiotics (82). At D7, the MFS antibiotic efflux pump family were mainly consisted with tetracycline-resistant gene *tet(40)*. Microbial community composition may have contributed to the composition of cecal ARGs. Particularly, LefSe analysis suggested the family *Lachnospiraceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae* were strong biomarkers of the chicken cecal microbiota at D7 (Figure 3.10, FDR P < 0.05, LDA >3). In addition, spearman correlation (Figure 3.11, FDR P < 0.01) revealed that the relative abundance of the MFS antibiotic efflux pump family was positively correlated to *Lachnospiraceae* play important role in the gut microbial resistome. Previously, using bacteria isolates from chickens, Juricova et al. compared ARG sequences and bacteria genomes and reported that the family *Lachnospiraceae* was an important reservoirs for *tet(40)* (59). Thus, the predominance of the MFS antibiotic efflux pumps in the D7 cecal resistome may be partially explained by the predominace of *Lachnocpiraceae* in the early life chicken microbiota.

RND antibiotic efflux pumps are mainly encoded by gram-negative bacteria (83), and *Enterobacteriaceae* were well known to harbor the RND antibiotic efflux pumps (84, 85). In the current study, *Enterobacteriaceae* (*E. coli* and *E. albertii*) was positively correlated with the

124

abundance of the RND antibiotic efflux pumps (Figure 3.11). Recently, Gupta et al. reported genes encoding RND antibiotic efflux pumps (e.g. *mdtF*, *mdtC*, *mdtB*, *mdtE*, *mdtA*, and *sdiA*) were enriched with *Enterobacteriaceae* in chicken litter and cloacal samples (47). Thus, the enriched RND antibiotic efflux pump family at D7 may be a consequence of the early colonization of *Enterobacteriaceae* in the chicken ceca. In addition, among all taxa in the chicken ceca, *E. coli* was significantly associated with the highest number of ARG families (positively correlated to 20 different gene families, Figure 3.11, FDR P < 0.05) indicating great impact on the cecal resistome. Similarly, in the human infant resistome study, Lebeaux et al. concluded that the human early-life resistome composition was primarily driven by *E. coli* (81) indicating that *Enterobacteriaceae*, particularly genus *Escherichia*, is of great importance in shaping the early life resistome of the host.

Antibiotic inactivation genes, particularly genes encoding LNUs (mainly *lnuC* gene) and tetracycline inactivation enzymes (mainly *tetX* gene and its variants), were strongly associated with the D30 resistome (Figure 3.9). Previously, Noyes et al. reported that LNUs were more predominant in adult cattle fecal resistome compared to calves (46), however reasons behind still remained unclear. Lincosamide resistant gene *lnuC*, which is a transposon-mediated, was first found in genus *Streptococcus* (86), and was shared extensively between different phyla (87). Recently, emerging evidence showing that *C. jejuni and C. coli* also harbor *lnuC* (88-91). Particularly, examining *Campylobacter* isolates in broiler farms and slaughter plants, Tang et al. reported that *lunC* gene was detected in 19/20 sequenced *C. jejuni* isolates (91). In the current study, LEfSe results revealed that *Streptococcaceae* and *Campylobacteraceae* were representative of the D30 microbiome (Figure 3.10). In this case, the increased composition of *Streptococcaceae* and *Campylopbacteraceae* at D30 may partially explain the enriched LNU family observed in the

older chickens. Interestingly, *Bacillus subtilis* was positively correlated to the LNU gene family (Figure 3.11). Previously, *B. subtilis* exhibited ability to naturally activate the competence state and uptake foreign DNA (92), and this may make it to become an ideal host of LNUs. The degree to which microbial compositions affect ARG composition is still unclear (93), especially in the case of highly mobile ARGs like *lnuC*. Therefore, further research is highly warranted to reveal the reason behind the increment of LNUs in later life.

Tetracycline resistance conferred by inactivation enzymes were executed through the enzymatic modification or destruction of the tetracycline molecule (94, 95). In the current study, the detected genes encoding tetracycline inactivation enzymes were *tetX* and its variants (i.e. *tet(X1), tet(X3), tet(X4), tet(X5), tet(X6)*), with *tetX* being dominant. Spearman correlation showed a wide range of bacteria species that were positively correlated to the tetracycline inactivation enzyme genes (Figure 3.11). Coincides with that, many of these microbes were also associated with the D30 cecal microbiome (i.e. *Rikenellaceae Barnesiellaceae, Odoribacteraceae, Campylobacteraceae, Tannerellaceae, Helicobacteraceae,* and *Streptococcaceae*). It supports the fact that chicken cecal microbiota successional change leads to alteration of the microbial resistome.

3.4 Conclusion:

This is the first study to report that the impact of disinfectants in broiler production on microbial functional capacities and the resistome. We showed that the barn chemical disinfection may alter the composition of the chicken gut microbiota and thereby lead to decreased microbial functional capacity on nutrient production. In addition, compared to WW, FD was associated

with lower abundance and diversity of ARGs between flocks, potentially by destroying both bacteria carrying ARGs.

3.5 References

- Fan Y, Forgie AJ, Ju T, Marcolla C, Inglis T, McMullen LM, Willing BP, Korver DR.
 2022. The use of disinfectant in barn cleaning alters microbial composition and increases carriage of *Campylobacter jejuni* in broiler chickens. Appl Environ Microbiol 88:e0029522.
- Han Z, Zhang Y, An W, Lu J, Hu J, Yang M. 2020. Antibiotic resistomes in drinking water sources across a large geographical scale: Multiple drivers and co-occurrence with opportunistic bacterial pathogens. Water Res 183:116088.
- Van Boeckel TP, Glennon EE, Chen D, Gilbert M, Robinson TP, Grenfell BT, Levin SA, Bonhoeffer S, Laxminarayan R. 2017. Reducing antimicrobial use in food animals. Science 357:1350-1352.
- Qian X, Gu J, Sun W, Wang X-J, Su J-Q, Stedfeld R. 2018. Diversity, abundance, and persistence of antibiotic resistance genes in various types of animal manure following industrial composting. J Hazard Mater 344:716-722.
- Zeng J, Li Y, Jin G, Su J-Q, Yao H. 2022. Short-term benzalkonium chloride (C₁₂) exposure induced the occurrence of wide-spectrum antibiotic resistance in agricultural soils. Environ Sci Technol doi:10.1021/acs.est.2c04730.

- Zhang Y, Gu AZ, He M, Li D, Chen J. 2017. Subinhibitory concentrations of disinfectants promote the horizontal transfer of multidrug resistance genes within and across genera. Environ Sci Technol 51:570-580.
- Kim M, Weigand MR, Oh S, Hatt JK, Krishnan R, Tezel U, Pavlostathis SG, Konstantinidis KT. 2018. Widely used benzalkonium chloride disinfectants can promote antibiotic resistance. Appl Environ Microbiol 84:e01201-18.
- Hall MC, Duerschner J, Gilley JE, Schmidt AM, Bartelt-Hunt SL, Snow DD, Eskridge KM, Li X. 2021. Antibiotic resistance genes in swine manure slurry as affected by pit additives and facility disinfectants. Sci Total Environ 761:143287.
- Canadian Council on Animal Care. 2009. Guide to the care and use of farm animals in research, teaching and testing., <u>www.ccac.ca</u>.
- Chen S, Zhou Y, Chen Y, Gu J. 2018. fastp: an ultra-fast all-in-one FASTQ preprocessor. Bioinformatics 34:i884-i890.
- Cunningham F, Allen JE, Allen J, Alvarez-Jarreta J, Amode MR, Armean IM, Austine-Orimoloye O, Azov AG, Barnes I, Bennett R, Berry A, Bhai J, Bignell A, Billis K, Boddu S, Brooks L, Charkhchi M, Cummins C, Da Rin Fioretto L, Davidson C, Dodiya K, Donaldson S, El Houdaigui B, El Naboulsi T, Fatima R, Giron CG, Genez T, Martinez JG, Guijarro-Clarke C, Gymer A, Hardy M, Hollis Z, Hourlier T, Hunt T, Juettemann T, Kaikala V, Kay M, Lavidas I, Le T, Lemos D, Marugan JC, Mohanan S, Mushtaq A, Naven M, Ogeh DN, Parker A, Parton A, Perry M, Pilizota I, Prosovetskaia I, et al. 2022. Ensembl 2022. Nucleic Acids Res 50:D988-D995.
- Wood DE, Lu J, Langmead B. 2019. Improved metagenomic analysis with Kraken 2.
 Genome biology 20:1-13.
- Hyatt D, Chen G-L, LoCascio PF, Land ML, Larimer FW, Hauser LJ. 2010. Prodigal: prokaryotic gene recognition and translation initiation site identification. BMC bioinformatics 11:1-11.
- Li D, Liu C-M, Luo R, Sadakane K, Lam T-W. 2015. MEGAHIT: an ultra-fast singlenode solution for large and complex metagenomics assembly via succinct de Bruijn graph. Bioinformatics 31:1674-1676.
- Caspi R, Billington R, Ferrer L, Foerster H, Fulcher CA, Keseler IM, Kothari A, Krummenacker M, Latendresse M, Mueller LA, Ong Q, Paley S, Subhraveti P, Weaver DS, Karp PD. 2016. The MetaCyc database of metabolic pathways and enzymes and the BioCyc collection of pathway/genome databases. Nucleic Acids Res 44:D471-80.
- 16. Beghini F, McIver LJ, Blanco-Míguez A, Dubois L, Asnicar F, Maharjan S, Mailyan A, Manghi P, Scholz M, Thomas AM, Valles-Colomer M, Weingart G, Zhang Y, Zolfo M, Huttenhower C, Franzosa EA, Segata N. 2021. Integrating taxonomic, functional, and strain-level profiling of diverse microbial communities with bioBakery 3. eLife 10.
- Alcock BP, Raphenya AR, Lau TT, Tsang KK, Bouchard M, Edalatmand A, Huynh W, Nguyen A-LV, Cheng AA, Liu S. 2020. CARD 2020: antibiotic resistome surveillance with the comprehensive antibiotic resistance database. Nucleic acids research 48:D517-D525.
- Anders S, Huber W. 2010. Differential expression analysis for sequence count data. Nature Precedings:1-1.
- Kollarcikova M, Kubasova T, Karasova D, Crhanova M, Cejkova D, Sisak F, Rychlik I.
 2019. Use of 16S rRNA gene sequencing for prediction of new opportunistic pathogens in chicken ileal and cecal microbiota. Poult Sci 98:2347-2353.

- 20. Ceelen L, Decostere A, Verschraegen G, Ducatelle R, Haesebrouck F. 2005. Prevalence of Helicobacter pullorum among patients with gastrointestinal disease and clinically healthy persons. Journal of clinical microbiology 43:2984-2986.
- 21. Mulatu G, Beyene G, Zeynudin A. 2014. Prevalence of Shigella, Salmonella and Cmpylobacter species and their susceptibility patters among under five children with diarrhea in Hawassa town, South Ethiopia. Ethiopian journal of health sciences 24:101.
- Wang L, Lilburn M, Yu Z. 2016. Intestinal Microbiota of Broiler Chickens As Affected by Litter Management Regimens. Front Microbiol 7.
- Lund M, Bjerrum L, Pedersen K. 2010. Quantification of Faecalibacterium prausnitziiand Subdoligranulum variabile-like bacteria in the cecum of chickens by real-time PCR. Poult Sci 89:1217-1224.
- 24. Louis P, Flint HJ. 2009. Diversity, metabolism and microbial ecology of butyrateproducing bacteria from the human large intestine. FEMS microbiology letters 294:1-8.
- Wang X, Feng J, Zhang M, Li X, Ma D, Chang S. 2018. Effects of high ambient temperature on the community structure and composition of ileal microbiome of broilers. Poult Sci 97:2153-2158.
- 26. Varriale L, Coretti L, Dipineto L, Green BD, Pace A, Lembo F, Menna LF, Fioretti A, Borrelli L. 2022. An outdoor access period improves chicken caecal microbiota and potentially increasing micronutrient biosynthesis. Frontiers in veterinary science:959.
- 27. Sakamoto M, Lan PTN, Benno Y. 2007. Barnesiella viscericola gen. nov., sp. nov., a novel member of the family Porphyromonadaceae isolated from chicken caecum.
 International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology 57:342-346.

- Weiss GA, Chassard C, Hennet T. 2014. Selective proliferation of intestinal Barnesiella under fucosyllactose supplementation in mice. British Journal of Nutrition 111:1602-1610.
- 29. Reichardt N, Duncan SH, Young P, Belenguer A, McWilliam Leitch C, Scott KP, Flint HJ, Louis P. 2014. Phylogenetic distribution of three pathways for propionate production within the human gut microbiota. The ISME journal 8:1323-1335.
- Wilson KH, Ikeda JS, Blitchington RB. 1997. Phylogenetic placement of community members of human colonic biota. Clinical infectious diseases:S114-S116.
- 31. Van den Abbeele P, Grootaert C, Marzorati M, Possemiers S, Verstraete W, Gérard P, Rabot S, Bruneau A, El Aidy S, Derrien M. 2010. Microbial community development in a dynamic gut model is reproducible, colon region specific, and selective for Bacteroidetes and Clostridium cluster IX. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:5237-5246.
- 32. MacMillan JL, Vicaretti SD, Noyovitz B, Xing X, Low KE, Inglis GD, Zaytsoff SJ, Boraston AB, Smith SP, Uwiera RR. 2019. Structural analysis of broiler chicken small intestinal mucin O-glycan modification by Clostridium perfringens. Poult Sci 98:5074-5088.
- 33. Ruseler-van Embden J, Van Lieshout L, Gosselink M, Marteau P. 1995. Inability of Lactobacillus casei strain GG, L. acidophilus, and Bifidobacterium bifidum to degrade intestinal mucus glycoproteins. Scandinavian journal of gastroenterology 30:675-680.
- 34. Anhê FF, Varin TV, Le Barz M, Desjardins Y, Levy E, Roy D, Marette A. 2015. Gut microbiota dysbiosis in obesity-linked metabolic diseases and prebiotic potential of polyphenol-rich extracts. Current obesity reports 4:389-400.

- 35. Chevrot R, Carlotti A, Sopena V, Marchand P, Rosenfeld E. 2008. Megamonas rupellensis sp. nov., an anaerobe isolated from the caecum of a duck. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 58:2921-2924.
- 36. Kubasova T, Kollarcikova M, Crhanova M, Karasova D, Cejkova D, Sebkova A, Matiasovicova J, Faldynova M, Sisak F, Babak V. 2019. Gut anaerobes capable of chicken caecum colonisation. Microorganisms 7:597.
- Clavijo V, Morales T, Vives-Flores MJ, Reyes Muñoz A. 2022. The gut microbiota of chickens in a commercial farm treated with a Salmonella phage cocktail. Scientific reports 12:1-16.
- 38. Roth C, Sims T, Rodehutscord M, Seifert J, Camarinha-Silva A. 2022. The active core microbiota of two high-yielding laying hen breeds fed with different levels of calcium and phosphorus. Frontiers in Physiology:2032.
- Hauryliuk V, Atkinson GC, Murakami KS, Tenson T, Gerdes K. 2015. Recent functional insights into the role of (p) ppGpp in bacterial physiology. Nature Reviews Microbiology 13:298-309.
- Schofield WB, Zimmermann-Kogadeeva M, Zimmermann M, Barry NA, Goodman AL.
 2018. The stringent response determines the ability of a commensal bacterium to survive starvation and to persist in the gut. Cell host & microbe 24:120-132. e6.
- Boaretti M, Del Mar Lleò M, Bonato B, Signoretto C, Canepari P. 2003. Involvement of rpoS in the survival of Escherichia coli in the viable but non-culturable state. Environmental Microbiology 5:986-996.

- 42. Gong L, Wang B, Zhou Y, Tang L, Zeng Z, Zhang H, Li W. 2021. Protective effects of Lactobacillus plantarum 16 and Paenibacillus polymyxa 10 against Clostridium perfringens infection in broilers. Frontiers in Immunology 11:628374.
- McNally DJ, Aubry AJ, Hui JP, Khieu NH, Whitfield D, Ewing CP, Guerry P, Brisson J-R, Logan SM, Soo EC. 2007. Targeted metabolomics analysis of Campylobacter coli VC167 reveals legionaminic acid derivatives as novel flagellar glycans. Journal of Biological Chemistry 282:14463-14475.
- 44. Thibault P, Logan SM, Kelly JF, Brisson J-R, Ewing CP, Guerry P. 2001. Identification of the carbohydrate moieties and glycosylation motifs in Campylobacter jejuni flagellin. Journal of Biological Chemistry 276:34862-34870.
- Schirm M, Soo E, Aubry A, Austin J, Thibault P, Logan S. 2003. Structural, genetic and functional characterization of the flagellin glycosylation process in Helicobacter pylori.
 Molecular microbiology 48:1579-1592.
- 46. Noyes NR, Yang X, Linke LM, Magnuson RJ, Cook SR, Zaheer R, Yang H, Woerner DR, Geornaras I, McArt JA. 2016. Characterization of the resistome in manure, soil and wastewater from dairy and beef production systems. Scientific reports 6:1-12.
- 47. Gupta CL, Blum SE, Kattusamy K, Daniel T, Druyan S, Shapira R, Krifucks O, Zhu YG, Zhou XY, Su JQ, Cytryn E. 2021. Longitudinal study on the effects of growth-promoting and therapeutic antibiotics on the dynamics of chicken cloacal and litter microbiomes and resistomes. Microbiome 9:178.
- 48. Munk P, Knudsen BE, Lukjancenko O, Duarte ASR, Van Gompel L, Luiken REC, Smit LAM, Schmitt H, Garcia AD, Hansen RB, Petersen TN, Bossers A, Ruppé E, Lund O, Hald T, Pamp SJ, Vigre H, Heederik D, Wagenaar JA, Mevius D, Aarestrup FM. 2018.

Abundance and diversity of the faecal resistome in slaughter pigs and broilers in nine European countries. Nature Microbiology 3:898-908.

- 49. Wang Y, Hu Y, Cao J, Bi Y, Lv N, Liu F, Liang S, Shi Y, Jiao X, Gao GF. 2019.
 Antibiotic resistance gene reservoir in live poultry markets. Journal of infection 78:445-453.
- 50. Chicken Farmers of Canada. 2018. AMU Strategy A prescription for change.
- 51. Xu J, Sangthong R, McNeil E, Tang R, Chongsuvivatwong V. 2020. Antibiotic use in chicken farms in northwestern China. Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control 9:1-9.
- Chopra I, Roberts M. 2001. Tetracycline antibiotics: mode of action, applications, molecular biology, and epidemiology of bacterial resistance. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 65:232-60.
- Connell SR, Tracz DM, Nierhaus KH, Taylor DE. 2003. Ribosomal protection proteins and their mechanism of tetracycline resistance. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 47:3675-3681.
- 54. Yang H, Byelashov OA, Geornaras I, Goodridge LD, Nightingale KK, Belk KE, Smith GC, Sofos JN. 2010. Presence of antibiotic-resistant commensal bacteria in samples from agricultural, city, and national park environments evaluated by standard culture and realtime PCR methods. Can J Microbiol 56:761-70.
- 55. Kim SY, Kuppusamy S, Kim JH, Yoon YE, Kim KR, Lee YB. 2016. Occurrence and diversity of tetracycline resistance genes in the agricultural soils of South Korea. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 23:22190-22196.

- 56. Li C, Jiang C, Wu Z, Cheng B, An X, Wang H, Sun Y, Huang M, Chen X, Wang J. 2018. Diversity of antibiotic resistance genes and encoding ribosomal protection proteins gene in livestock waste polluted environment. J Environ Sci Health B 53:423-433.
- 57. Nogrado K, Unno T, Hur H-G, Lee J-H. 2021. Tetracycline-resistant bacteria and ribosomal protection protein genes in soils from selected agricultural fields and livestock farms. Applied Biological Chemistry 64:1-9.
- 58. Luiken RE, Heederik DJ, Scherpenisse P, Van Gompel L, van Heijnsbergen E, Greve GD, Jongerius-Gortemaker BG, Tersteeg-Zijderveld MH, Fischer J, Juraschek K. 2022. Determinants for antimicrobial resistance genes in farm dust on 333 poultry and pig farms in nine European countries. Environmental Research 208:112715.
- 59. Juricova H, Matiasovicova J, Kubasova T, Cejkova D, Rychlik I. 2021. The distribution of antibiotic resistance genes in chicken gut microbiota commensals. Sci Rep 11:3290.
- Nandi S, Maurer JJ, Hofacre C, Summers AO. 2004. Gram-positive bacteria are a major reservoir of Class 1 antibiotic resistance integrons in poultry litter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:7118-22.
- Furtula V, Farrell EG, Diarrassouba F, Rempel H, Pritchard J, Diarra MS. 2010.
 Veterinary pharmaceuticals and antibiotic resistance of Escherichia coli isolates in poultry litter from commercial farms and controlled feeding trials. Poult Sci 89:180-8.
- Cheng W, Chen H, Su C, Yan S. 2013. Abundance and persistence of antibiotic resistance genes in livestock farms: a comprehensive investigation in eastern China. Environ Int 61:1-7.
- 63. Toh SM, Xiong L, Arias CA, Villegas MV, Lolans K, Quinn J, Mankin AS. 2007.Acquisition of a natural resistance gene renders a clinical strain of methicillin-resistant

Staphylococcus aureus resistant to the synthetic antibiotic linezolid. Molecular microbiology 64:1506-1514.

- Wang M, Liu P, Xiong W, Zhou Q, Wangxiao J, Zeng Z, Sun Y. 2018. Fate of potential indicator antimicrobial resistance genes (ARGs) and bacterial community diversity in simulated manure-soil microcosms. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 147:817-823.
- 65. You Y, Hilpert M, Ward MJ. 2012. Detection of a common and persistent tet(L)-carrying plasmid in chicken-waste-impacted farm soil. Appl Environ Microbiol 78:3203-13.
- 66. Li B, Chen D, Lin F, Wu C, Cao L, Chen H, Hu Y, Yin Y. 2022. Genomic Island-Mediated Horizontal Transfer of the Erythromycin Resistance Gene erm (X) among Bifidobacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 88:e00410-22.
- 67. Shoemaker N, Vlamakis H, Hayes K, Salyers A. 2001. Evidence for extensive resistance gene transfer among Bacteroides spp. and among Bacteroides and other genera in the human colon. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:561-568.
- Chen L, Huang J, Huang X, He Y, Sun J, Dai X, Wang X, Shafiq M, Wang L. 2021. Horizontal transfer of different erm (B)-carrying mobile elements among Streptococcus suis strains with different serotypes. Front Microbiol 12:628740.
- 69. Park AK, Kim H, Jin HJ. 2010. Phylogenetic analysis of rRNA methyltransferases, Erm and KsgA, as related to antibiotic resistance. FEMS microbiology letters 309:151-162.
- 70. Sjlund M, Wreiber K, Andersson DI, Blaser MJ, Engstrand L. 2003. Long-term persistence of resistant Enterococcus species after antibiotics to eradicate Helicobacter pylori. Annals of internal medicine 139:483-487.

- 71. Just NA, Létourneau V, Kirychuk SP, Singh B, Duchaine C. 2012. Potentially pathogenic bacteria and antimicrobial resistance in bioaerosols from cage-housed and floor-housed poultry operations. Annals of occupational hygiene 56:440-449.
- 72. Barna J, Williams D. 1984. The structure and mode of action of glycopeptide antibiotics of the vancomycin group. Annual review of microbiology 38:339-357.
- 73. Hong H-J, Hutchings MI, Buttner MJ. 2008. Vancomycin resistance VanS/VanR twocomponent systems. Bacterial Signal Transduction: Networks and Drug Targets:200-213.
- Wada Y, Irekeola AA, Shueb RH, Wada M, Afolabi HA, Yean CY, Harun A, Zaidah AR. 2022. Prevalence of Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococcus (VRE) in Poultry in Malaysia: The First Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review. Antibiotics 11:171.
- 75. Leinweber H, Alotaibi SM, Overballe-Petersen S, Hansen F, Hasman H, Bortolaia V, Hammerum AM, Ingmer H. 2018. Vancomycin resistance in Enterococcus faecium isolated from Danish chicken meat is located on a pVEF4-like plasmid persisting in poultry for 18 years. International journal of antimicrobial agents 52:283-286.
- 76. Birkegård AC, Græsbøll K, Clasen J, Halasa T, Toft N, Folkesson A. 2019. Continuing occurrence of vancomycin resistance determinants in Danish pig farms 20 years after removing exposure to avoparcin. Veterinary Microbiology 232:84-88.
- 77. Dahl KH, Mater DD, Flores MJ, Johnsen PJ, Midtvedt T, Corthier G, Sundsfjord A. 2007. Transfer of plasmid and chromosomal glycopeptide resistance determinants occurs more readily in the digestive tract of mice than in vitro and exconjugants can persist stably in vivo in the absence of glycopeptide selection. Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy 59:478-486.

- 78. Oakley BB, Kogut MH. 2016. Spatial and Temporal Changes in the Broiler Chicken Cecal and Fecal Microbiomes and Correlations of Bacterial Taxa with Cytokine Gene Expression. Front Vet Sci 3:11.
- 79. Lu J, Idris U, Harmon B, Hofacre C, Maurer JJ, Lee MD. 2003. Diversity and succession of the intestinal bacterial community of the maturing broiler chicken. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:6816-24.
- Awad WA, Mann E, Dzieciol M, Hess C, Schmitz-Esser S, Wagner M, Hess M. 2016.
 Age-Related Differences in the Luminal and Mucosa-Associated Gut Microbiome of Broiler Chickens and Shifts Associated with Campylobacter jejuni Infection. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 6:154.
- Lebeaux RM, Coker MO, Dade EF, Palys TJ, Morrison HG, Ross BD, Baker ER, Karagas MR, Madan JC, Hoen AG. 2021. The infant gut resistome is associated with E. coli and early-life exposures. BMC microbiology 21:1-18.
- Du D, Wang-Kan X, Neuberger A, Van Veen HW, Pos KM, Piddock LJ, Luisi BF. 2018. Multidrug efflux pumps: structure, function and regulation. Nature Reviews Microbiology 16:523-539.
- Blair JM, Piddock LJ. 2009. Structure, function and inhibition of RND efflux pumps in Gram-negative bacteria: an update. Current opinion in microbiology 12:512-519.
- 84. Weston N, Sharma P, Ricci V, Piddock LJ. 2018. Regulation of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump in Enterobacteriaceae. Research in microbiology 169:425-431.
- Slipski CJ, Zhanel GG, Bay DC. 2018. Biocide selective TolC-independent efflux pumps in Enterobacteriaceae. The Journal of Membrane Biology 251:15-33.

- 86. Achard A, Villers C, Pichereau V, Leclercq R. 2005. New lnu (C) gene conferring resistance to lincomycin by nucleotidylation in Streptococcus agalactiae UCN36.
 Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 49:2716-2719.
- 87. Kim Y, Leung MH, Kwok W, Fournié G, Li J, Lee PK, Pfeiffer DU. 2020. Antibiotic resistance gene sharing networks and the effect of dietary nutritional content on the canine and feline gut resistome. Animal microbiome 2:1-14.
- 88. Hull DM, Harrell E, van Vliet AH, Correa M, Thakur S. 2021. Antimicrobial resistance and interspecies gene transfer in Campylobacter coli and Campylobacter jejuni isolated from food animals, poultry processing, and retail meat in North Carolina, 2018–2019. PLoS One 16:e0246571.
- 89. Mourkas E, Florez-Cuadrado D, Pascoe B, Calland JK, Bayliss SC, Mageiros L, Méric G, Hitchings MD, Quesada A, Porrero C. 2019. Gene pool transmission of multidrug resistance among Campylobacter from livestock, sewage and human disease. Environmental microbiology 21:4597-4613.
- 90. Zhao S, Tyson GH, Chen Y, Li C, Mukherjee S, Young S, Lam C, Folster J, Whichard JM, McDermott PF. 2016. Whole-genome sequencing analysis accurately predicts antimicrobial resistance phenotypes in Campylobacter spp. Appl Environ Microbiol 82:459-466.
- 91. Tang Y, Jiang Q, Tang H, Wang Z, Yin Y, Ren F, Kong L, Jiao X, Huang J. 2020.
 Characterization and prevalence of Campylobacter spp. from broiler chicken rearing period to the slaughtering process in Eastern China. Frontiers in Veterinary Science 7:227.

- 92. Nijland R, Burgess JG, Errington J, Veening J-W. 2010. Transformation of Environmental Bacillus subtilis Isolates by Transiently Inducing Genetic Competence. PLoS ONE 5:e9724.
- 93. Forsberg KJ, Patel S, Gibson MK, Lauber CL, Knight R, Fierer N, Dantas G. 2014.Bacterial phylogeny structures soil resistomes across habitats. Nature 509:612-616.
- 94. Speer B, Bedzyk L, Salyers A. 1991. Evidence that a novel tetracycline resistance gene found on two Bacteroides transposons encodes an NADP-requiring oxidoreductase.
 Journal of bacteriology 173:176-183.
- 95. Forsberg KJ, Patel S, Wencewicz TA, Dantas G. 2015. The tetracycline destructases: a novel family of tetracycline-inactivating enzymes. Chemistry & biology 22:888-897.



Figure 0.1 Broiler chicken cecal microbial structure affected by the barn cleaning practices and sampling timepoints.

Figure a-c show factors impacting the cecal microbial beta-diversity. Sampling timepoint had a major impact on the microbial compositions, where the cleaning methods had a modest effect on the D30 microbiota. Figure d-f show factors affecting the cecal microbial alpha-diversity (Shannon index). At D30, the richness and evenness of the cecal microbial spices significantly increased compared to D7. FD, full disinfection; WW, water-wash; ***, P < 0.001.



Figure 0.2 Differential abundant bacterial species between barn cleaning practices at day 30 suggested by LEfSe analysis.

At day 30, *Ruminococcus torques, Barnesiella viscericola, Helicobacter pullorum*, *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* were more abundant in the ceca of the chickens from the waterwashed treatment group, whereas *Megamonas funiformis* was more abundant in the chicken cecal microbiota of full disinfection group.



Figure 0.3 The microbial functional pathways that were significantly impacted by the barn cleaning treatments at day 7 (a) and day 30 (b) revealed by DESeq2.

The graph shows differentially abundant genetic pathways at harbored by the chicken cecal microbial communities at day 7 and day 30 suggested by DESeq2 (FDR P < 0.05, log2 fold-change >1). a) At day 7, the FD-derived chicken gut microbiome had enriched stringent response pathway coupled with decreased abundance of pathways linked to amino acid synthesis, saccharide degradation, and bacterial cell wall synthesis. b) At day 30, the FD-derived chicken gut microbial functional capacity had decreased abundance of genetic pathways linked to multiple amino acid syntheses. D7, day7; D30, day 30; FD, full disinfection; WW, water-wash **, FDR P < 0.01; ***, FDR P < 0.001.



Figure 0.4 LEfSe results of metabolic pathways harbored by specific bacteria species and the association with treatments at day 30.

LEfSe result suggested that the increased abundant pathways in the WW group were mainly contributed by *Helicobacter pullorum*. FD, full disinfection; WW, water-wash.



Figure 0.5 The chicken cecal resistome was affected by the barn sanitation practices and sampling timepoints.

a) ARG read counts in relative to total read counts after quality control. Generally, at D7, higher percentage of ARG read counts were detected in the chicken cecal microbiota compared to D30.
b) Bray-Curtis distance matric showing resistome clusters of treatments and age. Bray-Curtis distance matric revealed that cleaning methods had modest effect on the microbial resistome. Sampling timepoint was the main factor impacting the resistome. c) The average distance to centroid based on beta-disperse showed that the variation between resistomes was greater among the D7 chickens in comparison to the D30 ones. ARG, andibiotic resistant genes; D7, day7; D30, day 30; FD, full disinfection; WW, water-wash.

D7 Differentially Abundant ARG Families (DESeq2)



Figure 0.6 Differentially abundant antibiotic resistant gene families between FD and WW at D7 suggested by DESeq2.

Graph shows differentially abundant antibiotic resistant gene families between barn sanitation practices at day 7 suggested by DESeq2 (FDR P < 0.05, Log2 fold change > 1). Some persistent ARG gene families (e.g. *erm* gene family) were enriched in the WW-derived chicken cecal microbiome at day 7. ARG, antibiotic resistant gene; *vanR*, vancomycin resistant gene R component; *rpoB*, gene encoding β -subunit of bacterial RNA polymerase; *erm*, 23S ribosomal RNA methyltransferase; ABC-F subfamily ABC RPPs, ABC-F ATP-binding cassette ribosomal protection protein genes; SAT, Streptogramin A acetyltransferase genes, FD, Full disinfection; WW, Water-wash, ***, P < 0.001; **, P < 0.01.





Figure 0.7 Differentially abundant antibiotic resistant gene between FD and WW at D30 suggested by DESeq2.

Graph shows differentially abundant antibiotic resistant genes between barn sanitation practices at day 30 suggested by DESeq2 (FDR P < 0.05, Log2 fold change > 1). Compared to the barn cleaning practices effects at day 7, the effects of the barn cleaning practices on the 30-day chicken gut microbial resistome was relatively smaller. Little treatment effect was observed on the gene family level, whereas on the gene level, *ermG* and *vanR* gene in the *vanI* cluster were enriched by the WW treatment. ARG, antibiotic resistant gene; *vanR*, vancomycin resistant gene; *erm*, 23S ribosomal RNA methyltransferase genes; FD, Full disinfection; WW, Water-wash, *, *P* < 0.05.





Differences on the major antibiotic resistant mechanisms harbored by the 7-day and 30-day chicken cecal microbial resistomes were observed. With the mechanism of antibiotic target alteration being dominant on both ages, genes conferring antibiotic efflux and antibiotic inactivation were representative of the day 7 and day 30 chicken cecal resistome, respectively.





Graph showing antibiotic gene families associated with different chicken sampling timepoints (FDR P < 0.05, LDA > 2). At day 7, genes encoding antibiotic efflux pumps were representative to the chicken cecal microbial resistome. At day 30, antibiotic resistant genes conferring antibiotic inactivation (e.g. the lincosamide nucleotidyltransferases and tetracycline inactivation enzymes) were more predominant. RND, resistance-nodulation-cell division; APH, aminoglycoside resistance gene; pmr, polymyxin resistance; msr, macrolide resistance; ABC, ATP binding cassette.



Figure 0.10 LEfSe results of differentially abundant bacterial taxa (on the family level) between the cecal microbiota of day 7 and day 30 chickens.

Result suggested 11 and 8 bacteria families associated with D7 and D30 chicken cecal microbiota, respectively. f_, family.



Figure 0.11 Spearman correlation between the relative abundance of bacterial taxa (species level) and ARG families.

Graph shows bacteria species that were correlated to antibiotic resistant gene families. Notably, among all bacteria species in the chicken gut microbiota, *Escherichia coli* was significantly positively correlated to the most families of antibiotic resistant genes. It indicates that *Escherichia coli* plays an important role in antibiotic gene proliferation and transmission. s__, species; *, FDR P < 0.05; **, FDR P < 0.01.

Chapter 4: WEEK-OLD CHICKS WITH HIGH *BACTEROIDES* ABUNDANCE HAVE INCREASED SHORT-CHAIN FATTY ACIDS AND REDUCED GUT INFLAMMATION[†]

4.1 Introduction

In the ceca of matured chickens, *Firmicutes* and *Bacteroidetes* are reported to be the most dominant phyla, where together these two phyla represent more than 90% of total cecal microbiota (1-3). It has been shown that *Bacteroides* have relatively low abundance in the ceca of newly hatched chicks (4), and become the predominant taxa at day 7 reaching the peak (40 - 45%) at 3 weeks of age (5). Great variation of *Bacteroides* abundance was reported in the ceca of young chickens ranging from 2 to 40% (6, 7). Members belonging to the genus *Bacteroides* are Gram-negative, rod-shape bacteria, which are highly adapted to the gut environment, especially the lower gastrointestinal tract. Encoding a high number of genes for polysaccharide and monosaccharide metabolism, *Bacteroides* are important complex carbohydrates degraders in the host gut (8). However, limited information is available regarding how differential abundance of this taxa affects gut immune state or functional capacity of the gut microbiota in broiler chickens.

In microbiome research, studying variations in microbial structure and composition can offer insight into complex host-microbe-metabolite interactions. Arumugam et al. (2011) first described 3 robust clusters in the human gut microbiota, indicating the importance of the population-level analysis of the gut microbiome variation (9). In chicken research, studies have also suggested the existence of distinct gut microbiomes among individuals (10, 11). Kaakoush

[†] This chapter has been accepted by Microbiology Spectrum as Yi Fan, Tingting Ju, Tulika Bhardwaj, Douglas R. Korver, Benjamin P. Willing. Microbiology Spectrum. 2022. Week-old chicks with high *Bacteroides* abundance have increased short-chain fatty acids and reduced markers of gut inflammation.

et al. (2014) reported that chicken fecal microbiomes could be seperated into four enterotypes, including elevated *Bacteroides*, and that microbial composition could be associated with pathogen carriage, however, the authors did not explore changes in metabolite profile or host responses (10). A more recent study identified high *Bacteroides* in the duodenum of mature chickens with less fat deposition and lower serum triglyceride levels (11).

The aim of the study was to understand how high and low *Bacteroides* abundance are associated with early life chicken gut microbial functional capacity and immune response. This was achieved by sampling and characterizing week-old broiler chickens from commercial production flocks with distinct cecal *Bacteroides* abundance.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Chicken management and sample collection

Following the Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines (12), the animal usage of this experiment was approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee administered by the University of Alberta (AUP00002377). A commercial broiler farm in Alberta, Canada provided facilities and all the chickens for this study. A total of 14 broiler flocks reared under the same feed and water, light exposure, and immunization condition in similarly engineered broiler production houses were sampled. Animal management and sample collection procedure was performed as descried previously (13). Briefly, for each flock, 14,000 Ross 308 broiler chicks were placed at 1 day of age and were fed *ad libitum* until the end of the production cycle. At day 7, five broiler chickens from each flock randomly selected from different areas in the barn were

euthanized by cervical dislocation for sampling. Approximately 300 mg of cecal contents and cecal tonsil tissue were collected, snap frozen, and stored at -80 °C for further analyses.

4.2.2 Bacteroides over-/under- representing sample identification

Sequence Read Archive under BioProject PRJNA876288.

Total DNA was extracted from cecal contents using the QIAamp Fast DNA Stool Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) with an additional bead-beading step with ~200 mg of garnet rock at 6.0 m/s for 60 s (FastPrep-24 5G instrument, MP Biomedicals). Amplicon libraries were constructed according to the manufacturing protocol from Illumina (16S Metagenomic Sequencing Library Preparation) targeting V3-V4 region of the 16S rRNA gene (primers: Forward: 5'-TCGTCGG CAGCGTCAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGCCTACGGGNGGCWGCAG-3'; Reverse: 5'-GTCTCGTGGGGCTCGGAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGGACTACHVGGGTATCTAATCC-3'). An Illumina MiSeq Platform (2 × 300 cycles; Illumina Inc. San Diego, CA) was used for a paired-end sequencing run. The 16S rRNA sequences in the current study were submitted to NCBI

The quality of the reads was assessed using FastQC. Quantitative Insight into Microbial Ecology (QIIME2)-2020.6 was used to process the sequenced reads (14). DADA2 was used to denoise and generate paired-end representative reads (15), and samples with reads less than 14,000 reads were removed. An amplicon sequence variant (ASV) feature table was subsequently created. To assign taxonomy, the q2-feature-classifier in QIIME2 was used with a pretrained classifier "SILVA 132 99%" (16). The command "qiime feature-table relative-frequency" on taxa collapse level 6 was used to calculate genus relative abundance in QIIME2. The mean value and standard deviation of *Bacteroides* relative abundance was calculated. Based on the data distribution, to

screen for distinct cecal *Bacteroides* samples, cecal content with *Bacteroides* relative abundance falling inside one standard deviation were considered as non-assigned (n/a) samples, whereas the ones falling outside of a standard deviation was considered as LB or HB samples.

The 'diversity core-metrics-phylogenetic' command was used for diversity analyses on the screened samples. The Chao1 and Shannon diversity indices were computed using "diversity alpha-phylogenetic" and the significance was determined using "diversity alpha-group-significance". The beta diversity was analyzed in QIIME2 using the Bray-Curtis distance metric, and a principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) was plotted in R utilizing phyloseq package. Pairwise Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance Using Distance Matrices (pairwise Adonis) based on the Bray-Curtis distance matrices was used to identify significant differences in community structures between treatments.

Microbial co-occurrence network was calculated using the NetCoMi package (version 1.0.2) in R with the Sparse Correlations for Compositional data (SparCC) as the sparsification method. The algorithm estimated pairwise association after 20 iterations, assuming an absence of a large number of co-occurring taxa with strong correlations. The taxa count data was resampled 100 times before being used to generate randomized correlation tables. For each pairwise correlation, the randomized correlation matrix was used to calculate bootstrapped *P* values. The resulting correlation matrix was utilized in network models to define links between taxa. If the absolute pairwise correlation between two taxa was greater than 0.25 and there was strong evidence for the association (P < 0.001), correlations between the two taxa were considered during network construction. Network features including degree, betweenness, closeness centrality and modularity computation enable identification of hubs (quantile set at 0.9). The community structure was constructed based on the fast greedy algorithm (17).

The extracted genomic DNA was also used to measure the abundance of *Bacteroides-Prevotella* group in the cecal content using quantitative PCR (qPCR) targeting the 16s rRNA gene (Table 1). PerfeCTa SYBR Green Supermix (Quantabio, Beverly, MA, USA) was used for qPCR assays which were conducted on an ABI StepOne real-time system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) following the setup of 95 °C for 3 min and 40 cycles of 95 °C for 10 s, 68 °C for 30 s. A 10-log-fold standard curve for quantification of the target gene was created using PCR amplicon which concentration was determined by a Quant-iTTM PicoGreenTM dsDNA Assay Kit (Invitrogen, Waltham, MA, USA). *Bacteroides-Prevotella* 16S rRNA gene copy numbers were determined using the relative standard curve method and normalized to the weight of cecal content used for DNA extraction.

4.2.3 Shotgun metagenomic sequencing and functional genomics analyses

Total genomic DNA extracted from the cecal contents as described above were used for Shotgun metagenomics sequencing. Library preparation and shotgun sequencing were performed at the Genome Quebec Innovation Centre (Montreal, Canada). Libraries were generated using NEBNext Ultra II DNA Library Prep Kit (New England Biolabs). Shotgun metagenomic sequencing was performed using the NovaSeq 6000 S4 PE150 system (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). The shotgun metagenomic sequences in the current study were submitted to NCBI Sequence Read Archive under BioProject PRJNA902117.

FastP v0.23.2. was used for quality control. Low quality reads, adaptors, polyG and duplicated sequences were removed (18). To remove host DNA contamination, a chicken host reference database was built using bowtie2 v2.4.1 with genome *Gallus_gallus* 105 release from Ensembl (19). Kneaddata v0.10.0 were used to remove host contaminants with the built reference database (https://github.com/biobakery/kneaddata). Gene abundance and pathway analyses were

conducted using HuMAnN3 with default settings (20). Gene and pathway abundance were annotated by the Metacyc database and normalized to copy numbers per million reads using the HuMAnN3 utility scripts. Differentiate gene and pathway abundance were identified using LDA effect size (LEfSe) implemented in the Galaxy online tool (LDA score > 2). Differentiate gene network was constructed using the NetCoMi v1.0.2 package in R (17). Briefly, filter parameters were set to the 50 most frequent genes. Gene network was clustered based on the fast greedy algorithm. Gene association was determined by the SPRING method with correlation coefficient set at 0.3 (21). The corresponding similarities were used as edge weights. Eigenvector centrality was used to define hubs and scale node sizes. Properties of the constructed network were calculated based on the highest degree, betweenness and closeness centrality at the same time with hub quantile set at 0.9. The Jaccard index was used to assess the differences of the most central nodes between groups. Similarity between networks were assessed based on the adjusted Rand index.

4.2.4 Reverse-transcription (RT) - qPCR assay

To examine host response to different *Bacteroides* relative abundance, cecal tonsils were subjected to RNA extraction followed by cDNA synthesis and qPCR assay. Primers targeting selected genes were used to assess host responses between chickens with high and low cecal *Bacteroides*. Specifically, the expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokine genes interleukin (*IL*)-1 β , *IL*-6, and the anti-inflammatory cytokine gene *IL*-10 in the cecal tonsil was measured to evaluate the immune status of the young chickens. To assess gut integrity, the expression of the tight junction protein genes claudin-1 (*CLDN1*) and zonula occludens 1 (*ZO1*) was measured. In addition, to investigate how the chicken ceca respond to the SCFA production of the high and low *Bacteroides* groups, the expression of the sodium coupled monocarboxylate transporter gene (*SMCT*), which facilitates transcellular transfer of fatty acids from the lumen into lamina propria,

was measured. Primers targeting the selected genes are as listed in Table 4.1. To extract RNA, approximately 30-50 mg of snap-frozen cecal tonsil tissue was cut and weighted. Tissue was ground by pre-chilled RNAse-free mortar and pestle in liquid nitrogen. RNA was extracted using the GeneJET RNA Purification Kit (Thermo Scientific) with modifications. Specifically, ground tissues were homogenized in 600 µl of lysis buffer followed by bead beating in nuclease-free tubes with three metal beads at 4 m/s for 20 s (MP Biomedicals, Solon, OH, USA). Prior to elution, DNase I (Qiagen) was used to treat samples for 15 min to remove DNA. RNA concentration was determined by a NanoDrop 2000c spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific) and were normalized to 1 µg of RNA for reverse transcription. QScript Flex cDNA Synthesis Kit (Quanta Biosciences) was used for RNA reverse-transcription following the random primer and oligo (dt) protocol. qPCR was performed using PercfeCTa SYBR Green Supermix (Quantabio) and conducted on an ABI StepOne real-time system following the cycles: 95 °C for 3 min and 40 cycles of 95 °C for 10 s, 60 °C for 30 s. Glyceraldhyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) was used as the housekeeping gene for calculating the fold change of gene expression relative to LB birds using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method.

4.2.5 Short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) analysis

Cecal contents used for 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing and shotgun metagenomic sequencing were also used for SCFA analysis. Approximately 30 mg per sample of snap-frozen cecal content was weighed, followed by homogenization with 25% phosphoric acid. Samples were centrifuged at 21,130 x g for 10 min and supernatant was collected and filtered using 0.45 μm filter. Isocaproic acid (23 μmol/ml) was added at a 1:4 ratio to samples as an internal standard. To measure SCFA concentrations in samples, a standard solution containing acetate, propionate, isobutyrate, butyrate, isovalerate, valerate, and caproic acid mixed with 25% phosphoric acid was

prepared. Samples were analyzed on a Scion 456-GC instrument. Final concentrations of SCFAs were normalized to sample weights.

4.2.6 Statistical analyses

If not otherwise stated, statistical analyses were conducted using GraphPad Prism 8 (Graphpad Software, CA, USA), and mean values were presented as mean \pm the standard deviation. Statistically significant differences were determined (P < 0.05) by an unpaired student's t-test for parametric data (i.e., gene expression and SCFA concentrations). The Kruskal–Wallis test was used to determine the significance of non-parametric data (i.e., microbiome alpha-diversity indices). The Spearman's correlation was used to correlate SCFA concentration and bacterial relative abundance as well as to determine correlations between cecal microbial taxa. Correlation significance was determined by psych package and visualized using corrplot package in R (version 3.6.1).

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Bacterial composition of early life chicken cecal microbiome

On average, $24,647.56 \pm 7632.78$ reads per sample were generated and processed by the QIIME2 pipeline, resulting in 1,798 ASVs. Filtered reads were taxonomically classified to represent 4 major phyla (Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria) and 106 genera. The 3 most abundant phyla made up over 98% of the population and included Firmicutes (76.16 ± 15.72 %), Bacteroidetes (17.54 ± 16.59 %), and Proteobacteria (5.07 ± 6.83 %)).

4.3.2 Bacteroides over-/under- representing sample identification

On the genus level, various levels of *Bacteroides* relative abundance were observed (16.3 \pm 15.6%; range, 0 - 52.2%). Low *Bacteroides* samples were defined as samples with *Bacteroides* relative abundance lower than 0.7% (mean - SD); whereas high *Bacteroides* samples were defined as samples with *Bacteroides* relative abundance higher than 31.9% (mean + SD). As a result, chickens from 11 different flocks were assigned to either the LB or HB group. Specifically, 18 birds with low *Bacteroides* levels from 6 flocks and 15 birds with high *Bacteroides* from 6 flocks were identified. Chickens that were not assigned to either group were marked as not assigned (n/a) (Table 4.2). Bodyweights were not collected at day 7 terminations; however, the average 32-day flock bodyweight (*P* = 0.91) and mortality rate (*P* = 0.93) were similar between flocks that had the majority of birds identified as LB, HB, or n/a (Table 4.2).

Beta diversity analyses revealed that LB, HB, and n/a groups were significantly separated based on Bray-Curtis distance metric (P < 0.05 for HB vs. LB, HB vs. n/a, and LB vs. n/a, as shown in Figure 1). Observed ASV index revealed that the richness of observed taxa between the HB, LB and n/a group was comparable. However, the Shannon index showed that the HB had decreased evenness due to the high relative abundance of *Bacteroides* in the cecal microbiota. qPCR assay using primers targeting the *Bacteroides-Prevotella* group showed that the LB group had a lower absolute abundance of *Bacteroides-Prevotella* group (5.96 and 9.04 log₁₀ copies/g cecal contents of *Bacteroides-Prevotella* 16S rRNA gene for LB and HB group, respectively, P <0.01).

The generated cecal microbiome network (Figure 2) included taxa that were involved either in coabundance (positive associations represented by green line) or coexclusion (negative associations represented by pink line) based on a threshold of P < 0.05 and an absolute pairwise correlation of > 0.30. Nodes were categorized as hubs or non-hubs based on the within-module degree and eigenvector centrality. Eigenvector considers both the importance of the node and the degree of connectivity of its neighbors. The hub nodes were further classified as network hubs (modularity > 0.63) and module hubs (modularity between 0.60 and 0.63) based on the degree of connectivity. Based on both eigenvector centrality and modularity, 5 centered genera (*Lactobacillus, [Clostridium]_methylpentosum_group, Acinetobacter, Phascolarctobacterium* and an uncultured member from the family *Erysipelatoclostridiaceae*) were identified as hubs. This rendered the potential of identified hubs in diverse species interactions. Possible competition interactions were identified in Figure 2, where *Bacteroides* relative abundance was negatively correlated with *Lactobacillus*, the *[Clostridium] methylpentosum* group, and an uncultured member of the *Erysipelatoclostridiaceae* family. In addition, genera *Alistipes* showed a positive correlation to *Bacteroides* indicating mutualism between these genera.

Spearman correlation between cecal microbial taxa also revealed positive association between *Bacteroides* and the genera *Faecalibacterium*, *Anaerofilum*, *Anaeroplasma*, *Alistipes*, and an undetermined genus from the order *Oscillospirales*; whereas negative correlations between *Bacteroides* and the genera *Lactobacillus*, *Escherichia-Shigella*, *Blautia*, *Subdoligranulum*, *Anaerostipes*, *Negativibacillus*, the [*Ruminococcus*]-torques-group, and an uncultured genus belonging to the family *Ruminococcaceaea* were also suggested (Figure S4).

4.3.3 HB individuals have higher SCFA concentrations in cecal contents

Gas chromatography was used to measure SCFA concentrations in broiler cecal contents. The HB group had increased concentrations of total SCFAs (P < 0.01), acetate (P < 0.01), propionate (P < 0.05), butyrate (P < 0.05), and valerate (P < 0.05) compared with the LB group (Figure 4.3). Spearman correlation between SCFA concentrations and bacterial relative abundance suggested a series of microbes that were correlated with the altered SCFA profile between HB and LB (Figure 4.4). Notably, an uncultured member belonging to the family *Lachnospiraceae* and *Faecalibacterium* were found positively associated with most of the detected SCFAs. In addition, acetate concentration was positively correlated with *Clostridia* vadinBB60 group and negatively correlated with *Tyzzerella*. Butyrate was positively correlated with *Bacteroides* and negatively correlated with *Blautia*. *Anaeroplasma*, a member from the order Oscillospirales, and an undetermined genus from the family *Ruminococcaeae* were associated with propionate concentration with propionate levels. Branched-chain fatty acid, isobutyrate and isovalerate, were associated with *Merdibacter* and an undetermined member of *Ruminococcaeae*.

4.3.4 Shotgun metagenomics sequencing suggested differentiated functional capacities between the HB and LB group

To investigate functional capacities of the HB and LB gut microbiome, we performed shotgun metagenomics sequencing. Briefly, a total of 1,860 genes were annotated based on the Metacyc database (22). Gene networks were constructed based on the annotated genes from shotgun metagenomics sequencing. Genes that represented characteristics of the HB group and the LB group were predicted based on eigenvector centrality (Figure 4.5). The properties of the networks can be found in Table 4.3 (a-c) and Table S2. The Jaccard index was significantly close to 0 for betweenness centrality, closeness centrality, and eigenvector centrality (Table 3c), suggesting that the sets of most central were considerably different between the HB and LB group (Jaccard index ranging from 0-1, where 0 being two completely different sets and 1 being exactly equal sets). Different hub nodes were identified between HB and LB group based on

eigenvector centrality (Figure 4.5) that indicated nodes not only important by itself but also sharing high connectivity with important neighbors. Specifically, in the HB network the acetylxylan esterase (EC3.1.1.72), the type I arylsulfatase (EC3.1.6.1), the non-reducing end beta-L-arabinofuranosidase (EC3.2.1.185), and the licheninase (EC3.2.1.73) were identified as hubs, whereas only the histidine kinase (EC2.7.13.3) was identified as a hub in the LB group.

4.3.5 Shotgun metagenomic sequencing suggested enriched pathways related to complex carbohydrate degradation and SCFA production in the HB group

Shotgun metagenomics sequencing and functional genomics analyses identified 12 pathways that were different between the HB group and the LB group (LefSe LDA score > 2, Figure 4.6). The gut microbiota of the HB group harbored more abundant pathways including the Stickland reaction pathways (PWY-8190), the superpathway of UDP-N-acetylglucosaminederived O-antigen building blocks biosynthesis (PWY-7332), the dTDP- β -L-rhamnose biosynthesis (DTDPRHAMSYN-PWY), the 1,5-anhydrofructose degradation pathway (PWY-6992), the β -(1,4)-mannan degradation pathway (PWY-7456), and the γ -aminobutyric acid degradation pathway (PWY-5022). The LB microbiota were more abundant in the L-carnitine respiration pathway (CARNMET-PWY), the superpathway of glycerol degradation to 1,3-propanediol (GOLPDLCAT-PWY), the heterolactic fermentation pathway (PUY-7873), and the superpathway of pyrimidine ribonucleosides degradation pathway (PWY-7873), which exerts reductive pyrimidine degradation in bacteria.

4.3.6 HB and LB cecal tonsil exhibited different expression levels of genes involved in immune tolerance and gut integrity

To investigate how different levels of *Bacteroides* population affected host responses, cecal tonsil RNA was extracted from the HB and LB group and subjected to RT-qPCR assay to examine immune-related genes including *IL-1β*, *IL-6* and *IL-10*, as well as tight junction protein gene *CLDN1* and *ZO1*, and the fatty acid transporter *SMCT*. The cecal tonsils of the HB group showed a decreased *IL-1β* with an increased *IL-10* compared with the LB group (Figure 4.7). In addition, *CLDN1*, which has previously been associated with improved barrier function (23), was also higher in the cecal tonsil tissues of the HB group (P < 0.05; Figure 4.7). *SMCT* expression was not different between groups (P = 0.103; Figure 4.7).

4.4 Discussion

While several studies have shown significant variations in *Bacteroides* populations in the chicken gut microbiome in early life (6, 7), this is the first study to investigate how distinct *Bacteroides* compositions associate with cecal SCFA profiles, host responses, as well as microbial functional capacity. Bodyweight of day-7 chickens were not collected, limiting a connection to growth performance, however, 32-day bodyweight and flock mortality rate were similar between flocks where the majority of birds were identified as LB, n/a, or HB. With regards to the cecal microbial composition of chickens close to the end of production, the variability of *Bacteroides* was much less pronounced (data not shown), therefore the LB/HB phenotype was only explored in day-7 chickens. Moreover, in the current study, only 5 young broilers per flock were sampled. Previously, microbiome studies showed that individuals housed
together, particularly coprophagic animals like mice and chicken, exhibited high similarity in the intestinal microbiota (24, 25). Therefore, to better explore the variability of the cecal microbiome among commercial broiler chickens, instead of sampling more broilers from each flock, we chose to increase the number of flocks sampled.

What caused the distinct *Bacteroides* levels was not investigated in the current study. Previous studies showed that cecal *Bacteroides* abundance in young broiler chickens could be increased by exposure to cecal contents from 40-week-old healthy chickens via oral gavage (26), the use of recycled litter (27) or hen contact at hatch (4). The absence of contact with the parent flock in modern broiler production likely limits the transmission of mature chicken-derived commensals (2, 28). In this sense, the alternate initial exposures (e.g. parent flock, hatching environments, or handling crew) may play an important role in shaping the early-life broiler microbiota. It has been reported that the relative abundance of *Bacteroides* was positively correlated with chicken cecal SCFA profiles (29). In accordance with previous findings, our results showed that the over-representation of Bacteroides in ceca was associated with increased concentrations of SCFAs, particularly acetate, propionate, butyrate, and valerate. In the chicken intestine, SCFAs are products of the gut microbiota fermentation from partially- or nondigestible polysaccharides mainly derived from plant biomass. Functional gene network analyses showed that the microbial functional capacity of the HB group was centered by a series of complex carbohydrate degradation enzymes. Specifically, acetylxylan esterase (EC3.1.1.72) contributes to xylan utilization (30) and β -L-arabinofuranosidase (EC3.2.1.185) helps digest glycoproteins that are widely found in plant cell wall fractions (31). The licheninase (EC3.2.1.73) can degrade β -glucans which have been used as chicken feed additives (32), and were found to modulate the host gut microbiota and thus decrease intestinal inflammation (33,

34). In the current study, Spearman correlation analyses showed that the abundance of the microbe-encoded acetylxylan esterase, β -L-arabinofuranosidase and licheninase were significantly associated with cecal total SCFA, acetate, propionate, butyrate, and valerate concentrations (Figure S5). Therefore, harboring microbial functional capacity centred by these key enzymes, the microbiota of the HB group showed potential for increased utilization of plant-derived biomass to promote SCFA production and thereby improve gut health.

Van der Hee and Wells (2021) recently reviewed the complex interactions between SCFAs, gut microbes, and the host immune system (35). Briefly, enterocytes can absorb SCFAs via passive diffusion or protein-mediated transport, and elevated levels of lumen SCFAs enhance associated transporter and receptor expression (35). Nastasi et al. (2015) reported that butyrate can confer anti-inflammatory properties in colonic dendritic cells via G-protein coupled receptors pathway, which inhibits the expression of cytokine and chemokine genes (36). In the current study, the elevated butyrate in HB birds coincided with lower $IL-I\beta$ and higher IL-10expression in the cecal tonsil. In addition, tight junction protein levels are important indicators of gut integrity as they contribute to epithelial cell adhesions and act as a barrier. Generally, decreased expression of tight junction proteins may lead to diffusion of antigens or bacterial macromolecular (e.g. endotoxin) from the intestinal lumen into circulation (37). Decreased level of tight junction protein claudin 1 was reported in chronically stressed and repeatedly corticosterone-injected rats (38). In addition, gut inflammation caused by Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium challenge was also found to decrease the expression of chicken intestinal claudin 1 (23). Therefore, in the current study, the decreased expression of *CLDN1* mRNA level found in the LB group may indicate decreased gut integrity and may have contributed to the increased expression of IL-1 β .

Microbial co-occurrence networks provided an opportunity to explore the impact of elevated Bacteroides on cecal microbial communities and types of interactions with other connected microorganisms. The analysis included both positive and negative links, considering the possibility that both types of associations could influence network stability. To circumvent the limitations of sparsity and high dimensionality of microbial data, the correlation principle was utilized to understand the pairwise associations among microbes and interactions. Further, network features were computed to identify biologically significant patterns and community keystone taxa. In the current study, the SparCC correlation method evaluated the variance of the log-ratio for modified data to infer pairwise relations. *Lactobacillus* was negatively associated with *Bacteroides* in the cecal microbial community. Similarly, previous human studies have demonstrated that Lactobacillus can competitively exclude commensals including Bacteroides (39). Competition is often observed between taxa sharing similar nutrient sources (e.g. nitrogen and carbon source). It might partially explain the negative correlations between Bacteroides and Lactobacillus in the current study since members from these two genera are efficient and important complex carbohydrate degraders. Particularly, our results of functional genetic analyses indicated that the 1,5-anhydrofructose degradation pathway (PWY-6992) and the β -(1,4)-mannan degradation pathway (PWY-7456) were more abundant in the HB cecal microbiota. The 1,5-anhydrofructose degradation pathway catalyzes the degradation of glycogen (40), whereas the β -(1,4)-mannan degradation pathway is involved in the hydrolysis of mannans, a major group of hemicellulose (41). The enriched pathway PWY-7456 in the HB cecal microbiota indicated that the microbial members harbored greater genetic potential in utilizing complex carbohydrates derived from plant cell wall which were contained in chicken feed. In the LB group, the heterolactic fermentation pathway (P122-PWY) was more abundant in the gut

microbiome. Possessed mainly by lactic acid bacteria, the heterolactic fermentation pathway ferments starch to lactates. The difference in the predominant carbohydrate utilization pathways between LB and HB groups further identified nutrient competition between Bacteroides and Lactobacillus, particularly regarding complex carbohydrate fermentation. Currently, a good number of studies have considered *Lactobacillus* as probiotics in poultry and reported potential beneficial effects. However, many of these studies also found that the abundance of *Lactobacillus* in the chicken ceca was not affected by *Lactobacillus* supplementation suggesting that the potential beneficial effects conferred by Lactobacillus may not be a consequence of cecal colonization (42, 43). In fact, Chen et al. (2016) studied the effect of the supplementation of Lactobacillus spp. and/or yeast with bacteriocin on broiler performance and reported that supplementation with Lactobacillus culture alone (without bacteriocin) was the only treatment group that increased cecal *Lactobacillus* colonization (44). Consistent with our study, the increase in Lactobacillus coincided with decreased SCFA production with no improvement on performance compared to the control (44). Thus, although supplementing *Lactobacillus* had been shown to exert beneficial effects on poultry, the effects of Lactobacillus colonization in the chicken ceca needs to be carefully assessed in the future.

In addition, results from the current study indicated that *Alistipes* may share a mutualistic relationship with *Bacteroides*. To date, little is known about the genus *Alistipes*, which is a subbranch genus of the phylum Bacteroidetes (45). *Alistipes* are bile-resistant microorganisms with an ability to produce acetic acid by digesting gelatin and fermenting carbohydrates (46). Correlations between health outcomes and *Alistipes* indicated that *Alistipes* may exert protective effects against diseases such as liver fibrosis and colitis (47, 48). However, the causal effect of the microbial taxa in diseases and its prevalence remains unclear. Studies have shown that

168

Alistipes are more abundant in host gut with an anti-inflammatory background (49, 50). In the current study, the lower *IL-1* β expression in the ceca of HB broilers may have favored Alistipes growth.

The higher Bacteroides abundance in ceca may reflect a further progression of microbial succession, with the transition from facultative anaerobes, such as *Lactobacilli*, to strict anaerobes, such as *Bacteroides*, *Ruminococcaceae* and *Lachnospiraceae*. An anaerobic gut environment and undigested carbohydrates entering ceca are essential for the production of SCFAs (51), in turn, increased SCFAs help make the gut more anaerobic (52). In congruence, our results showed that obligate anaerobes from the families Ruminococcaceae and Lachnospiraceae were positively correlated with SCFA production. On the other hand, more inflammation could provide reactive oxygen species that could delay colonization of strict anaerobes (53). Although previously both in vitro (54) and in vivo (55) studies have shown the immunomodulatory effects of *Bacteroides* strains, the direction of causality between high Bacteroides/SCFA levels and inflammation has yet to be determined. Therefore, future studies assessing how the host intestine respond to increased SCFA (e.g. via histone deacetylation) is warranted. Further, while this study points to a beneficial impact of high Bacteroides colonization, future research with the introduction of Bacteroides strains to chickens in microbially controlled conditions will be needed to demonstrate causal contributions of *Bacteroides* in improving health outcomes and to support their development as potential probiotics.

To conclude, the current study identified distinct *Bacteroides* populations in the ceca of commercial broiler chickens in early life. Our results revealed that elevated level of cecal

Bacteroides in young chickens had led to altered microbial functional capacity of the gut microbiome, which promoted the production of SCFA. Coincided with that, compared to the LB group, chickens from the HB group had lower expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines coupled with and higher expression anti-inflammatory cytokine and tight-junction protein gene. Consequently, it indicated that elevated cecal *Bacteroides* may be beneficial to commercial broiler chickens in suppressing gut inflammation through the increment of short-chain fatty acid production.

4.5 Conclusion

The current study for the first time illustrated the effects of *Bacteroides* under-/overrepresented gut microbiota to the broiler chickens in early life, particularly in the aspects of microbial compositions, the microbial functionality, and host immune responses. Our results indicated that the genus *Bacteroides* are important in maintaining chicken gut homeostasis in early life by promoting SCFA production. While this study points to a beneficial impact of high *Bacteroides* colonization, future research with the introduction of *Bacteroides* strains to chickens in microbially controlled conditions will be needed to demonstrate causal contributions of *Bacteroides* in improving health outcomes and to support their development as potential probiotics.

4.6 References

- 1. Rychlik I. 2020. Composition and function of chicken gut microbiota. Animals 10:103.
- Oakley BB, Lillehoj HS, Kogut MH, Kim WK, Maurer JJ, Pedroso A, Lee MD, Collett SR, Johnson TJ, Cox NA. 2014. The chicken gastrointestinal microbiome. FEMS Microbiol Lett 360:100-12.
- Tillman GE, Haas GJ, Wise MG, Oakley B, Smith MA, Siragusa GR. 2011. Chicken intestine microbiota following the administration of lupulone, a hop-based antimicrobial. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 77:395-403.
- Kubasova T, Kollarcikova M, Crhanova M, Karasova D, Cejkova D, Sebkova A, Matiasovicova J, Faldynova M, Pokorna A, Cizek A, Rychlik I. 2019. Contact with adult hen affects development of caecal microbiota in newly hatched chicks. PLoS one 14:e0212446.
- 5. Thomas M, Wongkuna S, Ghimire S, Kumar R, Antony L, Doerner KC, Singery A, Nelson E, Woyengo T, Chankhamhaengdecha S, Janvilisri T, Scaria J. 2019. Gut microbial dynamics during conventionalization of germfree chicken. mSphere 4.
- Wei S, Morrison M, Yu Z. 2013. Bacterial census of poultry intestinal microbiome. Poult Sci 92:671-83.
- Oakley BB, Kogut MH. 2016. Spatial and temporal changes in the broiler chicken cecal and fecal microbiomes and correlations of bacterial taxa with cytokine gene expression. Front Vet Sci 3:11.
- Medvecky M, Cejkova D, Polansky O, Karasova D, Kubasova T, Cizek A, Rychlik I.
 2018. Whole genome sequencing and function prediction of 133 gut anaerobes isolated from chicken caecum in pure cultures. BMC Genomics 19.

- 9. Arumugam M, Raes J, Pelletier E, Le Paslier D, Yamada T, Mende DR, Fernandes GR, Tap J, Bruls T, Batto J-M, Bertalan M, Borruel N, Casellas F, Fernandez L, Gautier L, Hansen T, Hattori M, Hayashi T, Kleerebezem M, Kurokawa K, Leclerc M, Levenez F, Manichanh C, Nielsen HB, Nielsen T, Pons N, Poulain J, Qin J, Sicheritz-Ponten T, Tims S, Torrents D, Ugarte E, Zoetendal EG, Wang J, Guarner F, Pedersen O, De Vos WM, Brunak S, Doré J, Weissenbach J, Ehrlich SD, Bork P. 2011. Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome. Nature 473:174-180.
- Kaakoush NO, Sodhi N, Chenu JW, Cox JM, Riordan SM, Mitchell HM. 2014. The interplay between *Campylobacter* and *Helicobacter* species and other gastrointestinal microbiota of commercial broiler chickens. Gut Pathog 6.
- 11. Yuan Z, Yan W, Wen C, Zheng J, Yang N, Sun C. 2020. Enterotype identification and its influence on regulating the duodenum metabolism in chickens. Poult Sci 99:1515-1527.
- 12. Canadian Council on Animal Care. 2009. Guide to the care and use of farm animals in research, teaching and testing.,www.ccac.ca.
- Fan Y, Forgie AJ, Ju T, Marcolla C, Inglis T, McMullen LM, Willing BP, Korver DR.
 2022. The use of disinfectant in barn cleaning alters microbial composition and increases carriage of campylobacter jejuni in broiler chickens. Appl Environ Microbiol 88:e0029522.
- Bolyen E, Rideout JR, Dillon MR, Bokulich NA, Abnet CC, Al-Ghalith GA, Alexander H, Alm EJ, Arumugam M, Asnicar F, Bai Y, Bisanz JE, Bittinger K, Brejnrod A, Brislawn CJ, Brown CT, Callahan BJ, Caraballo-Rodríguez AM, Chase J, Cope EK, Da Silva R, Diener C, Dorrestein PC, Douglas GM, Durall DM, Duvallet C, Edwardson CF, Ernst M, Estaki M, Fouquier J, Gauglitz JM, Gibbons SM, Gibson DL, Gonzalez A,

Gorlick K, Guo J, Hillmann B, Holmes S, Holste H, Huttenhower C, Huttley GA, Janssen S, Jarmusch AK, Jiang L, Kaehler BD, Kang KB, Keefe CR, Keim P, Kelley ST, Knights D, Koester I, Kosciolek T, Kreps J, Langille MGI, Lee J, Ley R, Liu YX, Loftfield E, Lozupone C, Maher M, Marotz C, Martin BD, McDonald D, McIver LJ, Melnik AV, Metcalf JL, Morgan SC, Morton JT, Naimey AT, Navas-Molina JA, Nothias LF, Orchanian SB, Pearson T, Peoples SL, Petras D, Preuss ML, Pruesse E, Rasmussen LB, Rivers A, Robeson MS, Rosenthal P, Segata N, Shaffer M, Shiffer A, Sinha R, Song SJ, Spear JR, Swafford AD, Thompson LR, Torres PJ, Trinh P, Tripathi A, Turnbaugh PJ, Ul-Hasan S, Van Der Hooft JJJ, Vargas F, Vázquez-Baeza Y, Vogtmann E, Von Hippel M, Walters W, Wan Y, Wang M, Warren J, Weber KC, Williamson CHD, Willis AD, Xu ZZ, Zaneveld JR, Zhang Y, Zhu Q, Knight R, Caporaso JG. 2019. Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. Nat Biotechnol 37:852-857.

- Callahan BJ, McMurdie PJ, Rosen MJ, Han AW, Johnson AJA, Holmes SP. 2016.
 DADA2: High-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. Nat Methods 13:581-583.
- Quast C, Pruesse E, Yilmaz P, Gerken J, Schweer T, Yarza P, Peplies J, Glöckner FO.
 2012. The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: improved data processing and web-based tools. Nucleic Acids Research 41:D590-D596.
- Peschel S, Müller CL, Von Mutius E, Boulesteix A-L, Depner M. 2021. NetCoMi: network construction and comparison for microbiome data in R. Briefings in Bioinformatics 22.

- Chen S, Zhou Y, Chen Y, Gu J. 2018. fastp: an ultra-fast all-in-one FASTQ preprocessor. Bioinformatics 34:i884-i890.
- Cunningham F, Allen JE, Allen J, Alvarez-Jarreta J, Amode MR, Armean IM, Austine-Orimoloye O, Azov AG, Barnes I, Bennett R, Berry A, Bhai J, Bignell A, Billis K, Boddu S, Brooks L, Charkhchi M, Cummins C, Da Rin Fioretto L, Davidson C, Dodiya K, Donaldson S, El Houdaigui B, El Naboulsi T, Fatima R, Giron CG, Genez T, Martinez JG, Guijarro-Clarke C, Gymer A, Hardy M, Hollis Z, Hourlier T, Hunt T, Juettemann T, Kaikala V, Kay M, Lavidas I, Le T, Lemos D, Marugan JC, Mohanan S, Mushtaq A, Naven M, Ogeh DN, Parker A, Parton A, Perry M, Pilizota I, Prosovetskaia I, Sakthivel MP, Salam A, Schmitt BM, Schuilenburg H, Sheppard D, Pérez-Silva JG, Stark W, Steed E, Sutinen K, Sukumaran R, Sumathipala D, Suner M, Szpak M, Thormann A, Tricomi FF, Urbina-Gómez D, Veidenberg A, Walsh TA, Walts B, Willhoft N, Winterbottom A, Wass E, Chakiachvili M, Flint B, Frankish A, Giorgetti S, Haggerty L, Hunt SE, IIsley GR, Loveland JE, Martin FJ, Moore B, Mudge JM, Muffato M, Perry E, Ruffier M, Tate J, Thybert D, Trevanion SJ, Dyer S, Harrison PW, Howe KL, Yates AD, Zerbino DR, Flicek P. 2022. Ensembl 2022. Nucleic Acids Res 50:D988-D995.
- 20. Beghini F, McIver LJ, Blanco-Míguez A, Dubois L, Asnicar F, Maharjan S, Mailyan A, Manghi P, Scholz M, Thomas AM, Valles-Colomer M, Weingart G, Zhang Y, Zolfo M, Huttenhower C, Franzosa EA, Segata N. 2021. Integrating taxonomic, functional, and strain-level profiling of diverse microbial communities with bioBakery 3. eLife 10.
- 21. Yoon G, Gaynanova I, Müller CL. 2019. Microbial networks in SPRING Semiparametric rank-based correlation and partial correlation estimation for quantitative microbiome data. Front Genet 10.

- 22. Caspi R, Billington R, Ferrer L, Foerster H, Fulcher CA, Keseler IM, Kothari A, Krummenacker M, Latendresse M, Mueller LA, Ong Q, Paley S, Subhraveti P, Weaver DS, Karp PD. 2016. The MetaCyc database of metabolic pathways and enzymes and the BioCyc collection of pathway/genome databases. Nucleic Acids Res 44:D471-80.
- Shao Y, Guo Y, Wang Z. 2013. beta-1,3/1,6-Glucan alleviated intestinal mucosal barrier impairment of broiler chickens challenged with *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. Poult Sci 92:1764-73.
- McCafferty J, Mühlbauer M, Gharaibeh RZ, Arthur JC, Perez-Chanona E, Sha W, Jobin C, Fodor AA. 2013. Stochastic changes over time and not founder effects drive cage effects in microbial community assembly in a mouse model. The ISME Journal 7:2116-2125.
- 25. Laukens D, Brinkman BM, Raes J, De Vos M, Vandenabeele P. 2016. Heterogeneity of the gut microbiome in mice: guidelines for optimizing experimental design. FEMS Microbiol Rev 40:117-132.
- 26. Glendinning L, Chintoan-Uta C, Stevens MP, Watson M. 2022. Effect of cecal microbiota transplantation between different broiler breeds on the chick flora in the first week of life. Poult Sci 101:101624.
- Wang L, Lilburn M, Yu Z. 2016. Intestinal microbiota of broiler chickens as affected by litter management regimens. Front Microbiol 7.
- 28. Maki JJ, Bobeck EA, Sylte MJ, Looft T. 2020. Eggshell and environmental bacteria contribute to the intestinal microbiota of growing chickens. J Anim Sci Biotechnol 11.

- 29. Liao X, Shao Y, Sun G, Yang Y, Zhang L, Guo Y, Luo X, Lu L. 2020. The relationship among gut microbiota, short-chain fatty acids, and intestinal morphology of growing and healthy broilers. Poult Sci 99:5883-5895.
- 30. Sista Kameshwar AK, Qin W. 2018. Understanding the structural and functional properties of carbohydrate esterases with a special focus on hemicellulose deacetylating acetyl xylan esterases. Mycology 9:273-295.
- Fujita K, Takashi Y, Obuchi E, Kitahara K, Suganuma T. 2014. Characterization of a Novel β-l-Arabinofuranosidase in *Bifidobacterium longum*. J Biol Chem 289:5240-5249.
- Schwartz B, Vetvicka V. 2021. Review: β-glucans as effective antibiotic alternatives in poultry. Molecules 26:3560.
- 33. Karumuthil-Melethil S, Gudi R, Johnson BM, Perez N, Vasu C. 2014. Fungal β-glucan, a Dectin-1 ligand, promotes protection from type 1 diabetes by inducing regulatory innate immune response. J Immunol 193:3308-3321.
- 34. Goldenkova-Pavlova IV, Tyurin AA, Mustafaev ON. 2018. The features that distinguish lichenases from other polysaccharide-hydrolyzing enzymes and the relevance of lichenases for biotechnological applications. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 102:3951-3965.
- van der Hee B, Wells JM. 2021. Microbial regulation of host physiology by short-chain fatty acids. Trends Microbiol doi:10.1016/j.tim.2021.02.001.
- 36. Nastasi C, Candela M, Bonefeld CM, Geisler C, Hansen M, Krejsgaard T, Biagi E, Andersen MH, Brigidi P, Ødum N, Litman T, Woetmann A. 2015. The effect of shortchain fatty acids on human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Sci Rep 5:16148.
- 37. Tsukita S, Yamazaki Y, Katsuno T, Tamura A, Tsukita S. 2008. Tight junction-based epithelial microenvironment and cell proliferation. Oncogene 27:6930-6938.

- Zheng G, Wu SP, Hu Y, Smith DE, Wiley JW, Hong S. 2013. Corticosterone mediates stress-related increased intestinal permeability in a region-specific manner. Neurogastroenterol Motil 25:e127-39.
- 39. Argentini C, Fontana F, Alessandri G, Lugli GA, Mancabelli L, Ossiprandi MC, van Sinderen D, Ventura M, Milani C, Turroni F. 2022. Evaluation of modulatory activities of *Lactobacillus crispatus* strains in the context of the vaginal microbiota. Microbiol Spectr 10:e0273321.
- 40. Yu S. 2005. Enzymatic description of the anhydrofructose pathway of glycogen
 degradation. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) General Subjects 1723:63-73.
- Gilbert HJ, Knox JP, Boraston AB. 2013. Advances in understanding the molecular basis of plant cell wall polysaccharide recognition by carbohydrate-binding modules. Curr Opin Struct Biol 23:669-677.
- 42. Gérard P, Brézillon C, Quéré F, Salmon A, Rabot S. 2008. Characterization of cecal microbiota and response to an orally administered *Lactobacillus* probiotic strain in the broiler chicken. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 2008;14:115–122.
- 43. De Cesare A, Sirri F, Manfreda G, Moniaci P, Giardini A, Zampiga M, Meluzzi A. 2017.
 Effect of dietary supplementation with *Lactobacillus acidophilus* D2/CSL (CECT 4529)
 on caecum microbioma and productive performance in broiler chickens. PLoS one 12:e0176309.
- 44. Chen CY, Chen SW, Wang HT. 2016. Effect of supplementation of yeast with bacteriocin and *Lactobacillus* culture on growth performance, cecal fermentation, microbiota composition, and blood characteristics in broiler chickens. Asian Australas J Anim Sci 30:211-220.

- 45. Parker BJ, Wearsch PA, Veloo ACM, Rodriguez-Palacios A. 2020. The genus *Alistipes*: gut bacteria with emerging implications to inflammation, cancer, and mental health. Front Immunol 11:906.
- 46. Rautio M, Eerola E, Vaisanen-Tunkelrott ML, Molitoris D, Lawson P, Collins MD, Jousimies-Somer H. 2003. Reclassification of *Bacteroides putredinis* (Weinberg et al., 1937) in a New Genus *Alistipes* gen. nov., as *Alistipes putredinis* comb. nov., and description of *Alistipes finegoldii* sp nov., from human sources. Syst Appl Microbiol 26:182-188.
- 47. Sung CM, Lin Y-F, Chen K-F, Ke H-M, Huang H-Y, Gong Y-N, Tsai W-S, You J-F, Lu MJ, Cheng H-T, Lin C-Y, Kuo C-J, Tsai IJ, Hsieh S-Y. 2019. Predicting clinical outcomes of cirrhosis patients with hepatic encephalopathy from the fecal microbiome. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 8:301-318.e2.
- 48. Dziarski R, Park SY, Kashyap DR, Dowd SE, Gupta D. 2016. *Pglyrp*-regulated gut microflora *Prevotella falsenii*, *Parabacteroides distasonis* and *Bacteroides eggerthii* enhance and *Alistipes finegoldii* attenuates colitis in mice. PLoS one 11:e0146162.
- 49. Shen L, Liu L, Ji H-F. 2017. Regulative effects of curcumin spice administration on gut microbiota and its pharmacological implications. Food Nutr Res 61:1361780.
- Frank DN, Amand ALS, Feldman RA, Boedeker EC, Harpaz N, Pace NR. 2007.
 Molecular-phylogenetic characterization of microbial community imbalances in human inflammatory bowel diseases. PNAS 104:13780-13785.
- 51. van Der Wielen PW, Biesterveld S, Notermans S, Hofstra H, Urlings BA, van Knapen F.
 2000. Role of volatile fatty acids in development of the cecal microflora in broiler chickens during growth. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:2536-40.

- 52. Yang F, Chen H, Gao Y, An N, Li X, Pan X, Yang X, Tian L, Sun J, Xiong X. 2020. Gut microbiota-derived short-chain fatty acids and hypertension: Mechanism and treatment. Biomed Pharmacother 130:110503.
- 53. Yardeni T, Tanes CE, Bittinger K, Mattei LM, Schaefer PM, Singh LN, Wu GD,
 Murdock DG, Wallace DC. 2019. Host mitochondria influence gut microbiome diversity:
 A role for ROS. Sci Signal 12.
- 54. Hiippala K, Kainulainen V, Suutarinen M, Heini T, Bowers JR, Jasso-Selles D, Lemmer D, Valentine M, Barnes R, Engelthaler DM, Satokari R. 2020. Isolation of anti-inflammatory and epithelium reinforcing *Bacteroides* and *Parabacteroides* Spp. from a healthy fecal donor. Nutrients 12:935.
- 55. Tan H, Zhao J, Zhang H, Zhai Q, Chen W. 2019. Novel strains of *Bacteroides fragilis* and *Bacteroides ovatus* alleviate the LPS-induced inflammation in mice. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 103:2353-2365.
- 56. Rinttila T, Kassinen A, Malinen E, Krogius L, Palva A. 2004. Development of an extensive set of 16S rDNA-targeted primers for quantification of pathogenic and indigenous bacteria in faecal samples by real-time PCR. J Appl Microbiol 97:1166-1177.
- 57. Abdel-Mageed AM, Nii T, Isobe N, Yoshimura Y. 2017. Modulatory roles of proinflammatory cytokines on the expression of cathelicidins in the lower regions of the oviduct of laying hens. Cytokine 99:66-72.
- 58. Yang J, Wang J, Huang K, Zhu M, Liu Q, Liu G, Chen F, Zhang H, Qin S. 2021.
 Selenium enriched *Bacillus subtilis yb-1*114246 activated the TLR2–NF-κB1 signaling pathway to regulate chicken intestinal β-defensin 1 expression. Food & Function 12:5913-5926.

- 59. Grenier B, Schwartz-Zimmermann HE, Caha S, Moll WD, Schatzmayr G, Applegate TJ. 2015. Dose-dependent effects on sphingoid bases and cytokines in chickens fed diets prepared with fusarium verticillioides culture material containing fumonisins. Toxins (Basel) 7:1253-72.
- 60. Metzler-Zebeli BU, Siegerstetter S-C, Magowan E, Lawlor PG, Petri RM, O'Connell NE, Zebeli Q. 2019. Feed restriction modifies intestinal microbiota-host mucosal networking in chickens divergent in residual feed intake. mSystems 4:e00261-18.
- 61. Zhang JM, Liu XY, Gu W, Xu HY, Jiao HC, Zhao JP, Wang XJ, Li HF, Lin H. 2021. Different effects of probiotics and antibiotics on the composition of microbiota, SCFAs concentrations and FFAR2/3 mRNA expression in broiler chickens. J Appl Microbiol 131:913-924Tsukita S, Yamazaki Y, Katsuno T, Tamura A, Tsukita S. 2008. Tight junction-based epithelial microenvironment and cell proliferation. Oncogene 27:6930-6938.

Table 0.1 Primers used to quantify cecal Bacteroides and the expression of selected gene

markers.

Primer [†]	Sequence	Product size (bp)	Reference	
Bacteroides- Prevotella Forward	GGTGTCGGCTTAAGTGCCAT	140	(56)	
<i>Bacteroides-</i> <i>Prevotella</i> Reverse	CGGACGTAAGGGCCGTGC			
<i>IL-1b</i> Forward	GGGCATCAAGGGCTACAA	88	(57)	
<i>IL-1b</i> Reverse	CTGTCCAGGCGGTAGAAGAT	-		
<i>IL-6</i> Forward	GAGGGCCGTTCGCTATTTG	67	(58)	
<i>IL-6</i> Reverse	ATTGTGCCCGAACTAAAACATTC			
<i>IL-10</i> Forward	GCTGAGGGTGAAGTTTGAGG	121	(59)	
<i>IL-10</i> Reverse	AGACTGGCAGCCAAAGGTC			
SMCT Forward	GGCTTCAGCGTTTGGGACTA	235	(60)	
SMCT Reverse	TGCAGAAGATGGCACCGTAG			
CLDN1 Forward	CCAGGTGAAGAAGATGCGGA	129	-	
CLDN1 Reverse	GGTGTGAAAGGGTCATAGAAGGC			
ZO1 Forward	CAACTGGTGTGGGTTTCTGAA	101	-	
ZO1 Reverse	TCACTACCAGGAGCTGAGAGGTA A	1		
GAPDH Forward	CTACACACGGACACTTCAAG	244	(61)	
GAPDH Reverse	ACAAACATGGGGGGCATCAG	1		

†: *IL*, interleukin; *SMCT*, sodium coupled monocarboxylate transporter; *CLDN*, claudin; *ZO*,

zonula occludens; GAPDH, Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase.

Table 0.2 Distribution of chickens assigned to high Bacteroides (HB) group, low Bacteroides

Chicken distribution	Flock mean bodyweight (gram)	Flock mean mortality rate (%)
HB (1) + n/a (4)	1,793	4.8
LB (5)	1,746	4.7
LB (4) + n/a (1)	1,810	3.3
LB (4) + HB (1)	1,836	5.7
LB (2) + n/a (3)	1,790	6.5
LB $(1) + n/a (4)$	1,850	3.1
HB $(1) + n/a$ (4)	1,793	4.8
n/a (5)	1,744	5.2
HB $(1) + n/a$ (4)	1,750	5.1
HB $(3) + n/a (2)$	1,762	7.0
n/a (5)	1,850	6.1
HB $(3) + n/a (2)$	1,886	3.7
HB $(3) + n/a (2)$	1,790	3.5
n/a (5)	1,744	5.2

(LB) group, or unassigned (n/a) \dagger

†: Each row represents a single production flock. In each production flock, 5 young broiler chickens were randomly sampled. Numbers in the brackets refers to the number of broiler chickens assigned to each specific group.

Table 0.3 Properties of networks constructed for the HB group and LB group.

a) Jaccard index †

	Jacc	$P(\leq \text{Jacc})$	$P(\geq \text{Jacc})$		
degree	0.048	0.002 **	1.000		
betweenness centrality	0.000	< 0.001 ***	1.000		
closeness centrality	0.091	0.009 **	0.998		
eigenvector centrality	0.050	0.003 **	1.000		
hub taxa	0.000	0.296	1.000		
Adjusted rand index = 0.109 (ARI, measuring similarity between clusterings ranging from 0 -					
1. ARI =1, perfect agreement between clusterings; ARI=0, two random clusterings; $P < 0.001$)					

b) Hub nodes

HB	LB
3.1.1.72: Acetylxylan esterase	2.7.13.3: Histidine kinase
3.1.6.1: Arylsulfatase (type I)	
3.2.1.185: Non-reducing end beta-L-arabinofuranosidase	
3.2.1.73: Licheninase	

c) Eigenvector centrality

Gene	HB	LB
Highest values in the HB group		
3.2.1.185: Non-reducing end beta-L-arabinofuranosidase	1.000	0.267
3.2.1.73: Licheninase	0.949	0
3.1.1.72: Acetylxylan esterase	0.866	0.558
3.1.6.1: Arylsulfatase (type I)	0.839	0
3.2.1.52: Beta-N-acetylhexosaminidase	0.665	0.132
Highest values in the LB group		
2.7.13.3 histidine kinase	0	1.000
2.7.7.7: DNA-directed DNA polymerase		0.912
6.3.5.5: Carbamoyl-phosphate synthase (glutamine-hydrolyzing)	0	0.752
2.7.7.6: DNA-directed RNA polymerase	0	0.737

[†], Jaccard index measured the similarity between sets of most central nodes. Jaccard index ranged from 0 (completely different) to 1 (sets equal), **, P < 0.01; ***, P < 0.001.



Figure 0.1 Diversity of the gut microbiota of the 7-day-old commercial broiler chickens

(a) Principal coordinate analysis plot based on Bray-Curtis distance metric. Distinct pattern of *Bacteroides* populations resulted in significantly different clusters between LB , HB and chickens not assigned to either HB or LB groups (n/a) (adonis P < 0.05). (b) The HB group had decreased bacterial species evenness compared with the LB group and the n/a group (Shannon index, P < 0.01). (c) Comparable bacterial species richness was observed between groups (observed ASV, P > 0.05). LB: low *Bacteroides*, n = 18; HB: high *Bacteroides*, n = 15; n/a: not assigned, n = 37. *, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01.



Network on genus level with SparCC correlations

Figure 0.2 Cecal microbiome co-occurrence network based on SparCC correlation on the genus level.

Only significantly correlated (P < 0.05) taxa in the cecal microbiome with coefficient greater than 0.3 are shown. Estimated correlations were transformed to dissimilarities via the "signed" distance metric and corresponding similarities were used as edge weights. Node sizes were scaled based on eigenvector centrality. Hubs were defined using eigenvector centrality with a centrality value above the empirical 90% quantile. To increase visibility, hubs were highlighted by bold text and borders and marked as $\oplus, \emptyset,$, \oplus, \oplus and \oplus . Node colors represented phyla. $\oplus,$ *Lactobacillus*; \emptyset , *[Clostridium]_methylpentosum_group;* \oplus , *Acinetobacter;* \oplus ,

Phascolarctobacterium; ⑤, an uncultured member from the family *Erysipelatoclostridiacea*.



Figure 0.3 Cecal short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) concentrations in LB and HB groups.

Results were shown as (a) total SCFA concentrations, (b) acetate, (c) propionate, (d) butyrate, and (e) valerate (mean \pm standard error of the mean, LB: n = 18, HB: n =15, *, *P* <0.05, **, *P* < 0.01). LB: low *Bacteroides*; HB: high *Bacteroides*; Conc., Concentration.



Figure 0.4 Spearman correlation heatmap

Heatmap showing Spearman correlations between cecal bacterial abundance and short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) concentrations in broiler chickens from low- and high-*Bacteroides* groups. *, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01; Conc., Concentration.



Figure 0.5 The comparison of the functional network harbored by cecal microbial communities. Green edges corresponded to positive associations and red edges to negative associations. Colors of nodes represented clusters determined by the fast greedy modularity optimization. Node sizes were scaled according to eigenvector centrality. Nodes with bold text were identified hubs in the networks. Hubs were nodes with eigenvector centrality greater than 90% quantile of the empirical centrality distribution (LB: low *Bacteroides*; HB: high *Bacteroides*, LB: n = 18; HB: n = 15).



Figure 0.6 Differentially abundant pathways of the cecal microbiota

Linear discriminant analysis (LDA) effect size (LEfSe) showing differentially abundant pathways of the cecal microbiota (LDA score ≥ 2.0 ; P < 0.05; LB: low *Bacteroides*; HB: high *Bacteroides*, LB: n = 18; HB: n = 15).



Figure 0.7 Gene expression in chicken cecal tonsil.

(a) Pro-inflammatory cytokine *IL-1* β showed lower expression levels in the HB group compared to LB broiler chickens. (b) *IL-6* expression was not differed between groups. (c) Increased antiinflammatory cytokine *IL-10* was observed in the HB group. (d) The expression of the tightjunction protein *CLDN1* was slightly increased in the HB group. (e) Compared to the LB group, a trend of increased expression of short-chain fatty acid transporter *SMCT* was seen in the ceca of HB chickens (LB: n = 18; HB: n = 15, mean ± standard deviation, *, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01, n.s., not significant; LB: low Bacteroides; HB: high Bacteroides).

Chapter 5: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND FUTURE WORK

5.1 Conclusions and General Discussions

This thesis had shed light on how barn cleaning practices in poultry production affecting the chicken gut microbiome and pathogen abundance. Our study also provided new insights into understanding the effects of possessing a microbiome with elevated *Bacteroides* in early life on the chicken gut microbiology and intestinal immune status.

In the past few decades, the poultry industry has relied on antibiotics to keep the prevalence of pathogens low during production. With the global goal of eliminating growth promotion using medically important antimicrobials and reducing prophylactic antimicrobial use, it is foreseeable that in the future, biosecurity measures such as barn chemical disinfection will be continuously applied frequently in production. As discussed, in the setting of the modern broiler production, the barn is one of the most important microbial sources for chickens that can shape the development of the gut microbiome. With the intent to control pathogen transmission, barn chemical disinfection also removes commensals from the previous flocks, leading to drastically reduced diversity and density of microbes for the chicks to be exposed to. Without competitive exclusion offered by a diverse gut microbiota, one possible consequence of this is that the commercial chickens are sensitive to pathogens (1). In this sense, using chemical disinfectants in barn sanitation may run contrary to its intent. Currently, the effects of the chemically disinfected barns on the chicken gut microbiome (e.g. the microbial composition, the microbial functionality, the resistome) as well as the related host responses were poorly understood. In addition, distinct early-life microbial compositions in the chicken gut were previously reported (2, 3). Perhaps it may also be a consequence of the lack of exposure to a stable, parental-flock-derived microbial community caused by the production mode, because

chickens could develop mature microbiome in less than a week if provided adult-chicken-derived microbes (4). *Bacteroides* is an important chicken commensal to have distinct colonization speed in young chicks with/without contact with adult hens (5). Therefore, understanding the effects of chicken early-life distinct *Bacteroides* compositions and the functional consequences can offer important scientific insights to the poultry industry, particularly with respect to establishing intestinal homeostasis in commercial broiler chickens early in their lives.

In chapter 2, we conducted studies to exam the effects of using chemical disinfectants in barn cleaning on the chicken gut microbiome and the host responses in production. Our results suggested that the barn cleaning methods did not affect chicken bodyweight or flock mortality rate. Using 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing technique and qPCR assays, for the first time, we reported that the chemically disinfected barns had modest but significant effects on the chicken cecal microbial communities. Decreased *Helicobacter*, which was further identified as *Helicobacter pullorum* in chapter 3, was observed in the chicken ceca at day 30 in response to the chemically disinfection barn treatment (FD).

In addition, compared to water-washed barn treatment (WW), the chickens from the FD group had decreased cecal short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) concentration associating with almost 1 log increased *Campylobacter jejuni hipO* copy numbers at the end of the production cycle. Previously, de Castro Burbarelli et al. conducted a study in research facility to examine the effects of poultry pen cleaning using neutral detergent versus acidic and alkaline detergent with chemical disinfectants (6). They assessed the effects the cleaning practices on chicken performance as well as the abundance of selected pathogens in the chicken ceca. Their results indicated no treatment effects on the *Campylobacter* occurrence frequency in the chicken gut at the end of the production cycle. However, they observed a trend (P = 0.076) that *Campylobacter*

193

were more frequently detected in the intestine of the stronger disinfection group at slaughter (6). In this thesis, the animal trial was performed in commercial broiler production facilities, with 28 flocks from 7 barns, whereas the previous study by de Castro Burbarelli et al. focused on a laboratory-scale setting and drew conclusions examining only 2 flocks. The increased power in the current study likely decreased the probability a false negative. In addition, instead of using an enrichment assay, the study by de Castro Burbarelli et al. used PCR techniques to test the presence and absence the selected *Campylobacter*, regardless of whether bacteria were dead or alive. Moreover, without assessing the composition of other bacteria and/or nutrients such as SCFAs, it is difficult to further address the reasons led to the observed trend of the different Campylobacter detection frequencies (6). Over the years, numerous efforts had been made by the poultry industry to control C. jejuni. One promising strategy reducing Campylobacter in the chicken gut could be altering the chicken cecal microbiome toward a composition that has increased microbial competition. Our study showed that after a previously healthy flock, WW helped chickens to develop cecal microbiota that did not favor C. jejuni growth, which could be made immediate practical by the industry during production. In addition to C. jejuni, this thesis also assessed the effects of barn sanitation practices on other pathogens in the chicken gut, such as Salmonella and Clostridium perfringens, and showed no differences on detection frequency or abundance between treatments. In fact, during the study period for almost 1 year, Salmonella was not detectable in both the barns and the chicken gut while cecal C. perfringens was at a very low level. These results can provide confidence to the industry that using WW can assure food safety while maintaining productivity.

Further in Chapter 3, with the help of shotgun metagenomic sequencing techniques, we were able to gain bacterial taxonomic information to the species level and assess the cecal

194

microbial functional consequences affected by the barn cleaning treatments. We found that both the cecal microbial composition and functionality were significantly altered by the barn cleaning methods. At day 7, the cecal microbial functionality of the FD chickens had enriched stringent response pathway with decreased amino acid synthesis capacities. At day 30, WW had increased the relative abundance of H. pullorum, Barnesiella viscericola, Faecalibacterium prausnitzii and Ruminococcus torques in the cecal microbiota at D30 compared to FD. The increased H. *pullorum* composition directly resulted in the increased functional compacity of SCFA and amino acid synthesis in the cecal microbiome of the D30 WW chickens. In line with that, it has been shown that *H. pullorum* was associated with increased starch digestibility and mature bodyweight in chicken (7). It supported that WW could benefit broiler production by increasing some important commensals in the chicken gut and thereby improve the microbial functional capacity of nutrient utilization and decrease pathogen colonization. H. pullorum has been frequently detected in poultry world-wide (8). Although being frequently detected in poultry worldwide and considered as opportunistic pathogens by some researchers, very few disease cases were reported directly linked to *H. pullorum* infection (8, 9). Therefore, the role of *H. pullorum* in poultry and human health needs to be further assessed. Regarding the chicken gut microbial functional capacity, to date, little is known about how it was affected by chemical disinfectants in barn cleaning. Previous studies on chemical exposure reported that disinfectants modulate environmental microbes by affecting their functions through directly inducing metabolic change (such as activation of the stringent response) (10), or by triggering bacteria to enter competent state to acquire foreign DNA to overcome the harsh environment (11). Therefore, to animals exposed to these environments, their gut microbial functionality will also be altered in response to the change of the environmental microbial functionality (10, 12).

Surprisingly, data on the cecal microbial resistome did not support our original hypothesis; instead of increasing antibiotics resistant gene (ARG) incidence in the chicken gut. FD decreased the abundance of some persistent ARGs in the chicken ceca, such as the *erm* gene family and glycopeptide resistance gene clusters. Although some chemical disinfectants exhibited selection stress to stimulate ARG proliferation and/or transmission (13-17), these studies assessed the effects of single chemical disinfecting agent. In this thesis, the chemical disinfectants included sodium hydroxide, 2-(2-2-butoxyethoxy) ethanol, sodium laureth sulfate, sodium N-lauroyl sarcosinate, tetrasodium EDTA, glutaraldehyde, benzalkonium chloride (BAC), and formic acid. The combination of these chemicals may have worked together as a broader spectrum antimicrobial agent, which was more effective in removing bacterial genetic elements carrying ARGs.

Chapter 2 and 3 represent the first studies in Canada, and amongst a few globally, directly comparing WW and FD and evaluating their effects on the chicken gut microbiome. These studies provide important information to the poultry industry. In the context of helping chickens to develop a gut microbiome with improved pathogen defense and microbial nutrient utilization, in barns without a previous diseases outbreak, WW should be considered with priority in production. In the context of controlling antibiotic resistance, especially the persistent ARGs, FD were more effective.

Interestingly, we observed drastic differences between the cecal microbial resistomes of the day 7 and day 30 chickens. Comparing the effect size of the barn cleaning practices on the chicken resistome, we found that the treatments had greater impact at day 7 than day 30. Further focusing just on the age differences, the antibiotic efflux pumps were identified as strong biomarkers of the 7-day chicken resistome, whereas ARGs with higher specificity on targets (e.g.

196

tetracycline inactive enzymes) became more predominant at day 30. In addition, the day 7 chicken resistome showed higher abundance and diversity in comparison to day 30. Previously, similar age-dependent pattern was reported in a human study (18). In poultry, far less is known about the effect of age on the gut microbial resistome. Thus, our results form a basis for future studies investigating chicken gut microbial resistome that chicken age should be taken into consideration when assessing treatment effects.

In chapter 4, we identified cecal microbiota with distinct *Bacteroides* compositions among the 7-day-old commercial chickens, namely the *Bacteroides*-under-represented (LB) and *Bacteroides*-over-represented (HB). Interestingly, we found that the cecal abundance of *Lactobacillus* was negatively correlated to *Bacteroides*, whereas an obligate anaerobe *Alistipes* was associated with *Bacteroides*. While numerous studies have considered *Lactobacillus* as probiotics, many of these studies also reported that the cecal *Lactobacillus* abundance was not affected by their treatment (19, 20) indicating that the beneficial effects by *Lactobacillus* may not be a consequence of cecal colonization. Chen et al. studied the effect of the supplementation of *Lactobacillus* spp. and/or yeast with bacteriocin on broiler performance and looked at the cecal microbiota (21). They reported that supplemented *Lactobacillus* culture alone (without bacteriocin) was the only treatment group that increased the level of cecal *Lactobacillus*, but it also led to decreased SCFA production with no improvement on performance. Thus, although supplementing *Lactobacillus* had been shown to exert beneficial effects on poultry, the effects of cecal *Lactobacillus* colonization needs to be carefully assessed in the future.

In addition, chicken cecal tonsil gene expression revealed that the HB group had altered cecal tonsil immune profile, which showed decreased of pro-inflammatory cytokine expression and increased anti-inflammatory expression. Perhaps due to the fact that using 16S rRNA

amplicon sequencing was sufficient to comprehensively study microbial functionality, although great variation of the cecal Bacteroides composition was observed previously, very little information is available about how distinct Bacteroides population influence the gut microbial functional capacities. In our study, we found that the functionality of the HB cecal microbiota, which was centered by a series of enzymes linked to poly-saccharide utilization, were significantly different from the LB counterparts that had a histidine kinase centre. In addition, microbiota of the HB chickens exhibited a pronounced increase in capacity for mono- and polysaccharide utilization, which was further reflected by the increased cecal SCFAs. By far, high variations of *Bacteroides* had been reported from some studies without being further assessed (22, 23). Without investigation on the microbial functional consequences and host responses, it was difficult to have a comprehensive understanding of what this variation in the gut microbiota means to the commercial broiler chickens. Our results compared and characterized HB- and LBmicrobiotas that exist in early life of the commercial broiler chickens. Given all the positive outcome exhibited by the HB-microbiota, it suggested that early colonization of *Bacteroides* in the chicken gut may be a sign of the advanced development of a more mature chicken microbiota, which favors other obligate anaerobic co-colonizers, such as *Alistipes*.

Modern broiler chickens are believed to be domesticated from the red jungle fowls thousands of years ago (24). Over 70 years of commercial practices in poultry breeding, humans have greatly changed and improved their genetic potential for meat production (25). The modern broiler industry also changed the ways that chickens have been living for millions of years by hatching eggs separately without hens in clean hatcheries and housing chickens in barns with limited contact to the wild. The change of both host genetics and living environments may have resulted in interruptions of the chicken gut microbiota, which have co-evolved with chicken for millennia. In fact, the lack of contact with adult chickens raised concern over narrowing the microbial exposure for commercial broiler chickens to assemble and develop a balanced microbiota (5, 26).

5.2 Limitations and Future Work

Studies included in the thesis are based on commercial broiler chickens obtained from a mass-production system. Although most findings supported the hypothesis that the barn cleaning practices drives changes in the chicken gut microbiome and subsequent host physiology, there are still some limitations that should be acknowledged.

In these studies, individual chicken performance data, such as individual body weight, feed conversion ratio were not measured. Particularly in Chapter 4 studying early-life microbial structure and related host responses, the lack of individual performance limited our ability to interpret the positive outcomes brought by the elevated cecal *Bacteroides* population. In production, chicken producers focus mainly on chicken performance at the flock level. When assessing the effects of barn cleaning methods, barns were considered as experimental units, therefore chicken performance data in these studies were presented as the average body weight and mortality of the production flock. Although other individual host-related data, such as individual cecal SCFA concentration and cecal tonsil gene expression were measured, individual performance data are still of great importance, especially with respect to understand the host-related consequences in response of altered microbial community and functionality and nutrient metabolism.

Although the chickens sampled in these studies were treated with the same diet management, detailed diet information could not be provided by the chicken producers. It is noteworthy to mention diets play an influential role in shaping the chicken gut microbiota and is an important piece of information in gut microbiome studies (27-30). To improve our ability to interpret the observed effects of the barn cleaning practices on the chicken gut microbiome, future studies examining the effects barn cleaning practices in combination with different diet compositions are highly expected. Similarly, although these studies were performed within the same production system as a crossover design trying to eliminate bias, it was still difficult to strictly control animal management between flocks (e.g. handling crew, flock density, barn temperature, and feed/water quality) during production. Therefore, it was hard to comment on the effects of these confounding factors on the chicken gut microbiome. For example, we found that the cecal resistome of chickens sampled from the two timepoints (day 7 and day 30) had significant differences. However, we were not able to make conclusion that what is the main driver of the observed differences. Factors such as the chicken diets, the physiological changes of the chicken gut, the stoking densities, the feed/water quality differences, and even the temperature of the chicken barn might each/collectively contribute to the alteration of the gut resistome between the two sampling timepoints. Therefore, future studies in controlled environments and control diets to assess how these factors affect the chicken gut resistome should be conducted.

Limited by logistics, in these studies, only 5 chickens were sampled in each flock. As discussed in chapter 2 that to avoid "co-housing effect", we decided to increase replicates of the treatment barns in our studies instead of sampling more chickens from the same barn. In addition, in the studies of the barn cleaning practices, the animal trial was designed as a cross-over
experiment to help further eliminate bias brought by the housing facilities. However, since increased sample size can increase statistical power (31), future studies with more samples are warranted.

In chapter 4, selected host immune-related genes were measured. Although the altered expression of a couple of immune-related genes can be indicative of the host immune status, to more comprehensively understand the host-immune response, transcriptomic analyses using RNA-seq on the chicken cecal tonsils may be necessary in the future. In addition, what this immune status truly means in the context of pathogen defense was not studied. Therefore, future studies using a pathogen to challenge young chickens with distinct cecal *Bacteroides* will be of great value.

In these studies, microbial functional characteristics of the transcriptomic and proteomic levels remain to be investigated. High throughput metagenomic sequencing used in these studies offered valuable information about the microbial taxonomic compositions and their genetic potentials. However, it is not possible to identify the expression of these genes. Since not all encoded genes lead to the translation as functional proteins, our results were not able to identify if the enriched functional pathways were actively being expressed. Therefore, in the future, microbial transcriptomic and proteomic analyses should be performed.

In chapter 3, we have used the Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database (CARD) to annotate ARG genes. However, other databases such as the Antibiotic Resistance Genes Database (32), the Antibiotic Resistance Gene-ANNOTation (33), the MEGARes database (34), National Database of Antibiotic Resistant Organisms (NDARO) (35) and ResFinder (36) are also available for ARG annotation. Very recently, Papp and Solymosi comprehensively reviewed and compared multiple databases and concluded that both NDARO and CARD are prominent among other databases tested (37). With comparable numbers of ARGs, NDARO focuses more on acquired resistance genes whereas CARD focuses more on mutation conferring resistnace (37). Although in general, Papp and Solymosi suggested that CARD should be the first choice for ARG studies, they also suggested that differences could be observed in ARG nomenclature due to the differences of the databases and thereby using only one database may introduce bias. Therefore, to comprehensively understand the chicken gut resistomes in our studies, data analyses using other ARG databases (e.g. NDARO) is necessary in the future.

In addition, although the concentrations of selected cecal SCFA were measured, other metabolites such as cecal amino acids and saccharide concentrations remains unknown. While increased genetic potential of amino acids and saccharide utilizations were shown accompanying changes of cecal SCFAs, it would be more insightful if the concentrations of the related saccharides were unveiled. In future studies these could be measured by metabolomic methods such as high-performance liquid chromatography or hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography coupled tandem mass spectrometry (HILIC-tandem MS) (38). Thus, future metabolic analyses on the cecal contents are warranted.

In chapter 4, we identified distinct *Bacteroides* compositions in the chicken cecal microbiota and suggested that the *Bacteroides* colonization may be of great importance to the gut homeostasis. However, what caused the distinct *Bacteroides* levels was not investigated in the thesis. Previously, it was reported that early exposure to chicken-derived microbes increased the cecal colonization of *Bacteroides* (5, 39, 40). Thus, we speculated that the chicks with elevated *Bacteroides* observed in the current study may be a consequence of being in contact with these microbes fortuitously in the hatchery and/or during transportation. Thus, in the future, using

germ-free chickens to mimic chicken-derived microbial exposure may be able to answer this question. In addition, the causal effect of *Bacteroides* in observed SCFA and host immunity remains unclear. To further address this, defined amount of known *Bacteroides* species could be introduced to broiler chicks at different timepoints using a germ-free chicken model. In addition, a pathogen challenge and/or a subclinical necrotic enteritis disease model could be used with defined *Bacteroides* as a treatment to investigate if *Bacteroides* confer anti-inflammatory effects.

5.3 References:

- Rantala M, Nurmi E. 1973. Prevention of the growth of *Salmonella infantis* in chicks by the flora of the alimentary tract of chickens. Br Poult Sci 14:627-630.
- 2. Kaakoush NO, Sodhi N, Chenu JW, Cox JM, Riordan SM, Mitchell HM. 2014. The interplay between *Campylobacter* and *Helicobacter* species and other gastrointestinal microbiota of commercial broiler chickens. Gut Pathog 6.
- 3. Yuan Z, Yan W, Wen C, Zheng J, Yang N, Sun C. 2020. Enterotype identification and its influence on regulating the duodenum metabolism in chickens. Poult Sci 99:1515-1527.
- Thomas M, Wongkuna S, Ghimire S, Kumar R, Antony L, Doerner KC, Singery A, Nelson E, Woyengo T, Chankhamhaengdecha S, Janvilisri T, Scaria J. 2019. Gut Microbial Dynamics during Conventionalization of Germfree Chicken. mSphere 4.
- Kubasova T, Kollarcikova M, Crhanova M, Karasova D, Cejkova D, Sebkova A, Matiasovicova J, Faldynova M, Pokorna A, Cizek A, Rychlik I. 2019. Contact with adult hen affects development of caecal microbiota in newly hatched chicks. PLoS One 14:e0212446.

- 6. de Castro Burbarelli MF, do Valle Polycarpo G, Deliberali Lelis K, Granghelli CA, Carao de Pinho AC, Ribeiro Almeida Queiroz S, Fernandes AM, Moro de Souza RL, Gaglianone Moro ME, de Andrade Bordin R, de Albuquerque R. 2017. Cleaning and disinfection programs against *Campylobacter jejuni* for broiler chickens: productive performance, microbiological assessment and characterization. Poult Sci 96:3188-3198.
- Yin D, Yin X, Wang X, Lei Z, Wang M, Guo Y, Aggrey SE, Nie W, Yuan J. 2018.
 Supplementation of amylase combined with glucoamylase or protease changes intestinal microbiota diversity and benefits for broilers fed a diet of newly harvested corn. J Anim Sci Biotechnol 9:24.
- Abd El-Ghany WA. 2020. Helicobacter pullorum: A potential hurdle emerging pathogen for public health. J Infect Dev Ctries 14:1225-1230.
- Akhlaghi H, Javan AJ, Chashmi SHE. 2022. Public health significance of *Helicobacter* pullorum, a putative food-associated emerging zoonotic pathogen in Iran. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis 87:101849.
- Lin H, Ye C, Chen S, Zhang S, Yu X. 2017. Viable but non-culturable *E. coli* induced by low level chlorination have higher persistence to antibiotics than their culturable counterparts. Environ Pollut 230:242-249.
- Mantilla-Calderon D, Plewa MJ, Michoud G, Fodelianakis S, Daffonchio D, Hong P-Y.
 2019. Water Disinfection Byproducts Increase Natural Transformation Rates of Environmental DNA in *Acinetobacter baylyi* ADP1. Environ Sci Technol 53:6520-6528.
- 12. Campana AM, Laue HE, Shen Y, Shrubsole MJ, Baccarelli AA. 2022. Assessing the role of the gut microbiome at the interface between environmental chemical exposures and human health: Current knowledge and challenges. Environ Pollut:120380.

- Zeng J, Li Y, Jin G, Su J-Q, Yao H. 2022. Short-term benzalkonium chloride (C₁₂) exposure induced the occurrence of wide-spectrum antibiotic resistance in agricultural soils. Environ Sci Technol doi:10.1021/acs.est.2c04730.
- Zhang Y, Gu AZ, He M, Li D, Chen J. 2017. Subinhibitory concentrations of disinfectants promote the horizontal transfer of multidrug resistance genes within and across genera. Environ Sci Technol 51:570-580.
- Kim M, Weigand MR, Oh S, Hatt JK, Krishnan R, Tezel U, Pavlostathis SG, Konstantinidis KT. 2018. Widely used benzalkonium chloride disinfectants can promote antibiotic resistance. Appl Environ Microbiol 84:e01201-18.
- 16. Gadea R, Fuentes MÁF, Pulido RP, Gálvez A, Ortega E. 2017. Effects of exposure to quaternary-ammonium-based biocides on antimicrobial susceptibility and tolerance to physical stresses in bacteria from organic foods. Food Microbiol 63:58-71.
- Molina-González D, Alonso-Calleja C, Alonso-Hernando A, Capita R. 2014. Effect of sub-lethal concentrations of biocides on the susceptibility to antibiotics of multi-drug resistant *Salmonella enterica* strains. Food Control 40:329-334.
- Lebeaux RM, Coker MO, Dade EF, Palys TJ, Morrison HG, Ross BD, Baker ER, Karagas MR, Madan JC, Hoen AG. 2021. The infant gut resistome is associated with *E. coli* and early-life exposures. BMC microbiol 21:1-18.
- Gérard P, Brézillon C, Quéré F, Salmon A, Rabot S. 2008. Characterization of cecal microbiota and response to an orally administered *Lactobacillus* probiotic strain in the broiler chicken. Microb Physiol 14:115-122.
- 20. De Cesare A, Sirri F, Manfreda G, Moniaci P, Giardini A, Zampiga M, Meluzzi A. 2017.
 Effect of dietary supplementation with *Lactobacillus acidophilus* D2/CSL (CECT 4529)

on caecum microbioma and productive performance in broiler chickens. PLoS One 12:e0176309.

- 21. Chen CY, Chen SW, Wang HT. 2016. Effect of supplementation of yeast with bacteriocin and *Lactobacillus* culture on growth performance, cecal fermentation, microbiota composition, and blood characteristics in broiler chickens. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences 30:211-220.
- Wei S, Morrison M, Yu Z. 2013. Bacterial census of poultry intestinal microbiome. Poult Sci 92:671-83.
- 23. Oakley BB, Kogut MH. 2016. Spatial and temporal changes in the broiler chicken cecal and fecal microbiomes and correlations of bacterial taxa with cytokine gene expression. Front Vet Sci 3:11.
- West B, Zhou B-X. 1988. Did chickens go north? New evidence for domestication. J Archaeol Sci 15:515-533.
- Siegel PB, Haberfeld A, Mukherjee TK, Stallard LC, Marks HL, Anthony NB, Dunnington EA. 1992. Jungle fowl–domestic fowl relationships: a use of DNA fingerprinting. World's Poultry Science Journal 48:147-155.
- Oakley BB, Lillehoj HS, Kogut MH, Kim WK, Maurer JJ, Pedroso A, Lee MD, Collett SR, Johnson TJ, Cox NA. 2014. The chicken gastrointestinal microbiome. FEMS Microbiol Lett 360:100-12.
- 27. De Cesare A, do Valle IF, Sala C, Sirri F, Astolfi A, Castellani G, Manfreda G. 2019.
 Effect of a low protein diet on chicken ceca microbiome and productive performances.
 Poult Sci 98:3963-3976.

- 28. Luo Q, Cui H, Peng X, Fang J, Zuo Z, Deng J, Liu J, Deng Y. 2016. Dietary high fluorine alters intestinal microbiota in broiler chickens. Biol Trace Elem Res 173:483-491.
- 29. Hubert SM, Al-Ajeeli M, Bailey CA, Athrey G. 2019. The role of housing environment and dietary protein source on the gut microbiota of chicken. Animals 9:1085.
- 30. Zou A, Nadeau K, Xiong X, Wang PW, Copeland JK, Lee JY, Pierre JS, Ty M, Taj B, Brumell JH. 2022. Systematic profiling of the chicken gut microbiome reveals dietary supplementation with antibiotics alters expression of multiple microbial pathways with minimal impact on community structure. Microbiome 10:1-29.
- Baguley T. 2004. Understanding statistical power in the context of applied research. Appl Ergon 35:73-80.
- Liu B, Pop M. 2008. ARDB—Antibiotic Resistance Genes Database. Nucleic Acids Res 37:D443-D447.
- Gupta SK, Padmanabhan BR, Diene SM, Lopez-Rojas R, Kempf M, Landraud L, Rolain J-M. 2014. ARG-ANNOT, a new bioinformatic tool to discover antibiotic resistance genes in bacterial genomes. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 58:212-220.
- 34. Lakin SM, Dean C, Noyes NR, Dettenwanger A, Ross AS, Doster E, Rovira P, Abdo Z, Jones KL, Ruiz J. 2017. MEGARes: an antimicrobial resistance database for high throughput sequencing. Nucleic Acids Res 45:D574-D580.
- 35. Feldgarden M, Brover V, Gonzalez-Escalona N, Frye JG, Haendiges J, Haft DH, Hoffmann M, Pettengill JB, Prasad AB, Tillman GE. 2021. AMRFinderPlus and the Reference Gene Catalog facilitate examination of the genomic links among antimicrobial resistance, stress response, and virulence. Sci Rep 11:1-9.

- 36. Zankari E, Hasman H, Cosentino S, Vestergaard M, Rasmussen S, Lund O, Aarestrup FM, Larsen MV. 2012. Identification of acquired antimicrobial resistance genes. J Antimicrob Chemother 67:2640-2644.
- Papp M, Solymosi N. 2022. Review and comparison of antimicrobial resistance gene databases. Antibiotics 11:339.
- 38. Kambhampati S, Li J, Evans BS, Allen DK. 2019. Accurate and efficient amino acid analysis for protein quantification using hydrophilic interaction chromatography coupled tandem mass spectrometry. Plant Methods 15.
- 39. Glendinning L, Chintoan-Uta C, Stevens MP, Watson M. 2022. Effect of cecal microbiota transplantation between different broiler breeds on the chick flora in the first week of life. Poult Sci 101:101624.
- 40. Wang L, Lilburn M, Yu Z. 2016. Intestinal microbiota of broiler chickens as affected by litter management regimens. Front Microbiol 7.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Aarestrup, Frank M. "The Livestock Reservoir for Antimicrobial Resistance: A Personal View on Changing Patterns of Risks, Effects of Interventions and the Way Forward." *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 370, no. 1670 (2015): 20140085.
- Abdel-Mageed, A. M., T. Nii, N. Isobe, and Y. Yoshimura. "Modulatory Roles of Proinflammatory Cytokines on the Expression of Cathelicidins in the Lower Regions of the Oviduct of Laying Hens." *Cytokine* 99 (Nov 2017): 66-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2017.07.008</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28728035</u>.
- Achard, Adeline, Corinne Villers, Vianney Pichereau, and Roland Leclercq. "New Lnu (C) Gene Conferring Resistance to Lincomycin by Nucleotidylation in *Streptococcus Agalactiae* Ucn36." *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 49, no. 7 (2005): 2716-19.
- Al-Nasser, A, H Al-Khalaifa, A Al-Saffar, F Khalil, M Albahouh, G Ragheb, A Al-Haddad, and M Mashaly. "Overview of Chicken Taxonomy and Domestication." *World's Poultry Science Journal* 63, no. 2 (2007): 285-300.
- Alcock, Brian P, Amogelang R Raphenya, Tammy TY Lau, Kara K Tsang, Mégane Bouchard, Arman Edalatmand, William Huynh, *et al.* "Card 2020: Antibiotic Resistome Surveillance with the Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database." *Nucleic acids research* 48, no. D1 (2020): D517-D25.
- Almirall, M, and E Esteve-Garcia. "Rate of Passage of Barley Diets with Chromium Oxide: Influence of Age and Poultry Strain and Effect of B-Glucanase Supplementation." *Poultry Science* 73, no. 9 (1994): 1433-40.
- Anders, Simon, and Wolfgang Huber. "Differential Expression Analysis for Sequence Count Data." *Nature Precedings* (2010): 1-1.
- Andoh, Akira, Tadao Bamba, and Masaya Sasaki. "Physiological and Anti-Inflammatory Roles of Dietary Fiber and Butyrate in Intestinal Functions." *Journal of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition* 23 (1999): S70-S73.
- Anhê, Fernando F, Thibault V Varin, Mélanie Le Barz, Yves Desjardins, Emile Levy, Denis Roy, and André Marette. "Gut Microbiota Dysbiosis in Obesity-Linked Metabolic Diseases and Prebiotic Potential of Polyphenol-Rich Extracts." *Current obesity reports* 4, no. 4 (2015): 389-400.
- Antunes, P., J. Mourão, J. Campos, and L. Peixe. "Salmonellosis: The Role of Poultry Meat." *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* 22, no. 2 (2016): 110-21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2015.12.004. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2015.12.004.
- Arab, J. P., S. J. Karpen, P. A. Dawson, M. Arrese, and M. Trauner. "Bile Acids and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: Molecular Insights and Therapeutic Perspectives." *Hepatology* 65, no. 1 (Jan 2017): 350-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.28709</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27358174</u>.
- Argentini, C., F. Fontana, G. Alessandri, G. A. Lugli, L. Mancabelli, M. C. Ossiprandi, D. van Sinderen, *et al.* "Evaluation of Modulatory Activities of *Lactobacillus Crispatus* Strains in the Context of the Vaginal Microbiota." *Microbiol Spectr* 10, no. 2 (Apr 27 2022): e0273321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum.02733-21</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/35266820</u>.

- Arumugam, Manimozhiyan, Jeroen Raes, Eric Pelletier, Denis Le Paslier, Takuji Yamada, Daniel R. Mende, Gabriel R. Fernandes, *et al.* "Enterotypes of the Human Gut Microbiome." *Nature* 473, no. 7346 (2011): 174-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09944</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature09944</u>.
- Awad, W. A., F. Dublecz, C. Hess, K. Dublecz, B. Khayal, J. R. Aschenbach, and M. Hess. "Campylobacter Jejuni Colonization Promotes the Translocation of Escherichia Coli to Extra-Intestinal Organs and Disturbs the Short-Chain Fatty Acids Profiles in the Chicken Gut." Poultry Science 95, no. 10 (Oct 1 2016): 2259-65. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pew151. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27143773.
- Awad, W. A., E. Mann, M. Dzieciol, C. Hess, S. Schmitz-Esser, M. Wagner, and M. Hess. "Age-Related Differences in the Luminal and Mucosa-Associated Gut Microbiome of Broiler Chickens and Shifts Associated with Campylobacter Jejuni Infection." Front Cell Infect Microbiol 6 (2016): 154. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2016.00154</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27921008</u>.
- Awad, Wageha A, Andor Molnár, Jörg R Aschenbach, Khaled Ghareeb, Basel Khayal, Claudia Hess, Dieter Liebhart, Károly Dublecz, and Michael Hess. "*Campylobacter* Infection in Chickens Modulates the Intestinal Epithelial Barrier Function." *Innate immunity* 21, no. 2 (2015): 151-60.
- Bahrndorff, S., T. Alemu, T. Alemneh, and J. Lund Nielsen. "The Microbiome of Animals: Implications for Conservation Biology." *Int J Genomics* 2016 (2016): 5304028. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/5304028. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27195280.
- Baldwin, Stephen, Robert J. Hughes, Thi Thu Hao Van, Robert J. Moore, and Dragana Stanley.
 "At-Hatch Administration of Probiotic to Chickens Can Introduce Beneficial Changes in Gut Microbiota." *PLOS ONE* 13, no. 3 (2018): e0194825.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0194825</u>.
 <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0194825</u>.
- Ballou, Anne L, Rizwana A Ali, Mary A Mendoza, J Chris Ellis, Hosni M Hassan, W James Croom, and Matthew D Koci. "Development of the Chick Microbiome: How Early Exposure Influences Future Microbial Diversity." *Frontiers in veterinary science* 3 (2016): 2.
- Bar-Shira, Enav, and Aharon Friedman. "Development and Adaptations of Innate Immunity in the Gastrointestinal Tract of the Newly Hatched Chick." *Developmental & Comparative Immunology* 30, no. 10 (2006): 930-41.
- Barna, JCJ, and DH Williams. "The Structure and Mode of Action of Glycopeptide Antibiotics of the Vancomycin Group." *Annual review of microbiology* 38, no. 1 (1984): 339-57.
- Barnes, E. M., C. S. Impey, and B. J. Stevens. "Factors Affecting the Incidence and Anti-Salmonella Activity of the Anaerobic Caecal Flora of the Young Chick." J Hyg (Lond) 82, no. 2 (Apr 1979): 263-83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022172400025687</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/34658</u>.
- Beghini, Francesco, Lauren J. McIver, Aitor Blanco-Míguez, Leonard Dubois, Francesco Asnicar, Sagun Maharjan, Ana Mailyan, *et al.* "Integrating Taxonomic, Functional, and Strain-Level Profiling of Diverse Microbial Communities with Biobakery 3." *eLife* 10 (2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/elife.65088</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.7554/elife.65088</u>.
- Benbough, J. E., and G. A. Morrison. "The Molecular Basis of an Inhibition by Tetracyclines." *Journal of General Microbiology* 49, no. 3 (1967): 469-85.

https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-49-3-469. https://dx.doi.org/10.1099/00221287-49-3-469.

- Birkegård, Anna Camilla, Kaare Græsbøll, Julie Clasen, Tariq Halasa, Nils Toft, and Anders Folkesson. "Continuing Occurrence of Vancomycin Resistance Determinants in Danish Pig Farms 20 Years after Removing Exposure to Avoparcin." *Veterinary Microbiology* 232 (2019): 84-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2019.04.007</u>. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2019.04.007.
- Bjerrum, L, RM Engberg, TD Leser, BB Jensen, K Finster, and Karl Pedersen. "Microbial Community Composition of the Ileum and Cecum of Broiler Chickens as Revealed by Molecular and Culture-Based Techniques." *Poultry science* 85, no. 7 (2006): 1151-64.
- Blair, Jessica MA, and Laura JV Piddock. "Structure, Function and Inhibition of Rnd Efflux Pumps in Gram-Negative Bacteria: An Update." *Current opinion in microbiology* 12, no. 5 (2009): 512-19.
- Boaretti, Marzia, Maria Del Mar Lleò, Barbara Bonato, Caterina Signoretto, and Pietro Canepari. "Involvement of Rpos in the Survival of *Escherichia Coli* in the Viable but Non-Culturable State." *Environmental Microbiology* 5, no. 10 (2003): 986-96.
- Boehm, Gunther, and Bernd Stahl. "Oligosaccharides from Milk." *The Journal of nutrition* 137, no. 3 (2007): 847S-49S.
- Bokulich, Nicholas A., Jennifer Chung, Thomas Battaglia, Nora Henderson, Melanie Jay, Huilin Li, Arnon D. Lieber, *et al.* "Antibiotics, Birth Mode, and Diet Shape Microbiome Maturation During Early Life." *Science Translational Medicine* (2016).
- Bolyen, Evan, Jai Ram Rideout, Matthew R Dillon, Nicholas A Bokulich, Christian C Abnet, Gabriel A Al-Ghalith, Harriet Alexander, *et al.* "Reproducible, Interactive, Scalable and Extensible Microbiome Data Science Using Qiime 2." *Nature biotechnology* 37, no. 8 (2019): 852-57.
- Bonomo, Robert A, and Dora Szabo. "Mechanisms of Multidrug Resistance in Acinetobacter Species and Pseudomonas Aeruginosa." *Clinical infectious diseases* 43, no. Supplement_2 (2006): S49-S56.
- Brandl, Katharina, Vipin Kumar, and Lars Eckmann. "Gut-Liver Axis at the Frontier of Host-Microbial Interactions." *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 312, no. 5 (2017): G413-G19.
- Branton, S. L., F. N. Reece, and W. M. Hagler, Jr. "Influence of a Wheat Diet on Mortality of Broiler Chickens Associated with Necrotic Enteritis." *Poultry Science* 66, no. 8 (Aug 1987): 1326-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.0661326</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2891128</u>.
- Bryson, Vernon, and Milislav Demerec. "Bacterial Resistance." *The American journal of medicine* 18, no. 5 (1955): 723-37.
- Callahan, Benjamin J., Paul J. McMurdie, Michael J. Rosen, Andrew W. Han, Amy Jo A. Johnson, and Susan P. Holmes. "Dada2: High-Resolution Sample Inference from Illumina Amplicon Data." *Nature Methods* 13, no. 7 (2016): 581-83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869</u>.
- Campana, Anna Maria, Hannah E Laue, Yike Shen, Martha J Shrubsole, and Andrea A Baccarelli. "Assessing the Role of the Gut Microbiome at the Interface between Environmental Chemical Exposures and Human Health: Current Knowledge and Challenges." *Environmental Pollution* (2022): 120380. https://ccac.ca/Documents/Standards/Guidelines/Farm Animals.pdf.

- Caselli, E. "Hygiene: Microbial Strategies to Reduce Pathogens and Drug Resistance in Clinical Settings." *Microb Biotechnol* 10, no. 5 (Sep 2017): 1079-83. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.12755.
- Casewell, M., C. Friis, E. Marco, P. McMullin, and I. Phillips. "The European Ban on Growth-Promoting Antibiotics and Emerging Consequences for Human and Animal Health." *J Antimicrob Chemother* 52, no. 2 (Aug 2003): 159-61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkg313</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12837737</u>.
- Caspi, R., R. Billington, L. Ferrer, H. Foerster, C. A. Fulcher, I. M. Keseler, A. Kothari, *et al.* "The Metacyc Database of Metabolic Pathways and Enzymes and the Biocyc Collection of Pathway/Genome Databases." *Nucleic Acids Res* 44, no. D1 (Jan 4 2016): D471-80.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv1164</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26527732</u>.
- Castanon, JIR. "History of the Use of Antibiotic as Growth Promoters in European Poultry Feeds." *Poultry science* 86, no. 11 (2007): 2466-71.
- Ceelen, Liesbeth, Annemie Decostere, Gerda Verschraegen, Richard Ducatelle, and Freddy Haesebrouck. "Prevalence of Helicobacter Pullorum among Patients with Gastrointestinal Disease and Clinically Healthy Persons." *Journal of clinical microbiology* 43, no. 6 (2005): 2984-86.
- Chambers, James R, and Joshua Gong. "The Intestinal Microbiota and Its Modulation for *Salmonella* Control in Chickens." *Food research international* 44, no. 10 (2011): 3149-59.
- Chen, Li, Jinhu Huang, Xinxin Huang, Yuping He, Junjie Sun, Xingyang Dai, Xiaoming Wang, Muhammad Shafiq, and Liping Wang. "Horizontal Transfer of Different Erm (B)-Carrying Mobile Elements among *Streptococcus Suis* Strains with Different Serotypes." *Front Microbiol* 12 (2021): 628740.
- Chen, Shifu, Yanqing Zhou, Yaru Chen, and Jia Gu. "Fastp: An Ultra-Fast All-in-One Fastq Preprocessor." *Bioinformatics* 34, no. 17 (2018): i884-i90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bty560</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bty560</u>.
- Cheng, W., H. Chen, C. Su, and S. Yan. "Abundance and Persistence of Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Livestock Farms: A Comprehensive Investigation in Eastern China." *Environ Int* 61 (Nov 2013): 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.08.023</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24091253</u>.
- Chevrot, Romain, Arnaud Carlotti, Valerie Sopena, Pierre Marchand, and Eric Rosenfeld. "Megamonas Rupellensis Sp. Nov., an Anaerobe Isolated from the Caecum of a Duck." *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* 58, no. 12 (2008): 2921-24.
- Chicken Farmers of Canada. "Amu Strategy a Prescription for Change." (2018). <u>https://www.chickenfarmers.ca/resources/amu-strategy-a-prescription-for-change/</u>.
- Chicken Farmers of Canada. On-Farm Food Safety Assurance Program, (2019).
- Choi, JH, GB Kim, and CJ Cha. "Spatial Heterogeneity and Stability of Bacterial Community in the Gastrointestinal Tracts of Broiler Chickens." *Poultry Science* 93, no. 8 (2014): 1942-50.
- Chopra, I., and M. Roberts. "Tetracycline Antibiotics: Mode of Action, Applications, Molecular Biology, and Epidemiology of Bacterial Resistance." *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 65, no. 2 (Jun 2001): 232-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.65.2.232-260.2001</u>.

- Chopra, Ian. "New Developments in Tetracycline Antibiotics: Glycylcyclines and Tetracycline Efflux Pump Inhibitors." *Drug resistance updates* 5, no. 3-4 (2002): 119-25.
- Clavijo, V., and M. J. V. Florez. "The Gastrointestinal Microbiome and Its Association with the Control of Pathogens in Broiler Chicken Production: A Review." *Poultry Science* 97, no. 3 (Mar 1 2018): 1006-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pex359</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29253263</u>.
- Clavijo, Viviana, Tatiana Morales, Martha Josefina Vives-Flores, and Alejandro Reyes Muñoz. "The Gut Microbiota of Chickens in a Commercial Farm Treated with a *Salmonella* Phage Cocktail." *Scientific reports* 12, no. 1 (2022): 1-16.
- Connell, Sean R, Dobryan M Tracz, Knud H Nierhaus, and Diane E Taylor. "Ribosomal Protection Proteins and Their Mechanism of Tetracycline Resistance." *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy* 47, no. 12 (2003): 3675-81.
- Cook, Richard H, and Francis H Bird. "Duodenal Villus Area and Epithelial Cellular Migration in Conventional and Germ-Free Chicks." *Poultry Science* 52, no. 6 (1973): 2276-80.
- Cooper, Ross G. "Ostrich (Struthio Camelus) Chick and Grower Nutrition." *Animal Science Journal* 75, no. 6 (2004): 487-90.
- Correa-Oliveira, R., J. L. Fachi, A. Vieira, F. T. Sato, and M. A. Vinolo. "Regulation of Immune Cell Function by Short-Chain Fatty Acids." *Clin Transl Immunology* 5, no. 4 (Apr 2016): e73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/cti.2016.17</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27195116.

- Corrier, D. E., B. M. Hargis, Jr. A. Hinton, and J. R. DeLoach. "Protective Effect of Used Poultry Litter and Lactose in the Feed Ration on Salmonella Enteritidis Colonization of Leghorn Chicks and Hens." *Avian Diseases* (1993).
- Corrier, Donald E., Jr. Arthur Hinton, Billy Hargis, and John R. DeLoach. "Effect of Used Litter from Floor Pens of Adult Broilers on Salmonella Colonization of Broiler Chicks." *Avian Diseases* (1992).
- Course, Chelsea E., Patrick Boerlin, Durda Slavic, Jean-Pierre Vaillancourt, and Michele T. Guerin. "Factors Associated with Salmonella Enterica and Escherichia Coli During Downtime in Commercial Broiler Chicken Barns in Ontario." *Poultry Science* 100, no. 5 (2021-05-01 2021): 101065. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2021.101065</u>.
- Cressman, M. D., Z. Yu, M. C. Nelson, S. J. Moeller, M. S. Lilburn, and H. N. Zerby. "Interrelations between the Microbiotas in the Litter and in the Intestines of Commercial Broiler Chickens." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 76, no. 19 (Oct 2010): 6572-82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00180-10</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20693454.
- Cressman, Michael David. "Effects of Litter Reuse on Performance, Welfare, and the Microbiome of the Litter and Gastrointestinal Tract of Commercial Broiler Chickens." 2014.
- Crhanova, M., H. Hradecka, M. Faldynova, M. Matulova, H. Havlickova, F. Sisak, and I. Rychlik. "Immune Response of Chicken Gut to Natural Colonization by Gut Microflora and to Salmonella Enterica Serovar Enteritidis Infection." *Infect Immun* 79, no. 7 (Jul 2011): 2755-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.01375-10</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21555397</u>.
- Cunningham, F., J. E. Allen, J. Allen, J. Alvarez-Jarreta, M. R. Amode, I. M. Armean, O. Austine-Orimoloye, *et al.* "Ensembl 2022." *Nucleic Acids Res* 50, no. D1 (Jan 7 2022):

D988-D95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkab1049</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/34791404.

- Cuong, Nguyen V, Pawin Padungtod, Guy Thwaites, and Juan J Carrique-Mas. "Antimicrobial Usage in Animal Production: A Review of the Literature with a Focus on Low-and Middle-Income Countries." *Antibiotics* 7, no. 3 (2018): 75.
- Dahl, Kristin Hegstad, Denis DG Mater, María José Flores, Pål Jarle Johnsen, Tore Midtvedt, Gerard Corthier, and Arnfinn Sundsfjord. "Transfer of Plasmid and Chromosomal Glycopeptide Resistance Determinants Occurs More Readily in the Digestive Tract of Mice Than in Vitro and Exconjugants Can Persist Stably in Vivo in the Absence of Glycopeptide Selection." *Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy* 59, no. 3 (2007): 478-86.
- Danzeisen, Jessica L, Hyeun Bum Kim, Richard E Isaacson, Zheng Jin Tu, and Timothy J Johnson. "Modulations of the Chicken Cecal Microbiome and Metagenome in Response to Anticoccidial and Growth Promoter Treatment." *PloS one* 6, no. 11 (2011): e27949.
- de Castro Burbarelli, M. F., G. do Valle Polycarpo, K. Deliberali Lelis, C. A. Granghelli, A. C. Carao de Pinho, S. Ribeiro Almeida Queiroz, A. M. Fernandes, *et al.* "Cleaning and Disinfection Programs against Campylobacter Jejuni for Broiler Chickens: Productive Performance, Microbiological Assessment and Characterization." *Poultry Science* 96, no. 9 (Sep 1 2017): 3188-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pex153</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28854757.
- De Cesare, Alessandra, Federico Sirri, Gerardo Manfreda, Paola Moniaci, Alberto Giardini, Marco Zampiga, and Adele Meluzzi. "Effect of Dietary Supplementation with Lactobacillus Acidophilus D2/Csl (Cect 4529) on Caecum Microbioma and Productive Performance in Broiler Chickens." *PloS one* 12, no. 5 (2017): e0176309.
- Derrien, M., P. Van Baarlen, G. Hooiveld, E. Norin, M. Muller, and W. M. de Vos. "Modulation of Mucosal Immune Response, Tolerance, and Proliferation in Mice Colonized by the Mucin-Degrader Akkermansia Muciniphila." *Front Microbiol* 2 (2011): 166. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2011.00166</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21904534</u>.
- Dhillon, A Singh, HL Shivaprasad, D Schaberg, F Wier, S Weber, and D Bandli. "Campylobacter Jejuni Infection in Broiler Chickens." *Avian diseases* 50, no. 1 (2006): 55-58.
- Diarra, Moussa S, and François Malouin. "Antibiotics in Canadian Poultry Productions and Anticipated Alternatives." *Front Microbiol* 5 (2014): 282.
- Dibner, J. J., and J. D. Richards. "Antibiotic Growth Promoters in Agriculture: History and Mode of Action." *Poultry Science* 84, no. 4 (Apr 2005): 634-43. https://doi.org/10.1093/ps/84.4.634. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15844822.
- Dominguez-Bello, M. G., E. K. Costello, M. Contreras, M. Magris, G. Hidalgo, N. Fierer, and R. Knight. "Delivery Mode Shapes the Acquisition and Structure of the Initial Microbiota across Multiple Body Habitats in Newborns." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107, no. 26 (Jun 29 2010): 11971-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1002601107</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20566857</u>.
- Du, Dijun, Xuan Wang-Kan, Arthur Neuberger, Hendrik W Van Veen, Klaas M Pos, Laura JV Piddock, and Ben F Luisi. "Multidrug Efflux Pumps: Structure, Function and Regulation." *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 16, no. 9 (2018): 523-39.

- Dziarski, Roman, Shin Yong Park, Des Raj Kashyap, Scot E. Dowd, and Dipika Gupta. "Pglyrp-Regulated Gut Microflora Prevotella Falsenii, Parabacteroides Distasonis and Bacteroides Eggerthii Enhance and Alistipes Finegoldii Attenuates Colitis in Mice." *PLOS ONE* 11, no. 1 (2016): e0146162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0146162</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0146162</u>.
- Falony, Gwen, and Luc De Vuyst. "Ecological Interactions of Bacteria in the Human Gut." *Prebiotics and probiotics science and technology* (2009): 639.
- Fan, Y., A. J. Forgie, T. Ju, C. Marcolla, T. Inglis, L. M. McMullen, B. P. Willing, and D. R. Korver. "The Use of Disinfectant in Barn Cleaning Alters Microbial Composition and Increases Carriage of Campylobacter Jejuni in Broiler Chickens." [In eng]. *Applied Environ Microbiol* 88, no. 10 (May 24 2022): e0029522. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.00295-22. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/35475671.
- Farrell, David. "The Role of Poultry in Human Nutrition." *Poultry Development Review. Rome:* Food and Agriculture Organization (2013): 2-9.
- Feng, Yuqing, Yanan Wang, Baoli Zhu, George Fu Gao, Yuming Guo, and Yongfei Hu.
 "Metagenome-Assembled Genomes and Gene Catalog from the Chicken Gut Microbiome Aid in Deciphering Antibiotic Resistomes." *Communications biology* 4, no. 1 (2021): 1-9.
- Flint, H. J., K. P. Scott, S. H. Duncan, P. Louis, and E. Forano. "Microbial Degradation of Complex Carbohydrates in the Gut." *Gut Microbes* 3, no. 4 (Jul-Aug 2012): 289-306. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.19897. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22572875.
- Forder, REA, GS Howarth, DR Tivey, and RJ Hughes. "Bacterial Modulation of Small Intestinal Goblet Cells and Mucin Composition During Early Posthatch Development of Poultry." *Poultry science* 86, no. 11 (2007): 2396-403.
- Forgie, A. J., Y. Gao, T. Ju, D. M. Pepin, K. Yang, M. G. Ganzle, J. A. Ozga, C. B. Chan, and B. P. Willing. "Pea Polyphenolics and Hydrolysis Processing Alter Microbial Community Structure and Early Pathogen Colonization in Mice." *J Nutr Biochem* 67 (May 2019): 101-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2019.01.012</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30877891.
- Forsberg, Kevin J, Sanket Patel, Molly K Gibson, Christian L Lauber, Rob Knight, Noah Fierer, and Gautam Dantas. "Bacterial Phylogeny Structures Soil Resistomes across Habitats." *Nature* 509, no. 7502 (2014): 612-16.
- Forsberg, Kevin J, Sanket Patel, Timothy A Wencewicz, and Gautam Dantas. "The Tetracycline Destructases: A Novel Family of Tetracycline-Inactivating Enzymes." *Chemistry & biology* 22, no. 7 (2015): 888-97.
- Frank, D. N., A. L. S. Amand, R. A. Feldman, E. C. Boedeker, N. Harpaz, and N. R. Pace.
 "Molecular-Phylogenetic Characterization of Microbial Community Imbalances in Human Inflammatory Bowel Diseases." [In English]. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 104, no. 34 (Aug 21 2007): 13780-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0706625104</u>.
- Franklin, T. J., and G. A. Snow. "Antiseptics, Antibiotics and the Cell Membrane." 43-59: Springer Netherlands, 1998.
- Fries, R, M Akcan, N Bandick, and A Kobe. "Microflora of Two Different Types of Poultry Litter." *British poultry science* 46, no. 6 (2005): 668-72.
- Fujimura, K. E., T. Demoor, M. Rauch, A. A. Faruqi, S. Jang, C. C. Johnson, H. A. Boushey, *et al.* "House Dust Exposure Mediates Gut Microbiome Lactobacillus Enrichment and

Airway Immune Defense against Allergens and Virus Infection." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 111, no. 2 (Jan 14 2014): 805-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1310750111</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24344318</u>.

- Fujita, Kiyotaka, Yukari Takashi, Eriko Obuchi, Kanefumi Kitahara, and Toshihiko Suganuma. "Characterization of a Novel B-L-Arabinofuranosidase in Bifidobacterium Longum." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 289, no. 8 (2014): 5240-49. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m113.528711. https://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m113.528711.
- Furtula, V., E. G. Farrell, F. Diarrassouba, H. Rempel, J. Pritchard, and M. S. Diarra. "Veterinary Pharmaceuticals and Antibiotic Resistance of Escherichia Coli Isolates in Poultry Litter from Commercial Farms and Controlled Feeding Trials." *Poultry Science* 89, no. 1 (Jan 2010): 180-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2009-00198</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20008817</u>.
- Gadaleta, R. M., K. J. van Erpecum, B. Oldenburg, E. C. Willemsen, W. Renooij, S. Murzilli, L. W. Klomp, *et al.* "Farnesoid X Receptor Activation Inhibits Inflammation and Preserves the Intestinal Barrier in Inflammatory Bowel Disease." *Gut* 60, no. 4 (Apr 2011): 463-72. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2010.212159. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21242261.
- Gadea, Rebeca, Miguel Ángel Fernández Fuentes, Rubén Pérez Pulido, Antonio Gálvez, and Elena Ortega. "Effects of Exposure to Quaternary-Ammonium-Based Biocides on Antimicrobial Susceptibility and Tolerance to Physical Stresses in Bacteria from Organic Foods." *Food microbiology* 63 (2017): 58-71.
- Ganesh, B. P., R. Klopfleisch, G. Loh, and M. Blaut. "Commensal Akkermansia Muciniphila Exacerbates Gut Inflammation in Salmonella Typhimurium-Infected Gnotobiotic Mice." *PLoS One* 8, no. 9 (2013): e74963. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0074963</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24040367</u>.
- Gilbert, Harry J., J. Paul Knox, and Alisdair B. Boraston. "Advances in Understanding the Molecular Basis of Plant Cell Wall Polysaccharide Recognition by Carbohydrate-Binding Modules." *Current Opinion in Structural Biology* 23, no. 5 (2013): 669-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2013.05.005</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2013.05.005</u>.
- Glendinning, L., C. Chintoan-Uta, M. P. Stevens, and M. Watson. "Effect of Cecal Microbiota Transplantation between Different Broiler Breeds on the Chick Flora in the First Week of Life." *Poultry Science* 101, no. 2 (Feb 2022): 101624.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2021.101624</u>.
 <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/34936955</u>.
- Glendinning, Laura, Kellie A. Watson, and Mick Watson. "Development of the Duodenal, Ileal, Jejunal and Caecal Microbiota in Chickens." *Animal Microbiome* 1, no. 1 (2019). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s42523-019-0017-z</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s42523-019-0017-z</u>. z.
- Godfray, H Charles J, Paul Aveyard, Tara Garnett, Jim W Hall, Timothy J Key, Jamie Lorimer, Ray T Pierrehumbert, *et al.* "Meat Consumption, Health, and the Environment." *Science* 361, no. 6399 (2018): eaam5324.
- Goldenkova-Pavlova, Irina V., Alexander A Tyurin, and Orkhan N. Mustafaev. "The Features That Distinguish Lichenases from Other Polysaccharide-Hydrolyzing Enzymes and the Relevance of Lichenases for Biotechnological Applications." *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 102, no. 9 (2018): 3951-65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-018-8904-x</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00253-018-8904-x</u>.

- Gong, Jianhua, Weiduo Si, Robert J. Forster, Ruilin Huang, Hai Yu, Yulong Yin, Chengbo Yang, and Yanming Han. "16s Rrna Gene-Based Analysis of Mucosa-Associated Bacterial Community and Phylogeny in the Chicken Gastrointestinal Tracts: From Crops to Ceca." *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 59, no. 1 (2007): 147-57. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2006.00193.x. https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2006.00193.x.
- Gong, Li, Baikui Wang, Yuanhao Zhou, Li Tang, Zihan Zeng, Huihua Zhang, and Weifen Li.
 "Protective Effects of Lactobacillus Plantarum 16 and Paenibacillus Polymyxa 10 against Clostridium Perfringens Infection in Broilers." *Frontiers in Immunology* 11 (2021): 628374.
- Goodenough, Anne E., Bethan Stallwood, Shantelle Dandy, Thomas E. Nicholson, Hannah Stubbs, and David G. Coker. "Like Mother Like Nest: Similarity in Microbial Communities of Adult Female Pied Flycatchers and Their Nests." *Journal of Ornithology* 158, no. 1 (2016): 233-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-016-1371-1</u>.
- Gopal, Pramod K, and HS Gill. "Oligosaccharides and Glycoconjugates in Bovine Milk and Colostrum." *British Journal of Nutrition* 84, no. S1 (2000): 69-74.
- Gray, Gary M. "Starch Digestion and Absorption in Nonruminants." *The Journal of nutrition* 122, no. 1 (1992): 172-77.
- Grenier, B., H. E. Schwartz-Zimmermann, S. Caha, W. D. Moll, G. Schatzmayr, and T. J. Applegate. "Dose-Dependent Effects on Sphingoid Bases and Cytokines in Chickens Fed Diets Prepared with Fusarium Verticillioides Culture Material Containing Fumonisins." *Toxins (Basel)* 7, no. 4 (Apr 13 2015): 1253-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins7041253</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25871822</u>.
- Gullberg, Erik, Sha Cao, Otto G Berg, Carolina Ilbäck, Linus Sandegren, Diarmaid Hughes, and Dan I Andersson. "Selection of Resistant Bacteria at Very Low Antibiotic Concentrations." *PLoS pathogens* 7, no. 7 (2011): e1002158.
- Gupta, C. L., S. E. Blum, K. Kattusamy, T. Daniel, S. Druyan, R. Shapira, O. Krifucks, *et al.*"Longitudinal Study on the Effects of Growth-Promoting and Therapeutic Antibiotics on the Dynamics of Chicken Cloacal and Litter Microbiomes and Resistomes." *Microbiome* 9, no. 1 (Aug 28 2021): 178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-021-01136-4</u>.
 <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/34454634</u>.
- Hakkinen, M, and C Schneitz. "Efficacy of a Commercial Competitive Exclusion Product against Campylobacter Jejuni." *British Poultry Science* 40, no. 5 (1999): 619-21.
- Hall, Maria C., Jon Duerschner, John E. Gilley, Amy M. Schmidt, Shannon L. Bartelt-Hunt, Daniel D. Snow, Kent M. Eskridge, and Xu Li. "Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Swine Manure Slurry as Affected by Pit Additives and Facility Disinfectants." *Science of The Total Environment* 761 (2021): 143287. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143287</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143287</u>.
- Hamaker, Bruce R, and Yunus E Tuncil. "A Perspective on the Complexity of Dietary Fiber Structures and Their Potential Effect on the Gut Microbiota." *Journal of molecular biology* 426, no. 23 (2014): 3838-50.
- Han, Ziming, Yu Zhang, Wei An, Junying Lu, Jianying Hu, and Min Yang. "Antibiotic Resistomes in Drinking Water Sources across a Large Geographical Scale: Multiple Drivers and Co-Occurrence with Opportunistic Bacterial Pathogens." *Water Research* 183 (2020): 116088.

- Hartman, Barry J, and Alexander Tomasz. "Low-Affinity Penicillin-Binding Protein Associated with Beta-Lactam Resistance in Staphylococcus Aureus." *Journal of bacteriology* 158, no. 2 (1984): 513-16.
- Hauryliuk, Vasili, Gemma C Atkinson, Katsuhiko S Murakami, Tanel Tenson, and Kenn Gerdes. "Recent Functional Insights into the Role of (P) Ppgpp in Bacterial Physiology." *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 13, no. 5 (2015): 298-309.
- Hinchliffe, Philip, Nicholas P Greene, Neil G Paterson, Allister Crow, Colin Hughes, and Vassilis Koronakis. "Structure of the Periplasmic Adaptor Protein from a Major Facilitator Superfamily (Mfs) Multidrug Efflux Pump." *FEBS letters* 588, no. 17 (2014): 3147-53.
- Hofacre, C. L., T. Beacorn, S. Collett, and G. Mathis. "Using Competitive Exclusion, Mannan-Oligosaccharide and Other Intestinal Products to Control Necrotic Enteritis." *Journal of Applied Poultry Research* 12, no. 1 (2003): 60-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/japr/12.1.60</u>.
- Holmes, Alison H, Luke SP Moore, Arnfinn Sundsfjord, Martin Steinbakk, Sadie Regmi, Abhilasha Karkey, Philippe J Guerin, and Laura JV Piddock. "Understanding the Mechanisms and Drivers of Antimicrobial Resistance." *The Lancet* 387, no. 10014 (2016): 176-87.
- Hong, Hee-Jeon, Matthew I Hutchings, and Mark J Buttner. "Vancomycin Resistance Vans/Vanr Two-Component Systems." *Bacterial Signal Transduction: Networks and Drug Targets* (2008): 200-13.
- Honjo, Kazuhito, Takehiro Hagiwara, Kikuji Itoh, Eiji Takahashi, and Yoshikazu Hirota.
 "Immunohistochemical Analysis of Tissue Distribution of B and T Cells in Germfree and Conventional Chickens." *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science* 55, no. 6 (1993): 1031-34.
- Huang, Lu, Yanbin Xu, Jiaxin Xu, Jiayin Ling, Li Zheng, Xiao Zhou, and Guangyan Xie.
 "Dissemination of Antibiotic Resistance Genes (Args) by Rainfall on a Cyclic Economic Breeding Livestock Farm." *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation* 138 (2019): 114-21.
- Hull, Dawn M, Erin Harrell, Arnoud HM van Vliet, Maria Correa, and Siddhartha Thakur.
 "Antimicrobial Resistance and Interspecies Gene Transfer in Campylobacter Coli and Campylobacter Jejuni Isolated from Food Animals, Poultry Processing, and Retail Meat in North Carolina, 2018–2019." *PLoS One* 16, no. 2 (2021): e0246571.
- Hurd, H Scott, Stephanie Doores, Dermot Hayes, Alan Mathew, John Maurer, Peter Silley, Randall S Singer, and Ronald N Jones. "Public Health Consequences of Macrolide Use in Food Animals: A Deterministic Risk Assessment." *Journal of food protection* 67, no. 5 (2004): 980-92.
- Hurst, Jerod J, Jason P Oliver, Jenna Schueler, Curt Gooch, Stephanie Lansing, Emily Crossette, Krista Wigginton, *et al.* "Trends in Antimicrobial Resistance Genes in Manure Blend Pits and Long-Term Storage across Dairy Farms with Comparisons to Antimicrobial Usage and Residual Concentrations." *Environmental science & technology* 53, no. 5 (2019): 2405-15.
- Hyatt, Doug, Gwo-Liang Chen, Philip F LoCascio, Miriam L Land, Frank W Larimer, and Loren J Hauser. "Prodigal: Prokaryotic Gene Recognition and Translation Initiation Site Identification." *BMC bioinformatics* 11, no. 1 (2010): 1-11.

- Ichihashi, Teruhisa, Yasushi Takagishi, Kiyohisa Uchida, and Hideo Yamada. "Colonic Absorption of Menaquinone-4 and Menaquinone-9 in Rats." *The Journal of nutrition* 122, no. 3 (1992): 506-12.
- Jacquier, V., A. Nelson, M. Jlali, L. Rhayat, K. S. Brinch, and E. Devillard. "Bacillus Subtilis 29784 Induces a Shift in Broiler Gut Microbiome toward Butyrate-Producing Bacteria and Improves Intestinal Histomorphology and Animal Performance." *Poultry Science* 98, no. 6 (Jun 1 2019): 2548-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pey602</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30668816.
- Jenner, Lasse, Agata L Starosta, Daniel S Terry, Aleksandra Mikolajka, Liudmila Filonava, Marat Yusupov, Scott C Blanchard, Daniel N Wilson, and Gulnara Yusupova. "Structural Basis for Potent Inhibitory Activity of the Antibiotic Tigecycline During Protein Synthesis." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110, no. 10 (2013): 3812-16.
- Jones, P. J., J. Niemi, J. P. Christensen, R. B. Tranter, and R. M. Bennett. "A Review of the Financial Impact of Production Diseases in Poultry Production Systems." *Animal Production Science* 59, no. 9 (2019): 1585. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/an18281</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1071/an18281</u>.
- Józefiak, D, A Rutkowski, and SA Martin. "Carbohydrate Fermentation in the Avian Ceca: A Review." *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 113, no. 1-4 (2004): 1-15.
- Jurburg, S. D., M. S. M. Brouwer, D. Ceccarelli, J. van der Goot, A. J. M. Jansman, and A. Bossers. "Patterns of Community Assembly in the Developing Chicken Microbiome Reveal Rapid Primary Succession." *Microbiologyopen* 8, no. 9 (Sep 2019): e00821. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mbo3.821</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30828985</u>.
- Juricova, H., J. Matiasovicova, T. Kubasova, D. Cejkova, and I. Rychlik. "The Distribution of Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Chicken Gut Microbiota Commensals." *Sci Rep* 11, no. 1 (Feb 8 2021): 3290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-82640-3</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/33558560</u>.
- Just, Natasha A, Valérie Létourneau, Shelley P Kirychuk, Baljit Singh, and Caroline Duchaine. "Potentially Pathogenic Bacteria and Antimicrobial Resistance in Bioaerosols from Cage-Housed and Floor-Housed Poultry Operations." *Annals of occupational hygiene* 56, no. 4 (2012): 440-49.
- Kaakoush, Nadeem O, Nidhi Sodhi, Jeremy W Chenu, Julian M Cox, Stephen M Riordan, and Hazel M Mitchell. "The Interplay between Campylobacter and Helicobacter Species and Other Gastrointestinal Microbiota of Commercial Broiler Chickens." *Gut Pathogens* 6 (2014): 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1757-4749-6-18</u>.
- Kampf, Günter. "Biocidal Agents Used for Disinfection Can Enhance Antibiotic Resistance in Gram-Negative Species." Antibiotics 7, no. 4 (2018): 110. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics7040110</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics7040110</u>.
- Karumuthil-Melethil, Subha, Radhika Gudi, Benjamin M Johnson, Nicolas Perez, and Chenthamarakshan Vasu. "Fungal B-Glucan, a Dectin-1 Ligand, Promotes Protection from Type 1 Diabetes by Inducing Regulatory Innate Immune Response." *The Journal of Immunology* 193, no. 7 (2014): 3308-21.
- Kers, Jannigje G, Francisca C Velkers, Egil AJ Fischer, Gerben DA Hermes, J Arjan Stegeman, and Hauke Smidt. "Host and Environmental Factors Affecting the Intestinal Microbiota in Chickens." *Front Microbiol* 9 (2018): 235.

- Kim, Minjae, Michael R Weigand, Seungdae Oh, Janet K Hatt, Raj Krishnan, Ulas Tezel, Spyros G Pavlostathis, and Konstantinos T Konstantinidis. "Widely Used Benzalkonium Chloride Disinfectants Can Promote Antibiotic Resistance." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 84, no. 17 (2018): e01201-18.
- Kim, S. Y., S. Kuppusamy, J. H. Kim, Y. E. Yoon, K. R. Kim, and Y. B. Lee. "Occurrence and Diversity of Tetracycline Resistance Genes in the Agricultural Soils of South Korea." *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 23, no. 21 (Nov 2016): 22190-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7574-4</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27638788</u>.
- Kim, Younjung, Marcus HY Leung, Wendy Kwok, Guillaume Fournié, Jun Li, Patrick KH Lee, and Dirk U Pfeiffer. "Antibiotic Resistance Gene Sharing Networks and the Effect of Dietary Nutritional Content on the Canine and Feline Gut Resistome." *Animal microbiome* 2, no. 1 (2020): 1-14.
- Koenig, Jeremy E, Aymé Spor, Nicholas Scalfone, Ashwana D Fricker, Jesse Stombaugh, Rob Knight, Largus T Angenent, and Ruth E Ley. "Succession of Microbial Consortia in the Developing Infant Gut Microbiome." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108, no. supplement 1 (2011): 4578-85.
- Kollarcikova, Miloslava, Tereza Kubasova, Daniela Karasova, Magdalena Crhanova, Darina Cejkova, Frantisek Sisak, and Ivan Rychlik. "Use of 16s Rrna Gene Sequencing for Prediction of New Opportunistic Pathogens in Chicken Ileal and Cecal Microbiota." *Poultry science* 98, no. 6 (2019): 2347-53.
- Konsak, Barbara M, Dragana Stanley, Volker R Haring, Mark S Geier, Robert J Hughes, Gordon S Howarth, Tamsyn M Crowley, and Robert J Moore. "Identification of Differential Duodenal Gene Expression Levels and Microbiota Abundance Correlated with Differences in Energy Utilisation in Chickens." *Animal Production Science* 53, no. 12 (2013): 1269-75.
- Kubasova, Tereza, Miloslava Kollarcikova, Magdalena Crhanova, Daniela Karasova, Darina Cejkova, Alena Sebkova, Jitka Matiasovicova, *et al.* "Contact with Adult Hen Affects Development of Caecal Microbiota in Newly Hatched Chicks." *PLOS ONE* 14, no. 3 (2019): e0212446. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0212446</u>. https://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0212446.
- Kubasova, Tereza, Miloslava Kollarcikova, Magdalena Crhanova, Daniela Karasova, Darina Cejkova, Alena Sebkova, Jitka Matiasovicova, *et al.* "Gut Anaerobes Capable of Chicken Caecum Colonisation." *Microorganisms* 7, no. 12 (2019): 597.
- Kumar, Sanjay, Chongxiao Chen, Nagaraju Indugu, Gabriela Orosco Werlang, Manpreet Singh, Woo Kyun Kim, and Harshavardhan Thippareddi. "Effect of Antibiotic Withdrawal in Feed on Chicken Gut Microbial Dynamics, Immunity, Growth Performance and Prevalence of Foodborne Pathogens." *PloS one* 13, no. 2 (2018): e0192450.
- Lan, Y, MWA Verstegen, S Tamminga, and BA Williams. "The Role of the Commensal Gut Microbial Community in Broiler Chickens." *World's poultry science journal* 61, no. 1 (2005): 95-104.
- Lebeaux, Rebecca M, Modupe O Coker, Erika F Dade, Thomas J Palys, Hilary G Morrison, Benjamin D Ross, Emily R Baker, *et al.* "The Infant Gut Resistome Is Associated with E. Coli and Early-Life Exposures." *BMC microbiology* 21, no. 1 (2021): 1-18.
- Lee, KW, HS Lillehoj, SI Jang, SH Lee, DA Bautista, and GR Siragusa. "Effect of Bacillus Subtilis-Based Direct-Fed Microbials on Immune Status in Broiler Chickens Raised on

Fresh or Used Litter." *Asian-Australasian journal of animal sciences* 26, no. 11 (2013): 1592.

- Leinweber, Helena, Sulaiman MI Alotaibi, Søren Overballe-Petersen, Frank Hansen, Henrik Hasman, Valeria Bortolaia, Anette M Hammerum, and Hanne Ingmer. "Vancomycin Resistance in Enterococcus Faecium Isolated from Danish Chicken Meat Is Located on a Pvef4-Like Plasmid Persisting in Poultry for 18 Years." *International journal of antimicrobial agents* 52, no. 2 (2018): 283-86.
- Levy, M., E. Blacher, and E. Elinav. "Microbiome, Metabolites and Host Immunity." Curr Opin Microbiol 35 (Feb 2017): 8-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2016.10.003</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27883933.
- Li, Baiyuan, Dan Chen, Fan Lin, Chuanyu Wu, Linyan Cao, Huahai Chen, Yunfei Hu, and Yeshi Yin. "Genomic Island-Mediated Horizontal Transfer of the Erythromycin Resistance Gene Erm (X) among Bifidobacteria." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 88, no. 10 (2022): e00410-22.
- Li, C., C. Jiang, Z. Wu, B. Cheng, X. An, H. Wang, Y. Sun, *et al.* "Diversity of Antibiotic Resistance Genes and Encoding Ribosomal Protection Proteins Gene in Livestock Waste Polluted Environment." *J Environ Sci Health B* 53, no. 7 (2018): 423-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03601234.2018.1438836</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29469609</u>.
- Li, Dinghua, Chi-Man Liu, Ruibang Luo, Kunihiko Sadakane, and Tak-Wah Lam. "Megahit: An Ultra-Fast Single-Node Solution for Large and Complex Metagenomics Assembly Via Succinct De Bruijn Graph." *Bioinformatics* 31, no. 10 (2015): 1674-76.
- Li, Xian-Zhi, Dzwokai Ma, David M Livermore, and Hiroshi Nikaido. "Role of Efflux Pump (S) in Intrinsic Resistance of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa: Active Efflux as a Contributing Factor to Beta-Lactam Resistance." *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy* 38, no. 8 (1994): 1742-52.
- Li, Xianyao, Christina L Swaggerty, Michael H Kogut, Hsin-I Chiang, Ying Wang, Kenneth J Genovese, Haiqi He, and Huaijun Zhou. "Gene Expression Profiling of the Local Cecal Response of Genetic Chicken Lines That Differ in Their Susceptibility to Campylobacter Jejuni Colonization." *PloS one* 5, no. 7 (2010): e11827.
- Liao, Xiudong, Yuxin Shao, Guangming Sun, Yunfeng Yang, Liyang Zhang, Yanli Guo, Xugang Luo, and Lin Lu. "The Relationship among Gut Microbiota, Short-Chain Fatty Acids, and Intestinal Morphology of Growing and Healthy Broilers." *Poultry Science* 99, no. 11 (2020): 5883-95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2020.08.033</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2020.08.033</u>.
- Lilijebjelke, K, C Hofacre, LIU TONGRUI, and J MAURER. "Molecular Epidemiology of Salmonella on Poultry Farms in Ne Georgia." Paper presented at the Program and Abstracts, Congress of the World Veterinary Poultry Association, 2003.
- Lin, Huirong, Chengsong Ye, Sheng Chen, Shenghua Zhang, and Xin Yu. "Viable but Non-Culturable E. Coli Induced by Low Level Chlorination Have Higher Persistence to Antibiotics Than Their Culturable Counterparts." *Environmental Pollution* 230 (2017): 242-49.
- Lin, Yicen, Shuai Xu, Dong Zeng, Xueqin Ni, Mengjia Zhou, Yan Zeng, Hesong Wang, et al.
 "Disruption in the Cecal Microbiota of Chickens Challenged with Clostridium Perfringens and Other Factors Was Alleviated by Bacillus Licheniformis Supplementation." PLOS ONE 12, no. 8 (2017): e0182426.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0182426. https://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0182426.

- Louis, Petra, and Harry J Flint. "Diversity, Metabolism and Microbial Ecology of Butyrate-Producing Bacteria from the Human Large Intestine." *FEMS microbiology letters* 294, no. 1 (2009): 1-8.
- Lovanh, Nanh, KL Cook, MJ Rothrock, DM Miles, and Karamat Sistani. "Spatial Shifts in Microbial Population Structure within Poultry Litter Associated with Physicochemical Properties." *Poultry science* 86, no. 9 (2007): 1840-49.
- Lozupone, C. A., J. I. Stombaugh, J. I. Gordon, J. K. Jansson, and R. Knight. "Diversity, Stability and Resilience of the Human Gut Microbiota." *Nature* 489, no. 7415 (Sep 13 2012): 220-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11550</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22972295</u>.
- Lu, J., U. Idris, B. Harmon, C. Hofacre, J. J. Maurer, and M. D. Lee. "Diversity and Succession of the Intestinal Bacterial Community of the Maturing Broiler Chicken." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 69, no. 11 (Nov 2003): 6816-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.11.6816-6824.2003</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14602645</u>.
- Lu, Jingrang, Susan Sanchez, Charles Hofacre, John J Maurer, Barry G Harmon, and Margie D Lee. "Evaluation of Broiler Litter with Reference to the Microbial Composition as Assessed by Using 16s Rrna and Functional Gene Markers." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 69, no. 2 (2003): 901-08.
- Luiken, Roosmarijn EC, Dick JJ Heederik, Peter Scherpenisse, Liese Van Gompel, Eri van Heijnsbergen, Gerdit D Greve, Betty GM Jongerius-Gortemaker, *et al.* "Determinants for Antimicrobial Resistance Genes in Farm Dust on 333 Poultry and Pig Farms in Nine European Countries." *Environmental Research* 208 (2022): 112715.
- Lund, Marianne, L Bjerrum, and Karl Pedersen. "Quantification of Faecalibacterium Prausnitziiand Subdoligranulum Variabile-Like Bacteria in the Cecum of Chickens by Real-Time Pcr." *Poultry science* 89, no. 6 (2010): 1217-24.
- Ma, Tao, Tim A. McAllister, and Le Luo Guan. "A Review of the Resistome within the Digestive Tract of Livestock." *Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology* 12, no. 1 (2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40104-021-00643-6</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s40104-021-00643-6</u>.
- Maki, Joel J., Elizabeth A. Bobeck, Matthew J. Sylte, and Torey Looft. "Eggshell and Environmental Bacteria Contribute to the Intestinal Microbiota of Growing Chickens." *Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology* 11, no. 1 (2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40104-020-00459-w</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s40104-020-00459-w</u>.
- Mantilla-Calderon, David, Michael J. Plewa, Grégoire Michoud, Stelios Fodelianakis, Daniele Daffonchio, and Pei-Ying Hong. "Water Disinfection Byproducts Increase Natural Transformation Rates of Environmental DNA in *Acinetobacter Baylyi* Adp1." *Environmental Science & Technology* 53, no. 11 (2019): 6520-28. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b00692. https://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b00692.
- McClure, Ryan, and Paola Massari. "Tlr-Dependent Human Mucosal Epithelial Cell Responses to Microbial Pathogens." *Frontiers in immunology* 5 (2014): 386.
- McNally, David J, Annie J Aubry, Joseph PM Hui, Nam H Khieu, Dennis Whitfield, Cheryl P Ewing, Patricia Guerry, *et al.* "Targeted Metabolomics Analysis of Campylobacter Coli

Vc167 Reveals Legionaminic Acid Derivatives as Novel Flagellar Glycans." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282, no. 19 (2007): 14463-75.

- McNamara, Patrick J, and Stuart B Levy. "Triclosan: An Instructive Tale." *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy* 60, no. 12 (2016): 7015-16.
- Medvecky, Matej, Darina Cejkova, Ondrej Polansky, Daniela Karasova, Tereza Kubasova, Alois Cizek, and Ivan Rychlik. "Whole Genome Sequencing and Function Prediction of 133 Gut Anaerobes Isolated from Chicken Caecum in Pure Cultures." *BMC Genomics* 19, no. 1 (2018). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-018-4959-4</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12864-018-4959-4</u>.
- Metzler-Zebeli, Barbara U., Sina-Catherine Siegerstetter, Elizabeth Magowan, Peadar G. Lawlor, Renée M. Petri, Niamh E. O'Connell, and Qendrim Zebeli. "Feed Restriction Modifies Intestinal Microbiota-Host Mucosal Networking in Chickens Divergent in Residual Feed Intake." *mSystems* 4, no. 1 (2019): e00261-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/msystems.00261-18</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1128/msystems.00261-18</u>.
- Mohd Shaufi, M. A., C. C. Sieo, C. W. Chong, H. M. Gan, and Y. W. Ho. "Deciphering Chicken Gut Microbial Dynamics Based on High-Throughput 16s Rrna Metagenomics Analyses." *Gut Pathog* 7 (2015): 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13099-015-0051-7</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25806087</u>.
- Molina-González, Diana, Carlos Alonso-Calleja, Alicia Alonso-Hernando, and Rosa Capita. "Effect of Sub-Lethal Concentrations of Biocides on the Susceptibility to Antibiotics of Multi-Drug Resistant Salmonella Enterica Strains." *Food Control* 40 (2014): 329-34.
- Moore, Robert J. "Necrotic Enteritis Predisposing Factors in Broiler Chickens." *Avian Pathology* 45, no. 3 (2016): 275-81.
- Mountzouris, K. C., C. Balaskas, I. Xanthakos, A. Tzivinikou, and K. Fegeros. "Effects of a Multi-Species Probiotic on Biomarkers of Competitive Exclusion Efficacy in Broilers Challenged with Salmonella Enteritidis." *British Poultry Science* 50, no. 4 (Jul 2009): 467-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00071660903110935</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19735016.
- Mourkas, Evangelos, Diego Florez-Cuadrado, Ben Pascoe, Jessica K Calland, Sion C Bayliss, Leonardos Mageiros, Guillaume Méric, *et al.* "Gene Pool Transmission of Multidrug Resistance among Campylobacter from Livestock, Sewage and Human Disease." *Environmental microbiology* 21, no. 12 (2019): 4597-613.
- Mueller, Noel T, Elizabeth Bakacs, Joan Combellick, Zoya Grigoryan, and Maria G Dominguez-Bello. "The Infant Microbiome Development: Mom Matters." *Trends in molecular medicine* 21, no. 2 (2015): 109-17.
- Mulatu, Getamesay, Getenet Beyene, and Ahmed Zeynudin. "Prevalence of Shigella, Salmonella and Cmpylobacter Species and Their Susceptibility Patters among under Five Children with Diarrhea in Hawassa Town, South Ethiopia." *Ethiopian journal of health sciences* 24, no. 2 (2014): 101.
- Munk, Patrick, Berith Elkær Knudsen, Oksana Lukjancenko, Ana Sofia Ribeiro Duarte, Liese Van Gompel, Roosmarijn E. C. Luiken, Lidwien A. M. Smit, *et al.* "Abundance and Diversity of the Faecal Resistome in Slaughter Pigs and Broilers in Nine European Countries." *Nature Microbiology* 3, no. 8 (2018): 898-908.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-018-0192-9</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41564-018-0192-9</u>.

- Mwangi, S, J Timmons, S Fitz-Coy, and S Parveen. "Characterization of Clostridium Perfringens Recovered from Broiler Chicken Affected by Necrotic Enteritis." *Poultry Science* 98, no. 1 (2019): 128-35.
- Nandi, S., J. J. Maurer, C. Hofacre, and A. O. Summers. "Gram-Positive Bacteria Are a Major Reservoir of Class 1 Antibiotic Resistance Integrons in Poultry Litter." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101, no. 18 (May 4 2004): 7118-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0306466101</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15107498.
- Nastasi, Claudia, Marco Candela, Charlotte Menné Bonefeld, Carsten Geisler, Morten Hansen, Thorbjørn Krejsgaard, Elena Biagi, *et al.* "The Effect of Short-Chain Fatty Acids on Human Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells." *Scientific Reports* 5, no. 1 (2015): 16148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep16148</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep16148</u>.
- Newell, DG, and CJAEM Fearnley. "Sources of Campylobacter Colonization in Broiler Chickens." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 69, no. 8 (2003): 4343-51.
- Niewold, TA. "The Nonantibiotic Anti-Inflammatory Effect of Antimicrobial Growth Promoters, the Real Mode of Action? A Hypothesis." *Poultry science* 86, no. 4 (2007): 605-09.
- Nijland, Reindert, J. Grant Burgess, Jeff Errington, and Jan-Willem Veening. "Transformation of Environmental Bacillus Subtilis Isolates by Transiently Inducing Genetic Competence." *PLoS ONE* 5, no. 3 (2010): e9724. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009724</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009724</u>.
- Nogrado, Kathyleen, Tatsuya Unno, Hor-Gil Hur, and Ji-Hoon Lee. "Tetracycline-Resistant Bacteria and Ribosomal Protection Protein Genes in Soils from Selected Agricultural Fields and Livestock Farms." *Applied Biological Chemistry* 64, no. 1 (2021): 1-9.
- Nordentoft, Steen, Lars Mølbak, Lotte Bjerrum, Jantina De Vylder, Filip Van Immerseel, and Karl Pedersen. "The Influence of the Cage System and Colonisation of Salmonellaenteritidis on the Microbial Gut Flora of Laying Hens Studied by T-Rflp and 454 Pyrosequencing." *BMC microbiology* 11, no. 1 (2011): 1-11.
- Noyes, Noelle R, Xiang Yang, Lyndsey M Linke, Roberta J Magnuson, Shaun R Cook, Rahat Zaheer, Hua Yang, *et al.* "Characterization of the Resistome in Manure, Soil and Wastewater from Dairy and Beef Production Systems." *Scientific reports* 6, no. 1 (2016): 1-12.
- Nurmi, E., and M. Rantala. "New Aspects of Salmonella Infection in Broiler Production." *Nature* 241, no. 5386 (Jan 19 1973): 210-1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/241210a0</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4700893.
- O'Neill, J. "Review on Antimicrobial Resistance: Tackling a Crisis for the Health and Wealth of Nations. London: Review on Antimicrobial Resistance. 2014." 2018.
- Oakley, B. B., and M. H. Kogut. "Spatial and Temporal Changes in the Broiler Chicken Cecal and Fecal Microbiomes and Correlations of Bacterial Taxa with Cytokine Gene Expression." *Front Vet Sci* 3 (2016): 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2016.00011</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26925404</u>.
- Oakley, B. B., H. S. Lillehoj, M. H. Kogut, W. K. Kim, J. J. Maurer, A. Pedroso, M. D. Lee, et al. "The Chicken Gastrointestinal Microbiome." FEMS Microbiol Lett 360, no. 2 (Nov 2014): 100-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6968.12608</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25263745</u>.
- Oakley, Brian B., R. Jeff Buhr, Casey W. Ritz, Brian H. Kiepper, Mark E. Berrang, Bruce S. Seal, and Nelson A. Cox. "Successional Changes in the Chicken Cecal Microbiome During 42 days of Growth Are Independent of Organic Acid Feed Additives." *BMC*

Veterinary Research 10, no. 1 (2014). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-014-0282-8</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12917-014-0282-8</u>.

- Olesiuk, Olga M., G. H. Snoeyenbos, and C. F. Smyser. "Inhibitory Effect of Used Litter on Salmonella Typhimurium Transmission in the Chicken." *Avian Diseases* 15, no. 1 (1971): 118. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1588396</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1588396</u>.
- Olszak, Torsten, Dingding An, Sebastian Zeissig, Miguel Pinilla Vera, Julia Richter, Andre Franke, Jonathan N. Glickman, *et al.* "Microbial Exposure During Early Life Has Persistent Effects on Natural Killer T Cell Function." *Science* (2012).
- Pan, D., and Z. Yu. "Intestinal Microbiome of Poultry and Its Interaction with Host and Diet." *Gut Microbes* 5, no. 1 (Jan-Feb 2014): 108-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.26945</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24256702</u>.
- Park, Ae Kyung, Ho Kim, and Hyung Jong Jin. "Phylogenetic Analysis of Rrna Methyltransferases, Erm and Ksga, as Related to Antibiotic Resistance." *FEMS microbiology letters* 309, no. 2 (2010): 151-62.
- Parker, B. J., P. A. Wearsch, A. C. M. Veloo, and A. Rodriguez-Palacios. "The Genus Alistipes: Gut Bacteria with Emerging Implications to Inflammation, Cancer, and Mental Health." *Front Immunol* 11 (2020): 906. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.00906</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/32582143</u>.
- Parseus, A., N. Sommer, F. Sommer, R. Caesar, A. Molinaro, M. Stahlman, T. U. Greiner, R. Perkins, and F. Backhed. "Microbiota-Induced Obesity Requires Farnesoid X Receptor." *Gut* 66, no. 3 (Mar 2017): 429-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2015-310283</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26740296</u>.
- Paterson, David L, and Robert A Bonomo. "Extended-Spectrum B-Lactamases: A Clinical Update." *Clinical microbiology reviews* 18, no. 4 (2005): 657-86.
- Patterson, JA, and KM Burkholder. "Application of Prebiotics and Probiotics in Poultry Production." *Poultry science* 82, no. 4 (2003): 627-31.
- Peschel, Stefanie, Christian L. Müller, Erika Von Mutius, Anne-Laure Boulesteix, and Martin Depner. "Netcomi: Network Construction and Comparison for Microbiome Data in R." *Briefings in Bioinformatics* 22, no. 4 (2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbaa290</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbaa290</u>.
- Pourabedin, Mohsen, Qiaoling Chen, MingMing Yang, and Xin Zhao. "Mannan-and Xylooligosaccharides Modulate Caecal Microbiota and Expression of Inflammatory-Related Cytokines and Reduce Caecal Salmonella Enteritidis Colonisation in Young Chickens." *FEMS microbiology ecology* 93, no. 1 (2017): fiw226.
- Pourabedin, Mohsen, and Xin Zhao. "Prebiotics and Gut Microbiota in Chickens." *FEMS* microbiology letters 362, no. 15 (2015): fnv122.
- Qian, Xun, Jie Gu, Wei Sun, Xiao-Juan Wang, Jian-Qiang Su, and Robert Stedfeld. "Diversity, Abundance, and Persistence of Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Various Types of Animal Manure Following Industrial Composting." *Journal of Hazardous materials* 344 (2018): 716-22.
- Qu, A., J. M. Brulc, M. K. Wilson, B. F. Law, J. R. Theoret, L. A. Joens, M. E. Konkel, et al. "Comparative Metagenomics Reveals Host Specific Metavirulomes and Horizontal Gene Transfer Elements in the Chicken Cecum Microbiome." *PLoS One* 3, no. 8 (Aug 13 2008): e2945. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0002945</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18698407</u>.

- Quast, Christian, Elmar Pruesse, Pelin Yilmaz, Jan Gerken, Timmy Schweer, Pablo Yarza, Jörg Peplies, and Frank Oliver Glöckner. "The Silva Ribosomal Rna Gene Database Project: Improved Data Processing and Web-Based Tools." *Nucleic Acids Research* 41, no. D1 (2012): D590-D96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1219</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1219</u>.
- Ranjitkar, Samir, Blair Lawley, Gerald Tannock, and Ricarda M Engberg. "Bacterial Succession in the Broiler Gastrointestinal Tract." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 82, no. 8 (2016): 2399-410.
- Rantala, Marjatta, and E. Nurmi. "Prevention of the Growth of *Salmonella Infantis* in Chicks by the Flora of the Alimentary Tract of Chickens." *British Poultry Science* 14, no. 6 (1973): 627-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00071667308416073</u>. https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00071667308416073.
- Rautio, M., E. Eerola, M. L. Vaisanen-Tunkelrott, D. Molitoris, P. Lawson, M. D. Collins, and H. Jousimies-Somer. "Reclassification of Bacteroides Putredinis (Weinberg Et Al., 1937) in a New Genus Alistipes Gen. Nov., as Alistipes Putredinis Comb. Nov., and Description of Alistipes Finegoldii Sp Nov., from Human Sources." [In English]. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology* 26, no. 2 (Jun 2003): 182-88. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1078/072320203322346029.
- Rehman, H. U., W. Vahjen, W. A. Awad, and J. Zentek. "Indigenous Bacteria and Bacterial Metabolic Products in the Gastrointestinal Tract of Broiler Chickens." *Arch Anim Nutr* 61, no. 5 (Oct 2007): 319-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17450390701556817</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18030916</u>.
- Reichardt, Nicole, Sylvia H Duncan, Pauline Young, Alvaro Belenguer, Carol McWilliam Leitch, Karen P Scott, Harry J Flint, and Petra Louis. "Phylogenetic Distribution of Three Pathways for Propionate Production within the Human Gut Microbiota." *The ISME journal* 8, no. 6 (2014): 1323-35.
- Ridlon, J. M., D. J. Kang, P. B. Hylemon, and J. S. Bajaj. "Bile Acids and the Gut Microbiome." *Curr Opin Gastroenterol* 30, no. 3 (May 2014): 332-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MOG.00000000000057</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24625896</u>.
- Rinttila, T., A. Kassinen, E. Malinen, L. Krogius, and A. Palva. "Development of an Extensive Set of 16s Rdna-Targeted Primers for Quantification of Pathogenic and Indigenous Bacteria in Faecal Samples by Real-Time Pcr." *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 97, no. 6 (2004): 1166-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2004.02409.x</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2004.02409.x</u>.
- Roberts, Marilyn C. "Update on Macrolide–Lincosamide–Streptogramin, Ketolide, and Oxazolidinone Resistance Genes." *FEMS microbiology letters* 282, no. 2 (2008): 147-59.
- Roll, V. F., M. A. Dai Pra, and A. P. Roll. "Research on Salmonella in Broiler Litter Reused for up to 14 Consecutive Flocks." *Poultry Science* 90, no. 10 (Oct 2011): 2257-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2011-01583</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21934008</u>.
- Roth, Christoph, Tanja Sims, Markus Rodehutscord, Jana Seifert, and Amélia Camarinha-Silva. "The Active Core Microbiota of Two High-Yielding Laying Hen Breeds Fed with Different Levels of Calcium and Phosphorus." *Frontiers in Physiology* (2022): 2032.
- Rothrock Jr, Michael J, Kristina M Feye, Sun Kim, Si Hong Park, Aude Locatelli, Kelli L Hiett, John Gamble, Holly Sellers, and Steven C Ricke. "Semi-Quantification of Total

Campylobacter and Salmonella During Egg Incubations Using a Combination of 16s Rdna and Specific Pathogen Primers for Qpcr." *Front Microbiol* 9 (2018): 2454.

- Ruan, J. W., S. Statt, C. T. Huang, Y. T. Tsai, C. C. Kuo, H. L. Chan, Y. C. Liao, T. H. Tan, and C. Y. Kao. "Dual-Specificity Phosphatase 6 Deficiency Regulates Gut Microbiome and Transcriptome Response against Diet-Induced Obesity in Mice." *Nat Microbiol* 2 (Nov 28 2016): 16220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.220</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27892926</u>.
- Rubio, Luis A. "Possibilities of Early Life Programming in Broiler Chickens Via Intestinal Microbiota Modulation." *Poultry science* 98, no. 2 (2019): 695-706.
- Ruseler-van Embden, JGH, LMC Van Lieshout, MJ Gosselink, and P Marteau. "Inability of Lactobacillus Casei Strain Gg, L. Acidophilus, and Bifidobacterium Bifidum to Degrade Intestinal Mucus Glycoproteins." *Scandinavian journal of gastroenterology* 30, no. 7 (1995): 675-80.
- Rychlik, Ivan. "Composition and Function of Chicken Gut Microbiota." *Animals* 10, no. 1 (2020): 103. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10010103</u>. https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ani10010103.
- Saeed, Muhammad, Xu Yatao, Zhang Tiantian, Ren Qian, and Sun Chao. "16s Ribosomal Rna Sequencing Reveals a Modulation of Intestinal Microbiome and Immune Response by Dietary L-Theanine Supplementation in Broiler Chickens." *Poultry science* 98, no. 2 (2019): 842-54.
- Saier Jr, Milton H, and Ian T Paulsen. "Phylogeny of Multidrug Transporters." Paper presented at the Seminars in cell & developmental biology, 2001.
- Sakamoto, Mitsuo, Pham Thi Ngoc Lan, and Yoshimi Benno. "Barnesiella Viscericola Gen. Nov., Sp. Nov., a Novel Member of the Family Porphyromonadaceae Isolated from Chicken Caecum." *International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology* 57, no. 2 (2007): 342-46.
- Saresella, Marina, Laura Mendozzi, Valentina Rossi, Franca Mazzali, Federica Piancone, Francesca LaRosa, Ivana Marventano, *et al.* "Immunological and Clinical Effect of Diet Modulation of the Gut Microbiome in Multiple Sclerosis Patients: A Pilot Study." *Frontiers in Immunology* 8 (2017): 1391.
- Savage, Dwayne C., Judith E. Siegel, James E. Snellen, and Dixie D. Whitt. "Transit Time of Epithelial Cells in the Small Intestines of Germfree Mice and Ex-Germfree Mice Associated with Indigenous Microorganisms." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* (1981).
- Saxena, S., V. K. Saxena, S. Tomar, D. Sapcota, and G. Gonmei. "Characterisation of Caecum and Crop Microbiota of Indian Indigenous Chicken Targeting Multiple Hypervariable Regions within 16s Rrna Gene." *British Poultry Science* 57, no. 3 (2016): 381-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00071668.2016.1161728</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00071668.2016.1161728</u>.
- Schirm, M, EC Soo, AJ Aubry, J Austin, P Thibault, and SM Logan. "Structural, Genetic and Functional Characterization of the Flagellin Glycosylation Process in Helicobacter Pylori." *Molecular microbiology* 48, no. 6 (2003): 1579-92.
- Schofield, Whitman B, Maria Zimmermann-Kogadeeva, Michael Zimmermann, Natasha A Barry, and Andrew L Goodman. "The Stringent Response Determines the Ability of a Commensal Bacterium to Survive Starvation and to Persist in the Gut." *Cell host & microbe* 24, no. 1 (2018): 120-32. e6.

- Schwartz, Betty, and Vaclav Vetvicka. "Review: B-Glucans as Effective Antibiotic Alternatives in Poultry." *Molecules* 26, no. 12 (2021): 3560. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26123560</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/molecules26123560</u>.
- Seal, Bruce S., Djamel Drider, Brian B. Oakley, Harald Brüssow, David Bikard, Joseph O. Rich, Stefan Miller, et al. "Microbial-Derived Products as Potential New Antimicrobials." *Veterinary Research* 49, no. 1 (2018). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-018-0563-5</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13567-018-0563-5</u>.
- Searchinger, Tim, Richard Waite, Craig Hanson, Janet Ranganathan, Patrice Dumas, Emily Matthews, and Carni Klirs. "Creating a Sustainable Food Future: A Menu of Solutions to Feed Nearly 10 Billion People by 2050. Final Report." WRI, 2019.
- Segura-Wang, Maia, Nikolaus Grabner, Andreas Koestelbauer, Viviana Klose, and Mahdi Ghanbari. "Genome-Resolved Metagenomics of the Chicken Gut Microbiome." *Front Microbiol* 12 (2021).
- Shanmugasundaram, R., M. S. Lilburn, and R. K. Selvaraj. "Effect of Recycled Litter on Immune Cells in the Cecal Tonsils of Chickens." *Poultry Science* 91, no. 1 (Jan 2012): 95-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2011-01800</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22184433</u>.
- Shao, Y., Y. Guo, and Z. Wang. "Beta-1,3/1,6-Glucan Alleviated Intestinal Mucosal Barrier Impairment of Broiler Chickens Challenged with Salmonella Enterica Serovar Typhimurium." *Poultry Science* 92, no. 7 (Jul 2013): 1764-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2013-03029</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23776263</u>.
- Shapiro, James. Mobile Genetic Elements. Elsevier, 2012.
- Shapiro, Stanley K, and WB Sarles. "Microorganisms in the Intestinal Tract of Normal Chickens." *Journal of Bacteriology* 58, no. 4 (1949): 531-44.
- Shen, Liang, Lu Liu, and Hong-Fang Ji. "Regulative Effects of Curcumin Spice Administration on Gut Microbiota and Its Pharmacological Implications." *Food & Nutrition Research* 61, no. 1 (2017): 1361780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/16546628.2017.1361780</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/16546628.2017.1361780</u>.
- Shoemaker, NB, H Vlamakis, K Hayes, and AA Salyers. "Evidence for Extensive Resistance Gene Transfer among Bacteroides Spp. And among Bacteroides and Other Genera in the Human Colon." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 67, no. 2 (2001): 561-68.
- Siegel, P. B., A. Haberfeld, T. K. Mukherjee, L. C. Stallard, H. L. Marks, N. B. Anthony, and E. A. Dunnington. "Jungle Fowl–Domestic Fowl Relationships: A Use of DNA Fingerprinting." *World's Poultry Science Journal* 48, no. 2 (1992): 147-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1079/wps19920014</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1079/wps19920014</u>.
- Singh, N., A. Gurav, S. Sivaprakasam, E. Brady, R. Padia, H. Shi, M. Thangaraju, *et al.* "Activation of Gpr109a, Receptor for Niacin and the Commensal Metabolite Butyrate, Suppresses Colonic Inflammation and Carcinogenesis." *Immunity* 40, no. 1 (Jan 16 2014): 128-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2013.12.007</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24412617</u>.
- Sista Kameshwar, Ayyappa Kumar, and Wensheng Qin. "Understanding the Structural and Functional Properties of Carbohydrate Esterases with a Special Focus on Hemicellulose Deacetylating Acetyl Xylan Esterases." *Mycology* 9, no. 4 (2018): 273-95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21501203.2018.1492979</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/21501203.2018.1492979</u>.

- Sjlund, Maria, Karin Wreiber, Dan I Andersson, Martin J Blaser, and Lars Engstrand. "Long-Term Persistence of Resistant Enterococcus Species after Antibiotics to Eradicate Helicobacter Pylori." *Annals of internal medicine* 139, no. 6 (2003): 483-87.
- Sleeth, M. L., E. L. Thompson, H. E. Ford, S. E. Zac-Varghese, and G. Frost. "Free Fatty Acid Receptor 2 and Nutrient Sensing: A Proposed Role for Fibre, Fermentable Carbohydrates and Short-Chain Fatty Acids in Appetite Regulation." *Nutr Res Rev* 23, no. 1 (Jun 2010): 135-45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954422410000089</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20482937.
- Slifierz, Mackenzie Jonathan, Robert M Friendship, and J Scott Weese. "Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus in Commercial Swine Herds Is Associated with Disinfectant and Zinc Usage." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 81, no. 8 (2015): 2690-95.
- Slipski, Carmine J, George G Zhanel, and Denice C Bay. "Biocide Selective Tolc-Independent Efflux Pumps in Enterobacteriaceae." *The Journal of Membrane Biology* 251, no. 1 (2018): 15-33.
- Smith, Clyde A, and Edward N Baker. "Aminoglycoside Antibiotic Resistance by Enzymatic Deactivation." *Current Drug Targets-Infectious Disorders* 2, no. 2 (2002): 143-60.
- Speer, BS, L Bedzyk, and AA207172 Salyers. "Evidence That a Novel Tetracycline Resistance Gene Found on Two Bacteroides Transposons Encodes an Nadp-Requiring Oxidoreductase." *Journal of bacteriology* 173, no. 1 (1991): 176-83.
- Stamilla, Alessandro, Susana Ruiz-Ruiz, Alejandro Artacho, Javier Pons, Antonino Messina, Cinzia Lucia Randazzo, Cinzia Caggia, Massimiliano Lanza, and Andrés Moya.
 "Analysis of the Microbial Intestinal Tract in Broiler Chickens During the Rearing Period." *Biology* 10, no. 9 (2021): 942. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biology10090942</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/biology10090942</u>.
- Stanley, D., S. E. Denman, R. J. Hughes, M. S. Geier, T. M. Crowley, H. Chen, V. R. Haring, and R. J. Moore. "Intestinal Microbiota Associated with Differential Feed Conversion Efficiency in Chickens." *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 96, no. 5 (Dec 2012): 1361-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-011-3847-5</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22249719</u>.
- Stanley, D., M. S. Geier, S. E. Denman, V. R. Haring, T. M. Crowley, R. J. Hughes, and R. J. Moore. "Identification of Chicken Intestinal Microbiota Correlated with the Efficiency of Energy Extraction from Feed." *Vet Microbiol* 164, no. 1-2 (May 31 2013): 85-92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2013.01.030</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23434185</u>.
- Stern, N. J. "Mucosal Competitive Exclusion to Diminish Colonization of Chickens by Campylobacter Jejuni." *Poultry Science* 73, no. 3 (Mar 1994): 402-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.0730402</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8177818</u>.
- Stern, NJ, MRS Clavero, JS Bailey, NA Cox, and MC Robach. "Campylobacter Spp. In Broilers on the Farm and after Transport." *Poultry Science* 74, no. 6 (1995): 937-41.
- Sun, Guojing, Yicun Wang, Yunfan Ti, Jun Wang, Jianning Zhao, and Hongbo Qian.
 "Regulatory B Cell Is Critical in Bone Union Process through Suppressing Proinflammatory Cytokines and Stimulating Foxp3 in Treg Cells." *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology* 44, no. 4 (2017): 455-62.
- Sung, Chang Mu, Yu-Fei Lin, Kuan-Fu Chen, Huei-Mien Ke, Hao-Yi Huang, Yu-Nong Gong, Wen-Sy Tsai, *et al.* "Predicting Clinical Outcomes of Cirrhosis Patients with Hepatic Encephalopathy from the Fecal Microbiome." *Cellular and Molecular Gastroenterology*

and Hepatology 8, no. 2 (2019): 301-18.e2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcmgh.2019.04.008</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcmgh.2019.04.008</u>.

- Svihus, B., V. B. Lund, B. Borjgen, M. R. Bedford, and M. Bakken. "Effect of Intermittent Feeding, Structural Components and Phytase on Performance and Behaviour of Broiler Chickens." *British Poultry Science* 54, no. 2 (2013): 222-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00071668.2013.772952</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23647186</u>.
- Svihus, Birger. "Function of the Digestive System." *Journal of Applied Poultry Research* 23, no. 2 (2014): 306-14.
- Tamber, Sandeep, and Robert EW Hancock. "On the Mechanism of Solute Uptake in Pseudomonas." *Frontiers in Bioscience-Landmark* 8, no. 6 (2003): 472-83.
- Tanaka, S Ken, Judith Steenbergen, and Stephen Villano. "Discovery, Pharmacology, and Clinical Profile of Omadacycline, a Novel Aminomethylcycline Antibiotic." *Bioorganic* & medicinal chemistry 24, no. 24 (2016): 6409-19.
- Tang, Yuanyue, Qidong Jiang, Haiyan Tang, Zhenyu Wang, Yi Yin, Fangzhe Ren, Linghua Kong, Xinan Jiao, and Jinlin Huang. "Characterization and Prevalence of Campylobacter Spp. From Broiler Chicken Rearing Period to the Slaughtering Process in Eastern China." *Frontiers in Veterinary Science* 7 (2020): 227.
- Taylor, Diane E, and Andrew Chau. "Tetracycline Resistance Mediated by Ribosomal Protection." *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy* 40, no. 1 (1996): 1-5.
- Tazoe, H., Y. Otomo, I. Kaji, R. Tanaka, S. I. Karaki, and A. Kuwahara. "Roles of Short-Chain Fatty Acids Receptors, Gpr41 and Gpr43 on Colonic Functions." *J Physiol Pharmacol* 59 Suppl 2 (Aug 2008): 251-62. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18812643</u>.
- Thibault, Pierre, Susan M Logan, John F Kelly, Jean-Robert Brisson, Cheryl P Ewing, and Patricia Guerry. "Identification of the Carbohydrate Moieties and Glycosylation Motifs in Campylobacter Jejuni Flagellin." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276, no. 37 (2001): 34862-70.
- Thomas, M., S. Wongkuna, S. Ghimire, R. Kumar, L. Antony, K. C. Doerner, A. Singery, et al. "Gut Microbial Dynamics During Conventionalization of Germfree Chicken." *mSphere* 4, no. 2 (Mar 27 2019). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mSphere.00035-19</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30918057.
- Tillman, G. E., G. J. Haas, M. G. Wise, B. Oakley, M. A. Smith, and G. R. Siragusa. "Chicken Intestine Microbiota Following the Administration of Lupulone, a Hop-Based Antimicrobial." *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 77, no. 2 (Aug 2011): 395-403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2011.01119.x.</u> <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21517917</u>.
- Toh, Seok-Ming, Liqun Xiong, Cesar A Arias, Maria V Villegas, Karen Lolans, John Quinn, and Alexander S Mankin. "Acquisition of a Natural Resistance Gene Renders a Clinical Strain of Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus Resistant to the Synthetic Antibiotic Linezolid." *Molecular microbiology* 64, no. 6 (2007): 1506-14.
- Torok, V. A., R. J. Hughes, K. Ophel-Keller, M. Ali, and R. Macalpine. "Influence of Different Litter Materials on Cecal Microbiota Colonization in Broiler Chickens." *Poultry Science* 88, no. 12 (Dec 2009): 2474-81. <u>https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2008-00381</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19903943</u>.

- Tsukita, S., Y. Yamazaki, T. Katsuno, A. Tamura, and S. Tsukita. "Tight Junction-Based Epithelial Microenvironment and Cell Proliferation." *Oncogene* 27, no. 55 (2008): 6930-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2008.344</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/onc.2008.344</u>.
- USDA. "Poultry: World Markets and Trade." United States Department of Agriculture (2022).
- Valeris-Chacin, Robert, Maria Pieters, Haejin Hwang, Timothy J Johnson, and Randall S Singer. "Association of Broiler Litter Microbiome Composition and Campylobacter Isolation." *Frontiers in Veterinary Science* (2021): 495.
- Van Boeckel, Thomas P, Emma E Glennon, Dora Chen, Marius Gilbert, Timothy P Robinson, Bryan T Grenfell, Simon A Levin, Sebastian Bonhoeffer, and Ramanan Laxminarayan. "Reducing Antimicrobial Use in Food Animals." *Science* 357, no. 6358 (2017): 1350-52.
- Van de Perre, Philippe. "Transfer of Antibody Via Mother's Milk." *Vaccine* 21, no. 24 (2003): 3374-76.
- Van den Abbeele, Pieter, Charlotte Grootaert, Massimo Marzorati, Sam Possemiers, Willy Verstraete, Philippe Gérard, Sylvie Rabot, *et al.* "Microbial Community Development in a Dynamic Gut Model Is Reproducible, Colon Region Specific, and Selective for Bacteroidetes and Clostridium Cluster Ix." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 76, no. 15 (2010): 5237-46.
- van der Hee, B., and J. M. Wells. "Microbial Regulation of Host Physiology by Short-Chain Fatty Acids." *Trends Microbiol* (Mar 2 2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2021.02.001</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/33674141.
- van Der Wielen, P. W., S. Biesterveld, S. Notermans, H. Hofstra, B. A. Urlings, and F. van Knapen. "Role of Volatile Fatty Acids in Development of the Cecal Microflora in Broiler Chickens During Growth." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 66, no. 6 (Jun 2000): 2536-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.6.2536-2540.2000</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10831435</u>.
- Van Duijkeren, Engeline, Christine Schwarz, Damien Bouchard, Boudewijn Catry, Constança Pomba, Keith Edward Baptiste, Miguel A Moreno, *et al.* "The Use of Aminoglycosides in Animals within the Eu: Development of Resistance in Animals and Possible Impact on Human and Animal Health: A Review." *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 74, no. 9 (2019): 2480-96.
- Varriale, Lorena, Lorena Coretti, Ludovico Dipineto, Brian D Green, Antonino Pace, Francesca Lembo, Lucia Francesca Menna, Alessandro Fioretti, and Luca Borrelli. "An Outdoor Access Period Improves Chicken Caecal Microbiota and Potentially Increasing Micronutrient Biosynthesis." *Frontiers in veterinary science* (2022): 959.
- Vatanen, T., A. D. Kostic, E. d'Hennezel, H. Siljander, E. A. Franzosa, M. Yassour, R. Kolde, et al. "Variation in Microbiome Lps Immunogenicity Contributes to Autoimmunity in Humans." Cell 165, no. 4 (May 5 2016): 842-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.04.007</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27133167</u>.
- Videnska, P., M. Faldynova, H. Juricova, V. Babak, F. Sisak, H. Havlickova, and I. Rychlik. "Chicken Faecal Microbiota and Disturbances Induced by Single or Repeated Therapy with Tetracycline and Streptomycin." *BMC Vet Res* 9 (Feb 13 2013): 30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-6148-9-30</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23406343</u>.
- Wada, Yusuf, Ahmad A. Irekeola, Rafidah H. Shueb, Mustapha Wada, Hafeez A. Afolabi, Chan Y. Yean, Azian Harun, and Abdul R. Zaidah. "Prevalence of Vancomycin-Resistant

Enterococcus (Vre) in Poultry in Malaysia: The First Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review." *Antibiotics* 11, no. 2 (2022): 171. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics11020171</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics11020171</u>.

- Wagner, Camille, Natalia Torow, Mathias W. Hornef, and Hugues Lelouard. "Spatial and Temporal Key Steps in Early-Life Intestinal Immune System Development and Education." *The FEBS Journal* (2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.16047</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/febs.16047</u>.
- Wang, Jin, Huan Fan, Ye Han, Jiping Wei, Jinzhao Zhao, and Zhijiang Zhou. "Pyrosequencing of the Broiler Chicken Gastrointestinal Tract Reveals the Regional Similarity and Dissimilarity of Microbial Community." *Canadian Journal of Animal Science* 97, no. 2 (2016): 302-13.
- Wang, L., M. Lilburn, and Z. Yu. "Intestinal Microbiota of Broiler Chickens as Affected by Litter Management Regimens." *Front Microbiol* 7 (2016): 593. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00593</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27242676</u>.
- Wang, Lingling, Mike Lilburn, and Zhongtang Yu. "Intestinal Microbiota of Broiler Chickens as Affected by Litter Management Regimens." [In English]. Original Research. Front Microbiol 7 (2016-May-18 2016). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00593</u>. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00593</u>.
- Wang, Mianzhi, Peng Liu, Wenguang Xiong, Qin Zhou, Junyi Wangxiao, Zhenling Zeng, and Yongxue Sun. "Fate of Potential Indicator Antimicrobial Resistance Genes (Args) and Bacterial Community Diversity in Simulated Manure-Soil Microcosms." *Ecotoxicology* and environmental safety 147 (2018): 817-23.
- Wang, XJ, JH Feng, MH Zhang, XM Li, DD Ma, and SS Chang. "Effects of High Ambient Temperature on the Community Structure and Composition of Ileal Microbiome of Broilers." *Poultry science* 97, no. 6 (2018): 2153-58.
- Wang, Yanan, Yongfei Hu, Jian Cao, Yuhai Bi, Na Lv, Fei Liu, Shihao Liang, et al. "Antibiotic Resistance Gene Reservoir in Live Poultry Markets." Journal of infection 78, no. 6 (2019): 445-53.
- Wei, S., A. Gutek, M. Lilburn, and Z. Yu. "Abundance of Pathogens in the Gut and Litter of Broiler Chickens as Affected by Bacitracin and Litter Management." *Vet Microbiol* 166, no. 3-4 (Oct 25 2013): 595-601. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2013.06.006</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23870707</u>.
- Wei, S., M. Morrison, and Z. Yu. "Bacterial Census of Poultry Intestinal Microbiome." *Poultry Science* 92, no. 3 (Mar 2013): 671-83. <u>https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2012-02822</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23436518.
- Weiss, Gisela A, Christophe Chassard, and Thierry Hennet. "Selective Proliferation of Intestinal Barnesiella under Fucosyllactose Supplementation in Mice." *British Journal of Nutrition* 111, no. 9 (2014): 1602-10.
- West, Barbara, and Ben-Xiong Zhou. "Did Chickens Go North? New Evidence for Domestication." *Journal of archaeological science* 15, no. 5 (1988): 515-33.
- Weston, Natasha, Prateek Sharma, Vito Ricci, and Laura JV Piddock. "Regulation of the Acrab-Tolc Efflux Pump in Enterobacteriaceae." *Research in microbiology* 169, no. 7-8 (2018): 425-31.

- Whittle, G, NB Shoemaker, and AA Salyers. "The Role of Bacteroides Conjugative Transposons in the Dissemination of Antibiotic Resistance Genes." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS* 59, no. 12 (2002): 2044-54.
- Wilson, Kenneth H, Jack S Ikeda, and Rhonda B Blitchington. "Phylogenetic Placement of Community Members of Human Colonic Biota." *Clinical infectious diseases* (1997): S114-S16.
- Witzig, M., A. Carminha-Silva, R. Green-Engert, K. Hoelzle, E. Zeller, J. Seifert, L. E. Hoelzle, and M. Rodehutscord. "Spatial Variation of the Gut Microbiota in Broiler Chickens as Affected by Dietary Available Phosphorus and Assessed by T-Rflp Analysis and 454 Pyrosequencing." *PLoS One* 10, no. 11 (2015): e0143442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0143442</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26588075</u>.
- Wood, Derrick E, Jennifer Lu, and Ben Langmead. "Improved Metagenomic Analysis with Kraken 2." *Genome biology* 20, no. 1 (2019): 1-13.
- Wu, Gary D, Jun Chen, Christian Hoffmann, Kyle Bittinger, Ying-Yu Chen, Sue A Keilbaugh, Meenakshi Bewtra, et al. "Linking Long-Term Dietary Patterns with Gut Microbial Enterotypes." Science 334, no. 6052 (2011): 105-08.
- Xiao, Yingping, Yun Xiang, Weidong Zhou, Jinggang Chen, Kaifeng Li, and Hua Yang.
 "Microbial Community Mapping in Intestinal Tract of Broiler Chicken." *Poultry science* 96, no. 5 (2017): 1387-93.
- Xiong, Wenguang, Yulin Wang, Yongxue Sun, Liping Ma, Qinglin Zeng, Xiaotao Jiang, Andong Li, Zhenling Zeng, and Tong Zhang. "Antibiotic-Mediated Changes in the Fecal Microbiome of Broiler Chickens Define the Incidence of Antibiotic Resistance Genes." *Microbiome* 6, no. 1 (2018): 1-11.
- Xu, Jingyi, Rassamee Sangthong, Edward McNeil, Rong Tang, and Virasakdi Chongsuvivatwong. "Antibiotic Use in Chicken Farms in Northwestern China." *Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control* 9, no. 1 (2020): 1-9.
- Yan, Wei, Congjiao Sun, Jiangxia Zheng, Chaoliang Wen, Congliang Ji, Dexiang Zhang,
 Yonghua Chen, Zhuocheng Hou, and Ning Yang. "Efficacy of Fecal Sampling as a Gut
 Proxy in the Study of Chicken Gut Microbiota." *Front Microbiol* 10 (2019): 2126.
- Yang, Fan, Hengwen Chen, Yonghong Gao, Na An, Xinye Li, Xiandu Pan, Xinyu Yang, *et al.* "Gut Microbiota-Derived Short-Chain Fatty Acids and Hypertension: Mechanism and Treatment." *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy* 130 (2020): 110503.
- Yang, H., O. A. Byelashov, I. Geornaras, L. D. Goodridge, K. K. Nightingale, K. E. Belk, G. C. Smith, and J. N. Sofos. "Presence of Antibiotic-Resistant Commensal Bacteria in Samples from Agricultural, City, and National Park Environments Evaluated by Standard Culture and Real-Time Pcr Methods." *Can J Microbiol* 56, no. 9 (Sep 2010): 761-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/w10-060</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20921986</u>.
- Yang, Jiajun, Jing Wang, Kehe Huang, Mengling Zhu, Qinxing Liu, Guofang Liu, Fu Chen, Hao Zhang, and Shunyi Qin. "Selenium Enriched *Bacillus Subtilis* Yb-1 114246 Activated the Tlr2–Nf-Kb1 Signaling Pathway to Regulate Chicken Intestinal B-Defensin 1 Expression." *Food & Function* 12, no. 13 (2021): 5913-26. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1fo01158h. https://dx.doi.org/10.1039/d1fo01158h.
- Yang, Wen-Yuan, Chung-Hsi Chou, and Chinling Wang. "Characterization of Toxin Genes and Quantitative Analysis of Netb in Necrotic Enteritis (Ne)-Producing and Non-Ne-Producing Clostridium Perfringens Isolated from Chickens." *Anaerobe* 54 (2018): 115-

20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2018.08.010</u>. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2018.08.010.

- Yardeni, T., C. E. Tanes, K. Bittinger, L. M. Mattei, P. M. Schaefer, L. N. Singh, G. D. Wu, D. G. Murdock, and D. C. Wallace. "Host Mitochondria Influence Gut Microbiome Diversity: A Role for Ros." *Sci Signal* 12, no. 588 (Jul 2 2019). <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.aaw3159</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31266851</u>.
- Yegani, M., and D. R. Korver. "Factors Affecting Intestinal Health in Poultry." *Poultry Science* 87, no. 10 (Oct 2008): 2052-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2008-00091</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18809868.
- Yokota, Atsushi, Satoru Fukiya, KBM Saiful Islam, Tadasuke Ooka, Yoshitoshi Ogura, Tetsuya Hayashi, Masahito Hagio, and Satoshi Ishizuka. "Is Bile Acid a Determinant of the Gut Microbiota on a High-Fat Diet?". *Gut microbes* 3, no. 5 (2012): 455-59.
- Yoon, Grace, Irina Gaynanova, and Christian L. Müller. "Microbial Networks in Spring Semi-Parametric Rank-Based Correlation and Partial Correlation Estimation for Quantitative Microbiome Data." *Frontiers in Genetics* 10 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2019.00516. https://tesolver.scholarsportal.info/resolve/16648021/v10inone/nfp mnissrcefqmd.
- Yoon, Younggun, Hay Jung Chung, Doris Yoong Wen Di, Michael C Dodd, Hor-Gil Hur, and Yunho Lee. "Inactivation Efficiency of Plasmid-Encoded Antibiotic Resistance Genes During Water Treatment with Chlorine, Uv, and Uv/H2o2." *Water Research* 123 (2017): 783-93.
- Yoshida, HMSKM, M Bogaki, S Nakamura, K Ubukata, and M Konno. "Nucleotide Sequence and Characterization of the Staphylococcus Aureus Nora Gene, Which Confers Resistance to Quinolones." *Journal of bacteriology* 172, no. 12 (1990): 6942-49.
- You, Y., M. Hilpert, and M. J. Ward. "Detection of a Common and Persistent Tet(L)-Carrying Plasmid in Chicken-Waste-Impacted Farm Soil." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 78, no. 9 (May 2012): 3203-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.07763-11</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22389375</u>.
- Yu, Shukun. "Enzymatic Description of the Anhydrofructose Pathway of Glycogen Degradation." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects* 1723, no. 1-3 (2005): 63-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2005.01.004</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2005.01.004</u>.
- Yuan, Z., W. Yan, C. Wen, J. Zheng, N. Yang, and C. Sun. "Enterotype Identification and Its Influence on Regulating the Duodenum Metabolism in Chickens." *Poultry Science* 99, no. 3 (Mar 2020): 1515-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2019.10.078</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/32111319</u>.
- Zeng, Jieyi, Yaying Li, Guoping Jin, Jian-Qiang Su, and Huaiying Yao. "Short-Term Benzalkonium Chloride (C₁₂) Exposure Induced the Occurrence of Wide-Spectrum Antibiotic Resistance in Agricultural Soils." *Environmental Science & Technology* (2022). <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c04730</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c04730</u>.
- Zhang, J. -M, X. -Y Liu, W. Gu, H. -Y Xu, H. -C Jiao, J. -P Zhao, X. -J Wang, H. -F Li, and H. Lin. "Different Effects of Probiotics and Antibiotics on the Composition of Microbiota, Scfas Concentrations and Ffar2/3 Mrna Expression in Broiler Chickens." *Journal of*

Applied Microbiology 131, no. 2 (2021): 913-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.14953</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jam.14953</u>.

- Zhang, X., M. Akhtar, Y. Chen, Z. Ma, Y. Liang, D. Shi, R. Cheng, *et al.* "Chicken Jejunal Microbiota Improves Growth Performance by Mitigating Intestinal Inflammation." *Microbiome* 10, no. 1 (Jul 15 2022): 107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-022-01299-8</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/35836252</u>.
- Zhang, Ye, April Z. Gu, Miao He, Dan Li, and Jianmin Chen. "Subinhibitory Concentrations of Disinfectants Promote the Horizontal Transfer of Multidrug Resistance Genes within and across Genera." *Environmental Science & Technology* 51, no. 1 (2017): 570-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b03132</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b03132</u>.
- Zhao, Shaohua, Gregory H Tyson, Yuansha Chen, Chunhao Li, Sampa Mukherjee, S Young, Claudia Lam, et al. "Whole-Genome Sequencing Analysis Accurately Predicts Antimicrobial Resistance Phenotypes in Campylobacter Spp." Applied and Environmental Microbiology 82, no. 2 (2016): 459-66.
- Zheng, G., S. P. Wu, Y. Hu, D. E. Smith, J. W. Wiley, and S. Hong. "Corticosterone Mediates Stress-Related Increased Intestinal Permeability in a Region-Specific Manner." *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 25, no. 2 (Feb 2013): e127-39. https://doi.org/10.1111/nmo.12066. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23336591.
- Zhou, Yang, Yu Li, Lu Zhang, Zuowei Wu, Ying Huang, He Yan, Jiang Zhong, *et al.* "Antibiotic Administration Routes and Oral Exposure to Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria as Key Drivers for Gut Microbiota Disruption and Resistome in Poultry." *Front Microbiol* 11 (2020): 1319.
- Zou, Angela, Shayan Sharif, and John Parkinson. "*Lactobacillus* Elicits a 'Marmite Effect' on the Chicken Cecal Microbiome." *npj Biofilms and Microbiomes* 4, no. 1 (2018). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41522-018-0070-5</u>. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41522-018-0070-5</u>.

APPENDICES: SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES AND FIGURES

Table S1: Genetic pathways harbored by the gut microbial community associated with chicken age. – log2 fold-change and + log2 fold-change values indicate associations with D7 and D30 microbial functional capacities, respectively.

Age-related differentiate abundant pathways	log2 fold- change	P-value	FDR <i>P</i> value
GALACTARDEG-PWY: D-galactarate degradation I	-2.2687	1.77E-28	3.07E-27
GLUCARGALACTSUPER-PWY: super-pathway of D- glucarate and D-galactarate degradation	-2.2687	1.77E-28	3.07E-27
PWY0-1477: ethanolamine utilization	-2.2306	7.78E-57	2.43E-54
PWY-6588: pyruvate fermentation to acetone	-2.227	3.61E-33	1.03E-31
PWY66-409: super-pathway of purine nucleotide salvage	-2.0384	1.78E-22	2.22E-21
GLUCARDEG-PWY: D-glucarate degradation I	-2.0347	2.28E-28	3.74E-27
PWY-6961: L-ascorbate degradation II (bacterial, aerobic)	-1.9453	1.30E-19	1.45E-18
PWY0-301: L-ascorbate degradation I (bacterial, anaerobic)	-1.833	9.25E-18	8.74E-17
PWY0-1297: super-pathway of purine deoxyribonucleosides degradation	-1.7944	1.41E-29	3.14E-28
P161-PWY: acetylene degradation (anaerobic)	-1.792	5.50E-39	3.43E-37
GALACTITOLCAT-PWY: galactitol degradation	-1.7755	3.57E-20	4.28E-19
PWY0-1277: 3-phenylpropanoate and 3-(3- hydroxyphenyl) propanoate degradation	-1.7474	4.10E-16	3.12E-15
FAO-PWY: fatty acid β-oxidation I (generic)	-1.7348	3.13E-14	1.88E-13
PWY-7013: (S)-propane-1,2-diol degradation	-1.709	1.40E-10	6.31E-10
PWY-5723: Rubisco shunt	-1.7071	2.08E-14	1.27E-13
SALVADEHYPOX-PWY: adenosine nucleotides degradation II	-1.7038	6.61E-34	2.58E-32

HCAMHPDEG-PWY: 3-phenylpropanoate and 3-(3- hydroxyphenyl) propanoate degradation to 2- hydroxypentadienoate	-1.6991	3.57E-16	2.86E-15
PWY-6690: cinnamate and 3-hydroxycinnamate degradation to 2-hydroxypentadienoate	-1.6991	3.69E-16	2.88E-15
PRPP-PWY: super-pathway of histidine, purine, and pyrimidine biosynthesis	-1.6672	5.68E-10	2.33E-09
AST-PWY: L-arginine degradation II (AST pathway)	-1.6357	1.97E-16	1.62E-15
PWY-5676: acetyl-CoA fermentation to butanoate II	-1.6081	4.02E-40	3.13E-38
PWY-6606: guanosine nucleotides degradation II	-1.6023	8.56E-29	1.67E-27
PWY-5136: fatty acid β-oxidation II (plant peroxisome)	-1.5914	1.14E-25	1.61E-24
PWY0-1338: polymyxin resistance	-1.5642	1.21E-14	8.05E-14
PWY-7242: D-fructuronate degradation	-1.56	9.25E-23	1.20E-21
PWY-7858: (5Z)-dodecenoate biosynthesis II	-1.5501	3.57E-13	1.95E-12
PWY0-1298: super-pathway of pyrimidine deoxyribonucleosides degradation	-1.5497	1.58E-23	2.14E-22
ORNDEG-PWY: super-pathway of ornithine degradation	-1.546	7.28E-13	3.92E-12
PWY-5138: fatty acid β-oxidation IV (unsaturated, even number)	-1.5453	8.38E-16	6.22E-15
PWY-5367: petroselinate biosynthesis	-1.4997	6.20E-15	4.20E-14
HEXITOLDEGSUPER-PWY: super-pathway of hexitol degradation (bacteria)	-1.4995	4.86E-14	2.81E-13
PWY-7942: 5-oxo-L-proline metabolism	-1.4813	8.78E-13	4.64E-12
PWY4LZ-257: super-pathway of fermentation (Chlamydomonas reinhardtii)	-1.4774	1.09E-33	3.79E-32
PWY-5675: nitrate reduction V (assimilatory)	-1.4423	7.83E-10	3.13E-09
PWY-6507: 4-deoxy-L-threo-hex-4-enopyranuronate degradation	-1.4276	2.23E-17	2.05E-16
PWY-6608: guanosine nucleotides degradation III	-1.4213	3.07E-28	4.79E-27

PWY-7111: pyruvate fermentation to isobutanol (engineered)	-1.3935	5.58E-35	2.90E-33
PWY0-42: 2-methylcitrate cycle I	-1.3784	2.57E-11	1.23E-10
PWY0-1415: super-pathway of heme b biosynthesis from uroporphyrinogen-III	-1.372	8.12E-11	3.72E-10
PWY-6353: purine nucleotides degradation II (aerobic)	-1.3545	2.71E-27	4.02E-26
ECASYN-PWY: enterobacterial common antigen biosynthesis	-1.353	3.50E-14	2.06E-13
PWY-6284: super-pathway of unsaturated fatty acids biosynthesis (E. coli)	-1.3379	2.01E-09	7.74E-09
PWY-5860: super-pathway of demethylmenaquinol-6 biosynthesis I	-1.3299	4.62E-09	1.70E-08
PWY-5100: pyruvate fermentation to acetate and lactate II	-1.3127	2.39E-17	2.13E-16
PWY-6936: seleno-amino acid biosynthesis (plants)	-1.3024	3.64E-33	1.03E-31
PWY-7118: chitin deacetylation	-1.291	1.76E-09	6.87E-09
PWY-I9: L-cysteine biosynthesis VI (from L-methionine)	-1.289	1.15E-18	1.16E-17
PWY-7237: myo-, chiro- and scyllo-inositol degradation	-1.2788	4.93E-19	5.31E-18
PWY-5850: super-pathway of menaquinol-6 biosynthesis	-1.2775	2.13E-07	6.21E-07
PWY0-781: aspartate super-pathway	-1.2458	4.30E-09	1.60E-08
P41-PWY: pyruvate fermentation to acetate and (S)- lactate I	-1.2414	2.77E-18	2.70E-17
P4-PWY: super-pathway of L-lysine, L-threonine and L- methionine biosynthesis I	-1.2388	5.20E-09	1.84E-08
PWY-5384: sucrose degradation IV (sucrose phosphorylase)	-1.2329	1.08E-11	5.33E-11
GLYCOLYSIS-TCA-GLYOX-BYPASS: super-pathway of glycolysis, pyruvate dehydrogenase, TCA, and glyoxylate bypass	-1.2268	3.14E-08	1.01E-07
GLYOXYLATE-BYPASS: glyoxylate cycle	-1.2197	5.20E-10	2.18E-09

HEME-BIOSYNTHESIS-II-1: heme b biosynthesis V (aerobic)	-1.218	4.96E-09	1.79E-08
KETOGLUCONMET-PWY: ketogluconate metabolism	-1.2137	4.41E-08	1.39E-07
PWY-6285: super-pathway of fatty acids biosynthesis (E. coli)	-1.14	7.36E-06	1.74E-05
PWY-561: super-pathway of glyoxylate cycle and fatty acid degradation	-1.1355	1.40E-07	4.24E-07
TCA-GLYOX-BYPASS: super-pathway of glyoxylate bypass and TCA	-1.0869	4.48E-07	1.24E-06
PWY-7385: 1,3-propanediol biosynthesis (engineered)	-1.0835	2.85E-07	8.17E-07
PWY-5920: super-pathway of heme b biosynthesis from glycine	-1.062	1.85E-08	6.19E-08
PWY-8004: Entner-Doudoroff pathway I	-1.0498	1.65E-13	9.18E-13
PWY-7211: super-pathway of pyrimidine deoxyribonucleotides de novo biosynthesis	-1.0478	3.45E-12	1.79E-11
HOMOSER-METSYN-PWY: L-methionine biosynthesis I	-1.0376	1.64E-07	4.88E-07
P108-PWY: pyruvate fermentation to propanoate I	-1.0221	1.14E-05	2.59E-05
PWY66-389: phytol degradation	-1.0002	3.90E-05	8.51E-05
PPGPPMET-PWY: ppGpp metabolism	1.1234	4.56E-06	1.12E-05
PWY-8073: lipid IVA biosynthesis (P. putida)	1.1533	1.32E-14	8.55E-14
NAGLIPASYN-PWY: lipid IVA biosynthesis (E. coli)	1.1533	1.34E-14	8.55E-14
P42-PWY: incomplete reductive TCA cycle	1.1623	7.09E-10	2.87E-09
PWY-1269: CMP-3-deoxy-D-manno-octulosonate biosynthesis	1.1729	1.60E-16	1.35E-15
PWY-5121: super-pathway of geranylgeranyl diphosphate biosynthesis II (via MEP)	1.2348	5.25E-10	2.18E-09
PWY-6969: TCA cycle V (2-oxoglutarate synthase)	1.3108	3.84E-15	2.66E-14
PWY-6902: chitin degradation II (Vibrio)	1.3415	4.09E-08	1.30E-07

PWY-7388: octanoyl-[acyl-carrier protein] biosynthesis (mitochondria, yeast)	1.4459	5.00E-09	1.79E-08
CITRULBIO-PWY: L-citrulline biosynthesis	1.4899	9.41E-19	9.79E-18
PWY-7254: TCA cycle VII (acetate-producers)	1.579	1.43E-14	8.92E-14
PWY0-1241: ADP-L-glycero-β-D-manno-heptose biosynthesis	1.6134	6.43E-12	3.24E-11
PWY-6834: spermidine biosynthesis III	1.6637	6.04E-09	2.12E-08
PWY-7371: 1,4-dihydroxy-6-naphthoate biosynthesis II	2.4597	5.28E-12	2.70E-11
PWY-7392: taxadiene biosynthesis (engineered)	2.4911	1.14E-30	2.97E-29
PWY-6922: L-Nδ-acetylornithine biosynthesis	2.5988	2.77E-29	5.77E-28
PWY-4984: urea cycle	2.6001	4.86E-17	4.21E-16
PWY-7992: super-pathway of menaquinol-8 biosynthesis III	2.7342	5.23E-14	2.97E-13
PWY-5030: L-histidine degradation III	2.9661	7.08E-30	1.70E-28
POLYAMINSYN3-PWY: super-pathway of polyamine biosynthesis II	2.9832	8.84E-49	9.19E-47
PWY-5005: biotin biosynthesis II	3.8625	2.64E-34	1.18E-32
PWY-6906: chitin derivatives degradation	4.0059	1.29E-49	2.01E-47

Table S2: Functional network properties*.

a) Cluster at HB

Name	Frequency
0	1
1	8
2	8
3	7
4	11
5	5
6	4
7	3
8	3

b) Cluster at LB

Name	Frequency
0	1
1	8
2	10
3	9
4	8
5	8
6	4
7	2

c) Degree (Normalized)

Gene	HB	LB
Highest values in the HB group		
3.4.16.4: Serine-type D-Ala-D-Ala carboxypeptidase	0.12245	0.04082
3.1.6.1: Arylsulfatase (type I)	0.08163	0
7.2.1.1: NADH:ubiquinone reductase (Na(+)-transporting)	0.08163	0
3.2.1.185: Non-reducing end beta-L-arabinofuranosidase	0.08163	0.04082
5.1.3.13: dTDP-4-dehydrorhamnose 3,5-epimerase	0.08163	0.06122
Highest values in the LB group		
2.7.13.3: Histidine kinase	0	0.12245
5.2.1.8: Peptidylprolyl isomerase	0.06122	0.10204
2.1.1.37: DNA (cytosine-5-)-methyltransferase	0.02041	0.10204
6.3.5.5: Carbamoyl-phosphate synthase (glutamine-hydrolyzing	0	0.10204

3.6.4.12: DNA helicase	0	0.08163

d) Betweenness centrality

Gene	HB	LB
Highest values in the HB group		
3.4.16.4: Serine-type D-Ala-D-Ala carboxypeptidase	0.36538	0.06117
3.1.6.1: Arylsulfatase (type I)	0.35897	0
1.1.1.133: dTDP-4-dehydrorhamnose reductase	0.30256	0.0256
1.4.1.13: Glutamate synthase (NADPH	0.25128	0.1138
3.1.1.72: Acetylxylan esterase	0.23462	0.11095
Highest values in the LB group		
6.3.5.5: Carbamoyl-phosphate synthase (glutamine-hydrolyzing)	0	0.3101
3.2.1.23: Beta-galactosidase	0	0.23471
2.7.13.3: Histidine kinase	0	0.23186
3.4.14.12: Xaa-Xaa-Pro tripeptidyl-peptidase	40	0.17212
2.7.7.7: DNA-directed DNA polymerase	0	0.1707

e) Closeness centrality

Gene	HB	LB
Highest values in the HB group	I	
3.4.16.4: Serine-type D-Ala-D-Ala carboxypeptidase	0.6044	0.42686
3.1.6.1: Arylsulfatase (type I)	0.55322	0
1.4.1.13: Glutamate synthase (NADPH)	0.54411	0.52069
1.1.1.133: dTDP-4-dehydrorhamnose reductase	0.52886	0.43419
5.1.3.3: Aldose 1-epimerase	0.52224	0.46572
Highest values in the LB group		

2.7.13.3 histidine kinase	0	0.67076
6.3.5.5: Carbamoyl-phosphate synthase (glutamine-hydrolyzing)	0	0.64418
2.7.7.7: DNA-directed DNA polymerase	0	0.62537
3.6.4.12: DNA helicase	0	0.61005
5.2.1.8: Peptidylprolyl isomerase	0.44302	0.60121

* a) Frequency table of clusters in the HB group network. b) Frequency table of clusters in the LB group network. c-e) Centrality values of the encoded enzyme with the highest centrality in decreasing order. The upper part of the table contains the 5 genes with the highest centrality in HB and the lower part those with the highest centrality in LB, respectively



Figure S1. Broiler chicken cecal Campylobacter occurrence score at placement. Results showed the mean flock score \pm SEM (n = 14/treatment, n.s. : p > 0.05). *Campylobacter* occurrence score = number of pathogen positive broilers/total number of broilers sampled per barn. WW, waterwash; FD, full disinfection



Figure S2. Alpha diversity of the microbiome of the litter samples collected before the broiler placement. Box-plots showing alpha diversity in samples using Chao1 index and Shannon index (n=12/treatment, n.s., p > 0.05). WW, water-wash; FD, full disinfection.



Figure S3. Principal coordinate analysis plots based on weighted- and unweighted- Unifrac distance metrics. Barn cleaning treatments did not influence the microbial community structure in the barn litter samples before broiler placement (n=12/treatment). WW, water-wash; FD, full disinfection.



Figure S4. Spearman's correlation between cecal microbial taxa. Only significantly correlated taxa (P < 0.05) were shown. Spearman correlations between microbes revealed that Bacteroides was negatively correlated with the genera *Lactobacillus, Escherichia-Shigella, Blautia, Subdoligranulum, Anaerostipes, Negativibacillus*, the [*Ruminococcus*]-*torques*-group, and an uncultured genus belonging to the family Ruminococcaceaea. In addition, the genera *Faecalibacterium, Anaerofilum, Anaeroplasma, Alistpes*, as well as an undetermined genus from the order Oscillospirales showed positive correlations to *Bacteroides*.



Figure S5. Spearman's correlation between the key enzymes of the chicken cecal microbial functional network and cecal SCFA concentrations. Key enzymes identified in the microbial functional network of the microbiome with elevated *Bacteroides* (i.e. acetylxylan esterase,

arylsulfatase, β -L-arabinofuranosidase and licheninase) were significantly associated with the chicken cecal SCFA concentrations at day 7.